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China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (the “Compa
stock code: 2319) and its subsidiaries (collectively
“Group” or “Mengniu”) mainly manufacture and distribute
quality dairy products in China. It is one of the leading dairy
product manufacturers in China, with MENGNIU as its core
brand. Mengniu offers diversified products including liquid
milk products, ice cream, milk formula and cheese. Mengniu
ranked ninth in the 2024 “Global Dairy Top 20” list published
by Rabobank. As of 31 December 2024, the Group’s annual
dairy production capacity amounted to around 14 million

CORPORATE
- PROFILE

nﬁlﬁsﬂ 8 tons. In March 2014, Mengniu became a Hang Seng Index
constituent, making it the first blue chip Chinese dairy
product manufacturer. Mengniu’s MSCI ESG rating of AA is

_/ the highest rating received by a comprehensive dairy

_/ company in China. Mengniu is a constituent of the Hang

Seng Corporate Sustainability Index, Hang Seng (Mainland
and HK) Corporate Sustainability Index, Hang Seng
Corporate Sustainability Benchmark Index and HSI ESG
Enhanced Select Index.
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HIGHLIGHTS
e

2024 2023
—E-NEF T =F

RMB Million RMB Million

ARS¥BEERT N EEY
Revenue WA 88,675 98,624
Gross Profit EX 35,090 36,640
Operating Profit (Gross Profit Less Business LEFE (BRI RS

Operating Expenses) [=32:D) 7,257 6,171
Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company (B AR FEAR R
e 105 4,809
Net cash flows from operating activities REXBEENFREMNE 8,332 8,349
Earnings per Share (RMB) BRan(AR%ET)
— Basic — &K 0.027 1.220
— Diluted — B8 0.027 1.216
e In 2024, due to the imbalance between demand and supply ¢ ~ —ZZ_PIF - ARABRITEHERSZAFE -

in the dairy industry and lower-than-expected consumer
demand, the Group booked a revenue of RMB88,674.8
million, representing a year-on-year decrease of 10.1%.
Gross profit margin increased by 2.4 percentage points
year-on-year to 39.6%.

To address external challenges, the Group steadfastly
advanced the execution of its “One Core, Two Wings”
strategy, with a focus on R&D and innovation, brand driven,
and digital transformation. The Group accelerated channel
optimization and new business development, while
strengthening and refining operations and improving quality
and efficiency. By comprehensively driving high-quality
development, the Group achieved an operating profit of
RMB7,256.7 million, with operating profit margin increasing
by 1.9 percentage points year-on-year to 8.2%.
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MAJOR AWARDS
AND ACHIEVEMENTS

MENGNIU GROUP
Included in the “Global Dairy Top 20" list published by
Rabobank for the 16th consecutive year, ranking 9th
globally

—  Ranked Top 30 in “Most Valuable Chinese Brands List (&
BEEFRBEMER) of BrandZ™

— MSCI ESG rating maintained at AA, continuing to lead
China’s dairy industry

— Mengniu Ningxia factory has been approved as the world’s
first “Lighthouse Network (&¥& T )" in the dairy industry
and has been selected as one of the first batch of
excellence-level intelligent factories by the Ministry of
Industry and Information Technology

— Awarded the second prize of the National Science and
Technology Progress Award issued by the State Council for
“Key Technological Innovation and Application of Excellent
Lactic Acid Bacteria Germplasm Resource Mining and
Industrialisation (& R F|B BH1E & & R 2 ¥ B2 2 30 B 5 RL Al
BT e A)”

— Awarded National Enterprise Management Modernization
Innovation First-class Achievement

—  Awarded the title of “Frontrunner Enterprise in Dairy Industrial
Carbon Peaking” issued by China Federation of Industrial
Economics

MENGNIU S BRANDS, PRODUCTS AND R&D
Milk Deluxe Organic Serles products won the gold award at
the BIOFACH Germany (EEIBEKEBHE RIEES) for
another consecutive year

—  Yoyi C won the first place in China Brand Power Index
(C-BPI) industry in 2024

—  Champion Jianzihao (f23£5%) won the Immunity Product of
the Year Award (FEREIIEEMBE) in the Asia Pacific
Functional Food Industry Awards (38 ATHAER BITEALE) in
2024

— Chilled fresh milk category innovation and key technology
integration project won the second prize of Science and
Technology Award of China National Light Industry Council

— A number of Shiny Meadow’s products received the Gold
Award of Monde Selection (B[R 5% 824 #8) and Superior
Taste Award of ITI

—  Suibian Gold Label won the Silver Award for the Best Ice
Cream/Frozen Yoghurt (Fx /KM, 7% R BL 4R 2%) in the
World Dairy Innovation Awards

—  Mengniu’s Reeborne Enzhi (2 &) won the Baby Nutrition
Innovation of the Year Award (FF/E284) R & & AI¥148) in the
Asia Pacific Functional Food Industry Awards (32 AMIRER
fTHEKRH) in 2024
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EO’S
STATEMENT
1R L2 Ay

China’s dairy industry faced multiple challenges in 2024, including
softer-than-expected consumer demand, intensified competition,
raw milk supply and demand imbalances, accelerated channel
restructuring, and insufficient product diversification. Despite these
headwinds, we remain committed to prioritising the health needs
of consumers and capitalized on the opportunities created by
rising health awareness to drive innovation, strategic upgrades,
and unlock consumer potential. Through brand driven, R&D
innovation, and digital transformation, we continued to develop
new products, create new consumption scenarios, expand into
new segments, and refine our new-quality productive forces to
steer the industry toward high-quality, high-value development.

We actively deepened lean operations and empowered our
business through digital transformation, enhancing operational
efficiency and profitability. By integrating upstream and
downstream resources and optimizing partner performance, we
significantly improved supply chain efficiency, bolstering the
resilience of the dairy industry chain and setting a new

benchmark for systematic and integrated development.
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CEO’S STATEMENT
M

In 2024, we focused on our “Creating a New Mengniu” initiative
and the FIRST blueprint and achieved solid results from our “One
Core, Two Wings” strategy. Anchored by the six businesses
which form our “One Core” — room temperature products, chilled
products, ice cream, fresh milk, milk formula, and cheese — we
continuously optimized and strengthened our foundation.
Simultaneously, leveraging the greater health sector and
international market expansion which form our “Two Wings,” we
built new growth drivers and explored new high-quality growth
trajectories.

Throughout the year, we leveraged our deep market insights into
consumer demand trends to capitalise on opportunities to
upgrade our products, brand, operations, and channels. Our six
core businesses, room temperature products, chilled products, ice
cream, fresh milk, milk formula, and cheese, demonstrated
resilience and vitality that transcended market cycles. Our liquid
milk business accelerated the construction of a high-quality
development model by optimizing product and channel structures
to tap into lower-tier markets with potential. Deploying a whole
industry chain philosophy, Milk Deluxe Desert Organic offers a
differentiated high-end milk product that is strengthening the
brand leading advantages. By leveraging consumer demand
insights, the low-temperature dairy category actively targeted
high-growth sub-segments, maintained its leading market share
position for twenty consecutive years, and significantly improved
profitability. The fresh milk business defied industry trends and
continues to gain strong growth momentum with Shiny Meadow
firmly positioned as the premium fresh milk market leader. The ice
cream business accelerated structural upgrades through product
innovation and omnichannel distribution network enhancement.
The milk formula business demonstrated resilience and drove
growth through an R&D-driven strategy, channel transformation,
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and brand enhancement. Reeborne achieved double-digit growth
and launched our first global HMO-formula as it continues to lead
the industry in innovative and high-quality development. Bellamy’s
accelerated its expansion into Southeast Asian markets while
Yourui capitalised on opportunities in the silver economy to create
a specific formula for middle-aged and elderly individuals. The
cheese business completed business its integration throughout
the year, creating synergies that are enhancing quality and
operational efficiency, while Milkground reinforced its core product
values of “joy, nutrition, professionalism and health.” By focusing
its efforts on developing products and enhancing its brand,
Milkground continued to explore diverse consumption scenarios in
both B-end and C-end markets while maintaining a stable market
share and significant optimizing profitability.

By strengthening “One Core” to optimize our core businesses, we
will also be able to spread our “Two Wings” and accelerate the
progress we are making towards offering “greater health” and
developing “Mengniu of the world”. In 2024, we remained
committed to advancing innovative business layouts and injecting
new vitality into China’s dairy industry with unique insights and
technological advantages. Throughout the year, our independently
developed HMO received approval from the U.S. FDA, creating
vast opportunities to expand its application across both the
Chinese and global markets. This will position us to elevate dairy
products from “basic nutrition” to new heights of “specialized
nutrition.” Maintaining its position as “China’s professional leader
in sports nutrition (FEIZ¥E&HEEREE), M-ACTION
continued to lead the Chinese sports nutrition industry with
differentiated product advantages, empowered by professional
scientific research. Aice generated significant growth overseas,
securing its position as the market leader in Indonesia and
ranking second in the ready-to-eat ice cream market in the
Philippines. We continue to explore development opportunities in
Southeast Asia, with overseas market expansion becoming a key
growth engine for us.
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CEO’S STATEMENT
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CEO’S STATEMENT
M

Adhering to a long-term brand philosophy, we continue to
strengthen our “born to excel” brand spirit. As a member of
Olympic Partners (TOP) programme for the 2024 Paris Olympics,
we successfully enhanced its brand identity through the spirit of
sports and execution of our long-term strategy, ushering in the
era of Mengniu as a TOP partner. During the year, we supported
110 marathon events in nearly 100 cities across China, providing
comprehensive nutritional support to over 2.2 million runners,
working with consumers to build a healthy China. During the
2025 Spring Festival, we partnered with Nezha 2 (¥§FE2) for a
co-branded marketing campaign, synergizing our “born to excel”
brand proposition with Nezha's “defying fate” spirit to bridging the
gap with consumers and increase brand exposure to younger
generations.

Our high-quality development has always been underpinned by
sustainable green practices. In 2024, we advanced our “GREEN”
sustainability strategy and “dual carbon strategic goals,” achieving
significant progress. We established a “1+N” Sustainability Report
Disclosure System, formulated the first 4R1D green packaging
strategy, signed a strategic cooperation memorandum with the
Alliance for Water Stewardship (AWS), and promoted China’s first
batch of zero-deforestation soybeans. We also integrated green
practices across our industrial chain, built a sustainable sourcing
supply chain system and set new standards for the green
transition of China’s dairy industry.
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Facing macroeconomic challenges and industry cycles, we
remained firmly focused on driving the essential value of milk and
its long-term development path in our position as a “national
team of China’s dairy industry.” We start by meeting the basic
nutritional needs of consumers with “Drink More,” drive R&D and
innovation in categories using our industrial chain advantages to
drive consumers to “Drink Good,” and finally meet the diversified
health demands of specific consumer groups to “Drink Right.”
This synergistic approach not only interprets our mission of “Every
drop of nutrition, makes every life thrive” but also responds to the
“Healthy China 2030” strategy as an industry leader.

Looking ahead to 2025, we will continue to deepen our “One
Core, Two Wings” strategy, ensuring that each of our six core
businesses including room temperature products, chilled products,
ice cream, fresh milk, milk formula, and cheese simultaneously
grow in scale, profitability, market share, and brand strength,
further solidifying our core competitiveness. We will further expand
the “Two Wings” strategy by firmly rooting ourselves in the
“nutrition and health platform.” Leveraging our internal R&D
advantages driven by a high-calibre talent pool, we will tackle
industry challenges, extend our presence value-added processing
of the value chain, and use our brand and supply chain strengths
to offer more cross-category products to consumers. The
expansion of our “overseas platform” will contribute additional
momentum to our sustainable growth. By further integrating and
optimizing our existing overseas brand assets, we will continue to
build new growth engines.

By meticulously fortifying every cornerstone, we strive to build a
century-lasting legacy. In 2025, our 40,000 employees will unite
under the goal of “Creating a New Mengniu” and work together
to develop new-quality productive forces that transcend market
cycles and comprehensively advance our goal of building a
world-class dairy company that is globally competitive. We will
meet diverse consumer needs with exceptional products, reward
shareholder trust with steady growth, protect our planet with
green initiatives, and contribute our strength to improve human
health through the power of China’s dairy industry.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREFIRXAIR

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2024, the dairy industry experienced intensified supply and
demand imbalances due to an oversupply of raw milk and
lower-than-expected consumer demand, with short-term
pressures persisting across the industry. While actively tackling
short-term challenges and maintaining its long-term strategic
focus, Mengniu focused on its “Creating a New Mengniu” initiative
and the FIRST blueprint, advancing high-quality development
through brand driven, R&D innovation and digital transformation
through its “One Core, Two Wings” strategy. At the operational
level, Mengniu actively promoted precision management, built a
lean and efficient organizational structure and fully mobilized
organizational effectiveness, driving steady improvements in its
operational efficiency and core profitability.

Mengniu consistently drove the upgrade and innovation of its
product categories. On top of superior quality, Mengniu has
further enriched its product portfolios and categories, creating
multiple consumption scenarios, and accelerated its expansion of
To B channels. By leveraging its deep insights into the diverse
and personalized needs of consumers, Mengniu continued to lead
the transformation and upgrade of dairy products from “drinking
milk” to “eating milk”, from “basic nutrition supply” to “greater
health” and from “primary processing” to “value-added further
processing”.

Mengniu continued to focus on brand building, staying true to its
brand proposition of “born to excel”. As a member of the
Olympic Partners (TOP) programme, Mengniu successfully
enhanced its identity as an “Olympic Partner”, solidified its “Strive
for Excellence” brand asset and comprehensively strengthened its
brand awareness, reputation, and global influence by leveraging
the 2024 Paris Olympics platform. By supporting the “100-City
Marathon (B3 EHIH)” and other initiatives, Mengniu continued
to promote healthy lifestyles, further strengthening its brand
influence. During its 2025 Spring Festival campaign, Mengniu
launched an innovative partnership with Nezha 2 (¥"E2) and
brand ambassador, Jia Ling, integrating the “Strive for Excellence”
ethos that both the Nezha IP and Jia Ling represent into its
brand narrative, revitalizing Mengniu’s image.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

To adapt to channel restructuring and reform trends, Mengniu
accelerated its omni-channel development by actively expanding
high-growth emerging channels and consolidating its established
offline channel advantages, creating and integrated online and
offline business model to drive sales in multiple dimensions and
reinforcing its differentiated competitive advantages. In response
to temporary industry challenges, Mengniu capitalized digital
transformation opportunities. It steadily advanced the digital
transformation of its business and actively embraced cutting-edge
Al technology with a focus on enhancing channel efficiency,
reducing supply chain costs and improving consumer services.
This systematic undertaking and integrated transformation of its
entire value chain will unlock full efficiency potential and develop
new-quality productive forces in the dairy industry.

Liquid Milk Business

Room Temperature Product Business

In 2024, the business unit faced intensified pricing competition
for end products due to supply and demand imbalances in the
dairy industry, macroeconomic growth pressure, and the ongoing
weak consumer confidence and demand. Consumer preferences
shifted and value polarization accelerated, with demand growing
for value for money, high value-add, and personalized products.
Mengniu’s room temperature business unit proactively addressed
these industry challenges and opportunities by actively promoting
the recovery of its channel inventory, maintaining a stable pricing
strategy, and accelerating the high-quality development of its
brand, marketing, channels, supply chain and digital
transformation, which improved operating profit margins.

The

room temperature business unit enhanced its category

structure by fulfilling high-nutrition and diversified consumer
demand for high quality and competitive prices. Milk Deluxe firmly
deepened its “better” brand proposition, consistently led in high
value, and the organic series won the gold award at the
BIOFACH Germany (BB E#E BB E ) for another
consecutive year, further strengthening its brand’s influence and
market share.
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Facing fierce competition in the industry, room temperature milk
beverages maintained a stable market performance leveraging
deep consumer demand insights and innovation. Room
temperature yogurt brand, Just Yoghurt, focused on a brand
differentiation strategy with simple ingredients featuring “no
artificial flavors, no color additives, no gelatin, no milk formula”.
The series continued to upgrade product quality and optimized
product formulation to better align with consumer needs. The Fruit
Milk Drink brand focused on the dual nutritional value of milk plus
fruit pieces and a beverage-oriented product portfolio, conveying
a fashionable, healthy and joyful brand concept that differentiates
itself from competition. Multiple of these new products received
positive feedback from consumers. Suan Suan Ru reignited the
popularity of its brand and topicality through diverse co-branding
activities, leveraging its brand image as a national youth milk
beverage.

To expand market channels, the room temperature product
business unit closely aligned with consumer market trends,
capitalizing on market opportunities and continuously improving
penetration into towns and villages to expand market share.
Meanwhile, the business unit continued to strengthen distributor
empowerment, driving further cost reductions and efficiency
improvements along the supply chain, establishing an emotional
connection with consumers through the key themes of “nutrition”
and “youth”. It also expanded emerging channels, cooperating
with leading key accounts in the sector and creating differentiated
exclusive products aligned with consumer trends, offsetting the
impact on traditional channels.

The Group has been deeply expanding into the B2B business
while maintaining its strength in the B2C business. Its professional
catering brand Mengniu Dairy Professionals, upholds the business
philosophy of “Professional dairy, dedicated to creation” and is
committed to building a high-quality, ingredient-based product
matrix and relying on integrated cutting-edge marketing. During
the year, it established strategic cooperation agreements with
multiple chain brands in the bakery, coffee, tea drinks and
catering categories, providing key customers with comprehensive
integrated solutions including product application testing, product
solution development, and industry trend empowerment.

T

ERITEANES  BRIRBETEFTIOR
KRERBBEEF REREMSRE - FRAK
PDAGZEREEZRAME  FIHERKH0
AN INAL B S B IR K ERBR 25 - EFTTOEHRE - O
B 0HR 0K HEARERRE - N
AIFRE TR —REREMEAHEEER K -
BERBEFTPHMRAMNESEE M EMFKEE
MEMMD  FERH - 2F REES Z2
B SR RESHEBELN BEANRS
FERIAHMEER - BRZEBRZAHEN
AAmEERE N R EEE

REMGHRITH FRAFXEMETHESHED
BB E—TRIETATHESD  FHERTEA
MRS ZERTISME - BILRE - EELRFE
SR {1 A% 55 P Mol BE - FEE B £ B A M — 2P fR AR
Mo HEmEEAEE]  [FEISUAMEEE
ERVBRGER  BEAMRNERE G®RES
SER ARG AENRE - (OE BB L BRITE
ZRNEBER  ABHERERENTE -

ERFCMmEHELZNRE - KEREARBBIKIT
X-BTEXEXMERFTEXARRFIEE
ImBEAEINEEES  BORITEEEN
JRA L E AR M — BB ARG & 8K - Fal st
R NTE - R BRI S SOE S M R E X
BRAF REMEFEHEZEREMRAA
EmARME TEBBEEEANR U
TEBORTTER -



Annual Report 2024 —Z —[IF £

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Chilled Product Business

During the year, the low-temperature dairy category continued to
decline, though the rate of decline decelerated significantly. The
industry witnessed diversified channel development and increased
consumer penetration in emerging distribution channels. During
this recovery phase, Mengniu’s chilled product business adhered
to the Group’s high-quality development strategy. It capitalized on
evolving consumer demand trends, driving category value
innovation and profitability. The upgraded 100% raw milk
formulations actively promoted sucrose-free and fruit-infused
yogurt, and established Champion’s new brand proposition as the
“Specialist in Probiotic Yogurt”. It cultivated the premium YO!/FINE
DIARY Yogurt brand while amplifying Yoyi C brand equity as
“probiotics suitable for Chinese people”. The division strengthened
channel development and expanded into emerging distribution
channels. Through these brand and channel initiatives, Mengniu’s
chilled product business outperformed the sector amidst market
headwinds. It maintained its leading market share for the
twentieth consecutive year, achieved notable product
optimization, and delivered significant profitability improvements.

mix

Fresh Milk Business

The domestic fresh milk industry faced downward challenges in
2024. Mengniu’s fresh milk division maintained its strategic focus
and resilience, achieved rapid growth despite the overall market
downturn and recorded profitability for four consecutive years
through strengthened brand building, expanded points of sales
and market presence, and ensured freshness capability. Shiny
Meadow saw double-digit growth.

Shiny Meadow, our high-end brand, continued to lead the
premium market, outperforming the industry despite challenges
and maintaining its leading market share in premium fresh milk.
The newly launched dual protein milk under Shiny Meadow which
focuses on product innovation, led nutritional and taste upgrades
in the dairy category and achieved rapid growth in sales volume.
Xiaoxianyu, a sub-brand that further expands the “light fresh milk”
category for young consumers, entered the market through
partnerships with the “Ta Foundation” and other public charity
activities. The basic fresh milk of Mengniu has consolidated its
national leadership, maintaining the top market share in the basic
fresh milk segment for four consecutive years.
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In terms of channels, Mengniu’s fresh milk business maintained its
top market share position across online and offline channels such
as membership stores and e-commerce platforms. Meanwhile, it
continuously achieved channel breakthroughs by actively
expanding into emerging channels like wholesale snack stores,
successfully collaborating with top coffee and tea beverage
brands. With high-quality products, it supports offline To B clients
while driving breakthroughs in its own sales volume.

Meanwhile, the fresh milk business unit further improved supply
chain efficiency through digital intelligence empowerment and
achieved efficient management of logistics chains and deep
integration of resources to build an end-to-end smart logistics
system for fresh milk. It continued to advance the “dual
excellence in quality and efficiency” high-efficiency fulfillment
system, driving the high-quality transformation of corporate
logistics and comprehensively enhancing the core competitiveness
of the brand.

Milk Formula Business

The infant formula industry continued to face pressure from
declining birth rates and other challenges. However, as the
market gradually stabilized, leading companies have been
increasing their market share. Meanwhile, growing demand from
new parents for improved ingredients, higher quality, and
specialized features have driven continuous advancements in
product offerings. Mengniu’s infant formula business has
consistently adhered to a R&D-driven strategy, channel
transformation, and brand driven.

Mengniu continued to focus its domestic infant formula strategy
on strengthening the Reeborne brand. It released the world’s first
patented affinity formula (maternal MLCT+new OPO) in partnership
with Jiangnan University and Sun Yat-Sen University, pioneering
the launch of Mengniu’s global-first HMO formula and
spearheading the development of the world’s first standard
testing method using liquid chromatography to simultaneously
identify seven types of human milk oligosaccharides (HMOs),
driving the high-quality and innovative development of the
industry. In brand building, Mengniu focused on evidence-based
professional marketing and education. Through proactive product
R&D and sales channel optimization, it strengthened the
competitiveness of its brand, forming a virtuous cycle between
product innovation and channel efficiency. This strategy enabled
its infant formula business to achieve accelerated growth despite
downward market trends.
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Bellamy’s has reinforced its brand positioning as “Australia’s No.
1 Organic Infant Formula” and maintained its position as
“Cross-border E-commerce Organic Milk Formula Leader” for five
consecutive years. During the year, Bellamy’s premium product
line “Bellamy’s Platinum Organic A2” achieved strong growth
despite market trends. In addition, Bellamy’s continued expanding
into Southeast Asian markets.

Mengniu’s elderly-focused milk formula business focuses on the
tremendous potential of the silver economy through the Yourui (£
##%) brand. Yourui, in collaboration with multiple institutions,
released industry-leading scientific papers including the White
Paper on Elderly-Specific Health {F £ FEBEEHKEZE)) and
the Group Standard for Elderly-targeted Formulated Milk Powder
KFZFEBEBFARIAMEEIRTAE)). The brand continued to
optimize its formulas, with a strategic focus on products that
support bone, joint, and muscle health. By strategically focusing
on gift giving brand building scenarios with emotionally resonant,
conversation-driven promotional campaigns, the brands will be
able to achieve a holistic enhancement in brand awareness,
search traffic, and conversion rates.

Ice Cream Business

The ice cream industry was challenged by weak consumer
confidence, fierce market competition and elevated inventory
levels. However, rising consumer attention to the health attribute
of ice cream, along with demand diversification, rapid online
channel development, and the emergence of new consumption
scenarios such as outdoor activities and tourism also inject new
momentum into the development of ice cream category. During
the period, the ice cream division actively implemented strategic
adjustments in close alignment with consumer demand by
advancing brand expansion through across different consumer
groups, product innovation, portfolio optimization and omnichannel
distribution network enhancement.

ERESRZ AR

BATEHSEDRMNBRDHIHES — | mEE
i BECFEMEREFERDINE - F
W A KA TS mEmER T AR KA & AH#A2]
BERPEREER - IS BAKBERBRE
CEIR

SAMANEBESKENEANREREERE
BRI W - KB A 2 BB R (P
CFEBRFANEXTEFERARIANER
FE)VERRITENRARR - HER ST
RERICEH B PAFHEEER - Em
MR ERERBER  TEAREARENR
BEH THMENEE BRE BX2E
Rt e

PREMR R

REBUHBELOTR MEHRFARN  1TEREE
FReERAXR[/IEMTES KIS - BHEH
HOEMREEBUERIERT FXETh &
FRERRER - PINKESHHEESS TR
PR BB R AR BEE - B - CEMER
METESHEES L BRBLIDHEER
EoiofEmEhE  EmeIFNARREST  REB

27



S QR0

B IR 2 K& F K&




= EtoH

mi6H %001

SRf

igmﬁ

Y -

’ -
. 1"'"" |Ir
i \."‘Qk'l. il j':;ﬁ"'-

1-.11::4‘. ftvas. . . h é
7 B Th1 L FhL e “‘““ ’%

: ,:::.}:{H \11".“'\\\11\\\&\\\1\\\\\ “‘\\\
LT (Y .

\ _.'n\*.1\1,,\.U.l.n.nutnnnu,h

1\\ 771 Loy

.' i3 1"‘\1-&‘! \\\\\\\\\ e vk N
poats A llt““‘h‘\\H\\\\\\\\\‘““U l\\\\\'.'

ll\\h\uﬂ\‘kn, VAL L CEUANLL ALY v o L R



30

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited PEE4AEER AT

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERERZ AR

Maintaining its roots in the chocolate ice-cream segment, Suibian
expanded its product lineup with dopamine bright cup series and
milk pineapple chocolate crispy cone offerings, strategically
positioning them in the premium chocolate ice cream market. The
Suibian Gold Label (BE% o &1F) series further upgraded its
range to meet the demand from young customers for
high-quality, multi-flavor, and versatile products. Mood for Green
maintained its position as the top-selling brand in the
bean-flavored ice cream lineup, while expanding its business
reach through collaborations like the co-branded Mood for Green
creamy bliss ice cream with KFC. This partnership drove the deep
integration of dairy products and culinary culture. /ce+ propelled
diversified development of popsicle category through its fun, cool
brand image, creating functional and beverage- type product lines
that cater to younger consumers who seek diversified benefits
from their products. It further enhanced its appeal among younger
consumers and strategically maximized its brand value. High-end
brand Deluxe established its differentiated positioning with the
tagline “the purer, the more delicious”, adapted to trends in the
high-end ice cream crowd.

In terms of channels, the ice cream business unit actively
implemented strategic adjustments and activated full-chain direct
operations and control through an omni-channel RTM strategic
layout. It also accelerated expansion into emerging modern
channels like convenience stores, wholesale snack stores, and live
streaming. Additionally, it promoted customer conversion in key
areas such as campuses, communities, and tourist spots to drive
sales and actively promoted the reshaping and efficiency
enhancement of the new retail channels.

The overseas ice cream business continued to reach new
heights. Aice focused on innovative product development, ramped
up its social media promotion and expanded modern channels,
strengthening its product, brand, and channel presence. This
strategy drove robust sales revenue growth. Aice secured the top
spot in Indonesia and ranked second in the Philippines in the
snacking ice cream market. Meanwhile, the Company actively
explored new opportunities in overseas markets, expanding into
Indochina Peninsula markets.
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Cheese Business

Benefitting from dairy consumption upgrades and industrial
transformation and policy support, China’s cheese industry and
consumption are in their early growth stage, gradually emerging
as a key driver of the dairy sector’s future expansion. The trends
in the dairy industry’s upgrades, “drinking milk” and “eating milk”
are progressing in tandem and the penetration rate of cheese is
still rising, with market share increasingly concentrated in leading
companies.

In 2024, Milkground focused on four key strategies: product
innovation, brand driven, channel cultivation, and management
efficiency (EMmABIH - MMESIE - REBH BHEEK). These
efforts led the market share of the Group’s cheese segment
continued to rank first in the industry steadily’, further
strengthened its leading position and significantly improved its
profitability.

Adopting a consumer-centric approach, Milkground continued to
innovate in product development and enrich its portfolio in order
to achieve “consumer expansion” and “scenario diversification”.
Milkground further strengthened its core values of “joy, nutrition,
professionalism and health”, appointed a new brand
spokesperson, and accelerated its brand rejuvenation to drive the
expansion of cheese products.

" According to statistics from Kantar Worldpanel’s household sample
group
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In terms of ready-to-eat nutritious cheese, Milkground further
enhanced its chilled product offerings by upgrading its classic
chilled cheese sticks to a zero-additive preservative formula and
introduced products with select flavors such as “frozen pear
cheese stick”, as well as new products such as zero sucrose
cube cheese, one-bite cheese (—H#iE&) and natural string
cheese (R&F HiFEL). The room temperature product category
continued to broaden its product range with well-received
innovations such as savory codfish cheese sticks and leisure
snacks such as the cheese time series products. For family dining
scenarios, domestic butter had a strong performance, cheese
slices and mozzarella further increased their market share,
strengthening the company’s brand presence. Milkground
continued to expand its market presence in the catering cheese
sector and made remarkable progress. During the reporting
period, Milkground performed strongly in butter and light cream.
Leveraging insights into cutting-edge trends in the market,
Milkground continued to enrich the innovative applications of
cheese, launching a variety of new season-specific products to
provide B-end clients with a full range of cheese solutions, and
the success rate of new product launches was significantly
improved, which contributed to the steady growth of its major
customers. Following the launch of the mascarpone domestic raw
cheese, Milkground continued to make new breakthroughs in the
production process.

In July 2024, Milkground completed a cash acquisition of 100%
of the Group’s equity interests in Inner Mongolia Mengniu Cheese
Co., Ltd. (Mengniu Cheese), implementing a dual-brand strategy
targeting differentiated markets and strengthening the leadership
positions of cheese product category.

Innovative Business

In terms of nutritional science, Mengniu adhered to
forward-looking insights and unremitting technological exploration,
continued to overcome technical difficulties, continuously breaking
through technical barriers, casting excellent product
competitiveness. These efforts infuse new vitality into the dairy
industry.
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Positioned as “China’s professional leader in sports nutrition” (7
FEEESEBEEEE), M-ACTION, a brand of Mengniu in sports
nutrition sector, has developed a professional product lineup
consisting of liquid protein range, sports function range and daily
vitality range, which comprehensively meets the nutritional needs
of sports people before, during and after training and
competitions, as well as the nutritional needs of daily vitality.
Through professional brand power and ultimate product power,
M-ACTION created a significant influence among Chinese sports
people represented by the core circles of marathon, trail running
and triathlon.

In terms of channels, M-ACTION takes a deep dive into the DTC
channels like Tmall, JD.com, Douyin and private domain, and
actively expands diverse channels. The brand’s liquid protein
products debuted at Sam’s Club as the first of their kind,
completing an aggressive expansion of its high-quality user base.

The HMO 2’-Fucosyllactose (2’-FL) independently developed by
Synaura Biotechnology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., incubated by
Mengniu, has obtained GRAS certification from the U.S. Food and
Drug Administration (FDA), making it the first and only Chinese
domestic HMO enterprise to achieve this recognition. The product
underscores the product’s safety, efficacy, and purity at an
international level. Currently, Synaura Biotechnology has
established over 10 product lines with its proprietary HMO
successfully integrated into Mengniu Reeborne’s Enzhi 4-Stage
(B E4E) Children’s Formula Milk Powder and Future Star
Specialty Care Children’s Formula Milk (7 2& 2 25 52 & fi¢ J5 49),
further expanding HMO’s application scenarios in China. This
advancement marks a transformation from offering basic nutrition
to promoting professional nutrition products.

Quality Management

In 2024, the Group focused on its “Creating a New Mengniu”
initiative and the FIRST blueprint, aiming to achieve “World-class
Quality.” By enhancing its Quality Management System 3.0 and
reinforcing its commitment to a culture of quality, the Group
strengthened the long-term mechanisms within its management
system, laying a solid foundation for sustainable and high-quality
development.
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Regarding system certifications, the Group maintained its seven
major certifications, including ISO9001, HACCP, GMP,
FSSC22000, BRC, IFS, and SQF, with 100% passing rate for
factories passing 1ISO9001 and HACCP certifications.

The Group launched the “Quality Digitalization Campaign
Transformation (& = &7 BB EEAL)”" establishing comprehensive
database of quality indicators across all business segments which
has significantly enhanced performance monitoring efficiency. The
Cold Chain 2.0 (/% #2.0) system has been fully implemented,
enabling real-time temperature monitoring for warehouses,
logistics routes, and distributor storage facilities. Additionally, the
first phase of the Quality Digital Transformation Plan of the Group
(KEBEE8FT(LERIR2])) has been carried out with a focus
on five core modules, namely, dairy sourcing, procurement,
inspection, knowledge management, and risk control.

Mengniu continuously refined its quality culture development
through systematic experience accumulation and quality
consciousness enhancement. During the reporting period, the
Company solidified its 315 “World-class Quality for Consumers
(EHRmE - ZHEEER) IP campaign, pioneering an
end-to-end quality transparency initiative by inviting internal and
external stakeholders from across the supply chain to visit
pastures and production facilities, demonstrating world-class
quality control from grass to glass.

Milk Source Management

In 2024, Mengniu rolled out multiple initiatives to support dairy
ranches in managing the significant demand and supply
imbalance in the industry. These initiatives included efforts in
technological innovation, financial assistance, platform subsidies,
digital intelligence, green energy promotion, advancements in seed
farming, ensuring forage supply, diversified operations, and policy
support”. The goal was to help ranch partners stabilize
operations, enhance quality and efficiency, continuously improve
comprehensive competitiveness and ensure sustainable
development.
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In terms of technological innovation, Mengniu has helped ranches
boost their technical capabilities and quality of fresh raw milk of
ranches by promoting precise nutrition practices, promoting
technology training and other initiatives with milk yield per head of
cow of benchmark ranches reaching above 12 tons. On the
financial side, Mengniu helped upstream partners achieve
collaborative development through a diverse finance assistance
model. In terms of empowering the industrial chain, Mengniu
leveraged its upstream resources to supply high-quality forage
and other essential materials to ranches, further reducing
procurement costs.

Mengniu actively practices a green development philosophy and is
committed to integrating sustainable practices into its milk source
management. Through training programs, technical assistance,
and resource integration, it advances clean energy adoption,
small-to-medium scale photovoltaic power generation projects
implementation, facilitates energy conservation and carbon
reduction, and actively supports ranch partners to move toward
strengthened carbon emission management, scientific breeding
practices and improved operational efficiency.

Corporate Digital Strategy

Digital intelligence remains a cornerstone of Mengniu’s strategy. In
2024, Mengniu consistently advanced its digital transformation in
an orderly manner and actively embraced cutting-edge Artificial
Intelligence (“Al”) technologies, with the ultimate goal of
comprehensively integrating Al to drive intelligent workflows. This
initiative is aimed at unleashing the efficiency of Al technologies
across all business domains at the corporate level, fundamentally
driving organizational and production model reform and
accelerating the establishment of a model-driven, digital
end-to-end operational process system. It also provided digital
solutions to address supply and demand imbalances in the
industry, and contributed to the Group’s high-quality growth while
enhancing quality development and improving efficiency across the
industry.
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Leveraging its self-developed Al platform, Mengniu rapidly
developed Al agents, integrating abstract business capabilities
from its existing business middleware with existing algorithms
from its data middleware, embedding Al into business workflows,
and enhancing operating efficiency at the corporate level. In the
consumer sector, Mengniu focused on developing core marketing
capabilities aligned with its business objectives and optimizing
operational capacity, significantly improving data efficiency. In
distribution channels, the “mutual-win” platform facilitated
omni-channel “three into one (=& —)”, realising visual and
controllable flow direction and rate of over 100 million goods as
well as sales and management costs of the entire Group. 10,000
terminal stores can now be managed online, where the daily
actions of millions of stores and tens of thousands of salesmen
can be managed and coordinated through digitalization. In the
supply chain, Mengniu Ningxia factory was recognised as a
“Lighthouse Network (¥ T )" by the World Economic Forum,
the first in China’s dairy industry and the first liquid milk factory in
the world, reflecting the highest-standards in intelligent
manufacturing and digitalization in today’s global manufacturing
landscape. The “One Inventory (—#&)” at room temperature
business unit achieved full coverage of Central China, and the
full-link cold chain visualization and controllability in low
temperature and fresh milk segments further improved inventory
turnover management and chain management and control
capabilities.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

During the year, due to the imbalance between raw milk supply
and demand and weaker-than-expected consumer demand, the
revenue of the Group amounted to RMB88,674.8 million (2023:
RMB98,624.0 million) for the year ended 31 December 2024,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 10.1%.

Gross Profit

The Group’s gross profit for the year decreased to RMB35,090.4
million (2023: RMB36,640.1 million) due to the decrease in
revenue during the year. Gross profit margin increased by 2.4
percentage points to 39.6% as compared with last year (2023:
37.2%) due to the decrease in raw milk prices.
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Operating Expenses and Operating Profit

Due to the decline in sales revenue during the year and
enhanced efficiency in expenses investment in the second half of
the year, selling and distribution expenses decreased by 8.3% to
RMB23,092.6 million (2023: RMB25,192.2 million), representing
26.0% (2023: 25.5%) of the Group’s revenue. Product and brand
marketing expenses during the year decreased by 5.4% to
RMB7,114.8 million (2023: RMB7,522.7 million), accounting for
8.0% of the Group’s revenue (2023: 7.6%).

Through the Group’s focus on quality and efficiency initiatives
during the year, the administrative expenses decreased by 10.8%
to RMB4,229.0 million (2023: RMB4,742.5 million), accounting for
4.8% (2023: 4.8%) of the Group’s revenue, which remained flat
as last year. Educational surcharges, city construction tax and
other taxes included in other expenses amounted to RMB512.1
million (2023: RMB534.8 million), representing a year-on-year
decrease of 4.2%.

During the year, total business operating expenses, including
selling and distribution expenses, administrative expenses and
educational surcharges, city construction tax and other taxes,
decreased by 8.7% to RMB27,833.7 million (2023: RMB30,469.5
million), accounting for 31.4% of the Group’s revenue (2023:
30.9%). Attributable to the increase in gross profit margin,
operating profit (gross profit less business operating expenses)
amounted to RMB7,256.7 million (2023: RMBG6,170.6 million),
representing a year-on-year increase of 17.6%; operating profit
margin was 8.2% (2023: 6.3%), representing a year-on-year
increase of 1.9 percentage point.

EBITDA and Net Profit

During the year, Bellamy’s, a subsidiary of the Group, recorded a
loss. After carefully evaluating Bellamy’s operating conditions and
financial performance in recent years, as well as considering
future market expectations, the Group recognised impairment
losses of goodwill and intangible assets for the relevant Bellamy’s
cash-generating units of RMB1,154.7 million and RMBS3,490.1
million, and reversal of deferred tax assets and liabilities related to
tax losses and temporary differences of Bellamy’s recognised in
previous years of RMB663.4 million (which impacts income tax
expense), respectively. The aggregated impact on Group’s results
of these adjustments was RMB3,981.4 million.
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Additionally, China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (“Modern Dairy”),
an associate of the Company, recorded an impairment loss on
goodwill of RMB599.2 million and other additional impairment
losses during the year, resulting in a net loss attributable to
owners of RMB1,416.8 million. Hence, the Company’s share of
such associate was RMB827.1 million, of which the related
goodwill impairment loss had an impact of RMB348.7 million on
the Group.

Mainly due to the factors mentioned above, the Group’s earnings
before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortisation (EBITDA)
decreased by 53.1% to RMB4,461.7 million (2023: RMB9,506.7
million) with EBITDA margin at 5% (2023: 9.6%), representing a
year-on-year decrease of 4.6 percentage point. Profit attributable
to owners of the Company also decreased by 97.8%
year-on-year to RMB104.5 million (2023: RMB4,809.2 million), and
basic earnings per share were RMBO0.027 (2023: RMB1.220),
down by 97.8% year-on-year.

The board of directors has proposed to base the dividend on
profits excluding the effects of Bellamy’s related impairment and
deferred tax impact, and the impairment of goodwill of Modern
Dairy to the Company’s share of results of associates, and to
increase the dividend payout ratio for 2024 to 45%.

Impairment Loss of Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Analysis of impairment of goodwill in Bellamy’s cash
generating unit (“CGU”)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group engaged a valuer to
conduct an impairment test of goodwill of Bellamy’s CGU as at
31 December 2024. Based on the results of the test, Bellamy’s
CGU recognised impairment of goodwill and trademarks with
indefinite useful lives of approximately RMB1,154.7 million and
RMB3,490.1 million, respectively.

Background of impairment of goodwill at Bellamy’s CGU

On 15 September 2019, Mengniu announced the acquisition of all
the shares of Bellamy’s by way of a plan of arrangement at
AU$12.65 per share (equivalent to HK$68.15 per share), for a
total purchase consideration of AU$1.46 billion (RMB7.14 billion),
100% of Bellamy’s equity on the date of acquisition, resulting in
goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives of AU$550
million and AU$1,132.0 million, respectively.
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Impairment of goodwill of AU$134.4 million (RMB621 million) in
2021 and AU$160 million (RMB740 million) in 2022 since the
completion of the acquisition, impacted by factors such as the
pandemic and channels.

Reasons for this recognition of impairment of goodwill for
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Bellamy’s CGU
Entering 2024, the fertility rate remains low and competition in the

infant formula market is intense. Competitors stepped up their
marketing efforts and Bellamy’s faced fierce competition from
domestic and international counterparts, and thus needed to
invest a considerable amount of marketing expenses to increase
its brand influence. The intensified competition in the market
resulted in an unsatisfactory input-output ratio, resulting in
Bellamy’s actual revenues and net profit in 2024 significantly
lower than the amount of revenues and net profit in 2024
forecasted at the end of 2023, and its market share and
profitability in the domestic market also fail to reach the expected
level. The management accordingly revised downward the future
profit forecast of Bellamy’s and recognised impairment of goodwill
and trademarks with indefinite useful lives of Bellamy’s CGU
amounting to approximately RMB1,154.7 million and RMB3,490.1
million, respectively. After recognising the impairment, goodwill of
Bellamy’s CGU was impaired to nil and trademarks with indefinite
useful lives were impaired to RMB1,611.8 million. Management
believes that with the launch of the domestic policy to encourage
childbirth, Bellamy’s will continue to grow beyond the industry
growth rate in the future through organic, new products and the
development of new channels and markets.

Income Tax Expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2024, income tax expenses of
the Group was RMB774.6 milion (2023: RMB1,425.2 million),
representing a 45.6% decrease year-on-year, mainly due to the
inclusion of reversal of deferred tax assets and liabilities related to
tax losses and temporary differences of Bellamy’s recognised in
previous years of RMB663.4 million in respect of the impairment
of goodwill and intangible assets, while the Group’s actual
operating income tax expenses were not affected by this reversal.
The effective income tax rate was 77.5% (2023: 22.6%),
representing a year-on-year increase of 54.9 percentage point.
This rise was mainly due to the decrease in profit before taxation,
driven by the impairment losses of goodwill and intangible assets
of Bellamy’s and the share of losses from associate of Modern
Dairy.
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Capital Expenditure

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the capital expenditure of
the Group on cash flow basis amounted to RMB3,584.6 million
(2023: RMB4,171.8 million), representing a decrease of 14.08%
year-on-year. Of the total, RMB3,475.1 million was spent on
building new production facilities and modifying existing ones as
well as related investments, and the investment in equities
amounted to RMB109.5 million.

Working Capital, Financial Resources and Capital
Structure

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded net
cash inflow from operating activities of RMB8,332.3 million (2023:
RMB8,349.3 million), representing a decrease of 0.2% as
compared with last year.

As of 31 December 2024, outstanding interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings of the Group decreased to RMB34,637.2 million
(31 December 2023: RMB37,410.8 million), of which
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings repayable within one
year amounted to RMB16,661.6 milion (31 December 2023:
RMB9,806.9 million). More than 90% of the interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings were bearing interest at fixed rates. The
decrease in interest-bearing bank and other borrowings was
mainly due to the repayment of foreign currency debts due.

Net borrowings (total amount of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings net of cash and bank balances, but excluding long
term time deposits in other financial assets) of the Group as of
31 December 2024 were RMB17,298.0 million (31 December
2023: RMB24,967.0 million).

The Group’s total equity as of 31 December 2024 amounted to
RMB48,025.5 million (31 December 2023: RMB50,651.7 million).
Its debt-to-equity ratio (total amount of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings over total equity) was 72.1% (31 December
20283: 73.9%).

Finance costs of the Group were RMB1,467.8 million (2023:
RMB1,569.3 million), or approximately 1.7% (2023: 1.6%) when
expressed as a percentage of revenue, representing an increase
of 0.1 percentage point year-on-year.
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Financial performance Highlights

MBRR B

Liquid Milk
REEL

UHT Milk
UHTZG

Revenue amounted to RMB73,065.6 million (2023: RMB82,071.1 million), accounting for 82.4% of
Mengniu’s total revenue (2023: 83.2%).
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Milk Deluxe Desert Organic Pure Milk contains 4.0g of protein
and 130mg of natural calcium per 100ml. The product is
packaged with craft materials and features plant-based bottle
caps, resulting in carbon emissions reduction and maintaining
the brand’s environmentally friendly and sustainable principles.
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Mengniu’s UHT milk line includes Selected Meadow, Mengniu
pure milk, high-calcium milk, low-fat high-calcium milk and
skimmed milk. In the year, Mengniu launched a new
lactose-free milk product under its parent brand to meet the
needs of Chinese consumers who are lactose intolerant.
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SHNAMBEEETNEER - FRBELSREOIEF N -
WEBERNERIESNRENFEEEET LK -

Key Products:

Milk Deluxe 4.0g Desert Organic Pure Milk
Mengniu Pure Milk

Mengniu Lactose-free Milk
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Product category Financial performance Highlights

Emm KRR Bm

Room Temperature Yogurt Just Yoghurt focused on brand differentiation. It specializes in
Ep1 ¢ zero additive original taste yogurt with diamond shaped

packaging, featuring “no artificial flavors, no color additives, no
gelatin, no milk formula” as it leads formula reform. The
product has passed EU standard certification, demonstrating
Mengniu’s commitment to quality.
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Key Product:
Just Yoghurt-Original Taste (Additive Free)

EXEM:
ATBRO 70 /R O/ SR B 4T

@ = v _m

RESERNRL ﬁ_

48



Product category Financial performance

EmmE MBRE
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Highlights
B

Fruit Milk Drink positioned itself as a world-first premium dairy
beverage brand containing chewable fruit granules. Its key fruit
flavor milk shake yogurt drinks launched “Roselle Strawberry
Flavor” during the year. This series is fermented from premium
raw milk with low-fat content, targeting the growing population
of young Generation-Z consumers.
ERNEMAE2HERSEBRNNRmIL R RIE  S4E
mAE R E BRI R an R T F AL DS EEEKR] o R
EmAEEEFIERE  BEVNEE MERZIERFRHEH
B o

Key Products:
Fruit Milk Drink PET Blossom Fruit Yogurt Smoothies
Suan Suan Ru yogurt-flavored drink

BEHEM:
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Product category Financial performance
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Amid the zero-sugar health trend, Mengniu’s chilled yogurt
comprehensively promoted its Mengniu Zero-Sugar Pure
Yogurt, leveraging celebrity endorser Jia Ling to amplify the
product’s healthy and high-quality attributes. The division
actively crafted novel textural experiences for yogurt by
introducing double-fruit flavor blend and 12mm jumbo fruit
blend, better meeting consumer demand for indulgent
flavours. The YO!FINE DIARY Yogurt continued to lead
industry trends, strategically positioning itself as “Yogurt so
good you'll savor every last spoonful (£F0 2| & AJ &) S BL 475)”.
The Green Grapefruit Yogurt and Osmanthus and Water
Chestnut Yogurt (H1E 5 BES) secured multiple prestigious
industry awards. Forest Avocado Yogurt (Fx#k4-5m R AES) and
King Sultan Durian Yogurt (&%F/FE#3EEE) have been well
received by consumers.

OEEBET  FRHERENZEEERFTOREREY  ERE
BREBRAERS mEEMB Y - BRITER YO RE RERET
BR ZHEHRN  2nmARKNEFREERF R - £H
SRS ES|BITEMAR - BAEEM [ FEBHRIH BB -
EEMTER HIETHRITESHEEFETERE  RMNFHR
B B ETRERSAZEBETN -

The Champion consolidated its brand positioning as the
“Specialist in Probiotic Yogurt” by launching the
new-generation Champion Bama 128 Probiotics Yogurt.
Simultaneously, the brand upgraded its core functional
product line to the “One-bite Oats” series to meet consumers’
needs for both functional and nutritional products.
BmAdZHTEmERBRNERRIOE  #HEFT— KTz
BEF128m 4 WY ARERNERIERARAI—OK
| EnRRmEHBEERBRNRES K -

Key products:

Mengniu Zero-Sugar Pure Yogurt

Mengniu Double-fruit Flavor Blend Sucrose-free
Mengniu 12mm Jumbo Fruit Blend

YOIFINE DIARY Yogurt

Champion
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B

Yoyi C maintained its brand positioning as “probiotics suitable
for Chinese people” and developed environmentally conscious
products. The brand fully transitioned its Yoyi C Eco-Pack
label-free bottles to PS material across all online channels.
Yoyi C strengthened its connection with younger consumers
through cross-category innovation, launching China’s first
live-culture lemon tea beverage — Yoyi C Probiotic Lemon
Tea. The beverage combined active probiotics with lemon tea
for dual oil-cutting efficacy, featuring authentic tea leaves and
fruit juice in a low-sugar, zero-fat formula. This innovation
resonated with health-conscious demographics through its
light, refreshing profile. The campaign drove customer
acquisition and penetration, contributing to incremental brand
growth.

EBmCRREEETRANRER]MEEL - TTEANIRED
HEEMm FmnCRRE  BEHNE - 2EBRPSHE &
BCHRENMFREEERE & BRANESERK  LH2H
BREERMNEERKE — FnCatREER ARt
H+EEREEMA  SERERT  EROER - BERES
B OBEHNERFEEEE  NUMR2E  ERmEIgE -

Key products:
Yoyi C Eco-Bottle
Yoyi C Probiotic Lemon Tea

EXEM:
Bz CIRIRM
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Emm MBRE

Fresh Milk
BT

B

High-end brand Shiny Meadow has launched an innovative
product, Dual Protein Milk, made from raw milk surpassing EU
standards and enriched with six almonds per 350ml serving
and sugar-free formula, offering consumers with products of
easy absorption, high quality, and balanced nutrition. Shiny
Meadow launched a Year of the Snake Limited-Edition “Good
Luck New Year Milk” with 6 blessings hidden in the outer
labeling. The innovative marketing campaign was popular
among consumers. The brand’s HMO Children’s Care
Nutrition Milk utilizes newly approved nutrient fortifier 2’-FL to
deliver premium nutrition for children. Xiaoxianyu, a sub-brand

of Shiny Meadow, has focused on light-calorie fresh milk,
rapidly expanding its reach among young consumers.
SinmEFAFZRELEINEREEAF I BEEREERR
BEESFE tﬂS50m|tFﬁ)?m\jJu/‘—\%EEEl7k TIEEERT
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Key Products:
Shiny Meadow Dual Protein Milk

' Shiny Meadow HMO Children Care Nutrition Milk
g | Xiaoxianyu

Mengniu Modern Meadow fresh milk
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Product category Financial performance Highlights
EnmE BMgERE B
Ice Cream Revenue from the ice cream business amounted to RMB5,175.4 million (2023: RMB6,026.3 million),
TKCGEL K accounting for 5.8% of Mengniu's total revenue (2023: 6.1%).
WABARES1.754EL (22 =% AR¥ :60.263187L) ' IGRFBMAKS8% (ZF_=F:
6.1%) °

Suibian continued to stay rooted in the chocolate ice cream
segment, and leveraging on the core selling point of “high cocoa
solids content + pure raw milk”, the Suibian ¢ Gold Label 72%
series has anchored around the new consumption demand for
high-quality chocolate ice cream of young generation, which has
received widespread interests and praise from consumers with its
rich and creamy taste. Mood for Green realised the creation of
major brands through 1+2, extended the new form of the
category through the innovation and expansion of the
bean-flavoured ice cream category, enhanced the sense of
premium of the bean-flavoured ice cream category, and listed the
two pop-ups, being frozen fragrans and mung bean cake (E7E
4% Z#%) and Green Shasha Crispy Cone (£& 35 3% g ).
Co-branded NBA, /ce+ launched /ce+ electrolyte drink slush
catering to functional needs from young consumers, broadening
outdoor consumption scenario, and launched differentiated new
products “lce+ Creamy Ice Berry Real Strawberry Layer Crunch
Popsicle (Bt kEEEEEEEMZE/K), breaking through
category barriers with innovative three-layer water ice structure.
Continuing its high-end positioning, Deluxe innovatively launched
Deluxe x Peet's Pure Coffee lce Cream (57 & 4% 25 0 Bk SEL#)
and Deluxe x Cubilose Lava Yogurt lce Cream of Yan place (3%
2 EFE OB ACE M) during the year, breaking through the
format of the category and enhancing the value of the brand
BEZ iﬁ*lﬁﬁﬁﬂkﬁ?ﬂlﬁ%?_/ M BB e IR RTIBIBEE o
F72% A = 7] AT E 2 +£¥IE$¢?H7%*§/L\ B fﬁm
HF B — ft.%%%fl’ﬁ%ﬁukﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁmi R R O RRAN
BEREGEEEEZBIRGT -FELEmERB1+2ER
ARERITE - BRI KMBEAFAR TRENTE R
Sk RURBER - E MG - KPP E R M X R an o sk

+iEE FRARYT %’Iiéuumi B 2 NBAHE H K+ EEEE 8K
KSR - MEPINEES R - WHELAER(CHam [ A+FEIK
%EEE%Hf‘%/7J<JLAEIJ%ﬁ_JE7J</7J< EER MRS -
BFHEZTTESWMEL - FREIFHELFHEZ < KR
BEACEM « FEEZ X 2 ERE R OB AN - = m A
B - RIAmEEE -

Key Products:
Suibian

Mood for Green
lce+

Deluxe

AICE

BEEM:
L
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Emm MBRE B

Milk Formula Revenue from the milk formula business amounted to RMB3,320.5 million (2023: RMB3,801.7 million),
accounting for 3.7% of Mengniu’s total revenue (2023: 3.9%).
WABARKIZ2005ETL(ZT_=F : ARB38.017ET)  ERFHBWAKSTR(ZTE==

3.9%) °
In terms of infant milk powder, Mengniu Reeborne is committed
to building patented formulas that are more friendly for Chinese
babies, such as the “Enzhi (B £)” series which is the star
= HE N _ 2 product and the first in the world to contain innovative MLCT
= = e - structured lipids and a new OPO components. Enzhi 4-Stage
""""r’:_ "“'r’:_ : # product is the first innovative formula containing HMO under
ae e =L Mengniu, which protects babies with 4 advanced nutrition.

|
3 @ - 5_:: Bellamy’s flagship products include Bellamy’s Platinum Organic
e sl k_ 1 A2 and Bellamy’s classic organic blue-canned, while new
Eﬂ — products such as Nuoruier (F&1m52) infant formula and Bellamy’s
organic high-calcium growing-up milk powder for kids were
launched.
BNWRPWIE  FHinBEBNNITEEFRNTEEENS
FFRFME R - BT IREIRIEMEET 23K E 508 A
MLCT# BB AT ELOPORIBAZ KRB M - BEABRE MRS FIE
T EREIFRINHMOBIEL T 14D - AARERE mpe =& - Z4Mm
HEEUR A AEHARERBRAKBSBEHRA R BN
RICHBMERE RSN FAREERT LY RREFTNHRA
HWABHARESTXNRDHENm -

Mengniu 7.88M (—2K/1/1) is a high-end children’s growth
formula specifically developed for children aged 3 to 15. It is rich
in calcium, vitamin D, vitamin K and the first to add colostrum
alkaline protein CBP, containing native lysine that locks calcium
into the bones, supporting bone growth, intestines, immunity,
intelligence and vision in children.

EFE—RN RERF1ISBRAERAHRN —KEmZTEXNREA
Ny B2 £AERD - #ERK WEHARIMVIAREES
CBP G @aREBAalk HIEAST MOREERKK  HREE
BE- &N BENTHEMEZENEER/T

The Mengniu Yourui (#%) brand focuses on the core health
needs of middle-aged and elderly individuals. Yourui’s first
product is also the first in the industry to add Ga-HMB to protect
the mobility of “bones-joints-muscles” in middle-aged and elderly
individuals in a comprehensive way, and has won awards such
as “Annual Middle-aged and Elderly Mobile Nutrition Product (5
ERREFTEEEEMR) in the Asia-Pacific region for two
consecutive years.

SEEHEBREREFTHNNROEERR R - AHNLHEEN
SRERPITEBEAINGa-HMB » 25 TEREFAIEHR —
g — NN1TE )  EEMFRFTEARIFEREZFITHE
BEmM|IERE-

Key Products:
Reeborne
Bellamy'’s
Mengniu 1.88M
Yourui

BEEMR:
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EmmE BERA B

Cheese Revenue from the cheese business amounted to RMB4,319.7 million (2023: RMB4,357.3 million),

73 B accounting for 4.9% of Mengniu’s total revenue (2023: 4.4%).
WABARBBATETL(ZT_=F : ARB43.573ETT)  ERFBURARLI%(ZT ==
4.4%) o

In terms of ready-to-eat nutritious cheese, Milkground
continued to enrich its product offerings by upgrading the
classic low-temperature cheese sticks with an additive-free
formula, launching a Northeast China-exclusive “frozen pear
cheese stick”, and rolling out sugar-free Cheese Granules ()
B%/)\FI), Mousse CupCheese, bite-sized Cheese (— O #1Eg)
and Fresh Hand-torn Cheese (RZFH#HPIEL). The room
temperature category continues expanding with a variety of
new products such as the first-bite salt-flavored cheese
snack, codfish cheese sticks, flower-flavour cheese sticks, and
leisure snacks such as the cheese time series products for
young consumers.

REBPRITH YAESHESEEMER - LHERD
R RRBORMP BER S - WL RMDEEIFRERQ
Bk - AROEEREINES /R - — OB REFHNEBESHS
LHEDHR NN FRSHEEZRBRA - MGEERRERE
EREGmBETEERE  HEFEANE - OBRNBEZERE
BINERG  KRZERZTRAEZF M -

In the catering cheese category, the Company has also
achieved excellent performance in the field of butter and
whipping cream. Based on the insights of cutting-edge trends
in the market, the Company has continuously enriched the
innovative applications of cheese and the success rate of new
product launches has been significantly improved, which
contributed to the steady growth of its major customers.
ERTENREE - AR EEHNBEABHONGEEER
B RAIERTHBAILBENRE  TEEE AR~
R o EmRKREZRS  DOAREPBRER -

Key Products:

Milkground cheese granules
Milkground codfish cheese sticks
Milkground mascarpone cheese

EXEM:
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PRODUCTION

Mengniu deploys its production capacity according to the
potential of relevant markets and its product strategy. As of
31 December 2024, Mengniu had 45 production bases in China,
2 production bases in Indonesia, 2 production bases in Australia,
1 production base in Philippines, and 1 production base in New
Zealand, respectively. It had a total annual production capacity of
13.99 million tons (December 2023: 14.04 million tons).

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

Sustainable green development underpins high-quality growth. The
Group made consistent progress in advancing its “GREEN”
sustainable development strategy and dual-carbon objectives.
Specifically, Mengniu has implemented 15 carbon reduction
measures across six key areas throughout its value chain,
establishing a “leading strategy” for driving the green
transformation of the dairy industry.

During the year, Mengniu established a “1+N” sustainability report
disclosure system and released several key reports, including the
“2023 Annual Sustainability Report”, “Green Packaging Value
Report”, “Nature-Related Information Disclosure Report” and
“Climate-Related Information Disclosure”. These publications
provide a comprehensive view of its sustainability efforts. Notably,
the “Nature-Related Information Disclosure Report” is the first in
China’s dairy industry to align with the Taskforce on
Nature-related Financial Disclosures (TNFD) Framework. This
report offers details of Mengniu’'s nature-related management
practices across its production processes and supply chain. It
underscores the Group’s commitment to sustainable development
and its leadership in driving the green transformation of the dairy
industry.
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Mengniu has deeply embedded green practices across its supply
chain. In water resources management, the Group signed a
strategic cooperation memorandum with the Alliance for Water
Stewardship (AWS) whereby the parties will conduct in depth
cooperation in such aspects as AWS certification for sustainable
water management, consumer awareness campaigns on
sustainable water management, and promotion of dairy
industry-specific sustainable water management standards. In
terms of carbon emission, the Group has comprehensively
implemented green practices across its operations from dairy
farms to logistics. The Company has completed carbon inventory
assessments for its partner dairy farms and is progressively
conducting comprehensive carbon emission audits and
calculations for partner farms, covering both direct and indirect
emissions from farm operations. Mengniu has been awarded the
title of “Frontrunner Enterprise in China Industrial Carbon Peaking”
for its excellent performance in dual-carbon practice and
forward-looking green development strategy, setting a new
standard for green transition of China’s dairy industry.

With regards to green packaging, the Group leveraged its Green
Packaging Taskforce to complete the construction of a packaging
materials database and develop the 4R1D green packaging
strategy (Reduce/Recycle/Reuse/Renew/Degradable). Quantitative
objectives were set across various areas, including the elimination
of environmentally unfriendly plastics, reduction of fossil-based
virgin plastics, use of reclaimed materials, recycling of recycled
and degradable materials, end-of-pack recycling. These initiatives
are comprehensively driving a green packaging transformation.

The Group actively advanced its circular economy strategy by
forming a strategic partnership with the recycling platform
Aihuishou (AtRenew) to launch the “New Life Dairy Packaging
Recycling Program (3L an 8 % 8 28 ¥1 & &1 81)”, minimizing the
environmental footprint of packaging waste and enhancing the
synergies between green consumption and circular economy
practices.

ERESRZ AR
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While promoting sustainable development across its value chain,
the Group also took active steps to protect forests and promote
biodiversity. During the reporting period, Mengniu officially became
a member of the Roundtable on Sustainable Palm Oil (RSPO) and
launched the RSPO-certified palm oil procurement campaign. In
May, Modern Dairy completed the purchase and delivery of
China’s first batch of “zero-deforestation” soybeans at Tianjin Port.
Cargill has delivered the first batch of zero-deforestation soybeans
to Modern Dairy, marking a solid step in Mengniu’s green supply
chain development. The Group remains committed to the
principles of “green development, harmonious coexistence”,
leading its entire value chain towards a more environmentally
friendly and sustainable future.

The Group enhanced its social responsibility efforts, and has
established the Inner Mongolia Mengniu Public Charity
Foundation. The Foundation focuses on four major areas: disaster
relief, nutrition enhancement, rural revitalization and ecological
protection. It actively engages in philanthropic and charity
activities through research, systematic funding, and public
advocacy strategies.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of over 41,000
employees in the Chinese Mainland, Hong Kong, Oceania and
Southeast Asia. During the year, the total cost of employees
(including salaries of directors and senior management personnel)
amounted to approximately RMB8,131.5 million (2023:
RMB9,012.2 million).
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In 2024, Mengniu remained committed to its strategic objective of
“Creating a New Mengniu.” Building on the foundation of its
corporate culture and spirit, the Company reinforced six key
mindsets: consumer-oriented, client-oriented, profitability-driven,
full value chain approach, long-term approach, as well as integrity
and discipline. These efforts were aimed at fostering a shift in
mindset and awareness, enhancing the execution of strategies,
and driving the high-quality development of our business.
Focusing on the “One Core, Two Wings” strategy, Mengniu
accelerated the strategic deployment of talent and deepened its
employee 6D (Define standards, Diagnose company assets,
Deploy caliber, Develop talent, Deliver mobility, and Discipline
behavior) management system during the year. In light of changes
in the internal and external market environment and the
Company’s business development, Mengniu further accelerated
talent training by systematically building a talent development
system during the year. The Company has continuously
consolidated the talent plan and is committed to building six
future-oriented talent teams that will vigorously promote the
recognition of professional skills and the accreditation of
professional titles, in order to align career path development and
offer a broader career platform.

In terms of performance-based remuneration, Mengniu has
continued to develop a comprehensive remuneration system that
links business performance with an employee-oriented approach,
driving high-quality development with competitive remuneration,
differentiated performance, diversified incentives, flexible benefits
and satisfactory experience. The Company will continue to
enhance its branding initiatives, acquire high-caliber talent to drive
talent development and the overall sustainable development of
China’s dairy industry.

ERESRZ AR
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OUTLOOK

Driven by the Chinese government’s unwavering commitment to
policies aimed at expanding domestic demand and promoting
high-quality development, the country’s macroeconomic
environment and consumer confidence are expected to continue
recovering. Supply and demand imbalances in the dairy industry
are being mitigated. During raw milk cycles, the sourcing
advantages of the leading dairy players will be at the forefront.
Meanwhile, consumers require higher and more segmented
nutritional value and health benefits from dairy products as health
awareness grows. This requires dairy companies to keenly
address evolving market trends through product innovation, brand
positioning, operational efficiency and channel optimization to
precisely capture emerging consumption growth drivers and
structural upgrade opportunities while leveraging digital and
intelligent capabilities to empower their transformation, boosting
the long-term development of the dairy industry as well as
nutrition and healthcare products.

Looking forward, as an industry leader, Mengniu will continue to
push forward the implementation of the “One Core, Two Wings”
strategy, consolidating its six core businesses — room
temperature, chilled dairy, ice products, fresh milk, milk formula,
and cheese, accelerate the building of nutrition and health
platforms and overseas platforms, and lead consumers to “Drink
More”, “Drink Good”, and “Drink Right” based on the value of
“consumers are at the heart of all our decisions”. The Group will
continue the development of the “FIRST Mengniu” blueprint that is
beloved by consumers into one that is increasingly international,
socially responsible, culturally strong and digitally transformed, to
boost the dairy market back to growth and lead China’s dairy
industry into a new stage of high-quality development.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
EFxEHREHEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Gao Fei, aged 48, was appointed as the chief executive
officer and an executive director of the Company on 26 March
2024. Prior to the appointment, he has been a senior vice
president and the head of UHT business unit of the Group.
Mr. Gao graduated from Shandong University and Tsinghua
University, and obtained an Executive Master in Business
Administration degree from Tsinghua University. Mr. Gao joined
the Group in 1999, and successively held the positions of
regional manager, center manager, sales general manager and
marketing general manager of the sales and marketing
department and contributed to the rapid growth of the market
share of the Mengniu brand. Mr. Gao has abundant practical
experience in sales, marketing and promotion and business
operation of dairy products. In 2016, he was appointed as a vice
president of the Group and head of the UHT business unit of the
Group.

Ms. Wang Yan, aged 46, was appointed as an executive director
of the Company in December 2021. Ms. Wang Yan joined the
Group in November 2021. Ms. Wang has previously served
various roles including general manager of talent development at
the human resources department and deputy director of the
human resources department at COFCO Corporation. Ms. Wang
holds a master of management degree from the Renmin
University of China specialising in human resources management.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Qing Lijun, aged 55, was appointed as a non-executive
director and the chairman of the board of directors of the
Company in May 2024. Mr. Qing is currently the deputy general
manager of COFCO Corporation, and chairman of the board of
directors and a non-executive director of China Foods Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Qing is also currently
a director of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited, a non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of China Foods Limited. Mr. Qing has
previously served in various positions including chief executive
officer and deputy general manager of COFCO Coca-Cola
Beverages Limited, deputy general manager of beverage business
department of China Foods Limited, and director of strategy
department of COFCO Corporation. Mr. Qing was an executive
director and managing director of China Foods Limited until
January 2025.

Mr. Qing graduated from Renmin University of China and
Guanghua School of Management of Peking University with a
Bachelor’'s degree in Economics and a Master’'s degree in
Business Administration, respectively. Mr. Qing has extensive
experience in beverage production, marketing, strategy planning,
finance, public relations and general management.

Mr. Meng Fanjie, aged 60, was appointed as a non-executive
director of the Company in August 2024. Mr. Meng previously
served as an executive director of the Company from June 2019
to December 2021. Mr. Meng had successively served as the
general manager of Shenyang Xiangxue Flour Co., Ltd., the
assistant to the general manager and then as the deputy general
manager of COFCO’s Wheat Processing Department, the general
manager of COFCO’s Project Management Department, the
general manager of COFCO Chengdu Industrial Park, the deputy
general manager of China Grain & Logistics Corporation, the
deputy general manager of COFCO Trading Corporation, the
deputy director of COFCO’s Party-mass Work Department (in
charge of the daily work) and the chief officer in the human
resources department of COFCO. Mr. Meng was a non-executive
director of CPMC Holdings Limited, a company listed in Hong
Kong (stock code: 906) from January 2022 to March 2025.
Mr. Meng received a master degree in electronic magnetics and
microwave technology from Tsinghua University in the PRC in
December 1989.
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Mr. Wang Xi, aged 41, was appointed as a non-executive
director of the Company in October 2024. Mr. Wang previously
served as a non-executive director of the Company from
December 2021 to August 2024. Mr. Wang joined COFCO
Corporation in July 2015, currently serves as the deputy director
of the Strategy Department and the general manager of the Direct
Investment Division of COFCO Corporation, and is a director of
COFCO WOMAI.COM Investment Limited (T 12H BEHIREER A
B]). At COFCO Strategy Department, Mr. Wang previously served
as assistant general manager of M&A Division, deputy general
manager and general manager of Equity Management Division.
Prior to joining COFCO, Mr. Wang served as assistant general
manager of Direct Investment Division IV at China Development
Bank Capital Co., Ltd., and before that an associate at the
investment banking division at Deutsche Bank AG, Hong Kong
Branch. Mr. Wang holds a bachelor’s degree in economics and a
dual bachelor’'s degree in laws from Peking University, and a
degree of master of public administration from Columbia
University, New York.

Mr. Simon Dominic Stevens, aged 59, was appointed as a
non-executive director of the Company in January 2021.
Mr. Stevens graduated from Loughborough University in 1988
with a BSc honours degree in Management Sciences. He started
his career in Unilever for 14 years in sales and marketing roles
based in U.K., Netherlands and ltaly. He joined Arla Foods in
2002, as a Sales Director in the UK business as part of the UK
leadership team and then became SVP of Sales and Marketing
where Mr. Stevens spearheaded the development of major
customer partnerships and built a fast-growing branded portfolio
helping grow the UK business from £ 500 million to £2.5 Billion
and from No. 4 in dairy to No.1 supplier in FMCG. In 2016,
Mr. Stevens moved to the newly set-up Europe Zone as Senior
Vice President for Commercial Operations, overseeing the Sales
and Marketing functions and working closely with Arla’s Supply
Chain organisation. During this time Mr. Stevens’ focus was on
creating regional growth engines across the brand portfolio and
driving a digitalisation agenda across the sales and marketing
functions. In 2020 he moved to Dubai to lead the MENA
business, Arla’s largest region within its International Zone as a
Senior Vice President. In a short space of time Mr. Stevens has
applied his considerable leadership capabilities to work with his
country heads and Arla’s joint venture partners to navigate the
business through COVID-19, delivering exceptionally high levels of
growth for Arla’s key brands and customers and maintaining a
safe working environment for Arla’s workforce of around 3,000
colleagues. On 1 January 2021 Mr. Stevens joined Arla’s
Executive Management team as EVP International responsible for
all Arla’s International business and the International supply chain.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Yih Dieter Lai Tak, aged 62, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company in December
2021. Mr. Yih received his Bachelor of Laws degree from King’s
College London and he is a Fellow of King’s College London.
Mr. Yih is admitted to practice law in Hong Kong. He is a partner
of the Hong Kong law firm Kwok Yih & Chan, where his practice
focuses on corporate finance, capital markets, securities and
regulatory compliance. Mr. Yih is currently an independent
non-executive director of Sun Art Retail Group Limited, a
company listed in Hong Kong (stock code: 6808). Mr. Yih was
the president of the Law Society of Hong Kong between 2012
and 2013, and holds various public offices and community
appointments in Hong Kong. He is currently a member of the
Guangdong Province Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference. He is also a Justice of the Peace
appointed by the Hong Kong Government, chairman of the
Quality Education Fund Steering Committee, a member of the
Standing Committee on Legal Education and Training, a
non-executive director of the Securities and Futures Commission,
a non-executive director of eMPF Platform Company Limited and
a member of University Grants Committee.
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Mr. Li Michael Hankin, aged 60, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company in December
2021. Mr. Li has more than 30 years of experience in financial
and accounting, fundraising, mergers and acquisitions,
restructuring and international business development. Mr. Li has
since May 2016 served as an independent non-executive director
of COFCO Joycome Foods Limited, a company listed in Hong
Kong (stock code: 1610) and is currently the chairman of its audit
committee. COFCO Corporation has an interest of 29.10% in
COFCO Joycome Foods Limited based on its public filings. Mr. Li
has also served as an independent non-executive director of
Cornerstone Technologies Holdings Limited, a company listed in
Hong Kong (stock code: 8391) since February 2025. Mr. Li was
an independent non-executive director and the chairman of the
audit committee of Clarity Medical Group Holding Limited, a
company listed in Hong Kong (stock code: 1406) from March
2019 to November 2024. Mr. Li worked at several Hong Kong
listed companies as head of corporate finance, general manager
of investor relations and mergers and acquisitions, including as
head of corporate finance of GCL-Poly Energy Holdings Limited
(stock code: 3800) during January 2014 to June 2015 and as
general manager of investor relations & mergers and acquisitions
of Newton Resources Limited (stock code: 1231) in 2013. Mr. Li
also worked at several international banks where he had led
numerous fund raising exercises in Hong Kong and the United
States. During the period from March 1994 to June 2004, Mr. Li
was the executive director (corporate finance) at BNP Paribas
Capital (Asia Pacific) Limited. During the period from July 2004 to
December 2005, Mr. Li was employed at GoldBond Capital (Asia)
Limited and was a managing director (investment banking) of
Rothschild (Hong Kong) Limited during the period from March
2007 to May 2011. From November 2017 to August 2019, he
was the deputy general manager of Shougang Concord Grand
(Group) Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong (stock code:
730). Mr. Li obtained a bachelor’'s degree in accountancy from
California State University, Los Angeles in June 1985, and a
master’s degree in business administration from Columbia
University, New York in May 1992. Mr. Li is a member of the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Mr. Ge Jun, aged 52, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company in December 2021.
Mr. Ge had previously served as the assistant engineer of
Shanghai Research institute of Building Research, administrative
manager, deputy director of the corporation and public affairs
department, director of the President office, secretary general of
the foundation and assistant president of the China Europe
International Business School, President of the Pudong Innovation
Institute, associate dean of the Shanghai Institute of Advanced
Finance at Shanghai Jiaotong University and executive director of
the National Innovation and Development Strategy Research
Association. Mr. Ge is currently the President of the Hong Kong
Academy of Industry and Innovation.

Mr. Ge has been an independent director of Huize Holding Ltd.
(NASDAQ, stock code: HUIZ) since February 2020, an
independent director of Shenzhen Aisidi Co., Ltd., (Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, stock code: 002416) since October 2022, and
Mr. Ge has been an independent director of Helport Al Limited
(NASDAQ, stock code: HPAI) since August 2024. Mr. Ge was an
independent director of Focus Media Information Technology Co
Ltd. (Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 002027) from
February 2019 to November 2021. Mr. Ge was also an
independent director of Meinian Onehealth Healthcare Holdings
Co., Ltd. (Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 002044) from
October 2018 to October 2021.

Mr. Ge’s areas of academic expertise include corporate

governance, corporate stakeholder relations, evaluation of
innovation mechanism, responsible business and sustainable
development.
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Mr. Zhang Ping, aged 60, was an executive director of the
Company during the period from December 2021 to 26 March
2024. Mr. Zhang Ping, who joined the Group in 2014, is currently
a vice president and the chief financial officer of the Group.
Mr. Zhang Ping is also a director of a number of the Group’s
subsidiaries, including the Group’s major subsidiaries Inner
Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Company Limited and Inner
Mongolia Tegaoxin Dairy Co., Ltd. (RS &FaaFLERABR A ).
He has over 35 years of experience in the fast-moving consumer
goods industry, specializing in management of operation, finance
and audit, as well as risk control. Mr. Zhang Ping worked in
Swire Beverages group companies as manager responsible for
internal audit and system development, finance director, general
manager of bottler manufacturing company and chief executive
officer of Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing Holdings Limited.
Mr. Zhang Ping is also a non-executive director of China Modern
Dairy Holdings Ltd. and China Shengmu Organic Milk Limited
respectively, which are both companies listed in Hong Kong, and
a director of Shanghai Milkkground Food Tech Company Limited
(listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange). Mr. Zhang Ping was a
non-executive director of Yashili, a subsidiary of the Company
which was previously listed in Hong Kong and was privatised and
delisted in 2023. Mr. Zhang Ping graduated from the Beijing
Information Science and Technology University with a Master’s
Degree in Management Engineering.

Mr. Luo Yan, aged 63, is currently a vice president of the Group.
Mr. Luo graduated from the China Textile University and Fudan
University, and obtained a Bachelor's Degree in Textile
Engineering and a Master’'s Degree in Business Administration
respectively. Mr. Luo joined General Mills China in 1999 and
served successively as national sales director, vice president
(Greater China) and director of global business unit of
Hiagen-Dazs. He continued to be the vice president (Greater
China) of General Mills in 2014, and was responsible for sales in
China Region, as well as the retail and food and beverage
business department of Hiaagen-Dazs. He has worked in the food
industry for 30 years with extensive experience in the industry and
management. Mr. Luo joined the Group in November 2017 and
has served as the head of development business, the head of
chilled product business unit, the head of fresh milk business unit
and other positions.
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Mr. Yan Zhiyuan, aged 42, is currently a vice president and the
head of milk formula business unit of the Group. He was an
executive director and chief executive officer of Yashili
International Holdings Ltd, a subsidiary of the Company which
was previously listed in Hong Kong and was privatised and
delisted in 2023. Mr. Yan, who joined the Group in 2002, has
accumulated extensive sales and management experience in the
dairy products industry. Mr. Yan was formerly the assistant vice
president of Mengniu. Since January 2017, he has been the
general manager of the sales management center of the Group’s
room temperature product business division, leading the room
temperature sales management team to achieve continuous high
growth in sales revenue and market share. Mr. Yan obtained an
Executive Master of Business Administration degree from the
University of Texas at Arlington in the United States and a
Doctoral Degree in Business Administration from the City
University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Han Jianjun, aged 51, is currently a vice president and the
head of the ice product business unit of the Group. He also
oversees the ice cream business of Aice in the Southeast Asia
region. Mr. Han graduated from Shandong Agricultural University
with a Master’s Degree in agricultural promotion. He joined the
Group in 1999 and held various positions successively, including
head of production and operation of ice products, general
manager of the room temperature production management
centre, and general manager of the ice product business unit. He
has rich management and practical experience in the supply chain
field of room temperature and ice products. He has also led the
ice products business unit to achieve growth of over 100% for
three consecutive years.

Mr. Wen Yongping, aged 51, is currently a vice president of the
Group and the head of research and development and innovation
worldwide. Mr. Wen graduated from China Agricultural University
and obtained a Doctoral Degree in Food Science and
Engineering. Mr. Wen joined the Group in 1999 and successively
served as the general manager of production direction centre,
operations assistant vice president, milk sources vice president
and head of chilled product business unit of the Group. He is
experienced in milk sources management, manufacturing, product
marketing and core business operation management. Mr. Wen
was a non-executive director of China Modern Dairy Holdings
Ltd., a company listed in Hong Kong, until January 2019.
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Mr. Yang Zhigang, aged 52, is currently a vice president and an
officer-in-charge of safety and quality of the Group, and is
responsible for bidding management and procurement
management. He graduated from the Huazhong Agricultural
University and Central China Normal University, and obtained a
Bachelor’s Degree in Food Technology and Engineering, and a
Master’'s Degree in Economics respectively. Mr. Yang joined the
Hubei Entry-Exit Inspection and Quarantine Bureau in 1995 as
section manager and deputy director of the office; and
temporarily worked for the general office of State Entry-Exit
Inspection and Quarantine Bureau/General Administration of
Quality Supervision, Inspection and Quarantine. He joined the
registration and administration department of Certification and
Accreditation Administration of the People’s Republic of China as
researcher, department head and vice inspector in 2002. He
joined COFCO as general manager of the quality and safety
management department, and vice director of the audit and legal
risk control department in 2013. He has extensive experience in
the audit of safety and quality and risk control. Mr. Yang joined
the Group in June 2017.

Mr. Li Pengcheng, aged 54, is currently a senior executive
president of the Group. Mr. Li graduated successively from
Shandong University with a Bachelor of Science Degree in Library
Science, Peking University with a Master of Science Degree in
Scientific and Technical Intelligence and Tianjin University with a
Doctor of Management Degree in Technical Economics and
Management respectively. Mr. Li used to work in the Office of the
Central Internet Security and Information Technology Commission,
where he was the inspector of the network emergency
management and network public opinion bureau, deputy director
general and director of the China Internet lllegal and
Objectionable Information Reporting Center (bureau level). Mr. Li
joined the Group in September 2018.
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Ms. Liu Lijun, aged 43, is currently a vice president and the
head of human resources department of the Group. She
graduated from Beijing Institute of Technology with Master’'s
Degree in software engineering and City University of Hong Kong
with Doctorate Degree in Business Administration, respectively.
Since joining the Group in August 2002, Ms. Liu has served in
human resources position. Ms. Liu served as the personnel
manager, director of the human resources department, human
resources director of marketing system and head of organization
development of the Group, assistant vice president of the Group
and general manager of human resources centre of the room
temperature product. She served as the vice president and
officer-in-charge of personnel management in 2021. Ms. Liu has
participated in and successfully led group-level panels and human
resources reform projects for many times. She has rich theoretical
and practical experience in the field of human resources
management.

Mr. Chen Yiyi, aged 50, is currently a vice president and head
of strategy management of the Group and is responsible for the
strategic and investment management. Mr. Chen graduated from
Fudan University with Bachelor’s degree in law. Before joining the
Group, Mr. Chen successively worked for Nestle, International
Paper, Tetra Pak Sidel, China Resources Enterprise and other
well-known international companies and listed companies in Hong
Kong and Mainland China as national commercial manager, North
Asia regional director, strategic vice president, president and
executive director and other senior management position,
respectively, in the past 25 years. Mr. Chen has served in the
fast-moving consumer goods industry such as dairy and retail
industry for many years. He has extensive experience in the
industrial operation integration, strategic planning management,
and corporate cooperation and mergers and acquisitions as well
as industry-wide vision and international business experience.
Mr. Chen joined the Group in December 2021, and has been a
non-executive director and member of the strategy and
development committee of China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd., a
company listed in Hong Kong, since February 2023. Mr. Chen
has also been a non-executive director and chairman of the board
of directors of China Shengmu Organic Milk Limited, a company
listed in Hong Kong, and the chairman of the board of directors
of Shanghai Milkground Food Tech Company Limited (listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange) since May 2024.
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Ms. Li Chengjie (ZFE L L) , aged 49, is currently a vice
president and Chief Digital Intelligence Officer of the Group and is
fully responsible for the digital intelligence efforts of the Group.
Ms. Li joined the Group in July 2022. Ms. Li holds a Master’s
degree from Tongji University and Ecole des Ponts ParisTech.
Ms. Li has been working on the digital transformation strategy for
many years, leading the organisational change and future growth
with her deep understanding of digital technology and insights
into the consumer sector. Ms. Li has worked for CapitaLand,
Fosun and other renowned companies, holding the positions of
Managing Director of Digitalisation and Innovation of CapitalLand
China, Co-CEO of Fosun and President of Fosun Alliance
respectively. Ms. Li has a global strategic perspective and
extensive experience in industry and digital transformation.
Through the integration of technology, products, data operations,
industry operations and open innovation, it has built a digital
intelligence management system and value network to help
businesses achieve cost reduction and efficiency improvement,
and reshape business processes.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERESHRS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is dedicated to ensuring high standards of
corporate governance with an emphasis on a diligent board of
directors, sound internal control, and increasing transparency and
accountability to shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”). The Board acknowledges that good corporate
governance practices and procedures are beneficial to the Group
and the Shareholders, and that an effective corporate governance
framework is fundamental to promoting and safeguarding the
interests of Shareholders and other stakeholders and enhancing
Shareholder value.

Mengniu strives to create sustainable corporate governance by
integrating ESG concepts into its corporate management, setting
GREEN strategy goals. The Board believes that strong corporate
governance provides a solid foundation for sustainable growth and
long-term success.

Under the pillar of GREEN strategy “Governance-Sustainability”,
Mengniu has set three topics of ESG governance, risk
management and business ethics, to continuously improve board
governance effectiveness, optimize ESG performance assessment
methods, consolidate the Group risk management system,
enhance the business ethics management standards, and actively
create a good internal and external governance environment.

Through maintaining and developing robust corporate governance
practices, the Group strives to ensure satisfactory and sustainable
returns to the Shareholders, appropriate understanding and
management of the overall business risk, delivery of high-quality
products and services to the satisfaction of customers, and
maintaining high standards of ethics.

The Company is committed to continuously enhancing these
standards and practices and inculcating a robust culture of
compliance and ethical governance underlying the business
operations and practices across the Group. Taking into account
the corporate culture in a range of context, the Board considers
that the culture and the purpose, values and strategy of the
Group are aligned.
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The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules as its own code of corporate
governance practices.

Throughout the year, the board of directors of the Company (the
“Board”) has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
practices and is satisfied that the Company has been in
compliance with all applicable code provisions of the CG Code
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

THE BOARD

As at 31 December 2024, the Board comprised nine Directors,
including two executive Directors, namely, Mr. Gao Fei and Ms.
Wang Yan, four non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Qing Lijun,
Mr. Meng Fanjie, Mr. Wang Xi and Mr. Simon Dominic Stevens
and three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Yih
Dieter Lai Tak, Mr. Li Michael Hankin and Mr. Ge Jun. The
Chairman of the Board is Mr. Qing Lijun and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company is Mr. Gao Fei.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and management of
the Company. Key responsibilities of the Board comprise
formulation of the Group’s overall strategies and policies, setting
of performance and management targets, evaluation of business
performance and supervision of management’s performance. The
Board is also responsible for preparing the financial statements of
the Company. The management is delegated with the authority
and responsibility by the Board for the management and
operations of the Group. The role of the management is to
implement the strategies and directions determined by the Board
and to work within the framework of any written procedures and
instructions laid down by the Board. In addition, the Board has
also delegated various responsibilities to the board committees of
the Company (the “Board Committees”) as detailed in this report.

Biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 61 to 66 of the
annual report, which demonstrate a diversity of skills, expertise,
experience and qualifications of the Directors. There is no other
material financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships among the Directors.
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Independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors
The independent non-executive Directors possess appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. Their role is to provide independent and
objective opinions to the Board for its consideration and
decisions.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Board has assessed their independence and concluded that all
independent non-executive Directors are independent in
accordance with the definition of the Listing Rules.

The Company has adopted a written policy containing
mechanisms to ensure that independent views and input are
available to the Board. These mechanisms include formal and
informal channels whereby Independent Non-Executive Directors
can express their views in an open and candid manner.

As required by the policy, the Chairman of the Board shall hold at
least one meeting per annum with the Independent Non-Executive
Directors without the presence of other Directors to discuss major
issues and any concern.

The Nomination Committee also assesses the independence of all
Independent Non-Executive Directors annually to ensure that the
Independent Non-Executive Directors can continually exercise
independent judgment. Each Independent Non-Executive Director
is required to inform the Company as soon as practicable if there
is any change in his/her own personal particulars that may
materially affect his/her independence.

In addition to compliance with the requirements prescribed by the
Listing Rules as to the composition of certain Board Committees,
the Company appoints Independent Non-Executive Directors to
other Board Committees as far as practicable to ensure
independent views are available.

Where necessary, the Independent Non-Executive Directors could
also seek independent advice from external professional advisers
at the Company’s expense.

The Board conducts review of the implementation and the
effectiveness of the policy on an annual basis.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for determining the policies for
corporate governance of the Company and performing the
corporate governance duties including:

(@)  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor
professional
management;

the training and continuous
development of Directors and senior

(c)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d)  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with Appendix C1 to
the Listing Rules (Corporate Governance Code and
Corporate Governance Report).

During the vyear, the Board has performed the corporate
governance functions by reviewing the Company’s corporate
governance practices.

DIRECTORS’ TRAININGS

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary
induction and information to ensure that he/she has a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as
well as his/her responsibilities under relevant statues, laws, rules
and regulations. The Company Secretary also provides Directors
with updates on latest development and changes in the Listing
Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements from
time to time. In compliance with Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules,
Mr. Gao Fei (who was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 26 March 2024), Mr. Qing Lijun (who was appointed
as a non-executive director of the Company on 22 May 2024),
Mr. Meng Fanjie (who was appointed as a non-executive director
of the Company on 28 August 2024) and Mr. Wang Xi (who was
appointed as a non-executive director of the Company on 10
October 2024) received training and legal advice on 26 March
2024, 21 May 2024, 28 August 2024 and 9 October 2024
respectively, prior to their respective appointments taking effect.
Each of them confirmed that they understand their obligations as
Directors.

—E_MEFR
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All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous ANAFIEEIMAEEELXMIZEZERER  UBE
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge B FH A LR - AARAESRHESEES
and skills. The Company has provided the Directors with reading &A@  BiRE M ETHWEBT ML - BIEE FFTIRM
materials with appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and HI428% - EERFEAMETHEINB MM T
duties of the Directors. A summary of trainings received by the

Directors during the year according to the records provided by

the Directors is as follows:

Type of trainings

Directors 32 5128 5l

Executive Directors HTES

Gao Fei (appointed on 26 March 2024) BRMR-ZE-_NF=A=+/ 0 A B, C
Z1E)

Wang Yan T3 A, C

Lu Minfang (resigned on 10 October 2024) EHHR (RS =ME+ A+ A§HE) A C

Zhang Ping (resigned on 26 March 2024) KFERZZEZWF ==+ HEE) A C

Non-executive Directors FHITESE

Qing Lijun (appointed on 22 May 2024) BYE(WR-_ZE-_NFRA=-+=-HE A B, C
Z1E)

Meng Fanijie (appointed on 28 August 2024) HZNERZZE_OMFENAFN\BE A C
Z1E)

Wang Xi (resigned on 28 August 2024 and IFHA(RZZE_WFNAZTN\BEME A C

appointed on 10 October 2024) MR ZE_NEF+A+BEZRT)

Simon Dominic Stevens Simon Dominic Stevens A, C

Chen Lang (resigned on 22 May 2024) R (R —ZE-_mF A+ HEHTE) A, C

Independent Non-executive Directors BIYKBITES

Yih Dieter Lai Tak B A C

Li Michael Hankin B A, C

Ge Jun B A C

A:  attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums relevant to the A: HFHEEBREETMELEBOFITS L SEE

business or directors’ duties &/ SmiE
B:  giving talks at seminars and/or conferences and/or forums B: HEHNER REZER HmELES

C:  reading materials relating to directors’ duties and responsibilities and ~ C: HEEEERENSTIRETREERNABNHE
regulatory updates ERvEe



BOARD PROCEEDINGS

The Board meets at least four times a year and additional
operational meetings are also held, when required. The Company
Secretary is responsible for preparing agenda and notices for the
meetings. Senior management of the Group also provides the
Directors with relevant information on a timely basis regarding key
business developments of the Group and issues affecting the
Group. Agenda and other information packages are normally
delivered to the Directors before the meetings. The Directors also
have independent access to the senior management in respect of
operational issues. The Directors may take independent
professional advice where appropriate to discharge their duties, at
the Company’s expenses.

The Board held four meetings during the year ended 31
December 2024 and one further meeting since 1 January 2025
up to the date of this report. Details of the Directors’ attendance
at the Board and Board Committee meetings and the annual
general meeting of the Company held in 2024 are set out in the
following table.
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Strategy and Annual
Board Audit Remuneration  Nomination Development Sustainability General
Meetings* Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee Meeting
BER BES |
Directors Ezged ENZEe FMZEe REZEE RREZEE RREZEE RREFAE
Executive Directors HEE
Geo Fei (appointed on 26 March &R (R -Z-ME 2/2 1N 1N
2024) ZAZ+/ REZE)
Wang Yan T# 4/4 1/1 1/1
Lu Minfang (resigned on EFH(R=SzmE 3/3 11 1/1
10 October 2024) +A+AE)
Zhang Ping (resigned on FE(RZZZRF 11 1/1 00
26 March 2024) ZAZTABEEL)
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Qing Lijun (appointed on FUE(R-_Z-MF 22 11 1/1 1/1
22 May 2024) AA-+-REEA)
Meng Fanjie (appointed on ANG(RZZZRF 1/1 1/1 0/0
28 August 2024) NAZ+/\BEZT)
Wang Xi (resigned on 28 August ~ E#& (R-Z-m4E 4/4 1N 1N
2024 and appointed on NAZTN\BBER
10 October 2024) RZZ-MF+A
THEZ)
Simon Dominic Stevens Simon Dominic Stevens 4/4 4/4 11 11
Chen Lang (resigned on BB (R=Z=mF 22 33 0/0
22 May 2024) RA-t-HED
Independent Non-executive BUkHTES
Directors
Yih Dieter Lai Tak £ 4/4 3/3 212 4/4 11
Li Michael Hankin Tief 4/4 3/3 2/2 4/4 11 1
Ge Jun Bk 4/4 33 22 4/4 1/1 17
* During the year, the Board held four quarterly meetings to handle  * EFeRNFARITTEREESH  NEREE

operational-level and investment matters. According to the
Company’s articles of association, the quorum for convening a
Board meeting is two members.
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Minutes of meetings of the Board and Board Committees are
kept by the Company Secretary of the Company and are not only
open for inspection by the Directors but also sent to the
Directors for their records. All Directors have access to the
Company Secretary of the Company, who is responsible for
ensuring that the Board procedures are complied with and
advising the Board on compliance matters.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief
Executive Officer to ensure a balance of power and authority. The
Chairman is responsible for overseeing the functioning of the
Board while the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for
managing the Group’s business. As at 31 December 2024, the
Chairman of the Board is Mr. Qing Lijun, a non-executive
Director, and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company is Mr.
Gao Fei, an executive Director.

The Chairman shall ensure that Board meetings are planned and
conducted effectively and all Directors are properly briefed on
issues arising at Board meetings. He is also responsible for
ensuring that the Directors receive adequate information in a
timely manner, which must be accurate, clear, complete and
reliable. The Chairman shall also ensure the Board works
effectively and discharges its responsibilities; all key and
appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
manner; good corporate governance practices and procedures
are established; and appropriate steps are taken to provide
effective  communication with Shareholders and that views of
Shareholders are communicated to the Board as a whole.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND
REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS

Each Director (for the avoidance of doubt, including the non-
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors) has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term
of three years. The Directors are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at each annual general meeting of the Company
in accordance with article 112 of the Company’s articles of
association. Directors appointed as an addition to the Board or to
fill a casual vacancy on the Board will be subject to re-election by
the Shareholders at the next following annual general meeting or
the next following general meeting of the Company respectively
after the appointment. Also, when an independent non-executive
Director proposed for re-election has served the Company for
more than nine years, his or her re-election will be subject to a
separate resolution to be approved at the AGM.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs and to
assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Company has
established five Board Committees under the Board, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee, the Strategy and Development Committee and the
Sustainability Committee, each of which is governed by specific
terms of reference approved by the Board, covering its functions,
duties and powers. The terms of reference of the respective
Board Committees have complied with the CG Code provisions
and are disclosed on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange and are available for public inspection at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2024, the Remuneration Committee
comprised three independent non-executive Directors (Mr. Ge Jun,
Mr. Yih Dieter Lai Tak and Mr. Li Michael Hankin). The
Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Ge Jun.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee are to review annually
and recommend to the Board the overall remuneration policy and
structure for the directors and senior management to ensure that
the level of remuneration is linked to their level of responsibilities
undertaken. These shall include making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment. The Remuneration Committee shall also evaluate
annually the performance of the directors and the senior
management and recommend to the Board specific adjustments
in their remuneration and/or reward payments.

The Company’s policy on remuneration for employees is to
maintain fair and competitive packages based on business needs
and industry practice. For determining the level of fees paid to
members of the Board, market rates and factors such as each
director’s workload and required commitment will be taken into
account. In addition, factors comprising economic and market
situations, individual contributions to the Group’s results and
development as well as individual potential are considered when
determining the remuneration packages of executive Directors.
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The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme and Share
Award Scheme to improve incentives to the employees of the
Group. The performance targets attached to awards or options to
be granted under the schemes mainly include the annual financial
performance of the Company (i.e. the annual revenue, profit
attributable to owners of the Company, and free cash flow of the
Group).

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2024. During the year, the Remuneration
Committee had performed the following:

— assessed the performance of the Directors and senior
management;

— reviewed and approved the remuneration for the Directors
and senior management including terms of the letters of
appointment;

— reviewed the remuneration
recommendations to the Board;

policy and made

—  reviewed the vesting of granted shares according to the
Company’s share award scheme, and made
recommendations to the Board; and

—  reviewed the vesting of granted share options according to
the Company’s share option scheme, and made
recommendations to the Board.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The remuneration (excluding share-based payments) of the
members of the senior management (excluding Directors) by band
for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:

Remuneration bands (RMB)

FMAER (AR%T)

1,000,001-2,000,000
4,000,001-5,000,000
5,000,001-6,000,000
6,000,001-7,000,000
11,000,001-12,000,000
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Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five
highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 9 and 10
to the financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee comprised
five members, three of whom are independent non-executive
Directors (Mr. Yih Dieter Lai Tak, Mr. Li Michael Hankin, Mr. Ge
Jun) and the remaining two members are non-executive Directors
(Mr. Qing Lijun and Mr. Simon Dominic Stevens). The Nomination
Committee was chaired by Mr. Qing Lijun.

The responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are to determine
the nomination policy, review the structure, size and composition,
including the skills, knowledge and experiences of the Board and
make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes. The Nomination Committee is also responsible for
identifying and nominating suitable candidates qualified to become
Board members, in particular, candidates who can add value to
the management through their contributions in the relevant
strategic business areas and which appointments will result in the
constitution of a stronger and more diverse Board, and makes
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors if necessary and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the Chairman and
the chief executive of the Company.

The Board has adopted a director nomination policy. The
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon receipt of
the proposal on appointment of new director and the biographical
information (or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out below to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship. The
Nomination Committee should then recommend to the Board to
appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship, as applicable.
In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be taken into account:

o Character and integrity.

° Qualifications including professional qualifications, skKills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
board diversity policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy.

° Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board.
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° Requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Hong Kong Listing Rules and whether
the candidate would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the
Hong Kong Listing Rules.

° Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the
Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity.

° Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company.

° Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company’s business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the Board
and/or the Nomination Committee from time to time for
nomination of directors and succession planning.

The Board has adopted the board diversity policy to set out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board. Under such policy,
board appointments will be based on merits and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefit of diversity on the Board. The selection of candidates on
the Board is based on a range of diversity perspectives, including
gender, age, cultural and education background, ethnicity,
professional, industry or management experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The Company will also take into
account other factors based on its own business model and
specific business needs from time to time. The Nomination
Committee will continue to give adequate consideration to these
measurable objectives when making recommendation of
candidates for appointment to the Board. The Nomination
Committee shall monitor the implementation of the board diversity
policy on an on-going basis. The Nomination Committee shall
assist the Company to ensure that recruitment and selection
practices at all relevant levels (including the Board and core
senior management, or as the Nomination Committee considers
appropriate) are appropriately structured so that a diverse range
of candidates are considered. The Nomination Committee shall
also assist the Company in identifying and implementing
programs that will assist in the development of a broader and
more diverse pool of skiled and experienced core senior
management team and that, in time, their skills are expected to
prepare them for board positions.
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In regards to the gender diversity of the Board, the Board
currently has one female director and will maintain at least one
female director on the Board going forward. The Nomination
Committee will continue to identify candidates for directorships in
accordance with the board diversity policy and will recommend
suitable female candidates with merits to the Board. The Board
will take opportunities to increase the proportion of female
members over time as and when suitable candidates are
identified.

The Nomination Committee held four meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2024 to discuss about the change in
directorship, assess the independence of the independent non-
executive directors of the Company and to review the structure,
size, composition and diversity of the Board, etc.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee comprised three
independent non-executive Directors (Mr. Yih Dieter Lai Tak, Mr.
Li Michael Hankin and Mr. Ge Jun) in which one possess the
relevant professional qualifications required under the Listing
Rules. The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. Li Michael Hankin.

The Audit Committee serves as a focal point for communication
between other Directors, the external auditors, and the
management as their duties relate to financial and other reporting,
risk management, internal controls and auditing. The Audit
Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities by
providing an independent review of financial reporting and by
satisfying itself as to the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
controls and as to the efficiency of the audits.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year ended
31 December 2024. During the year, the Audit Committee has
performed the following:

—  met with the external auditors to discuss the general scope
and findings of their audit and interim review works;
and

— reviewed external auditors’ letter

management’s response;

management

—  reviewed and recommended to the Board for approval of the

external auditors’ remuneration;

— made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment
of the external auditors;
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—  reviewed the external auditors’ independence, objectivity and
the effectiveness of the audit process;

— reviewed and monitored the integrity of financial statements,
annual and interim reports, and annual and interim results
announcements of the Company;

— reported to the Board on matters relating to the Audit
Committee under the CG Code;

— reviewed the Group’s financial controls, internal control and
risk management systems;

— discussed auditing, internal control, risk management and
financial reporting matters before recommending them to the
Board for approval; and

—  reviewed the arrangements that employees of the Company
and those who deal with the Company can use, in
confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal controls or other matters.

All issues raised by the external auditors and the Audit
Committee have been addressed by the senior management. The
work and findings of the Audit Committee have been reported to
the Board. During the year, no issues brought to the attention of
the senior management and the Board were of sufficient
significance for disclosure in the annual report.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group which give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position as at 31 December 2024
and the consolidated financial performance and cash flows of the
Group for the year then ended. The statement of the auditor of
the Company about its responsibilities on the financial statements
of the Group is set out in the independent auditor’s report on
pages 129 to 137 of the annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for maintaining sound and
effective risk management and internal control systems and for
reviewing and reasonably ensuring their effectiveness. The
objectives of the risk management and internal control of the
Group are to apply the philosophies, procedures and methods of
risk management and internal control to businesses management
and decision-making procedures under its further optimized risk
management and internal control system in an effort to prevent
and mitigate major risks and enhance management capacity; and
to objectively evaluate the effectiveness of governance, control
and risk management of the Group through independent internal
audit while reasonably ensuring the realization of the Group’s
strategic objectives and operation objectives and propelling the
sustainable development of the enterprise. Such risk management
and internal control systems are designed for managing risks
rather than eliminating the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Risk Management

The Group has been solidifying three lines of defense in risk
management. It has developed a multi-level risk panel, which
comprises the Audit Committee under the Board and the Legal
Compliance and Risk Control Committee established by the
operating management. The Legal Compliance and Risk Control
Committee is the highest deliberative body for risk management,
chaired by the Chief Executive Officer of the Group and
comprising core executives and the Chief Compliance Officer of
the Group.

The Compliance and Risk Control Department is a daily operation
body established by the Legal Compliance and Risk Control
Committee. The first line of defense consists of the business
department and functional department, which is responsible for
executing and taking primary responsibility for risk management.
The second line of defense is the Legal Compliance and Risk
Control Committee, which is responsible for planning and
supervising risk management. The third line of defense consists of
the departments of internal audit and discipline inspection, which
is responsible for evaluating risk management consequences. With
synergy and coordination, cooperation and high efficiency, these
three lines of defense work together to improve systems and
processes, and carry out daily supervision, independent evaluation
and self-evaluation, in order to ensure the achievement of the
strategic goals in a reasonable manner.
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The Group has established the system standards for risk
management. Focusing on significant risk control, the Group has
carried out risk management using the “Six-step Method” of risk
identification, risk assessment, risk response, risk monitoring, risk
evaluation and risk reporting. With the adoption of a risk-driven
approach, the Group has implemented both “centralized
governance” and “devolved control” models to facilitate business
development.

Ongoing optimization of risk management procedures and
systems is carried out in compliance with risk management
framework of COSO (Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission), which has formed the whole chain
risk management of “multi-dimensional risk identification,
integrated risk assessment, coordinated risk response, integrated
supervision and inspection, and coordinated rectification and
optimization”.  Through co-operation with external consultancy
institutions and internal business empowerment and training, the
culture of risk management is gradually nurtured, the
professionalism and the prevention and control standard of risk
management personnel are enhanced.

The risk management department organizes annual full-scale
identification and evaluation of each of the business and function
units on the seven aspects of risks, namely the Group’s
strategies, market, finance, supply chain, law and compliance,
quality and food safety as well as sustainable development, and it
focuses on the control over the significant risks at group level.
The Legal Compliance and Risk Control Committee has reached
a consensus to define major responsible departments and
person-in-charges. The heads of departments shall be held
accountable. The Group has formulated appropriate risk response
strategic measures or contingency plans to effectively reduce and
avoid the adverse impact brought by those significant risks to the
Group’s strategic objectives and sustainable development.

Internal Control

The Board and operating management are responsible for
maintaining a stable and effective internal control system, to
safeguard the assets of the Group and the interest of
shareholders, and for reviewing its effectiveness regularly. The
Group has established a multi-level internal control organization.
Internal control organizations at different levels coordinate and
cooperate with each other to ensure the Group’s implementation
of internal control.
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The senior management of the Group meets to actively evaluate
and manage the significant risks, review the solution strategy to
ensure the effectiveness of risk management measures to which
the Group is exposed to and reports to the Audit Committee on
a regular basis. The Group also appoints external consultants,
when considered appropriate, to review the Group’s internal
control, working systems and workflows, as well as the
management systems, and to make suggestions on system
enhancement.

Internal Audit

The Group has set up an independent internal audit department,
and the person in charge of the internal audit body can freely
liaise with the Audit Committee to directly report the progress of
works, including but not limited to audit work planning, work
results, important audit findings and rectification. The internal audit
body assumes the responsibilities of independent supervision,
assessment and advisory, which include the implementation of
independent and objective assessment and advisory on the
economic activities, internal control and risk management for the
Group and the units concerned. The internal audit body is issue-
oriented and risk-oriented, which reinforces the supervision and
strengthens the functions of management through various works
on audit.

In 2024, pursuant to the Company’s strategies, the internal audit
department focused on key risk areas and covered key control
areas. With its emphasis on economic accountability audit, the
internal audit department strengthened audit rectification and
accountability. The internal audit department completed various
audit works reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee
under the Board, which facilitated further improvement in the
Group’s compliance, internal control and risk management. Efforts
were made to support management and decision-making, and
facilitate business autonomous management, operation
improvement, preservation and appreciation of asset values and
the realization of strategic objectives of the Company in a
reasonable manner.
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The internal audit department attends the Audit Committee
meeting and reports the work on internal audit at least twice a
year. Resources such as the annual budget on management fee,
staffing of the internal audit department and competence are
guaranteed to be taken into consideration by the Audit
Committee and necessary support will be provided. This is to
ensure that sufficient audit resources are allocated to the internal
audit department for effective fulfilment of annual work objectives
and responsibilities.

The Board has reviewed semi-annually the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024 and considered them to be effective and
adequate. Such review had considered all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Group has formulated an internal Code on Information
Disclosure to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and
timeliness of information disclosure of the Group in accordance
with the requirements of the SFO and the Listing Rules. The
Internal Code provides for detailed rules in the following areas.

— basic principles of information disclosure

— information that needs to be disclosed and the criteria
thereof

—  duties of the parties responsible for information disclosure

— procedures for the circulation, review and disclosure of

information
—  confidentiality of the undisclosed information

— information communication system with investors, securities
analysts and the media, etc.

— accountability and handling measures
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Disciplinary Inspection and Reporting Channels

The Group has set up a specific integrity department, which is
responsible for investigating and handling reported matters on
breach of disciplines or rules, misconducts and corruptions. The
Group has also openly informed our business partners and staff
on the channels and methods of reporting as follows. Firstly, we
announce the complaint and reporting hotline, latest complaint
and reporting email (mMnjw@mengniu.cn) and mailing address on
Mengniu’s official website. Secondly, we announce the complaint
and reporting methods and acceptance scope on Mengniu’'s
WeChat official account. Thirdly, we announce the complaint and
reporting methods in the anti-corruption agreements entered into
between the Company and suppliers. Fourthly, we announce the
complaint and reporting methods in the customer meetings of all
business divisions. Fifthly, we announce the complaint and
reporting methods during the internal anti-corruption warnings and
training held in our daily operations. Sixthly, we announce the
complaint and reporting methods in typical case reports.
Seventhly, we announce the complaint and reporting methods
during the bidding process of the Company. At present, as the
Group has announced the methods of complaint and reporting on
various channels and established the complaint and reporting
mechanism (system), our employees at all levels and partners are
familiar with our methods of reporting and the channels of
reporting are operating smoothly. Such measures would have a
deterrent and preventive effect on matters related to breach of
disciplines or rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee held
two meetings to carry out review and evaluation on the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems and reporting
channels, the resources, the staff qualification and experience for
audit functions and the effectiveness of the work undertaken and
there were no significant areas of concerns identified during the
evaluation of the risk management and internal control systems
and reporting channels. The Board had examined the risk
management and internal control systems including finance,
operation and control and reviewed the evaluation performed by
the Audit Committee, the management and internal and external
auditors, on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and considered them effective and
adequate. No significant areas of concerns were identified.

The Board also reviewed the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions and
their training programs and budget and considered that they are
adequate.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The Group’s independent external auditors are KPMG. The Audit
Committee is responsible for the appointment of the external
auditors and reviewing the non-audit functions performed by the

S 5B K BB
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ZHMAAREETOIZETE - BRIEER

external auditors for the Group. In particular, the Audit Committee & B & BN Z BRI AL HIEBETERS

will, prior to the execution of contract with external auditor and
the commencement of their duties, consider whether the non-

Al ZRAMIRB ISR ERHBREMER
ERNEFHR -

audit functions will result in any potential material conflict of
interest.

Details of fees paid or payable to KPMG for the year ended 31

December 2024 are as follows:

Services rendered

Annual audit

Interim review

Other audit services”

Non-audit services
Review on continuing connected transactions
Other professional services™*

HE_ZT_NFE+-_A=+—HIEFEXHE
SNTESREFMEFANERFBLT -

2024

2023
—T-=F
RMB’000
AREEFTT

—E-ME
RMB’000

1245 09 AR 3% AR®T T

FEET 6,460
FHIEE R 1,420
H b E et R 2,478

FEEFT RS
EMBERERS 100
HhFE RSB 4,129
14,587

*x

T

Other audit services mainly include statutory audit and completion

audit for certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Other professional services mainly include agreed-upon procedures
services, tax services and comfort letter on circulars provided by

KPMG for the year ended 31 December 2024.

he Board is satisfied with the audit fees,

effectiveness of KPMG.

process and
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STRATEGY AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE
The Company has established a Strategy and Development
Committee. As at 31 December 2024, the Strategy and
Development Committee comprised one executive Director, Mr.
Gao Fei, four non-executive Directors, Mr. Qing Lijun, Mr. Meng
Fanjie, Mr. Wang Xi and Mr. Simon Dominic Stevens and one
independent non-executive Director, Mr. Ge Jun. The Strategy
and Development Committee is chaired by Mr. Qing Lijun.

The principal duties of the Strategy and Development Committee
include drawing up long-term development strategies and
significant investments or financing plans of the Company,
proposing significant capital investment for operation projects, and
conducting studies and making recommendations on important
matters that would affect the development of the Company.

The Strategy and Development Committee held one meeting
during the year ended 31 December 2024 to discuss about the
revised strategy of the Group.

SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Sustainability Committee. As at
31 December 2024, the Sustainability Committee comprised two
executive Directors, Mr. Gao Fei and Ms. Wang Yan, one non-
executive Director, Mr. Simon Dominic Stevens, and one
independent non-executive Director, Mr. Li Michael Hankin. The
Sustainability Committee is chaired by Mr. Simon Dominic
Stevens.

The principal duties of the Sustainability Committee include
overseeing sustainability, environmental, social and governance
(“ESG”) issues and risks, identifying ESG matters that are relevant
and material to the operations of the Company and its
subsidiaries, assisting the Board in preparing and reviewing the
annual ESG Report.

The Sustainability Committee held one meeting during the year
ended 31 December 2024 to discuss about the 2023
Sustainability Report and major work done in ESG in 2023 and
2024.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full time employee of the Company
and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The
Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating the Board
process, as well as communication among Board members, with
Shareholders and management. For the year ended 31
December 2024, the Company Secretary has confirmed that he
has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
trainings.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Adoption of the New Memorandum and Articles of
Association

By a special resolution passed at the 2024 annual general
meeting dated 12 June 2024, the new memorandum and articles
of association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”) were
adopted. The purpose of the adoption was to, among others,
update and bring the existing Memorandum and Articles of
Association in line with the latest regulatory requirements in
relation to the expanded paperless listing regime and the
electronic dissemination of corporate communication by listed
issuers which took effect from 31 December 2023. The full text of
the Articles of Association is available on the Company’s website
and the website of the Stock Exchange. For details of the
amendments, please refer to the announcement and circular of
the Company dated 19 April 2024 and 28 April 2024
respectively.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted, in terms no less exacting than, the
standards required by the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the Company’s code of
conduct and rules governing dealings by all Directors in the
securities of the Company. The Directors have confirmed,
following the specific enquiry by the Company, that they have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2024.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy to set out the
principles and guidelines that the Company intends to apply in
relation to the declaration, payment or distribution of its net
profits as dividends to the Shareholders.

In recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall
maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital
requirements and future growth as well as its shareholder value.
The Board has the discretion to propose, declare and distribute
dividends to the Shareholders, subject to the articles of

association of the Company and all applicable laws and
regulations and the factors set out below.

o financial results;

° cash flow situation;

° business conditions and strategies;

° future operations and earnings;

° capital requirements and expenditure plans;

o interests of Shareholders;

° any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

° any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
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GENDER DIVERSITY

The following table sets out the gender ratio in the workforce of
the Group, including the Board and senior management, as of
31 December 2024:

L —
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Female Male

Z B

Board Exg 11.1% 88.9%
(1) 8)

Senior management (Nete) SREEE WD 25% 75%
(©) ©)

Senior management personnel SREBAS 25% 75%
@) 6)

Middle management personnel FREEAR 25.6% 74.4%
(712) (2,071)

General staff —RET 43.9% 56.1%
(16,777) (21,478)

Overall workforce BTHAY 42.6% 57.4%
(17,494) (23,564)

Note: The senior management included one female executive director and
one male executive director of the Company.

The Group is an enterprise that focuses on manufacturing and
sale of dairy products. Most employees of the Group are
engaged in the front line of manufacturing, sales and farming
duties. Given the labour intensive nature of manufacturing duties,
frequent travels required of sales duties, and the remote locations
of the farms requiring employees to be resident at the farms,
majority of candidates for the Group’s general staff and middle
management personnel (who are generally appointed from such
front-line positions) are male. Considering the small number of
senior management and the fortuitous element in the proportion,
the Group believes that maintaining a non-single-sex senior
management team is a reasonable goal of gender diversity in the
senior management level.
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In order to improve gender diversity of the workforce and attract
female candidates to the Group, the Group has implemented a
specific employee care program with welfare benefits tailored for
female employees.

The Group will continue to strictly abide by all applicable labour
laws and regulations, provide equal opportunities for employees
and candidates of different genders by only considering their
qualifications, experience, performance and other factors related
to the job functions and ensure that there is no unequal
treatment due to gender differences in recruitment, remuneration,
promotion and career development.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATIONS

The Company adopts a proactive policy in promoting investor
relations and communications. Regular meetings are held with
institutional investors and financial analysts to ensure two-way
communications on the Company’s performance and
development. When the Company announces its interim and
annual results, briefings are conducted to apprise investors,
analysts and the press of the Group’s operating results as well as
business strategies and outlook. Investor relations website is
updated on a timely basis to ensure that investors are able to
have access to the Company’s information, latest news and
reports.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the shareholders’ communication policy conducted during the
year. The Board conducted such review from various angles,
including whether the policy provided sufficient channels to
shareholders to access to the Company, and the availability and
quality of the two-way dialogue with shareholders through
channels such as investor meetings.

The Board considered that the Company was able to carry out
effective two-way communication with its investors and
shareholders by way of regular meetings and timely updates of
the Company’s financial results and developments in accordance
with applicable laws and regulations. Accordingly, the Board
considered the policy to be effective and adequate.
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Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings for each
substantially separate issue, including election of Directors. Poll
voting has been adopted for decision-making at shareholders’
meeting. Details of poll voting procedures were included in the
circular dispatched to the Shareholders. The circular also included
relevant details of proposed resolutions and biographies of the
Directors standing for election.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of extraordinary general meeting on
requisition by Shareholders

According to the articles of association of the Company, any two
or more Shareholders or any one Shareholder which is a
recognized clearing house (or its nominee(s)) holding as at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall have the right, by
written requisition, to convene an extraordinary general meeting by
depositing the written requisition at the principal office of the
Company in Hong Kong at 32nd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262
Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong for the attention of
the Company Secretary, specifying the objects of the meeting, the
name(s) and contact details of the requisitionist(s) and signed by
the requisitionist(s).

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of
the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held
within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same
manner as that in which meetings may be convened by the
Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held
after the expiration of three months from the date of deposit of
the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.
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Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the
Board

For enquiries to the Board, the Shareholders may contact the
Company Secretary at the Hong Kong office of the Company at
32nd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road, Causeway
Bay, Hong Kong or by email to info@mengniuir.com. The
Company will endeavor to respond to their queries in a timely
manner. Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Directors
at the general meetings of the Company.

In addition, the Shareholders can contact Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, the share registrar of the
Company in Hong Kong, if they have any enquiries about their
shareholdings and entitlements to dividend.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at general
meetings by Shareholders

A Shareholder may, during the period commencing no earlier than
the day after the despatch of the notice of any general meeting
and ending no later than seven days prior to the date of such
general meeting, give a notice in writing to the Nomination
Committee of the Company of his/her intention to propose any
person (other than himself/herself) for election to the office of a
Director and a notice in writing signed by the person to be
proposed of his/her willingness to be elected. Such notices shall
be sent to 32nd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong, for the attention of the Company
Secretary, specifying the name and contact details of the
shareholder putting forward the proposal for election of Director
and the name and contact details of the person proposed to be
elected.

Other than the above concerning a proposal of a person for
election as a Director, Shareholders may follow the procedures
set out above to convene an extraordinary general meeting for
any business specified in such written requisition.
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The Board presents its report together with the audited financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024. The business review of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 is set out in the sections headed
“CEQ’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis” and
“Corporate  Governance Report” of this Annual Report. The
discussions therein form part of this Report of the Directors.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and distribution
of quality dairy products including liquid milk, ice cream, milk
formula and cheese in China. There were no significant changes
in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year
under review.

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to
the financial statements.

The Group’s revenue is derived principally from business activities
in China. An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year
ended 31 December 2024 by business segments is set out in
note 4 to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group including a fair review of the
Group’s business, a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group, particulars of important events
affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the
financial year, an indication of likely future development in the
Group’s business, key performance indicators, environmental
policies and performance, and the Group’s key relationships with
its employees, customers and suppliers and others that have a
significant impact on the Group and on which the Group’s
success depends is set out in the sections of this annual report
headed “CEQ’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and
Analysis” and in the notes to the financial statements.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group’s main operations are carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in the PRC while the Company itself is listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The Group’s operations are mainly
regulated by Hong Kong, Australian and PRC laws. During the
year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report,
the Board was not aware of any non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Company.

Please refer to the discussions in this report and the “Corporate
Governance Report” for further details on the Group’s compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations.

RESULTS AND DISTRIBUTION

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on
page 138.

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of
RMBO0.509 (2023: RMBO0.489) per share, amounting to
approximately RMB1,994,247,000 (2023: RMB1,924,358,000) in
total, to Shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members on Wednesday, 18 June 2025.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 143 to 144 and note
44 to the financial statements. The Company’s distributable
reserves, calculated in accordance with statutory provisions
applicable in the Company’s place of incorporation, amounted to
approximately RMB11,870,438,000 as at 31 December 2024
(2023: RMB9,498,632,000).
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DONATIONS B

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the AEBRFRIBEIL A REE74,590,0007T (= Z
year amounted to approximately RMB74,590,000 (2023: Z—=4%: AR#62,659,0007T)EA%&ZE N EM
RMB62,659,000). Bk o

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS iR 2S K B AR R
Details of movement in the Company’s share capital and share 72 &) 4F R A% 2N N B AR R 4 Bh i) 2 15 SR B 15 3R
options during the year are set out in notes 34 and 37 to the  #&MiFE34 %37 °

100

financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2024 were:

Executive Directors

Gao Fei (appointed on 26 March 2024)
Wang Yan

Lu Minfang (resigned on 10 October 2024)
Zhang Ping (resigned on 26 March 2024)

Non-executive Directors

Qing Lijun (appointed on 22 May 2024)

Meng Fanjie (appointed on 28 August 2024)

Wang Xi (resigned on 28 August 2024 and
appointed on 10 October 2024)

Simon Dominic Stevens

Chen Lang (resigned on 22 May 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Yih Dieter Lai Tak

Li Michael Hankin

Ge Jun

=}
HE-Z-_NF+-_A=+—HLEFENESN
™

HITES

ER(A-ZE-_NF=A=-+/,"BEZT)
T 7%

EHgR(R-_ZE_MNE+ A+ HEE)
RF (W -ZT-_WF=ZA =+ NHED)

EHITES

EvEWR-_ZE_WHFRA-_+-_HEZT)

HZABERZZE_OMENAZ+NBEEZT)

ITHARZZE-_MENAZF+NBHFEIR
RZZEZNF+A+HEZF)

Simon Dominic Stevens

B (R—ZE-_WFRA =+ HEE)

BYFATES
£y T

FEk

Bk



In accordance with Article 112 of the Company’s articles of
association, Ms. Wang Yan and Mr. Li Michael Hankin will retire
by rotation and Mr. Meng Fanjie and Mr. Wang Xi will also retire
in accordance with the Company’s articles of association and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

The Company considers that all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent pursuant to the criteria set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and that a confirmation of independence
has been received from each of them.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management are set out on pages 61 to 71.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one vyear without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Company’s board of directors with reference to directors’ duties
and responsibilities in the Group and the prevailing market rate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The articles of association of the Company provides that every
Director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a Director or other
officer of the Company in defending any proceedings, whether
civil or criminal. In addition, the Company has maintained
appropriate insurance in respect of potential legal actions against
the Directors and its officers. The relevant provisions in the
articles of association of the Company and the relevant insurance
were in force during the financial year ended 31 December 2024
and as of the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS, LONG AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) (the “Associated
Corporations”) as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

L —

EETHREERX
ARAMHABERAAREBNEFIARAE
AR EYAEREMEREETAARAEMER
BEAETMREIMEFAPRIERMBEL
SEXNMBBRANEEEFUARREERHEIE
HBERE < I RARCHHHEEIES
RBEMBELRTHBERENRR - AR A
MASSREMANEERATE MERRRREBEE-F
TFE+T A=+ BHUEMBFERBEARE
BEMDARB R -

EERRH  HHREG R ERE R
% BARKA

REZZE—WF+=—A=+—H ARQRAEERE
BITBABRARR REFMEREZE (EXR
BHERBEGKO([EHFRBEGKG]) EXVE)
([FEEEE ) MR - R RERES - %
BEIAEBEENHEIEHE352E B TEFENE
M AR KIAR - s E AR BT 82 C3FT &,
P RE LB ITAESETESFR HNIZEST
Al (MMEEFR ) STAERRBMEEH AR S
FTERAR ([BRAT]) MRS KARIT ¢
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Long positions in the shares of the Company or any of the HMZAR A ETIIHEEEBEMNTE (BER
Associated Corporations (including options granted under the IEANA FIEEATAE T 219 T a9 BEALHE) ¢
Company’s share option scheme):

Total Number of

Ordinary Shares/ Percentage of the
Underlying Company’s Issued
Share Held Share Capital
Name of Director Nature of Interest BEZER HAERATEBIT
EEnR ERMEE HERGEH RANE DL
Gao Fei Personal Interest 4,287,957 (L)"@ 0.11%9
SRl (PN 34
Meng Fanjie Personal Interest 8,000 (L)@ 0.00%®
FR:S &A%
Notes: P &E -

(1) It comprised (i) 292,632 shares held by Mr. Gao Fei, (i) 566,988  ( ZE B BIE()® ML £ A 292,632 Ak 5

—

shares granted to Mr. Gao Fei under the restricted share award (NARRIRGIERZRETEEFaREEN
scheme of the Company and (i) 3,428,337 underlying shares in 566,988 % 7 ¢ K (i) B FAIRE AR B AR AT
respect of the share options granted under the Company’s share B33 8 BE AR HE 80 3,428,337 BLAR A AR 1D ©

option scheme.
(2)  Interest held in the capacity of beneficial owner. (2 NERBEEASNITENEZ -

(3)  The calculation is based on the number of shares as a percentage (3) ZBREMHEBHEARGR _ZT_WNFE+_A

of the total number of issued shares of the Company (i.e. =+ —HBE#EITRH B %3,919,104,513 &
3,919,104,513 shares) as at 31 December 2024. DLETE -
(L)  Indicates a long position. L RTEFE-
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Details of the Company’s share option scheme and restricted
share award scheme are set out in the sections headed “Share
Option Scheme” and “Share Award Scheme”, respectively below.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company had any
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of the Associated
Corporations as recorded in the register of the Company required
to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Directors’
Interests, Long and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures” above and “Share Option Scheme” and “Share
Award Scheme” below, at no time during the year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate granted
to any Director, or his or her respective spouse or minor children,
or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company,
or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire such rights in the Company or any other body
corporate.

L —

A2 B OB IR 5 B R 1 1 B B+ B 3
185 RIS T3 [BBRRAES 81 ) B [ IR SR H b3t 1)
& -

B EXPrRBEEIN R _ME+_A=1+—
B ARRBEEERETEBTBRABRARARE
AR AE R A - MR REEET  HE
BEEMNECEREES KRB GRIIFEI521ER
ERENECMA  ARBEFEETUASTHER
DA MR AR e SR B o

EEWEROHOER

B EXTEERED - ARG RERENE
@ FRMRE | BRI X[k E ] R
SEEET 8 PR EES  RFARTEERE 3
BEEMEFAESANEBIARKF FER L
AHEKBARBREAEMEZEEROROKE
EMBENERN - AREWETEEMNEFE
Ao BARRRETAZEBAR  FTARKAR
FRRBER AR WBEEEAIESER
ARBREMEMEEE R BEER -
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FTERRES
RZZF-_ME+-_A=+t—8  RE&E %&ﬁﬁf
fFBIE336IFMTEFERELMATCE - AR
E’UIEHQ?(J‘%$’AE&$EE§&FEE’\Jﬁifﬁﬂfﬂﬁﬁi‘?@ﬁ
BRRSEMARER EXHINARREFTRE
ZITHABRRIN RAR BBy M AR R B0 8
BEIXRMT

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
As at 31 December 2024, the interests or short positions of
substantial shareholders of the Company, other than the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company whose interests and short
positions in the shares of the Company and of the Associated
Corporations are set out above, in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be
maintained under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Percentage of
the Company’s
Issued
Share Capital®
ERARE BT
N

Number of
Ordinary Shares
EERHA

TERREE BB

Name of Substantial Shareholder

COFCO Corporation HREEFRRAR 950,014,304(L)" 24.24%
COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited HREEE(FE)BRAF 938,103,304(L)2e 23.94%
China Foods (Holdings) Limited HER M ER) BRAF 846,174,304(L) 21.59%
Farwill Limited TEBRATA 938,103,304(L)@® 23.94%
Colour Spring Limited FRBERAT 938,1083,304(L)® 23.94%
COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited FRIEZERARA T 938,103,304(L)20 23.94%
COFCO Dairy Investments Limited HRIERERRA 938,103,304(L)2" 23.94%
Prominent Achiever Limited HEEEBRAA 938,103,304(L)2® 23.94%
Arla Foods amba Arla Foods amba 938,103,304(L)? 23.94%
FIL Limited FIL Limited 236,266,000(L) 6.03%
1,514,000(S) 0.04%

Pandanus Partners L.P. Pandanus Partners L.P. 236,266,000(L)9 6.03%
1,514,000(S) 0.04%

Pandanus Associates Inc. Pandanus Associates Inc. 236,266,000(L)° 6.03%
1,514,000(S) 0.04%

Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. 197,019,863(L) 5.03%
197,019,863(P) 5.03%

UBS Group AG UBS Group AG 211,417,552(L) 5.39%
Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group, Inc.  Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group, Inc. 308,997,000(L) 7.88%

Notes: MisE -
(1)  COFCO Corporation is deemed interested in an aggregate of (1) FHEEBARARHEEBBEZER AR (BIF

950,014,304 shares in the Company through its controlled BEB(BB)BERA T(Efﬂﬁﬁlﬁﬁﬁ GlE=:

corporations, being COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited (which is wholly- FAE) HEEMER) BRAR (FREEE (&
owned by COFCO Corporation), China Foods (Holdings) Limited B)ERABIZERE)  EERBRAF(FEER

uu(hﬂﬁ)”ﬁ‘ﬁﬁ ARERA)  PREILEEERE
RENEEBRIRFAT0%MMME) - FHEIL

(which is wholly-owned by COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited), Farwill
Limited (which is wholly-owned by China Foods (Holdings) Limited),

COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited (which is owned by Farwill Limited
as to 70%), COFCO Dairy Investments Limited (which is owned by
COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited as to 82.16%), Prominent Achiever
Limited (which is wholly-owned by COFCO Dairy Investments
Limited) and WDF Investment Co., Ltd. (which is wholly-owned by
COFCO Corporation).

%&é*ﬁﬁﬁ BI(PRERIAEIERERAAFE
82.16% K% 1) - HiEBR AR (FRIERLRE
ARATEEREE) MWDF Investment Co Ltd
(FREREEBERARZERA))RAR
950,014,304 & f 15 R A #E 2 o

El/\
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(10)

COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited, Farwill Limited, Colour Spring Limited,
COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited, COFCO Dairy Investments Limited,
Prominent Achiever Limited and Arla Foods amba are deemed
interested in an aggregate of 938,103,304 shares in the Company
under section 317 of the SFO.

COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited is a beneficial owner of 91,929,000
shares in the Company and is deemed interested in another
846,174,304 shares in the Company through its controlled
corporations, being China Foods (Holdings) Limited, Farwill Limited,
COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited, COFCO Dairy Investments Limited
and Prominent Achiever Limited.

China Foods (Holdings) Limited is deemed interested in an aggregate
of 846,174,304 shares in the Company through its controlled
corporations, being Farwill Limited, COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited,
COFCO Dairy Investments Limited and Prominent Achiever Limited.

Farwill Limited is deemed interested in an aggregate of 846,174,304
shares in the Company through its controlled corporations, being
COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited, COFCO Dairy Investments Limited
and Prominent Achiever Limited.

COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited is deemed interested in an aggregate
of 846,174,304 shares in the Company through its controlled
corporations, being COFCO Dairy Investments Limited and
Prominent Achiever Limited.

COFCO Dairy Investments Limited is a beneficial owner of
550,146,260 shares in the Company and is deemed interested in
another 296,028,044 shares in the Company through its controlled
corporation, being Prominent Achiever Limited.

Prominent Achiever Limited is a beneficial owner of 296,028,044
shares in the Company.

Based on the disclosure of interest filed by Pandanus Associates
Inc., FIL Limited is a controlled corporation of Pandanus Partners
L.P., which is in tun a controlled corporation of Pandanus

Associates Inc.

The total issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2024
was 3,919,104,513.

Indicates a long position.
Indicates a short position.

Indicates a lending pool.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, no other
interests or short position in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company were recorded in the register maintained under
Section 336 of the SFO.

(10)

R EXCPrEEE SN -

L —

BIEBANPEEFEINT7IE TEEE(FH)
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ILEERERAR  PIRILERESRARA B
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1R ¥ Pandanus Associates Inc. 123 IREZS I 52 -
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 3 June 2016, the shareholders of the Company approved the
adoption of a new share option scheme (the “2016 Share Option
Scheme”) in order to enable the Group to continue to offer
valuable incentive to attract and retain quality personnel to work
to increase the value of the shares of the Company. The 2016
Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
10 years commencing from 3 June 2016 and will expire on 2
June 2026. Under the rules of the 2016 Share Option Scheme
which was adopted in 2016, participants of the 2016 Share
Option Scheme may include the Company’s directors (including
independent non-executive directors), other employees of the
Group, suppliers of goods or services to the Group, customers
and any person or entity that provides research, development or
technological support to the Group. Pursuant to the updated
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules relating to Share Schemes of
Listed Issuers which took effect on 1 January 2023, eligible
participants of the 2016 Share Option Scheme shall only
comprise (i) director and employees of the Group, (ii) directors
and employees of the holding companies, follow subsidiaries or
associated companies of the Company, or (i) persons who
provide services to the Group on a continuing or recurring basis
in its ordinary and usual course of business which are in the
interests of the long term growth of the Group. All existing
grantees under the 2016 Share Option Scheme are employees of
the Group. The Company will not grant share options pursuant to
the 2016 Share Option Scheme to persons who are not eligible
to be participants of the share scheme under the Listing Rules.

The total number of securities available for issue under the 2016
Share Option Scheme is 391,926,640 shares (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit”, being 10% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue as at the date of approval (i.e. 3,919,266,402
shares as at 3 June 2016)), which represents 10% of the total
issued shares of the Company as at the date of this annual
report (i.e. 3,917,970,513 shares as of 26 March 2025). The
maximum entitlement of each participant under the 2016 Share
Option Scheme must not, during any 12-month period, exceed
1% of the total number of shares in issue as at the date of
approval, being 39,192,664 shares. Further details on the vesting
period, amount payable on acceptance of the option and the
basis of determining the exercise price are listed out in note 37
to the financial statements.
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The movement of the share options granted under the 2016

Share

Option Scheme during the year is as follows.

Number of share options

L —

RE NIRRT — /N F R AR 81 W0 B AR
ZaHmr -

BREHA
As at As at Exercise period of
1 January Granted Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled 31 December Date of share options Exercise
Name or category of 2024 during during during during grant of (both dates inclusive)® price of share
participant R=Z-ME  theyear® the year® the year the year share options BRETERH options
SEERRREG -B-H ERBLEO  FRTER ERER FRTEHE REBREAS (BEEEMR)M BRETER
HKS
BT
Executive Director
HTES
Gao Fei 2,669,876 - - - - 2,669,876 11.5.2022 11.5.2023 to 10.5.2027 40.58
B —ZZ--FAA+t-A  ZZ-ZFRAT-HE
—“T-tFnA+A
758,461 - - - - 758,461  30.12.2022 1.4.2024 t0 29.12.2025 35.54
ZZCCFTZAZTE ZZCRmEmA-RE
ZERFTZAZTAR
Other employees 620,211 - - - - 620,211 1.4.2020 1.4.2021 10 31.3.2025 26.54
in aggregate ZZZZEMA-H ZZZ-4NA-HE
EthiES 5t ZZCHEZA=1-H
25,640,982 - - (3,608,369) - 22,032,613 11.5.2022 11.5.2023 to 10.5.2027 40.58
ZTZZFRART-B ZTIZERAT-HE
“Z-tFnAtH
12,436,764 - - (5,377,059) - 7,009,705 30.12.2022 1.4.2024 10 29.12.2025 35.54
ZR-ZF+ZA=+HE ZE-WFMA-HE
ZEZEETZAZTAR
42,126,294 - - (8,985,428) - 33,140,866
Notes: B 5T

The exercise period of the share options granted commences after
a certain vesting period and the fulfiment of certain performance
targets (including mainly annual revenue, profit attributable to
owners of the Company, and free cash flow of the Group), and
ends on a date which is no later than five years from the date of
grant of such options. Further details of the share option scheme
are set out in note 37 to the financial statements.

The number of options available for grant under the Scheme
Mandate Limit at the beginning of the financial year is
299,974,501, and at the end of the financial year is 308,959,929.
The number of shares that may be issued in respect of options
granted under all schemes of the Company during the financial year
divided by the weighted average number of shares of the relevant
class in issue for the financial year is 0.96%.

Save as disclosed above, no other Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder or their respective associates (i) have any
outstanding options at the beginning and at the end of the year
ended 31 December 2024, or (i) have any options granted,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the year ended
31 December 2024. There are no participants with options granted
and to be granted in excess of the 1% individual limit, nor any
related entity participant or service provider with options granted.

M

ZEBRENTEABE TRBYEKRSETE
RER(ZEBEFERA  ARAEEKRRE
HRERAEEERRSRE) RAKEY &
EREZEBREANERAFZERILE - AH
BARERT BIHE — PR B H N M T IR R MIFEST ©

R BRFEVREFERELRAIELEN
EALEH B £299,974,5011)  REHFEERA
308,959,92917 - A FE WAl gt AR A BIFT A&
BT REOEREMEITHRDEE - RUAZH
BEEARNEEHITNEBERRG M INEFIEE
£0.96% °

B EXPIIEEIN  BEAEMES  TBITRA
BRIEMRAWMEZEZHEANNBE=F
TOET A=t -HIEFEMBMERKES
Rl AT 2 BEARAE - SRR B E =T — U4
ToA=+t-BEFEANEFEFRERE 17
8~ RESH B R A (R AR A AR RE - MR SRS N S S
BB H A A LR B IR AE1% 2 2 8 N i A 17 4R
AER2EERIRGHERER D BEE -



SHARE AWARD SCHEME

Restricted Share Award Scheme

The restricted share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”)
of the Company was adopted by the Board on 26 March 2013
(the “Adoption Date”). Subject to any early termination as may be
determined by the Board, the Share Award Scheme shall be valid
and effective for a period of 5 years commencing on the
Adoption Date. On 13 July 2017, the Directors of the Company
approved to extend the validity period of the Share Award
Scheme for approximately another five years to 26 March 2023.
On 11 May 2022, the Directors of the Company approved to
extend the validity period of the Share Award Scheme for
approximately another 3 years to 26 March 2026.

Participants of the Share Award Scheme may include any
director, employee, officer, agent or consultant of the Group who
are individuals. All existing grantees are employees of the Group.
The purpose of the Share Award Scheme is to motivate
employees of the Group to maximize the value of and share the
results with the Company in order to achieve sustainable
development of the Group.

The Share Award Scheme is a share scheme of the Company
that is funded by existing shares of the Company. Under the
Share Award Scheme, existing shares will be purchased by an
independent trustee from the market out of cash contributed by
the Group and be held in trust for the relevant participants of the
Share Award Scheme until such shares are vested with the
relevant participants in accordance with the provisions of the
Share Award Scheme. The Share Award Scheme is not a share
scheme involving the grant by the Company of (i) the Company’s
new shares; or (i) options over the Company’s new shares, to, or
for the benefit of, specified participants thereunder. Grant of
shares under the Share Award Scheme will not result in any issue
of new shares or any dilution effect on the shareholdings of
existing Shareholders of the Company.
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Pursuant to the rules of the Share Award Scheme, the numbers
of shares to be purchased by the trustee must not exceed
178,105,864 shares (being 5% of the issued share capital as at
the Adoption Date (after adjustment of bonus issue) (i.e.
3,5662,117,284 shares)). The maximum number of restricted
shares which may be granted to a participant of the Share Award
Scheme at any one time or in aggregate may not exceed
17,810,586 shares, being 0.5% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the Adoption Date (after adjustment of bonus
issue).

All granted shares under the Share Award Scheme would vest in
two equal batches on the first and second anniversaries of the
date of grant in accordance with certain vesting conditions.

At the beginning and at the end of the year ended 31 December
2024, the purchase price of unvested share awards is nil.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the purchase price of
share awards vested is nil.

No share awards were cancelled during the year ended
31 December 2024. Therefore, purchase price of share awards
cancelled during the year is not applicable.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no shares of the
Company was granted to selected participants. Therefore, the
purchase price of share awards granted during the year is not
applicable.
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Details of the interests of the directors and other grantees in the
shares granted under the Share Award Scheme are as follows:

Number of restricted share awards
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BREBMDOERFERIOT

REtRERDHUE
Weighted
average
closing price
Lapsed/ Closing price Fair value of the Shares
Name or As at forfeited As at  Date of grant of immediately at the before the
category of 1 January Granted Vested during Cancelled 31 December restricted before the date of vesting date®
participants 2024 during during the year  during the 2024  share awards" Purchase date of grant grant? BEABAMH
SHRENEY, R-ZE-MF the year the year FRXN/ year KRS price BERHEAH RRLAHN B
] -A-H FRRHL ERRE b FREH T+ ZREMARO BEE AINUTE AiED  FHRHEY
Other 2,290,448 - (2,245,789 (44,659) - - 11.5.2022 Nil 39.00 38.85 16.96
employees in
aggregate®
HipEEA5te 3,625,875 - (1,720,147) (218,837) - 1,686,891 31.83.2023 Nil 32.60 32.20 16.80
5,916,323 - (3,965,936) (263,496) - 1,686,891
Further details of the Share Award Scheme are also set out in AR ZHBEFTEIEYHE — H2E15 IR E 0 B I TR R Bt &1
Note 38 to the financial statements. 38 °
Notes: P aE

M

The performance targets attached to the restricted share awards
granted are mainly based on the annual revenue, profit attributable
to owners of the Company, and free cash flow of the Group.

The fair value of the shares granted was calculated based on the
market prices of the Company’s shares at the respective grant
dates. No dividend was to be considered. Further details of the
accounting policy adopted are set out in Notes 2 and 38 to the
financial statements.

These refer to the weighted average closing price of the shares of
the Company immediately before the dates on which the awards
were vested.

No Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder or their
respective associates (i) have any unvested awards at the
beginning and at the end of the year ended 31 December 2024, or
(i) have any awards granted, vested, cancelled or lapsed during the
year ended 31 December 2024. There are no participants with
awards granted and to be granted in excess of the 1% individual
limit, nor any related entity participant or service provider with
awards granted.
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RELEVANT SCHEME

On 24 January 2021, the Company announced that, subject to
certain conditions being satisfied, certain financial products will be
made available for subscription by the selected participants in the
Group or the Company’s associates who meet certain criteria (the
“Selected Participants”) under a scheme to be adopted by the
Company (the “Relevant Scheme”), pursuant to which the
Selected Participants are entitled to receive certain returns as
incentives (the “Incentives”). The Relevant Scheme was
established to retain and provide incentives to the Selected
Participants to motivate them to further create value for the
Company. On 24 September 2021, the Company further
announced that the Board intended to adopt the Relevant
Scheme (subject to certain conditions being satisfied). It was
expected that the Selected Participants will indirectly subscribe
for certain structured notes (the “Structured Notes”). The
Structured Notes will be issued by Eaglets International Financial
Products Limited (“Eaglets”) (an Independent Third Party), and
Eaglets will subscribe for the Convertible Bonds. The Incentives to
be received by the Selected Participants from time to time will be
based on returns on the Structured Notes which are in turn
calculated with reference to the performance of the Convertible
Bonds and the Company’s Share price. On 26 November 2021,
the issuance and placing of HK$4,862,600,000.00 3.08%
Convertible Bonds due 2026 (debt stock code: 40946) under
specific mandate in relation to the Relevant Scheme was
completed. The bonds are convertible at the option of the
bondholders into ordinary shares beginning in 2022. Pursuant to
Condition 8(c) (Redemption for a Relevant Event) of the terms
and conditions of the Convertible Bonds (the “Terms and
Conditions”), the holder of the convertible bonds exercised its
right on 17 October 2024 to require the Company to redeem all
outstanding convertible bonds in the aggregate principal amount
of HK$3,646,950,000 on 1 November 2024. As at 31 December
2024, all convertible bonds have been redeemed in accordance
with the Terms and Conditions, and there are no outstanding
convertible bonds in issue. No shares had been issued under the
Relevant Scheme. For further details, please refer to “Convertible
Bonds” in this Annual Report, the announcements of the
Company dated 24 January 2021, 12 October 2021, 23
November 2021, 26 November 2021, 1 December 2023 and 1
November 2024, the circular of the Company dated 24
September 2021 and note 30 to the financial statements.
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Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors or the chief executive of the Company or
their respective associates to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any
other body corporate.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief
executive during the year ended 31 December 2024, held any
interest in, or were granted any right to subscribe for, the
securities of the Company and its associated corporations within
the meaning of the SFO, or had exercised any such rights.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

(i) The 2014 Master Sale and Purchase Agreement
with COFCO Corporation
On 31 December 2014, the Company entered into a new
master sale and purchase agreement (the “2014 Master
Sale and Purchase Agreement”) with COFCO Corporation
(*COFCQ”) to renew the existing Master Sale and Purchase
Agreement pursuant to which the Group will continue to,
subject to the Group’s regular review and at the Group’s
option, purchase white sugar, edible oil, other raw materials
and related products (including packaging materials) from
COFCQ, its subsidiaries and certain associated companies
(collectively “COFCO Corporation Group Companies”) for a
term of three years commencing from 1 January 2015 and
ending on 31 December 2017, which may be extended at
the Company’s option, for a further period of not more than
three continuous vyears, subject to compliance with any
relevant requirement under the Listing Rules.

In view of the anticipated expiration of the extended term of
the 2014 Master Sale and Purchase Agreement on 31
December 2020, the Company has delivered an extension
notice (the “2020 Extension Notice”) to COFCO to exercise
its right to extend the term of the 2014 Master Sale and
Purchase Agreement for a further three years. The
Company received a confirmation from COFCO on 22
December 2020 acknowledging receipt of the 2020
Extension Notice. Following the extension of the term of the
2014 Master Sale and Purchase Agreement, the Group will
continue to purchase (subject to the Group’s regular review
and at the Group’s option) white sugar, edible oil, other raw
materials and related products from COFCO Corporation
Group Companies for a term commencing from 1 January
2021 and ending on 31 December 2023.
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The Company further delivered an extension notice (the
“2023 Extension Notice”) to extend the term of the 2014
Master Sale and Purchase Agreement for a further three
years. The Company received a confirmation from COFCO
on 28 December 2023 acknowledging receipt of the 2023
Extension Notice. Following the extension of the term of the
2014 Master Sale and Purchase Agreement, the Group will
continue to purchase (subject to the Group’s regular review
and at the Group’s option) white sugar, edible oil, other raw
materials and related products from COFCO Corporation
Group Companies for a term commencing from 1 January
2024 and ending on 31 December 2026. CMD will continue
to purchase feedstuffs and other related materials from
COFCO Corporation Group Companies during the term of
the 2014 Master Sale and Purchase Agreement (as
extended by the 2023 Extension Notice). For further details
of the 2014 Master Sale and Purchase Agreement (as
extended by the 2023 Extension Notice), please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 28 December 2023.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (“CMD”) has purchased
feedstuffs and other related materials from COFCO
Corporation Group Companies (the “CMD Transactions”)
during the term of the 2014 Master Sale and Purchase
Agreement (as extended by the 2023 Extension Notice).

The price payable and other payment terms by the Group
Company to COFCO Corporation Group Companies shall be
fair and reasonable, and shall be fixed by reference to the
reasonable market price at which the relevant Group
Company could obtain the same type of supplies from
independent third parties. The terms and conditions of the
supply of white sugar, edible oil, other raw materials and
related products by COFCO Corporation Group Companies
to the Group shall not be less favourable than those
available to the Group from independent third parties.

The annual transaction amount under the 2014 Master Sale
and Purchase Agreement (including the CMD Transactions)
for each of the three years ending 31 December 2024,
2025 and 2026 is not expected to exceed
RMB3,500,000,000.
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As COFCO, being a substantial shareholder of the
Company, is a connected person of the Company, the
transactions under the 2014 Master Sale and Purchase
Agreement (as extended by the 2023 Extension Notice)
constituted continuing connected transactions of the Group.

As the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the
transaction value under the 2014 Master Sale and Purchase
Agreement (as extended by the 2023 Extension Notice) are
on an annual basis more than 0.1% but less than 5%, the
continuing connected transactions under the 2014 Master
Sale and Purchase Agreement (as extended by the 2023
Extension Notice) are subject to the reporting,
announcement and annual review requirements but are
exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval
requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. For
further details of the 2014 Master Sale and Purchase
Agreement (as extended by the 2023 Extension Notice),
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
28 December 2023.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the total amount
paid/payable by the Group to COFCO Corporation Group
Companies for the purchase of white sugar, edible oil, other
raw materials and related products (including packaging
materials) was approximately RMB538,566,000, and the
pricing policies set out in the announcements have been
followed when determining the price and terms of the
transactions conducted during the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the total amount
paid/payable by CMD to COFCO Corporation Group
Companies for the CMD Transactions which constitute
continuing connected transaction of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules was approximately
RMB1,696,478,000, and the pricing policies set out in the
announcements have been followed when determining the
price and terms of the transactions conducted during the
year.
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(ii)

Strategic Collaboration Agreement with COFCO
Trust Company Limited

On 23 December 2020, the Company entered into the
Strategic Collaboration Agreement (the “2020 Strategic
Collaboration Agreement”) with COFCO Trust Company
Limited for a term of three years. Pursuant to the Strategic
Collaboration Agreement, the Group will purchase (subject
to the Group’s regular review and at the Group’s option)
various financial services and products from COFCO Trust
Company Limited, for a term commencing from
23 December 2020 and ending on 22 December 2023.

In contemplation of the expiry of the 2020 Strategic
Collaboration Agreement on 22 December 2023, the
Company entered into a strategic collaboration agreement
(the “20283 Strategic Collaboration Agreement”) on 23
December 2023 to renew the continuing connected
transactions for a term of 3 years commencing from 23
December 2023 to 22 December 2026.

The price payable by the Group Company to COFCO Trust
Company Limited shall be on normal commercial terms and
be fair and reasonable, and shall be fixed by reference to
and by no means higher than the reasonable market price
at which the Group could obtain the same type of supplies
from independent third parties. The terms of the 2020
Strategic Collaboration Agreement and 2023 Strategic
Collaboration Agreement were determined after arm’s length
negotiations and the Directors are of the view that they are
on normal commercial terms. Pursuant to the 2020
Strategic Collaboration Agreement and 2023 Strategic
Collaboration Agreement, the terms and conditions of the
supply of various financial services and products by COFCO
Trust Company Limited to the Group shall not be less
favourable than those available to the Group from
independent third parties.

The aggregated transaction amount under the 2020
Strategic Collaboration Agreement during any 12 months
within its terms is not expected to exceed
RMB1,000,000,000 (“Original Annual Cap”). The above
Original Annual Cap is determined by reference to (i) the
Group’s overall treasury policies and cash resources
management and investment plan; (i) historical value of
transactions between the Group and other third parties in
relation to similar product or services types; and (i) any
comparable market prices of the relevant products or
services.

(ii)
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The aggregated transaction amount under the 2023
Strategic Collaboration Agreement during any 12 months
within its terms is not expected to exceed
RMB1,100,000,000 (“New Annual Cap”). The above New
Annual Cap is determined by reference to (i) the Group’s
overall treasury policies and cash resources management
and investment plan; (i) the historical transaction amounts
under the 2020 Strategic Collaboration Agreement; (iii)
historical value of transactions between the Group and
other third parties in relation to similar product or services
types; and (iv) any comparable market prices of the relevant
products or services.

COFCO Trust Company Limited is a subsidiary of COFCO
Corporation. COFCO Corporation is a substantial
shareholder of the Company and thus a connected person
of the Company under Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules. As
a subsidiary of COFCO Corporation, COFCO Trust
Company Limited is an associate of a connected person of
the Company, and thus also a connected person of the
Company under Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules. The
transactions under the 2020 Strategic Collaboration
Agreement and the 2023 Strategic Collaboration Agreement
therefore constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company
dated 6 March 2023 in relation to the Strategic
Cooperation Framework Agreement. The Directors consider
the 2023 Strategic Collaboration Agreement and the
Strategic Cooperation Framework Agreement to be related,
as they both involve financial services transactions with the
COFCO Corporation Group Companies. Therefore, the
transactions contemplated under the 2023 Strategic
Collaboration Agreement shall be aggregated with the
transactions under the Strategic Cooperation Framework
Agreement pursuant to Rule 14A.81 of the Listing Rules.
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As the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the
Original Annual Cap for the transactions under the 2020
Strategic Collaboration Agreement are more than 0.1% but
less than 5%, and the applicable percentage ratios in
respect of the 2023 Strategic Collaboration Agreement and
the Strategic Cooperation Framework Agreement on an
aggregated basis are more than 0.1% but less than 5%,
the continuing connected transactions under the 2020
Strategic Collaboration Agreement and the 2023 Strategic
Collaboration Agreement are subject to the reporting,
announcement and annual review requirements but are
exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval
requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. For
further details about the 2020 Strategic Collaboration
Agreement, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 23 December 2020. For further details
about the 2023 Strategic Collaboration Agreement, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 23
December 2023.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the transaction
amount pursuant to the transactions under the 2023
Strategic Collaboration Agreement was approximately
RMB775,000,000. This aggregate transaction amount
represented RMB700,000,000 outstanding trust units
brought forward from year ended 31 December 2023 and
an additional purchase of RMB75,000,000 trust units for the
year ended 31 December 2024. The pricing policies set out
in the announcements have been followed when
determining the price and terms of the transactions
conducted during the year.
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(iii) Strategic Cooperation Framework Agreement with

COFCO Capital Fintech Co., Ltd. (“COFCO Capital
Fintech”)

On 6 March 2023, Shanghai Mengyuan Commercial
Factoring Co., Ltd (L85t ZRZER A F) (“Shanghai
Mengyuan”), a subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
Strategic Cooperation Framework Agreement with COFCO
Capital Fintech, a connected person of the Company,
pursuant to which Shanghai Mengyuan will, subject to all
applicable laws, rules and regulatory requirements, provide
commercial factoring services to COFCO Corporation Group
Companies or creditors/suppliers of COFCO Corporation
Group Companies in respect of receivables through
factoring or reverse factoring services for a term of three
years, effective from the date of signing of the Strategic
Cooperation Framework Agreement.

The interest rate and any other miscellaneous fees payable
to Shanghai Mengyuan by COFCO Group Companies or
their creditors/suppliers shall be determined on a fair and
reasonable basis, and shall not be less favourable than the
interests and fees charged by Shanghai Mengyuan to
independent third parties in providing the same type of
factoring services under similar conditions. The interest rate
shall also be determined by reference to the benchmark
interest rate of loans for the same periods as published by
the People’s Bank of China.

(iii)
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The proposed cap for the transactions under the Strategic
Cooperation Framework Agreement for each of the calendar
years during the term of the agreement, being the
maximum daily balance outstanding in respect of the
factoring services (including the principal amount, finance
interest and any other miscellaneous fees), shall be RMB1.3
billion (the “Annual Cap”). In calculating the Annual Cap, the
Company has taken into account (i) the capacity and
flexibility of Shanghai Mengyuan in providing commercial
factoring services, (i) the expected growth of business of
Shanghai Mengyuan, (i) the market rate of interests and
fees for factoring services, and (iv) the demand for factoring
and reverse factoring services of the COFCO Group
Companies based on its historical amounts of accounts
receivables and payables.

COFCO Capital Fintech is a subsidiary of COFCO
Corporation. COFCO Corporation is a substantial
shareholder of the Company and thus a connected person
of the Company under Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules. As
a subsidiary of COFCO Corporation, COFCO Capital Fintech
is an associate of a connected person of the Company,
and thus also a connected person of the Company under
Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules. As Shanghai Mengyuan is
an indirect subsidiary of the Company, the transactions
under the Strategic Cooperation Framework Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Reference is made to the announcements of the Company
dated 23 December 2020 and 23 December 2023 in
relation to the 2020 Strategic Collaboration Agreement and
the 2023 Strategic Collaboration Agreement (together, the
“Strategic Collaboration Agreements”). The Directors
consider the Strategic Cooperation Framework Agreement
and the Strategic Collaboration Agreements to be related,
as they both involve financial services transactions with the
COFCO Group Companies. Therefore, the transactions
contemplated under the Strategic Cooperation Framework
Agreement shall be aggregated with the transactions under
the Strategic Collaboration Agreements pursuant to Rule
14A.81 of the Listing Rules. As the highest applicable
percentage ratios in respect of the Strategic Cooperation
Framework Agreement and the Strategic Collaboration
Agreements on an aggregated basis are more than 0.1%
but are all less than 5%, the continuing connected
transactions under the Strategic Cooperation Framework
Agreement are subject to the reporting, announcement and
annual review requirements but are exempt from the
independent shareholders’ approval requirement under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the maximum
aggregate daily balance outstanding, including the principal
amount, interest and other fees, under the Strategic
Cooperation Framework Agreement was approximately
RMB371,334,000.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have
reviewed the continuing connected transactions set out above and
have confirmed that these continuing connected transactions
were entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group; (i) on normal commercial terms or better; and (i) in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.
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KPMG, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on the
Group’s continuing connected transactions and the CMD
Transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information
and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. KPMG has issued their unqualified letter containing
their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the
auditors’ letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, none of the related party transactions
as disclosed in note 42 to the financial statements constitute
non-exempt connected transaction or non-exempt continuing
connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 26 November 2021, the Company issued convertible bonds
with a nominal value of HK$4,862,600,000 which were placed to
Eaglets International Financial Products Limited (an Independent
Third Party) as part of the Relevant Scheme, which was
established to incentivize the Selected Participants. The bonds are
convertible at the option of the bondholders into ordinary shares
with the initial conversion price of HK$34.73 per share (which was
subsequently adjusted to HK$32.68 per share as from 12 June
2024) beginning in 2022.

Pursuant to Condition 8(c) (Redemption for a Relevant Event) of
the terms and conditions of the Convertible Bonds (the “Terms
and Conditions”), the holder of the convertible bonds exercised its
right on 17 October 2024 to require the Company to redeem all
outstanding convertible bonds in the aggregate principal amount
of HK$3,646,950,000 on 1 November 2024. As at 31 December
2024, all convertible bonds have been redeemed in accordance
with the Terms and Conditions, and there are no outstanding
convertible bonds in issue.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata
basis to its existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, the Company repurchased on the open market a
total of 17,322,000 shares of the Company at a total
consideration of HK$254.9 million, of which 16,188,000 shares
were cancelled during the year ended 31 December 2024 and
1,134,000 shares have not yet been cancelled as at 31
December 2024.

Particulars of the shares repurchased on the open market during
the year are as follows:

Total number

Highest price
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(HK$) (HKS) (HK$’000)

(B7T) (BT) (BETT)

September 2024 —= _Eihﬂ 9,001,000 13.60 12.24 113,821
October 2024 —EZNE+A 3,777,000 19.00 15.42 62,445
November 2024 ZE-NFE+—A 3,410,000 18.32 16.52 59,134
December 2024 ZEZNF+ZA 1,134,000 17.46 16.68 19,455
17,322,000 254,855

The number of issued shares of the Company as at the date of
this report is 3,917,970,513 shares.

The Directors believe that the above repurchases are in the best
interests of the Company and its shareholders and that such
repurchases would lead to an enhancement of the earnings per
share of the Company.
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During the vyear, the trustee of the Restricted Share Award
Scheme purchased on the open market a total of 3,400,000
shares of the Company at a total consideration of approximately
HK$56,055,000.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities (including treasury shares) during the year ended
31 December 2024. The Company did not hold any treasury
shares at 31 December 2024.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme as set out on pages 107 to
108, the share award scheme as set out on pages 109 to 111,
and the Relevant Scheme as set out on pages 112 to 113, no
equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or
existed during the year.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules, based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of purchases attributable to the five largest
suppliers of the Group combined was less than 30% of the total
purchases of the Group.

The percentage of revenue attributable to the five largest
customers of the Group combined was less than 30% of the total
revenue of the Group.

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their close
associates or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of
the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers or
customers.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has pledged certain
pledged deposits of approximately RMB103,383,000 (2023:
certain pledged deposits and property, plant and equipment
aggregating to approximately RMB756,585,000).

Details are set out in the respective notes to the financial
statements.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
the shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

COMMITMENTS

Details of commitments are set out in note 41 to the financial
statements.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

Details of foreign currency risk are set out in note 43(d) to the
financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results for the year and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2024 and for the
previous four financial periods are set out on pages 315 to 316.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 72 to 97.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

Details of the Company’s environmental, social and governance
policy and performance are published in the separate 2024
Sustainability Report (ESG Report) of the Company, which will be
available at the Company’s website and the website of the Stock
Exchange at the same time as this annual report is published.
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The financial statements have been audited by KPMG. BB RCHEERSTMESEZ -

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 12 May ARG T _—_FAA+_HHNRAEEHE %
2022, Emnst & Young retired as the auditors of the Company KE&AIEHAMEHER T -_—F,A/\AE
upon expiration of its term of office at the conclusion of the TTHIARRRIREEFASERIEER  DEMLAK
annual general meeting of the Company held on 8 June 2022, RNA)ZAZEED -

As disclosed in the Company’s poll results announcement dated EZARB T - —FXA/\HHRERRERR
8 June 2022, KPMG was appointed as the auditors of the &HE EEESTMESHEZTAARQRK
Company with effect immediately after the conclusion of the #f R-Z-_—FXANHETHEARRKRE

annual general meeting of the Company held on 8 June 2022, BERGEHERFEERS -

By order of the Board of Directors REEGMm

Gao Fei =

Director EE

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025 BB —TE-HEF=ZA=-+H
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Independent auditor’s report
to the shareholders of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (the “Company”) and its

subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 138 to 314, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2024, the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes,
comprising material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2024 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”) together with any ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

L —

ARESEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional FAHENEZHEIRBERMNEEHE  RAEEXR

judgement, were of most significance in our audit

of the HEAMBRRNBIARAEENEE ELF

consolidated financial statements of the current period. These MERAERMBFTERGAMBRERTEERE
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the EfTERIEH - RFIT @Y ELEHIREEBNE
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our & °

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Assessing impairment of goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives

FHEEEREREAFRERNRE

Refer to Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 2.3.

BRI E BRI 19R M 2300 ) B 5T R °

The Key Audit Matter

REEEER

The carrying amount of goodwill and trademarks with
indefinite useful lives amounting to RMB15,780,888,000,
represented 15% of the Group’s total assets as at 31
December 2024. During the year ended 31 December
2024, the Group has recognised impairment losses of
the goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful life
directly related to the Bellamy’s cash-generating unit
(“CGU”) of RMB1,154,728,000 and RMB3,490,098,000,
respectively.
_?_m¢+ A=+—0 BEREREAFREE
%A AR 15,780,888,0007T F IEEEEHBEE
mw%oaﬁf?f@¢+ A=+t—BLLFE &%
EomREARCRReEFEV ((ReELEM]) B
HENEEREREAFRASAREEEDNAAR
#1,154,728,0007T & A & #53,490,098,0007T ©

Goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives are
allocated to CGUs or groups of CGUs. Impairment test
was performed by management on CGUs or groups of
CGUs to which goodwill and trademarks with indefinite
useful lives have been allocated at least annually by
comparing the carrying value with the recoverable
amount of the CGUs or groups of CGUs, which is
the higher of value in use and fair value less costs of
disposal. The value in use of a CGU was determined by
management using discounted cash flow forecasts.
HEREREAFEEEEIREREEFELXRE
ELXBUER EREZVEFREANRREELEN
SR ELBUARNREERTKDEEE (BERE
BERARBEREEXANRSE)  REEREREH
FREAFEEIEENReELSUNBEEFLENUA
AETRENR - EREERFTRRNETERRETE
ReELEEMNERERE-

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EES R NAEHZER

Our audit procedures to assessing impairment of goodwill
and trademarks with indefinite useful lives included the
following:
BPRAEEELREREAFRESNRENSESTIEFE
FEATRERF

° understanding and evaluating the design and
implementation of key internal controls over the
impairment assessment;

. T #R I AT AE BB (E RT 4 AR A O B 4 A B4 I B0 RR ET AN
BT

o assessing management’s identification of CGU and
the allocation of assets and liabilities to each CGU
with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

o DERITEFHEANKATE  FEEEEHRSELE
UHBENIERSEERReEFBUNEEREE

° discussing future operating plans with management
and comparing key assumptions in the discounted
cash flow forecasts, such as the estimated future
sales growth rates and corresponding gross margin
rates with the approved budget and with reference
to historical sales growth rates and corresponding
gross margin rates;

J HERENmARELEAERGINRRRETRAH
NEZER (WHEFRREEERERBRAENX) 2
RHENTRERAERIT 2 ZR L HEERERIBBAE
=
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FEREETEEw

Assessing impairment of goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives (continuea)

AT AL B R R PR R A AR PR A AR AR (E 0

Refer to Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 2.3.

BRI E BRI 19R I ZF2.30T 4 6) B 5T B °

The Key Audit Matter

BEETEER

We identified assessing impairment of goodwill and
trademarks with indefinite useful lives as a key audit
matter because the preparation of discounted cash flow
forecasts involves the exercise of significant
management judgement in determining key
assumptions, particularly the future sales growth rates,
corresponding gross margin rates and the discount
rates applied, which could be subject to management
bias.

B AEERERERFREZNRMERR SER
FirEE SHRNTRASRERANRE T RIERET
FERJ(LEERKHEELEER - HBAEMNXREHA
WMRE)RELHEENEREHE  MEEE AT Y
tFERwRA e

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EESPNAEHZER

with the assistance of our internal valuation specialists,
when appropriate, evaluating the methodology
adopted with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards, and assessing the
discount rates used in the discounted cash flow
forecasts by comparing with range of discount rates
adopted by companies in the similar industries;
ERNSBHEZRHBT - ER - 2ERTEAEL
B3R E AT PR ER A 0% - BRI TER R T
AR XS EMALE  ThTRRETETEA
R AR HTER =

evaluating the sensitivity analysis prepared by
management for each of the key assumptions,
including future sales growth rates, corresponding
gross margin rates and discount rates adopted in the
discounted cash flow forecasts and considering
whether there are any indicators of management
bias;
THEEEELABRETIERR(AFBERKHEEHEEX -
HAEMNXERRTREReRERAPHEANTRE)
RENBBRESIMEZERRAFETMEREH LT
BiRABTR

performing a retrospective review of last year’s
impairment assessment and comparing the forecast
data with the current year’s results to assess the
reasonableness of the prior year’s discounted cash
flow forecasts and making enquiries of management
as to the reasons for any significant variations
identified and whether these have been considered in
the forecasts of the current year; and

H R FHYRE ATl 1T B 8 TR ORI SR B R 5
EEBELEER - U E—FERRRSMETHAE
B RAEBESAE @SN EMERZHNR
EARZEE AR AFERAETER &

assessing the disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of the impairment assessment
with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards.

2ERITEFEANATE  TAGAEVBRERTEA
B FT L ) B ER
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KEY AUDIT MATTE RS (continued)

L —

FAREETEEw

Assessing impairment of an investment in a material associate

FEEABEATRENRE

Refer to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 2.5.

BRI A BRI 20 R I 7 2.3 4k 6 & 51 I °

The Key Audit Matter

HREESEER

The Group’s investment in China Modern Dairy
Holdings Ltd. (“China Modern Dairy”), a material
associate of the Group, amounted to
RMB7,354,005,000, representing 7% of the Group’s
total assets as at 31 December 2024.
ZENFEFTZA=T—H  EEERPREBRRBEEE
BREBRDE (FRREAKE]  —KEKBHEREE
AR WIREEARYT,354,005000T - (hEEERE
ET7% °

Management performed an impairment assessment of
the investment in China Modern Dairy by comparing the
carrying value of investment in China Modern Dairy with
its recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in
use and fair value less costs of disposal. The value in
use of China Modern Dairy was determined by
management based on a discounted cash flow
forecast.
BERERBRKPERABENIREREEEAL R[OS
HEEABERAREREEXANKRSE) BLE -
HPBRAKRENREETRERN G - EEEREBETR
RensRAREPRERRBENERERE -

We identified assessing impairment of an investment in
a material associate as a key audit matter because the
preparation of discounted cash flow forecast involves
the exercise of significant management judgement in
determining key assumptions, particularly the future
sales growth rates, corresponding gross margin rates
and the discount rate applied, which could be subject
to management bias.

B EE AR SR AR ERRER R ER
FE RARTRRSAEVANGRRS NEEEEE
BR(LHEBAREEERE  HEENERERANE
RE)RELEENEBEHE  mMEREAIE LT
Bimm e

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EE R NAEHZER

Our audit procedures to assessing impairment of an
investment in a material associate included the following:
BHARFEERBEARNREBENEAEFBEFEAT
G

° understanding and evaluating the design and
implementation of key internal controls over the
impairment assessment;

. T R ET B B R (E AT (i 48 A 0 R 52 P R R 0 R ST AN
BT

o discussing future operating plan with management
and comparing key assumptions in the discounted
cash flow forecast, such as the future sales growth
rates and corresponding gross margin rates with the
approved budget and with reference to historical
sales growth rates and corresponding gross margin
rates;

o HERENRARLCESE LB ITRR2RETAF
WEEMER (WARKHEZRE RBAENX) BLH
ENRERERIZZERELIHERRX RAEBER
x ;

o with the assistance of our internal valuation specialists,
evaluating the methodology adopted with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards, and assessing the discount rate used in
the discounted cash flow forecast by comparing with
range of discount rates adopted by companies in the
similar industries;

o ERFEEERBE T - 2ERITEERBRET
EFTERA Y 0%« R BB LITEA R RIFTERA A
FrRRGEELE  AEFRESRERATERLN
P =
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) Bﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁglﬁ(ﬁ)

Assessing impairment of an investment in a material associate (continued)

AEERBEQAANRENBE®

Refer to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 2.3.
FRHGTE B EN 20 R I 732 3T 8 S 5 R o

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

REEITSEE EEF PN AESEZEER

° evaluating the sensitivity analysis prepared by
management for each of the key assumptions,
including future sales growth rates, corresponding
gross margin rates and discount rate adopted in the
discounted cash flow forecast and considering
whether there are any indicators of management
bias; and

e FTHEEREEABEFIEZERR(BERKRHEEERE.
HEEMNXEERRTERRERAPHEANFTRE)
RENBREDTRZRERSFEEMERES LT
BlRAEMTR - &

o performing a retrospective review of last year’s
impairment assessment and comparing the forecast
data with the current year’'s results to assess the
reasonableness of the prior year’'s discounted cash
flow forecast and making enquiries of management
as to the reasons for any significant variations
identified and whether these have been considered in
the forecast of the current year.

o HWEFHRERAETENEN I TEB SR EARF
EEBELEER - AR E—FERRRSMETRAE
BEMN  RAEEESHBEEIRNERNERELHR
EARZEECECRAFERAETER -
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the IASB,
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

L —
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continueq)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

L —
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continueq)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ho Ying Man Simon.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

26 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
PROFIT OR LOSS
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RSIREE

for the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi (‘RMB’) B ZE —Z —NE+ - A=+—B It FE (UALE([ALE]) ZIR)

2024 2023
—E-mEF —ET=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR%T ARKETTT
Revenue KA 5 88,674,774 98,624,041
Cost of sales $HE B (53,584,334) (61,983,946)
Gross profit EF 35,090,440 36,640,095
Other income and gains NGNS 5 1,031,644 1,069,392
Selling and distribution expenses HERKHER (23,092,601) (25,192,211)
Administrative expenses TEHEA (4,228,995) (4,742,531)
Impairment losses on financial and PEREEHNEERE
contract assets, net BB F R 7 (371,712) (309,626)
Loss on derecognition of financial RERK AT EN SR
assets measured at amortised cost BEKRIEBRAMES
Y &5 18 (49,044) (54,663)
Other expenses HiEMH 6 (6,453,014) (1,296,464)
Interest income FEHA 1,411,977 1,675,555
Finance costs A& B 8 (1,467,790) (1,569,281)
Share of results of associates JEIGEE N R LA 20 (871,728) 91,921
Profit before taxation Bt A0 A 7 999,177 6,312,187
Income tax expense FriS i & i 11 (774,572) (1,425,212)
Profit for the year 7N R 224,605 4,886,975
Attributable to: RN
Owners of the Company NA B RS PRER 104,507 4,809,197
Non-controlling interests FEPE IR AR R A 2 120,098 77,778
224,605 4,886,975
Earnings per share attributable to AR EBRERRKRR
ordinary equity holders of the EEERERN (LE
Company (expressed in RMB B A R¥ITE)
per share) 13
Basic EA 0.027 1.220
Diluted e 0.027 1.216

The notes on pages 148 to 314 form part of these financial
statements. Details of dividends payables to equity holders of the
Company attributable to the profit for the year are set out in

Note 12.

F148EV4ANMEBREN BRRO—E 7 -
FEN AR BB AR RNFRBNAS e
BERHIE12 -
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for the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB) B2 —Z —NF+ A =+—H I FE (XA RKZT)

2024 2023
—E-mE —EBE-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBFTT
_Profit for the year AENE 224,605 4,886,975
Other comprehensive income Hitt 2wk
Other comprehensive income that may be HEn gt B 7 B E B
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent HIE M 2 Bz -
periods:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign /BN EEHINEST E =58
operations (939,791) (107,916)
Effective portion of changes in fair value of RERFHHRTERARE
hedging instruments arising during the year: EHMERE D -
— Total hedging loss recognised in — REMEAEKEER
other comprehensive income EOEPE = FCE
(excluding exchange differences) (T BEFEINETHE
) 95,486 167,538
— Amount reclassified from other — BEMEENEEN
comprehensive income to profit or loss NEEEENEEE (231,533) (275,535)
Share of other comprehensive income of FE(G B & A R Hth 2 E
associates & (171,710) (24,825)
Net other comprehensive income that may HIZFAREEHFIEZTER
be reclassified to profit or loss in WHEMEEKEFE
___subsequent periods (1,247,548) (240,738)
Other comprehensive income that will not be HETEET 7 EEEm
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent B E b2 Bz -
periods:
Exchange differences on translation SN T E E R 225,427 124,287
Equity investments designated at fair value BERNUAREBEFEAHE
through other comprehensive income: et AH 2 EKES
M RARE
— Changes in fair value — AREEH 5,684 (15,422)
Net other comprehensive income that will HERFESEHFIEZTER
not be reclassified to profit or loss in B HE th 2 WS R
__Subsequent periods 231111 108,865
_Other comprehensive income, net of tax ~ H#t2E K HMMHEA | (1,016437) (181.873)
Total comprehensive income for the year FEXEHWZATE (791,832) 4,755,102
Attributable to: EBERN
Owners of the Company ARARIERKE (937,980) 4,668,268
Non-controlling interests JEIE I I R R 146,148 86,834
(791,832) 4,755,102

The notes on pages 148 to 314 form part of these financial

statements.
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China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited PEE4AEER AT

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION

RS RIIFIRIRE

at 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB) A —Z =4+ = A=+—8 (UAAL¥5T)

L ——

2024 2023
—E_NF —E-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR® T ARETF T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y BE MEE 14 20,905,216 21,715,379
Construction in progress EEIR 15 2,278,028 2,348,779
Investment properties A 57,775 59,421
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16 2,584,719 2,733,497
Goodwill GES 17 7,677,836 8,952,282
Other intangible assets HihEpEE 18 8,829,053 12,617,999
Investments in associates REE QA E IR E 20 9,648,894 10,408,632
Deferred tax assets EETIRE E 21(a) 930,170 1,434,197
Derivative financial instruments PTHESHMIA 31 241,794 324,509
Other financial assets HemEE 22 16,205,547 20,147,281
Long-term prepayments RERTET K 25 1,165,975 349,713
Total non-current assets BERDEE 70,525,007 81,091,689
Current assets REEE
Other financial assets HiemEE 22 8,138,860 8,531,769
Derivative financial instruments TEEMT A 31 8,582 23,492
Inventories EE 23 4,936,666 6,088,450
Trade and bills receivables FEUER R R R & 24 3,261,858 3,668,604
Prepayments, other receivables and TERT R - E A e e
other assets NEMEE 25 1,979,279 3,095,554
Pledged deposits REBESFR 26 103,383 276,593
Cash and bank balances R MRITETT 26 17,339,157 12,443,800
Total current assets BWREBEE 35,767,785 34,128,262




Annual Report 2024 —Z —[JF £

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

fRSRIIARE
at 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB) X —Z —MME+ - A=+—8 (UA K EZT)

2024 2023
—E-E —EB-=4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 7E ARET T ARET T
Current liabilities RBAE
Trade and bills payables EREREER 27 8,647,226 9,499,441
Other payables and accruals Hh T 5B R FE iR
£/ 28 11,244,088 12,892,166
Interest-bearing bank and other FFERITREMEER
borrowings 29/30 16,661,575 9,806,937
Derivative financial instruments TEEMT A 31 38,276 —
Income tax payable FERETEEL 370,787 340,853
Other financial liabilities HEthEmasE 33 44,608 54,661
_Total current liabilites wnmefE 37,006,560 32,594,058
_Net current (liabilities)/assets R (AR AE (1,238,775) 1,534,204
_Total assets less current liabilites ~ RAEFABHAR 69,286,232 82,625,893
Non-current liabilities kREBERE
Interest-bearing bank and other FTERITREMEE
borrowings 29/30 17,975,625 27,603,818
Deferred income PR IEUT A 32 728,274 636,194
Deferred tax liabilities FIERRIBEE 21(b) 2,556,842 3,729,709
Derivative financial instruments TESRIA 31 — 4,461
_Total non-current liabilites wrEnBEE 21,260,741 31,974,182
NET ASSETS FEE 48,025,491 50,651,711
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China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited PEE4AEER AT

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
fRERIFIRRE

at 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB) X —Z —ME+ - A=+—8 (UAKEZT)

L —

2024 2023
—E-mEF —ET=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR® T ARETF T
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of R AR R R G
the Company A
Share capital fi& AR 34 356,662 358,143
Shares held under share award RIBAR = SR E AT &)
scheme BAERRG (114,293) (148,344)
Treasury shares EE 17 R% 19 (17,981) —
Other reserves H & 35 8,105,166 10,045,196
Retained earnings REFHE 33,232,733 34,064,964
41,562,287 44,319,959
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR IR R A S 6,463,204 6,331,752
TOTAL EQUITY ERE 48,025,491 50,651,711

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

26 March 2025.

Qing Lijun
BEIE
Director

EF

The notes on pages 148 to 314 form part of these financial

statements.
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Annual Report 2024 —Z —[JF £

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
el EREE

for the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB) B2 —Z —MNF + A =+—H I FE (XA RKZT)

2024 2023
Z2-NE —T=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B &E AR TR AR®F T
Cash flows from operating activities REEBRELENRESRE
Profit before taxation: AT F)E 999,177 6,312,187
Adjustments for: BT EEAE
Interest income EHA (1,411,977) (1,675,555)
Finance costs BE A 8 1,467,790 1,569,281
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M BERSETE 7 2,953,109 2,803,699
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEENE 7 335,239 385,609
Depreciation of investment properties BREMERE 7 1,646 1,646
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hb & EE 7 116,721 109,788
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BE R -
equipment, other intangible assets and HAmpEERERE
right-of-use assets BEBBTE 6 52,110 14,423
Impairment of financial and contract assets, net CRREHNEEREFE 7 371,712 309,626
Impairment of investments in an associate RN—EEE R ARIRE
R 6 63,487 48,030
Impairment of construction in progress ERTRERME 21,125 =
Impairment of goodwill B2 RE 6 1,154,728 —
Impairment of other intangible assets HimpEERE 6 3,490,098 —
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value FEMRZTERFE 6 911,092 323,675
Amortisation of deferred income for assets BEEEW AR 5 (114,910) (121,738)
Gain on disposal of an associate o — I & 2 ) 2 e 5 - (1,046)
Share of results of associates i N 871,728 (91,921)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEFARIKER 5 (267,216) —
Net fair value loss/(gain) on exchangeable bonds AIRBEHFAREEE/
(fezs) %2R 5/6 28,190 (2,024)
Gain on disposal of assets and liabilities held for HERAHENEER
sale B &Mk 5 - (14,521)
Foreign exchange loss, net i 5B 185 5 6 21,369 77,382
Net fair value (gain)/loss on equity investment at KA A ETE B EE T A
fair value through profit or loss ERrREREARE
(Ka)/ % 5/6 (71,132) 22,945
Net fair value (gain)/loss on forward currency RENSEHNARE
contracts (Wezs)/ BEFE 5/6 (8,948) 4,641
Net fair value gain on other financial liabilities HiemaeBEanE ks
et 5 - (23,658)
Fair value amortisation and cancellation of AR ES AR D AERE
share-based payment component of the TREDL AR EEE R
convertible bonds G| 7 322,409 436,448
Fair value amortisation and cancellations of VAR 1 32 157 6 s PR o 22 HE
equity-settled share option arrangements DR EHE R 7 (12,906) 69,067
Fair value amortisation of share award scheme RE @8 A B 7 41,910 121,608
Reversal of restricted shares expense of a —EFARIRG MRS
subsidiary s [ 7 - (58,407)
Changes in working capital: BEESEY
Decrease in other financial assets — entrusted HithemEERD — BT
loans to dairy farms NEMETER 21,908 223,065
Decrease in inventories HFERD 860,187 1,669,051
Decrease/(increase) in trade and bills ERERERZERD,/
receivables (3& ) 277,963 (130,341)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits RESBFRRD /(M) 26(a) 173,210 (91,220)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, other AR HMERRERE
receivables and other assets fEER D,/ () 32,458 (366,975)
Decrease in trade and bills payables ERRREEERD (852,215) (707,245)
Decrease in other payables and accruals HippENRERERER
L (1,402,018) (167,122
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China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited PEE4AEER AT

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
oRERER

for the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB) B2 —Z —WNF+ A =+—H I FE (KALEZF)

2024 2023

ZBoAF —E=F

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BT & AR TR ARBFT

Cash generated from operations KEEBEENRS 10,448,044 11,050,398

Interest paid FRFE (775,633) (1,331,048)

Income taxes paid TR (1,340,155) (1,370,012)
Net cash flows generated from operating REEBELENTRERE

activities 8,332,256 8,349,338
Cash flows from investing activities RETHELENRESRE
Purchase of items of property, plant and BEWE  BERXME

equipment (1,172,774) (1,534,183)
Additions to construction in progress ANEEREIRE (2,073,858) (2,328,390)
Purchase of land use rights included in BENACHAREEDN

right-of-use assets o b R A (1,887) (78,048)
Purchase of other intangible assets BEHMELEE (226,610) (194,090)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and BREME  BERE

equipment, other intangible assets and Hfth & BE R D A

right-of-use assets BEMBHRE 51,589 69,604
Purchase of other financial assets HEHEMSREE

— equity investment — BRAIKE (104,235) (36,000)
Proceeds from disposal of other financial assets EEEMEREE

— equity investment — BRAREMBRIE 46,024 —
Purchase of other financial assets BEHMSRMEE

— other debts investment — HMEKEE (786,596) —
Deemed contribution to Yashili for disposal of HELXLBNTRMAER

Dumex Baby Food Co., Ltd. DRBBAELHEE - (200,000)
Purchase of other financial assets BEHMEREE

— investment deposits - BREEX (64,028,907) (7,947,942)
Withdrawal of other financial assets W el H fth 5 b & EE

— investment deposits — REER 63,581,425 12,255,088
Increase in other financial assets Hith 5 ph & LN

— entrusted loans - RREX (313,848) (315,467)
Withdrawal of other financial assets U Bl & fth 5 Bh &

— entrusted loans — ZEEXR 264,924 —
Net increase in other loans H B 8 5 (1,473,646) (128,230)
Dividends received from associates U BB 2 A B RR S 26,899 72,075
(Increase)/decrease in time deposits with original ~ RZEAH A =185 A L& F A

maturity of more than three months TFar(gm),/md (649,948) 884,058
Interest received BHFE 1,265,295 1,268,372
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEEF A A = 922
Investments in associates REEE AR E (5,229) (2,018)
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries HETRAMBERE 39 20 832,140
Disposal of investments in an associate HER— [ E A RRRE - 10,596
Net decrease/(increase) in factoring receivable FEWRETUR D/ () F 58 1,986,332 (3,022,062)
Receipt of government grants for property, WERIE ~ RS K 5% 45 O B

plant and equipment wEE 114,910 112,749
Net cash flows used in investing activities RETBFMANZFEESRE (3,500,120) (285,826)
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Annual Report 2024 — &

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
GelREREE

for the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB) B2 —Z —WNF+ A =+—HILFE (KAKEZTF)

2024 2023
Z2-NE —T=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B &E AR TR AR®F T
Cash flows from financing activities METBELENEERE
Proceeds from super & short-term commercial FREHR A SIS IR
paper 31,898,223 41,298,586
Repayment of super & short-term commercial EERCHRES
paper (31,898,223) (41,298,586)
Repayment of corporate bonds EBREABES 36(0) (3,610,761) (3,443,702)
Redemption of convertible bonds Bl As Hﬁf 5 36(b) (3,336,959) (670,951)
Redemption of 2020 exchangeable bonds BE-FE-F E—IXT% &% 36(0) - (617,227)
Issuance of 2023 exchangeable bonds BT _=FrRBESH 36(0) - 593,535
Proceeds from interest-bearing bank loans STRRITERMBRIA 36(b) 37,184,004 49,091,106
Repayment of interest-bearing bank loans BEBRITER 36(b) (33,424,242) (46,723,460)
Decrease in pledged deposits for RITERHRELTR
bank loans B 26(a) - 98,840
Capital element of lease rentals paid ERNHERSEARNLD 36(b) (306,315) (268,711)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENAERSAEHD 36(0) (52,834) (64,181)
Interest paid BERFE 36(b) (582,302) (67,089)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests Ui BE JE AR AR AR R i 2 40 (9,721) (2,636,044)
Capital injection from non-controlling interests FERRRE R T E 37,974 160,750
Shares issued under equity-settled share option R AR D 23 B0 B8 AR 22
arrangements BTG = 155,637
Shares purchase Bk 34 (284,160) (817,991)
Dividends paid to owners of the Company SRR R ERRRAR S 12 (1,924,358) (1,588,015)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests S A5F SR R AR R A M0 R B (15,745) (4,882)
Net cash flows used in from financing METHMANFRERE
activities (6,325,419) (6,802,385)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash BEeRBELEEYHD)
equivalents BmFEE (1,493,283) 1,261,127
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January —B—RESRESZEEY 7,201,880 5,693,433
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net EXZENTE (EH) 490,781 247,320
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December +T=ZA=t—-HE2R
RE%EY 6,199,378 7,201,880
Analysis of balances of cash and cash BEeRBEEBNERIW
equivalents
Cash and bank balances as stated in the REEE B BRRAR TSRS
consolidated statement of financial position Re RR1TET 26 17,339,157 12,443,800
Time deposits with original maturity of more than ~ REZIEAE A =18 A WA L&
three months EHE R (11,139,779) (5,241,920)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the NRERERERT IR
consolidated statement of cash flows e RBSEED 26 6,199,378 7,201,880
The notes on pages 148 to 314 form part of these financial $148=314BMKIFBEZEMIEREN—3BH °

statements.
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China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited PEE4AEER AT

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ful it ¥t T BiY X

1 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1 2 RER&EBEEX

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (the “Company”) is FESFIEAGRAB(AQA]) AER
an exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman EHEAMKINEREBRAR - AAQ
Islands. The registered office address of the Company is A H) Rk 9 EE ik BP.O. Box 309,
P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman KY1-1104, Ugland House, Grand Cayman KY1-
Cayman lIslands. The Company is an investment holding 1104 * Cayman Islands ° KA & & — %
company. The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the BERRAA c RRARIREFAR (KB
“Group”) are engaged in the manufacture and distribution of SEDFERFANBEERKHER -

dairy products.

Information about subsidiaries BEE@FARMNER
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as AAREETARFRBOT :
follows:
Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of Percentage of equity
registration and issued and interest attributable to Principal
Name business paid up capital the Company activities
MR
B8 HEfExZHE CERTREERAFE F2AEERETIL FEXEHK
Direct Indirect
HiE EiE:3
China Dairy Holdings Cayman Islands 143,654 shares 100% — Investment holding
HEHS 143,654 1% A& 17 REER
China Dairy (Mauritius) Limited Mauritius 408,137,905 shares — 100% Investment holding
EEEH 408,137,905 % i% 7 REER
Start Great Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands 2,000 shares 100% — Investment holding
(“BVI")
EBRLEE 2,000 % A {7 BB R
(RBREZES])
Colour Vantage Limited BVI 1 share 100% — Investment holding
RBERES 1 AR AR 19 REER
Future Discovery Limited BVI 1 share 100% — Investment holding
RERERES 1R A& 17 REER
Golden Stage Holdings Limited BVI 20 shares 100% — Investment holding
RBERES 20/% A& 1 REER
Vision Clear Limited Hong Kong 998 shares — 100% Investment holding
BE 998 % % 17 RE R
Bright Rainbow Pte. Ltd. Singapore 2 shares — 100% Investment holding
EwIbE 2R 15 REER
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Ril 55 ¥k €2 Bfd 5
— > M2
1 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1 2AFAREEERw
(continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) EETFATANER @
Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of Percentage of equity
registration and issued and interest attributable to Principal
Name business paid up capital the Company activities
HEMmRIL
=8 E3YES SR ERTRABZRAEFE AATEERETILE FEEH
Direct Indirect
BHiE i
Bright Treasure Pty Ltd. Australia 1 share - 100% Investment holding
RAF T 1 A& A% 19 REZER
Wise Journey Pty Ltd. Australia 1 share — 100% Investment holding
JRA T TR 1 A& A% 17 REZER

China Mengniu International Co., Ltd. BVI 9,929,581,785 shares 99.95% — Investment holding

FRRFERERA A RBRIAHS 9,929,581,7850% i {5 RE R

Plant Base Limited Hong Kong 1 share - 100% Investment holding

BHEEHBRRA A BB 1 AR AR 5 REZER

Easy Reach Investment Co., Ltd. Hong Kong 2,176,895 shares 100% — Investment holding

BREBXKREBRAA B 2,176,895 8% A& 15 K& ZER

Tianjin New Value Supply Chain The Chinese RMB20,000,000 - 100% Sale of raw material
Co., Ltd. (Note (jii)) Mainland

REBIHHEE AR A A (i) GlEIPN AR #20,000,0007T & R

Inner Mongolia Special High-tech Dairy The Chinese RMB250,000,000 - 100% Manufacture and sale
Products Co., Ltd. (Note (i) Mainland of dairy products

ARERHEMAERER AR () B A RE AR #250,000,0007C EEREEIHR

Mengniu Hi-tech Dairy Product (Beijing) The Chinese RMB87,500,000 21.36% 78.64% Manufacture and sale
Co., Ltd. (Note (ii) Mainland of dairy products

S4ERAER LR EREEAF B A RE AR #87,500,0007T EEREEIHR
(B E (i)

Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) The Chinese RMB1,504,290,870 8.99% 91.01% Manufacture and sale
Company Limited (“Inner Mongolia Mainland of dairy products
Mengniu”) (Note (ii))

ARESEFAE (RE)ROBBERAA GRlEIPN AR #1,504,290,8707C EERHEIHR
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1 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1 2 FER&EBEEXw

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Place of

incorporation/

EBEFLATINER @

Particulars of

Percentage of equity

registration and issued and interest attributable to Principal
Name business paid up capital the Company activities
HEMRIL
£ HEMREZEYE ERTRAZREAFE F2OAEGREEIL ZEEH
Direct Indirect
HiE B
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy Baotou The Chinese RMB30,000,000 26.40% 73.60% Manufacture and sale
Co., Ltd. (Note (ii) Mainland of dairy products
AEHSFAEBBEEREERNR () AR A R #30,000,0007C SAEREEIER
Mengniu Dairy (Luannan) Co., Ltd. The Chinese RMB106,000,000 26.06% 73.94% Manufacture and sale
(Note (ii)) Mainland of dairy products
SHAE M) BREEA R (HFEG)  PEARE AR #106,000,0007T EERNEIHR
Mengniu Dairy (Tangshan) Co., Ltd. The Chinese RMB250,000,000 26.05% 73.95% Manufacture and sale
(Note (ii)) Mainland of dairy products
SHIE B AREEAR (M)  PBEARE AR #250,000,0007C EERNEIHR
Mengniu Dairy Tai’an Co., Ltd. The Chinese RMB60,000,000 26.03% 73.97% Manufacture and sale
(Note (ii)) Mainland of dairy products
SHIEFTEREED T (FEEG) B A RE AR #60,000,0007T EERBEIHR
Mengniu Dairy Jiaozuo Co., Ltd. The Chinese RMB450,000,000 - 100% Manufacture and sale
(Note (i) Mainland of dairy products
S4A%E (EE) BR AR (FIFE)) B A RE AR #450,000,0007C EERNEIHR
Mengniu Dairy (Ma’anshan) Co., Ltd. The Chinese RMB275,000,000 — 100% Manufacture and sale
(Note (i) Mainland of dairy products
S4AE (BB BRAA (D)) Fh B A B AR #275,000,0007C EERNEIHR
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Hi-tech Dairy The Chinese RMB150,000,000 - 100% Manufacture and sale
Co., Ltd. (Note (i) Mainland of dairy products
AELHEFTSHAEBER QA () SalEPN AR #150,000,0007C EERNEIHR
Mengniu Deluxe (Zhangjiakou) Dairy The Chinese United States Dollar 26% 74% Manufacture and sale
Co., Ltd. (Note (ii) Mainland (“US$”) 33,533,000 of dairy products
SHEERHCGRRA)AXEGRAA B A RE 33,533,000 7 EERNEIHR

(P RE(i))

(I=mxl)
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1 A2AFRREEER @
(continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) EETFATANER @
Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of Percentage of equity
registration and issued and interest attributable to Principal
Name business paid up capital the Company activities
HEMmRIL
=8 E3YES SR ERTRABZRAEFE AATEERETILE FEEH
Direct Indirect
BHiE i
Mengniu Dairy (Qigiha’er) Co., Ltd. The Chinese RMB75,000,000 26% 74% Manufacture and sale
(Note (ii) Mainland of dairy products
SA4IE(EERB) BRAR ()  HBEARRE AR #75,000,0007T EEREEIHR
Mengniu Dairy (Hengshui) Co., Ltd. The Chinese RMB200,000,000 26% 74% Manufacture and sale
(Note (i) Mainland of dairy products
SHFLE (EK) BR A A (i FEG) B R RE AR #200,000,0007T EERTEIHR
Baoding Mengniu Beverage Co., Ltd. The Chinese RMB142,000,000 14.65% 85.35% Manufacture and sale
(Note (ii) Mainland of dairy products
RESFREAR AT (K EEG) GlEIPN AR #142,000,0007T EEREEIHR
Shanghai Mengniu Tengda Dairy Sales The Chinese RMB381,000,000 - 100% Manufacture and sale
Co., Ltd. (Note (i) Mainland of dairy products
PERFREINEHEER AR (FHaE()) FPEARE AR #381,000,0007C EEREEIHR
Shanghai Mengyuan Commercial The Chinese RMB500,000,000 - 100% Commercial factoring
Factoring Co., Ltd. (Note (i) Mainland
(“Shanghai Mengyuan”)
EERTEEREAR QA (M) GlEIPN AR #500,000,0007T R RIE
(TE/5xTl)
Inner Mongolia Niuxiangrong Financing The Chinese RMB1,000,000,000 - 100% Financing guarantee
Guarantee Co., Ltd. (Note (i)) Mainland business
ARE4HZmmEEREARAR (M) FEARRE AR #1,000,000,0007C BERRES
Yashili International Holdings Ltd. Cayman Islands 4,745,560,296 shares - 99.97% Investment holding

(“Yashili”)
HEMBRZERARAR ([HELH D)

HEES

4,745,560,296 % % {7

BAEER
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1 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Place of
incorporation/

ﬁa&%ﬁ*ﬂ'(%ﬁ)

EBEFLATINER @

Particulars of

Percentage of equity

registration and issued and interest attributable to Principal
Name business paid up capital the Company activities
Gl
A8 AMEXHLE ERTREEREIFE FI2AEGREBTIL IEXEHR
Direct Indirect
=% 3 [F:3
Yashili International Group Ltd. (Note (ii)) The Chinese RMB2,826,105,300 - 99.97% Production and sale of
Mainland dairy products
e o T B R SR B B TR D (B (i) GalcipN AR #2,826,105,3007C EERBEIHR
Yashili International Baby Nourishment The Chinese RMB531,815,600 - 99.97% Production and sale of
Co., Ltd. (Note (i) Mainland dairy products
HEREREYZERRARAA PIEE() FEAME AR #531,815,6007C EERBEIAHR
Plant Base (China) Limited (Note (jii) The Chinese RMB1,030,000,000 — 51.01% Investment holding
Mainland
EREEY (R E) AR AR (F (i) B AR AR #1,030,000,0007C REZER
Bellamy’s Australia Limited (“Bellamy’s”) Australia 116,348,108 shares - 100% Production and sale of
organic food and
formula products for
babies and toddlers
Bellamy’s Australia Limited ([ B $z3K |) SRAF IR 116,348,108 f% B% % YERLEERR S
84 5B 7 45
AICE Holdings Limited (“AICE”) BVI 172,613,804 shares - 42.25% Investment holding
(Note (iv))
AICE Holdings Limited (TAICED) (KT 7 (v)) REEZE#HS 172,613,804 A% i& 15 REZER
Australia Nature Investment Pty Ltd. Australia 260,000,000 shares - 90.00% Investment holding
(“ANI")
Australia Nature Investment Pty Ltd. JRAFIZE 260,000,000 0% % 15 L EER
(TANLD)
Shanghai Milkground Food Tech The Chinese RMB512,053,647 - 36.63% Manufacture and sale
Co., Ltd. (“Milkground”) (Note (i) Mainland of dairy products
Y TEZRRMBREROHBRAR B A RE AR #512,053,6477C EERNEIHR

(MY rarE % |) (= G)



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)
Notes:

(i) The subsidiaries are registered as companies with limited
liability under PRC law.

(i) The subsidiaries are registered as Sino-foreign equity joint
ventures under PRC law.

(iif) The subsidiaries are wholly-foreign-owned enterprises
established in the PRC.

(iv) In accordance with the article of association of AICE, the
Group has the right to appoint four members to AICE’s
7-member board of directors, and the number of board
members of AICE shall not be changed unless agreed with
the Group.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the
net assets of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rl 5 ¥R 72 BiJ 51

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

21

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable IFRS Accounting
Standards, which collective term includes all
applicable individual IFRS Accounting Standards, IAS
Standards and IFRIC Interpretations issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”),
and all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes
all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and the requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Material
accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.

These financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention except for share
options, certain financial assets, derivative financial
instruments, certain other financial liabilities and
certain other borrowings which have been measured
at their fair values as explained in the following
accounting policies. Non-current assets and disposal
groups held for sale are stated at the lower of
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.
These financial statements are presented in RMB and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

2

L —

BAREFHE
21 REE%E

ZEVBRARREE G LIRS
€ (TERestERIEEE ) BT
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(7% P 7 38 A 8 1) B B B 75 3 o5 22 R
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRS Accounting Standards and HKFRSs requires
management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of IFRS Accounting Standards and HKFRSs that have
significant effect on the financial statements and major
sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in
Note 3.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s and the
Company’s current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by RMB1,238,775,000 and RMB4,633,953,000,
respectively. Notwithstanding the above, considering
the performance and cashflow forecast for the twelve
months ending 31 December 2025 prepared by
management of the Company, the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that the Group and the
Company have sufficient financial resources to continue
as a going concern for the next twelve months.
Therefore, the directors of the Company are satisfied
that it is appropriate to prepare the financial report on
a going concern basis.

P4 4 4
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2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Group and the Group’s
interest in associates for the year ended
31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an entity
(including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;
contractual

(b) rights arising from other

arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

2

L —
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests,
even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and
liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary; (i) the carrying amount of
any non-controlling interest and (i) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises () the fair value of the consideration
received; (i) the fair value of any investment retained
and (jii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss.
The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required
if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.

“EFER
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EBEAEFHEXw
(continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies 22 IHBEXRER

158

The Group has applied the following amendments to
IFRS accounting standards issued by the IASB to
these financial statements for the current accounting
period:

= Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements. Classification of liabilities as current
or non-current (“2020 amendments”) and
amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements. Non-current liabilities with covenants
(2022 amendments”)

— Amendments to IFRS 16, Leases-Lease liability
in a sale and leaseback

—  Amendments to IAS 7, Statement of cash flows
and IFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures
— Supplier finance arrangements

The equivalent new and revised HKFRSs,
consequently issued by the HKICPA as a result of
these amendments, have the same effective date as
those issued by the IASB and are in all material
aspects identical to the pronouncements issued by the
IASB.

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.

None of these amendments have had a material effect
on how the Group’s results and financial position for
the current or prior periods have been prepared or
presented.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EBEAEHHFEw
(continued)
2.3 Summary of material accounting policies 23 EAGHBEME
Investments in associates REBEE L G HRE

An associate is an entity in which the Group or
company has significant influence, but not control or
joint control, over the financial and operating policies.

An interest in an associate is accounted for using the
equity method, unless it is classified as held for sale
(or included in a disposal group classified as held for
sale). They are initially recognised at cost, which
includes transaction costs. Subsequently, the
consolidated financial statements include the Group’s
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income (“OCI”) of those investees, until the date on
which significant influence ceases.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest
in the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil
and recognition of further losses is discontinued
except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the Group’s
interest is the carrying amount of the investment
under the equity method, together with any other
long-term interests that in substance form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate, after applying
the expected credit losses (“ECLs”) model to such
other long-term interests where applicable.

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with
equity-accounted investees are eliminated against the
investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the
investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same
way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent there
is no evidence of impairment.

In the company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in an associate is stated at cost less
impairment losses, unless it is classified as held for
sale (or included in a disposal group classified as held
for sale).
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2.3 Summary of material accounting policies
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(continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of businesses is initially
measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate
of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair
value of the Group’s previously held equity interests in
the acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs
its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units (the “CGU”s), or groups of
cash-generating units (the “CGU Group”), that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or
groups of units.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(continued)

2.3 Summary of material accounting policies

(continued)

Goodwill (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the CGUs (or the CGU Group)
to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the CGUs (or the CGU Group) is less than
the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a CGU (or the
CGU Group) and part of the operation within that unit
is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying
amount of the operation when determining the gain or
loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of
the CGU retained.

Other investments in securities

The Group’s policies for investments in securities,
other than investments in subsidiaries and associates,
are set out below.

Investments in securities are recognised/derecognised
on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investment. The investments are initially stated at fair
value plus directly attributable transaction costs,
except for those investments measured at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVPL”) for which transaction
costs are recognised directly in profit or loss. For an
explanation of how the Group determines fair value of
financial instruments, see Note 43(f). These
investments are subsequently accounted for as
follows, depending on their classification.
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2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.3 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

Other investments in securities (continued)

Non-equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group are
classified into one of the following measurement
categories:

amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method.

Fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”) recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely payments of
principal and interest and the investment is held
within a business model whose objective is
achieved by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Expected credit losses,
interest income (calculated using the effective
interest method) and foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss and
computed in the same manner as if the financial
asset was measured at amortised cost. The
difference between the fair value and the
amortised cost is recognised in other
comprehensive income (“OCI”). When the
investment is derecognised, the amount
accumulated in OCI is recycled from equity to
profit or loss.

FVPL, if the investment does not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortised cost or FVOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are recognised in
profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.3 Summary of material accounting policies

(continued)

Other investments in securities (continued)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment
the Group makes an irrevocable election to designate
the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may
only be made if the investment meets the definition of
equity from the issuer’s perspective. If such election is
made for a particular investment, at the time of
disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained
earnings and not recycled through profit or loss.
Dividends from an investment in equity securities,
irrespective of whether classified as at FVPL or
FVOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as other
income.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to
manage its foreign currency and interest rate risk
exposures. Embedded derivatives are separated from
the host contract and accounted for separately if the
host contract is not a financial asset and certain
criteria are met.

Derivatives are initially measured at fair value.
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with
changes therein recognised in profit or loss, except
where the derivatives qualify for cash flow hedge
accounting or hedges of net investment in a foreign
operation.
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Bl 7% ¥R 2= MY 5%
2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EBEAEFHEXw
(continued)
2.3 Summary of material accounting policies 23 EASHHEMEw
(continued)
Hedging #om

The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging
instruments to hedge the variability in cash flows
associated with highly probable forecast transactions
arising from changes in foreign exchange rates and
variable rate borrowings. Some borrowings are
designated as hedges of the foreign exchange risk of
a net investment in a foreign operation.

Cash flow hedges

When a derivative is designated as a cash flow
hedging instrument, the effective portion of changes in
the fair value of the derivative is recognised in OCI
and accumulated in the hedging reserve within equity.
The effective portion that is recognised in OCI is
limited to the cumulative change in fair value of the
hedged item, determined on a present value basis,
from inception of the hedge. Any ineffective portion is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

When the hedged forecast transaction subsequently
results in the recognition of a non-financial item such
as inventory, the amount accumulated in the hedging
reserve is removed from the reserve and is included
directly in the initial cost of the non-financial item
when it is recognised.

For all other hedged forecast transactions, the amount
accumulated in the hedging reserve is reclassified
through OCI to profit or loss as a reclassification
adjustment in the same period or periods during
which the hedged expected future cash flows affect
profit or loss. If the hedge no longer meets the criteria
for hedge accounting or the hedging instrument is
sold, expires, is terminated or is exercised, then
hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. When
hedge accounting is discontinued, the amount that
has been accumulated in the hedging reserve remains
in equity until the transaction occurs and it is
recognised in accordance with the above policy.

AEEBETTEIAEEER/E NI
B DA S BE B R ¥ B A R A5
ER2FMELNSEARBNIZA
AR RERS - MO BERIET
RABINETS 2 BB F R SNE B 7
i o

HE e

ERBANETACHETERERERY
HMIAR  TATARAEZEHNE
MEB DR E M 2 U FER - WA
SARNE R RFEERT - REMEEK
SR A ME D ER R B P Fn
EEREELEBTMNETRE AAE
M RETEE o (EREBE D BRI &
BEPESR -

BRI S ENE RS BFEERIF
SRERE (WEE)E - REHHER
FA S BRREET 55 - LERRE
HERFAFERIAR MR

FAPTA HME N RARSME - RE
HREET RNEBEEBEMEEK
S EH O BEERME /LR AHIRE
RenEXERanFR—HF=xZE
HIRMWEH D RAE - WE R ABR
AR RERERE T AKH
T BIE - RUERITEE - BIERE
IHEREF ST RIE - EHPETER
BERIEER - SR REED R
BrRED BEERXRSELE  URIE
ER BRAERR



Annual Report 2024 —Z —[JF £

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rl 5 ¥R = B X

BERETHE@w

2.3 BEAESHTHEBME®

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(continued)

2.3 Summary of material accounting policies

(continued)

Hedglng (continued

Cash flow hedges (continued)

If the hedged future cash flows are no longer
expected to occur, then the amounts that have been
accumulated in the hedging reserve is immediately
reclassified through OCI to profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment property is initially measured at cost, and
subsequently at fair value with changes therein
recognised in profit or loss.

Any gain or loss on disposal of investment property is
recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from
investment properties is recognised in revenue.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost,
which includes capitalised borrowing costs, less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(continued)

2.3 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)
If significant parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, then they are
accounted for as separate items (major components).
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Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property,
plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss.
Any related revaluation surplus is transferred from the
revaluation reserve to retained profits and is not
reclassified to profit or loss.

FEDRYME  BELERENSER

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to

write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The depreciation rates of property, plant
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and equipment are as follows:

Freehold land Not depreciated KA FERE LT H T E
Buildings and structures 2% to 19% BEEREZEY 2%%E19%
Plant and machinery 6% to 32% R = I i 25 6% Z=32%
Office equipment 10% to 32% WA 10%£32%
Motor vehicles 10% to 32% ERRE 10%£32%

WETE  IERFHERSREES
FETEMLFLEE HE -

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values
are reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate.

166



Annual Report 2024 —Z —[JF £

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rl 5 ¥R = B X

Eﬁgg—“&%@

2.3 BEAESHTHEBME®

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(continued)

2.3 Summary of material accounting policies

(continued)

Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents plant and
property under construction, which are stated at cost
less any impairment losses, and are not depreciated.
Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds
during the period of construction. Construction in
progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill,

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at
the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the
CGU (or the CGU Group) level. Such intangible assets
are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible
asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to
determine whether the indefinite life assessment
continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the
useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for on a prospective basis.
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(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Trademarks

Trademarks acquired separately are measured at cost.
Trademarks acquired as part of a business
combination are measured at fair value based on the
royalty relief method.

Trademarks with finite useful lives are amortised on
the straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives
of 10 years. Trademarks with indefinite useful lives are
tested for impairment annually.

Computer software and patents

Acquired computer software and patents is capitalised
on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and
bring to use. These costs are amortised on the
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 3
to 10 years.

Distribution channels and customer relationships

The exclusive right of distribution channels and
customer relationships acquired in business
combinations were stated at cost less any impairment
losses and were amortised on the straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives ranging from 5 to 15
years.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(continued)

2.3 Summary of material accounting policies

(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when the
Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete and
its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability of
resources to complete the project and the ability to
measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure which
does not meet these criteria is expensed when
incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less
any impairment losses and are amortised using the
straight-line basis over the commercial lives of the
underlying products, commencing from the date when
the products are put into commercial production.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.
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170

(continued)

Leases (continued)

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease components and
non-lease components, the Group has elected not to
separate non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all
leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for leases that have a short lease term of 12
months or less, and leases of low-value items such as
laptops and office furniture. When the Group enters
into a lease in respect of a low-value item, the Group
decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by
lease basis. If not capitalised, the associated lease
payments are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is recognised using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability, and are charged to
profit or loss as incurred.
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(continued)

Leases (continued)

AS a lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs
incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and
remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use
asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the
Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the
Group changes its assessment of whether it will
exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
lease modification, which means a change in the
scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract, if
such modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease. In this case, the lease liability is remeasured
based on the revised lease payments and lease term
using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is
determined as the present value of contractual
payments that are due to be settled within twelve
months after the reporting period.

HE @

TERATANA @)
REEETMEBERRANEREEEY
TR AFTE  BERMAGBB A2
AIEEMEREENRARNEES
BERVIIRESEE - I EFTEAMNEHT]
WEEKARIFREEREEEES
TRIEFE R & EE ok i% B E P T b i EE A
AT - R E W EE
2 o FHBREEHBIRKARRFTIT
ENREEETR -

EARKEEMNRAR —HBR L RE
BMER - AEAKEBHRESRE
EREAENZEERE  HHAK
EHERBITEBE  AHEIRILE
BRNNGHELEZY  MEEHAE
HERE -RUSTABHAERER
B ERREEZREESIERRE
A AiHERAREE ZFREEDR
2% ARBEZEAE -

HP

ERAMEER(AIHESHT LR
REENHERERAERERLESE
ﬂi)ﬁ—ir Bz REREBHEE
BN ESHEER BETEN
=) Elit\ﬁ/ﬁ—l— HEaBERELE
STMAEMNRMEEHR  FRKE
STHBL IR RIEE R AR B EHE -

REEMBRREF  REEERE
R ENHAER D EEE AR S HR 1218 A
NEPEENA N KBRIE -

17



L —

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited PEE4AEER AT

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rl 5 ¥R 72 BiJ 51

BERETHE=
2.3 EABTHEHRE @

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(continued)
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(continued)

Leases (continued)

As a lessor

The Group determines at lease inception whether
each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. A
lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the
ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee.
Otherwise, the lease is classified as an operating
lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative stand-
alone selling price basis. The rental income from
operating leases is recognised in revenue.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-
leases are classified as a finance lease or as an
operating lease with reference to the right-of-use
asset arising from the head lease. If the head lease is
a short-term lease to which the Group applies the
exemption, then the Group classifies the sub-lease as
an operating lease.

Credit losses of financial assets

Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECL”"s) on

— financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including cash and cash equivalents, trade
receivables and other receivables, including
those loans to associates that are held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest); and

— non-equity securities measured at FVOCI
(recycling);
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.3 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)
Credit losses of financial assets (continued)
Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)
Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Generally, credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls between
the contractual and expected amounts.

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following rates if the effect is material:

= fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other
receivables and contract assets: effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition or
an approximation thereof;

— variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are the portion of ECLs
that result from default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the reporting date (or
a shorter period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months); and

— lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from
all possible default events over the expected
lives of the items to which the ECL model
applies.
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(continued)

Credit losses of financial assets (continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)
Measurement of ECLS (continued)

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which
are measured at 12-months ECLs:

— financial instruments that are determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date; and

— other financial instruments for which credit risk
(i.e. the risk of default occurring over the
expected life of the financial instrument) has not
increased significantly since initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when measuring ECLs, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information that
is relevant and available without undue cost or effort.
This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information and analysis, based on the Group’s
historical experience and informed credit assessment,
that includes forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30
days past due.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(continued)

2.3 Summary of material accounting policies

(continued)

Credit losses of financial assets (continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)
Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default
when:

—  the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the
Group to actions such as realising security (if
any is held); or

—  the financial asset is 90 days past due.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account, except for investments in non-
equity securities that are measured at FVOCI
(recycling), for which the loss allowance is recognised
in OCl and accumulated in the fair value reserve
(recycling) does not reduce the carrying amount of the
financial asset in the statement of financial position.
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2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.3

Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

Credit losses of financial assets (continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

— significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or being
more than 90 days past due;

—  the restructuring of a loan or advance by the
Group on terms that the Group would not
consider otherwise;

— it is probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation; or

—  the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset, is
written off to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when
the asset becomes 3 years past due or when the
Group otherwise determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to
the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment
in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery
occurs.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(continued)

2.3 Summary of material accounting policies

(continued)

Credit losses of financial assets (continued)

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued
Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments
to reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the
“holder”) for a loss the holder incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees issued are initially recognised at
fair value, which is determined by reference to fees
charged in an arm’s length transaction for similar
services, when such information is obtainable, or to
interest rate differentials, by comparing the actual
rates charged by lenders when the guarantee is made
available with the estimated rates that lenders would
have charged, had the guarantees not been available,
where reliable estimates of such information can be
made. Where consideration is received or receivable
for the issuance of the guarantee, the consideration is
recognised in accordance with the Group’s policies
applicable to that category of asset. Where no such
consideration is received or receivable, an immediate
expense is recognised in profit or loss.

The amount initially recognised as deferred income is
subsequently amortised in profit or loss over the term
of the guarantee as income.

The Group monitors the risk that the specified debtor
will default on the contract and remeasures the above
liability at a higher amount when ECLs on the financial
guarantees are determined to be higher than the
carrying amount in respect of the guarantees.

A 12-month ECL is measured unless the risk that the
specified debtor will default has increased significantly
since the guarantee is issued, in which case a lifetime
ECL is measured. The same definition of default and
the same assessment of significant increase in credit
risk.
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2.3 Summary of material accounting policies

178

(continued)

Credit losses of financial assets (continued)

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued (continued)
As the Group is required to make payments only in
the event of a default by the specified debtor in
accordance with the terms of the instrument that is
guaranteed, an ECL is estimated based on the
expected payments to reimburse the holder for a
credit loss that it incurs less any amount that the
Group expects to receive from the holder of the
guarantee, the specified debtor or any other party.
The amount is then discounted using the current risk-
free rate adjusted for risks specific to the cash flows.

Impairment of non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other than
inventories, contract assets and deferred tax assets) to
determine whether there is any indication of
impairment. If any such indication exists, then the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill is
tested annually for impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together
into the smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows from continuing use that are largely
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or
CGUs. Goodwill arising from a business combination
is allocated to CGUs or groups of CGUs that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(continued)

2.3 Summary of material accounting policies

(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the
greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal. Value in use is based on the estimated
future cash flows, discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying
amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable
amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.
They are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to
reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the
CGU on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is
reversed only to the extent that the resulting carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation or
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the
Listing Rules”), the Group is required to prepare an
interim financial report in compliance with IAS/HKAS
34, Interim financial reporting, in respect of the first six
months of the financial year. At the end of the interim
period, the Group applies the same impairment
testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at
the end of the financial year.
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180

(continued)

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

The Group take advantage of practical expedient in
paragraph 94 of HKFRS15 and recognise the
incremental costs of obtaining a contract as an
expense if the amortisation of the asset is less than
one year.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration and only
the passage of time is required before payment of
that consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component are initially measured at their
transaction price, and are subsequently stated at
amortised cost.
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2.3 Summary of material accounting policies 23 EASHHEMEw

(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and other short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are
also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash
flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents are
assessed for ECL.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. A contract liability is
also recognised if the Group has an unconditional
right to receive non-refundable consideration before
the Group recognises the related revenue. In such
latter cases, a corresponding receivable is also
recognised.

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to
refund some or all of the consideration received (or
receivable) from a customer and is measured at the
amount the Group ultimately expects it will have to
return to the customer. The Group updates its
estimates of refund liabilities (and the corresponding
change in the transaction price) at the end of each
reporting period.
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182

(continued)

Convertible notes

The component of convertible bonds that exhibits
characteristics of a liability is recognised as a liability
in the statement of financial position, net of
transaction costs. On issuance of convertible bonds,
the fair value of the liability component is determined
using a market rate for an equivalent non-convertible
bond; and this amount is carried as a long-term
liability on the amortised cost basis until extinguished
on conversion or redemption. The remainder of the
proceeds is allocated to the conversion option that is
recognised and included in shareholders’ equity, net of
transaction costs. The carrying amount of the
conversion option is not remeasured in subsequent
years. Transaction costs are apportioned between the
liability and equity components of the convertible
bonds based on the allocation of proceeds to the
liability and equity components when the instruments
are first recognised.

Treasury shares
Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held

by the Company or the Group (treasury shares) are
recognised directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss
is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Group’s own equity instruments.

Employee benefits
Short term employee benefits and contributions to

defined contribution retirement plans

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the
related service is provided. A liability is recognised for
the amount expected to be paid if the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation to pay this
amount as a result of past service provided by the
employee and the obligation can be estimated
reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans are expensed as the related service
is provided.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(continued)

2.3 Summary of material accounting policies

(continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payments

The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share-based
payments granted to employees is measured using the
binomial lattice model. The amount is generally
recognised as an expense, with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the vesting period of the
awards. The amount recognised as an expense is
adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the
related service conditions are expected to be met,
such that the amount ultimately recognised is based
on the number of awards that meet the related
service conditions at the vesting date. The equity
amount is recognised in the reserve until either the
option is exercised (when it is included in the amount
recognised in share capital for the shares issued) or
the option expires (when it is released directly to
retained profits).

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. It is
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it
relates to a business combination, or items
recognised directly in equity or in OCI.

Current income tax

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year
and any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable
in respect of previous years. The amount of current
tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the
tax amount expected to be paid or received that
reflects any uncertainty related to income taxes. It is
measured using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also
includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EARSHBER@w

(continued)
2.3 Summary of material accounting policies

(continued)

2.3 BEASHHEBME=®

184

Income tax (continued) B8 % @)
Deferred income tax BEAEFT1E 7

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is
not recognised for:

Temporary differences on the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not
a business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences;

Temporary differences related to investment in
subsidiaries and associates to the extent that
the Group is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that they will not reverse in the
foreseeable future;

Taxable temporary differences arising on the
initial recognition of goodwill; and

Those related to the income taxes arising from
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to
implement the Pillar Two model rules published
by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development.
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2.3 BEAESHTHEBME®

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(continued)

2.3 Summary of material accounting policies

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax (continued)

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities separately in relation to its lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which they can
be used. Future taxable profits are determined based
on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary
differences. If the amount of taxable temporary
differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred tax
asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for
reversals of existing temporary differences, are
considered, based on the business plans for individual
subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax assets are
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that the
related tax benefit will be realised; such reductions are
reversed when the probability of future taxable profits
improves.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.
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2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.3 Summary of material accounting policies

(continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Generally provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessment of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the liability.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets, or disposal group comprising
assets and liabilities, are classified as held for sale if it
is highly probable that they will be recovered primarily
through sale rather than through continuing use.

Such assets, or disposal groups, are generally
measured at the lower of their carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell. Any impairment loss on a
disposal group is allocated first to goodwill, and then
to the remaining assets and liabilities on a pro-rata
basis, except that no loss is allocated to deferred tax
assets, employee benefits assets, financial assets
(other than investments in subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures) and investment properties, which
continue to be measured in accordance with the
Group’s other accounting policies. Impairment losses
on initial classification as held for sale or held for
distribution and subsequent gains and losses on
remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.3 Summary of material accounting policies

(continued)

Non-current assets held for sale (continued)

Once classified as held for sale, intangible assets and
property, plant and equipment are no longer
amortised or depreciated, and any equity-accounted
investee is no longer equity accounted.

Revenue and other income

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a
variable amount, the amount of consideration is
estimated to which the Group will be entitled in
exchange for transferring the goods or services to the
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at
contract inception and constrained until it is highly
probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occur when the associated uncertainty with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

—  Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised
at the point in time when control of the asset is
transferred to the customer, generally on
delivery of the products.

Payment terms and conditions vary by
customers and are based on the biling schedule
established in the contracts or purchase orders
with customers. The Group take advantage of
the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of
IFRS/HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the
consideration for any effects of a significant
financing component as the period of financing
is 12 months or less.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(continued)
2.3 Summary of material accounting policies

(continued)

188

Revenue and other income (continued) WA REMKA @
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) KEEFE LKA i)
—  Sale of goods (continued) ﬁﬁﬁﬁum
Some contracts for the sale of products provide fﬁﬁguu WEHNTREP

customers with rights of return. The rights of
return give rise to variable consideration. A
refund liability is recognised for the expected
returns and is included in other payables.

Consigned processing services
Revenue from the consigned processing services
is recognised when products is delivered.

Revenue from other sources and other income

(@)

Rental income from operating lease
Rental income from operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line

ﬁﬁig\ CREENELR 2
{‘hfii ° Eﬁguu%égﬂﬁ@mLﬁ
B WAt AEMERNFRIE -

REEM TR
AN TIREBWARZN E S
RFRERR ©

X E AL b IR K B A BT HA

(@)

KEgeHENnES WA
KERE2HENHSBARE
MERHEMARBRER - &%

basis over the term of the lease. Lease THHEREER SHEARNE

incentives granted are recognised as an integral HEWAR —F 5 o W /9%
part of the total rental income, over the term of FFE Bk R R 7 A £ 70 & K
the lease. Variable lease payments that do not ERBAEETHAERER AUA o

depend on an index or a rate are recognised as
income in the accounting period in which they
are earned.

Income from guarantees issued
Income from financial guarantees issued is
recognised over the term of the guarantees.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.3 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

Revenue and other income (continued)

Revenue from other sources and other income

(continued)

(©

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method. The “effective interest rate” is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset. In calculating interest income,
the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is
not credit-impaired). However, for financial
assets that have become credit-impaired
subsequent to initial recognition, interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset.
If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the
calculation of interest income reverts to the
gross basis.

Dividends

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss
on the date on which the Group’s right to
receive payment is established.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EARSHBER@w

(continued)

2.3 Summary of material accounting policies

2.3 BEASHHEBME=®

(continued)
Revenue and other income (continued)
Revenue from other sources and other income

(continued)

(e)  Government grants
Government grants are recognised in the
statement of financial position initially when there
is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as income in profit or
loss on a systematic basis in the same periods
in which the expenses are incurred.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair
value is credited to a deferred income account
and is released to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the
relevant asset by equal annual.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the

acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised
as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the
Note 12 to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority
to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim
dividends are recognised immediately as a liability
when they are proposed and declared.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.3 Summary of material accounting policies

(continued)

Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the respective functional currencies of group
companies at the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into the functional currency
at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the
functional currency at the exchange rate when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities that are measured based on historical cost in
a foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate
at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency
differences are generally recognised in profit or loss.

However, foreign currency differences arising from the
translation of the following items are recognised in
OCl:

— an investment in equity securities designated as
at FVOCI;

— a financial liability designated as a hedge of the
net investment in a foreign operation to the
extent that the hedge is effective; and

— qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that the
hedges are effective.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations,
including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on acquisition, are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and
expenses of foreign operations are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EARSHBER@w

(continued)

2.3 Summary of material accounting policies

2.3 BEASHHEBME=®

(continued)

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

Foreign currency differences are recognised in OCI
and accumulated in the exchange reserve, except to
the extent that the translation difference is allocated to
NCI.

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety
or partially such that control, significant influence or
joint control is lost, the cumulative amount in the
exchange reserve related to that foreign operation is
reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
on disposal. On disposal of a subsidiary that includes
a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the
exchange differences relating to that foreign operation
that have been attributed to the NCI shall be
derecognised, but shall not be reclassified to profit or
loss. If the Group disposes of part of its interest in a
subsidiary but retains control, then the relevant
proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to
NCI. When the Group disposes of only part of an
associate or joint venture while retaining significant
influence or joint control, the relevant proportion of the
cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(i) is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or of a parent of
the Group; or
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.3 Summary of material accounting policies

(continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(i

(vi)

(vii)

(viil)

the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity.
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

(a)

Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of
dividends

The Group’s determination as to whether to accrue for
withholding taxes arising from the distributions of
dividends from certain subsidiaries whose equity
interests are directly held by overseas parent
companies according to the relevant tax jurisdictions
is subject to judgement on the timing of the payment
of the dividends or on whether those overseas parent
companies will be determined to be Chinese resident
enterprises by the PRC governing tax authorities in the
future. Except for certain subsidiaries with an equity
interest directly held by overseas third party
shareholders, which distributed dividends required by
those oversea third party shareholders, and except for
withholding tax amounting to RMB245,000,000 was
provided for the year ended 31 December 2024
based on the expected dividend distribution from
retained profit during the year 31 December 2024.
Management considered that it can control the
dividend policy and it is not probable that those PRC
subsidiaries will distribute profits earned from
1 January 2008 to 31 December 2024 in the
foreseeable future. Where the final outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts originally
determined, the difference will impact the deferred tax
provision in the period in which the differences
realise.
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTI MATES (continued)

(@)

Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies (continued)
Significant influence over China Modern Dairy

The directors of the Company have concluded that
the Group does not control China Modern Dairy and
accordingly the Group continues to account for its
investments in China Modern Dairy as an associate. In
arriving at this conclusion, the directors of the
Company have made a holistic assessment of the
relevant facts and circumstances taking into account
such factors as the potential voting rights held by the
holders of the exchangeable bonds, voting rights held
by the borrower, the board composition and key
management personnel of China Modern Dairy and the
nature of the Group’s relationship with China Modern
Dairy including the extensive continuing connected
transactions between the Group and China Modern
Dairy. The Company would continue to re-evaluate
such conclusion on an ongoing basis as facts and
circumstances change. Further details are contained in
Note 20(a) to the financial statements.

Control over Milkground

The directors of the Company have concluded that
the Group has control over Milkground, although the
Group holds less than 50% of the voting rights in the
investee. In arriving at this conclusion, the Company
has made a holistic assessment of the relevant facts
and circumstances taking into account such factors as
the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative
to the size and dispersion of the voting rights of the
other shareholders, the nature of the Group’s
relationships with other shareholders including the
voting arrangement with a shareholder, any history of
any other shareholders collaborating to exercise their
votes collectively or to out vote the Group, the
Group’s control of the investee’s board, and the
Group’s relationship with the key management
personnel of the investee. The Company would
continue to re-evaluate such conclusion on an
ongoing basis as facts and circumstances change.
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

(b)

Sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year,
are described below.

Impairment of goodwill and trademarks with
indefinite useful lives

The Group determines whether goodwill and
trademarks with indefinite useful lives are impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation
of the value in use of the CGUs (or the “CGU
Groups”). Estimating the value in use requires the
Group to make an estimate of the expected future
cash flows from the CGUs (or the CGU Groups) and
also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows.
Details of impairment testing of goodwill and
trademarks with indefinite useful lives are given in
Note 19 to the financial statements.

Impairment of an investment in China Modern
Dairy

The Group performs an impairment assessment of the
investment in China Modern Dairy by comparing the
carrying value of investment in China Modern Dairy
with its recoverable amount of value in use. The value
in use of China Modern Dairy was determined by the
Group based on a discounted cash flow forecast.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows
and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order
to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
Details of impairment testing of an investment in China
Modern Dairy are given in Note 20(a) to the financial
statements.

3
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

(b)

Sources of estimation uncertainty (continueq)
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences and all unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary
differences and the unused tax losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level
of future taxable profits, which affects the probability
of utilisation and the tax rate to be used in the
calculations. Details of deferred tax assets are
contained in Note 21 to the financial statements.

Share-based payments
The Group measures the cost of equity-settled

transactions with employees by reference to the fair
value of the equity instruments at the date at which
they are granted. Estimating fair value requires
determining the most appropriate valuation model for
a grant of equity instruments, which is dependent on
the terms and conditions of the grant. This also
requires determining the most appropriate inputs to
the valuation model including the expected life of the
option, volatility and dividend yield and making
assumptions about them. Details of share-based
payments are contained in Notes 30, 37 and 38 to
the financial statements.
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4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 ReEHBEH
For management purposes, the Group is organised into TREERE AEERELRKREHER
business units based on their products and services, and BT WAL TRERELESE :
has five reportable operating segments as follows:

. Liquid milk business — manufacture and distribution . RN TS — AEREHBR R
of ultra-high temperature milk (*UHT milk”), milk B (TUHTHL]) ~ ZLERE - B R
beverages, yogurt and fresh milk; o

. Ice cream business — manufacture and distribution of . AOHEMETR — £ERKHEE I KR
dairy-based ice cream; W

. Milk formula business — manufacture and distribution . MMHER — EERCSHDG

of milk powder;

198

Cheese business — manufacture and distribution of
cheese; and

Others — principally the Group’s manufacture of raw
materials for dairy products and trading business.

PERETR — LEREHPE &

Hit — TER/AKEIAHBRREH



4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

(@)

Segment results, assets, and liabilities
Management monitors the results of the Group’s
operating segments separately for the purpose of
making decisions about resource allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on reportable segment profit/loss,
which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax.
The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit/loss before tax
except that interest income, non-lease-related finance
costs, share of results of associates, income tax
expense, as well as head office and corporate
income/expenses are excluded from such
measurement.

Segment assets exclude investments in associates
and other unallocated head office and corporate
assets as these assets are managed on a group
basis.

Segment liabilities exclude other unallocated head
office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities are
managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to
third parties at the then prevailing market prices.

4 X

N

(@)

P4 4 4
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4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 RETHBERw®
(continued)

(a) Segment results, assets, and liabilities (continueq) (a)
Year ended 31 December 2024

PEEE - EEREEW
 E—ZE-_E+_A=+—HIF

200

E
Liquid milk  Ice cream Milk powder Cheese
business business business business Others Total
REMELE  KERESR IEES S MERER Hith @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR%Tn ARETRT AR%ETR AR®TR AR%TR
Segment revenue (Note 5): WA (HEES)
Sales to external customers HETIHPER
Intersegment sales PHEHE
Reconcilation: HE
Elimination of intersegment sales BEHHBEHE
Revenue WA
Segment results AREE
Reconciliation: HE -
Interest income 2K
Finance costs (other than interest ~ REKA (REEEE
on lease liabilties) FE5M)
Share of results of associates EEBENREE
Corporate and other unallocated RAREMTH B
expense
Profit before tax T A1 A
Income tax expense GRS
Profit for the year KEFE
Segment assets AHEE
Reconciliation: HE
Elimination of intersegment B BEEKHE
receivables
Corporate and other unallocated AR REM A
assets BE
Investments in associates REE D RIMERE
Total assets BEE
Segment liabilities AHEE
Reconciliation: HE:
Elimination of intersegment BHEIDEENHE
payables
Corporate and other unallocated AR REMTH HH
liabilities B8
Total liabilties aaf




(continued)

(@)
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4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 REDWBER =
Segment results, assets, and liabilities (ontinued) (@ "PBXEB BEERAEE@w
Year ended 31 December 2024 (continved) HE-Z-_MF+_HA=+—HILF
Ew
Liquid milk  Ice cream Milk powder Cheese
business business business business Others Total
BEDERE  KERER MR EH MRER Hity o
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR%®Tn AR%Tn AR%Trn AR%TR ARETR
Other segment information: Htt A BEHR
Depreciation and amortisation WEREH 2,498,864 333,464 149,056 227,151 52,757 3,261,292
Unallocated amounts ToHesE 145,423
Total depreciation and BIEREH
amortisation 3,406,715
Capital expenditure BAN 1,737,120 746,425 359,075 304,808 147,704 3,295,132
Unallocated amounts ArBeE 289,461
Total capital expenditure* BEKRT - 3,584,593
Impairment losses and write-down &G A BRERERL
of inventories recognised in the MBS R &R/
consolidated statement of profit it
or loss, net 1,049,077 5,213 4,661,418 8,426 288,108 6,012,242
Expense relating to share-based 5 R AR AR B 5 AR 10
payment component of the TR0 « EkE
convertible bonds, share option BE PO e HE
scheme and share award MR%
scheme 111,515 16,773 3,106 3,978 3,190 138,562
Unallocated amounts ArBeE 212,851

Total non-cash expenses relating
to share-based payment
component of the convertible
bonds, share option scheme
and share award scheme

5 BB E S A
ASEES - BikiE
HEUE LR
MRS X B

351,413
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4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

(@

Segment results, assets, and liabilities (continueq)
Year ended 31 December 2023

4 mE

N

(@ BEBR

= ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ(@)

L —

B -EBERERB®
BE-_Z-_=F+-_A=+—HLHF

E
Liquid milk Ice cream  Milk powder Cheese
business business business business Others Total
REMELE  KENES R ES S MEE X it @5
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETr ARETT ARETT ARETR
Segment revenue (Note 5): WA (HEES)
Sales to external customers HETHBER 82,071,069 6,026,325 3,801,747 4,357,260 2,367,640 98,624,041
Intersegment sales DHEEE 1,127,114 55,996 24,751 22,323 619,202 1,849,386
83,198,183 6,082,321 3,826,493 4,379,583 2,986,842 100,473,427
Reconciliation: HE
Elimination of intersegment sales BEHAPEHE (1,849,386)
Revenue WA 98,624,041
Segment results VT | 6126458 427731 (198939 146564  (198,101) 6303713
Reconciliation: G
Interest income FIEMA 1,675,555
Finance costs (other than interest ~ REKA (REEERE
on lease liabilities) FIESM (1,505,100)
Share of results of associates RS RAEE 91,921
Corporate and other unallocated AR REMAA P2 L
expense (253,902
Profit before tax GEIRbE 6,312,187
Income tax expense FBERE L (1,425,212)
Profit for the year KEFE 4,886,975
Segment assets AHEE 69,989,322 6,521,677 16,628,126 15,403,307 2,179,511 110,721,943
Reconcilation: HE
Elimination of intersegment BB e kA
receivables (33,004,852)
Corporate and other unallocated RAREMAH EH
assets BE 27,094,228
Investments in associates REE DRI E 10,408,632
Total assets BEE 115,219,951
Segment liabilities FHEE 28,708,293 4,454,086 6,905,303 3,750,950 1,841,636 45,660,268
Reconciliation: HE

Elimination of intersegment

BHD BEEMHE

payables (33,004,852)
Corporate and other unallocated RAREMAH EH

liabilities a8 51,912,824
Total liabilties BeE 64,568,240
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4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 RETHERw
(continued)
(a) Segment results, assets, and liabilities (continueq) (@ "PBXEB BEERAEE@w
Year ended 31 December 2023 continued) BE_E-_=Ft+-A=1+—HItF
Fg (%)
Liquid milk Ice cream  Milk powder Cheese
business business business business Others Total

BEDEH  KEHXE  DREE DBEE A ot
RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMBOO0  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AEBTR  ARETR ARETR ARETI ARETL ARETR

Other segment information: HithpHER
Depreciation and amortisation WEREH 2,548,462 264,609 180,805 190,460 56,049 3,240,385
Unallocated amounts THHesE 60,357
Total depreciation and e R &

amortisation 3,300,742
Capital expenditure BALH 2769719 488938 350864 248971 168386 4026878
Unallocated amounts ThEeE 48,327
Total capital expenditure® WEARL 4,075,205

Impairment losses and write-down ~ RERABEREAL

of inventories recognised in the REBEREEHR
consolidated statement of profit et
or loss, net 392,990 15,075 23,536 8,054 241,676 681,331

Expense relating to share-based 5 R AR B 5 AR 1

payment component of the XEHS - BRE

convertible bonds, share option i REREE

scheme, share award scheme R—RFARRHE

and reversal of restricted BERZBRMNESY

shares expenses of a

subsidiary 223,616 31,342 4,897 14,160 (52,413) 221,602
Unallocated amounts BVar:ikx:il 347,114

Total non-cash expenses relating 5 R AT AR B 5 AR (D

to share-based payment SRS - BRE

component of the convertible iEl - REREHE

bonds, share option scheme, R—BFARRHME

share award scheme and RERZBENFER

reversal of restricted shares EXHER

expenses of a subsidiary 568,716

* Capital expenditure consists of cash paid for the * BEXRZHBEEEME  BERHK

purchase of property, plant and equipment, B TRIRE EFEE  LHif
construction in progress, intangible assets, land use FARELA R F A R) « Bt A B B &
rights, equity interests in subsidiaries, associates and HitnREREMZANHRE -

other equity investments.
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4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 RESHERw

(continued)

(b) Geographical information

(i) ___Revenue from external customers VIR A
2023
—E_NF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥MTR ARBT T

The Chinese Mainland AR B K e 83,958,472 94,335,586
Overseas N [ 4,716,302 4,288,455
88,674,774 98,624,041
The revenue information above is based on the Lt NE R TIIRERF A
locations of the customers. e S o
(i) __Non-current assets i Y

2024 2023
—ENF —E—=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T AR®EF T

The Chinese Mainland IEi PN 175 45,762,687 48,014,045
Overseas EINE R 7,384,809 11,171,657
53,147,496 59,185,702
The non-current asset information above is i IEREE EME R TIIRE
based on locations of non-current assets, IEMBEEMMEE S T
excluding derivative financial instruments, other BTEEeRITHE AEthemE
financial assets and deferred tax assets. ERRERIBEE -
(c) Information about major customers (c) EEERFEHR
There were no sales to a single customer which HE_ZT-_WF+-_A=1+—HIEF
accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue E-rUERE-—XFPREESHASE
for the year ended 31 December 2024. W A10% A E ©
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5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5 WA ~ Efilk AR W
(@) Revenue (@ WA
An analysis of the revenue is as follows: WA DT -

2024 2023
—EoNE TR =4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARYT T AR®ET T

Revenue from contracts with REEEFEHHWKA
customers recognised at point R—{ERERE R
in time:
Sale of goods HEBY 88,623,995 98,590,612
Consignment processing services LZEEITARTE 50,779 33,429
88,674,774 98,624,041
The Group takes advantage of practical expedient in RNEBFEABEEMBHREERBE
paragraph 121 of IFRS/HKFRS15 and does not B 75 T 5 2 B 51557 S5 121 BR it &9
disclose the remaining performance obligations as all AIITHEEE  ARAEBEMENHEE
of the Group’s sales contracts have an original SARFTERE DR —F - T HEE
expected duration of less than one year. BRTINBORME -
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5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5 WA - EBEMKARKEw

(continued)

206

(b) Other income and gains (b) Hbm ARG
2024 2023
ZEZNF —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARKETTT
Government grants related to BB -
— assets (Note 32) — HE (ff3E32) 114,910 121,738
— compensation for expenses — RFEEEREH 312,319 435,580
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEF AR
(Note 39) (M45E39) 267,216 =
Gain on disposal of an associate B — B E AR e - 1,046
Gross rental income (Note 16) e e A (FizE16) 39,401 63,386
Gain on disposal of assets and LEREHFEEERA
liabilities held for sale (EEE & — 14,521
Net fair value gain on forward EHIINES A RE
currency contracts (Note 31) Wz 558 (fI3E31) 8,948 —
Net fair value gain on ARBESFD R EME
exchangeable bonds ik - 2,024
Net fair value gain on equity LARBEFEREEE
investment at fair value through SFAERARERE
profit or loss ARrEWRFE 71,132 =
Net fair value gain on other EfhemBeEARE
financial liabilities W s 58 = 23,658
Net gain on disposal of raw S R R A s JE
materials 59,587 91,883
Others Hit 158,131 315,556
1,031,644 1,069,392
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6 OTHER EXPENSES 6 HMEA
2024 2023
—E-lmE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR¥T T
Write-down of inventories to net realisable 17 & H#iUs = 7] &35 /% &
value (Note 23) (M$5E23) 911,092 323,675
Impairment of goodwill (Note 17) 2 mE (K sE17) 1,154,728 —
Impairment of other intangible assets Hiv & =R E
(Note 18) (ftzE18) 3,490,098 =
Educational surcharges, city construction HEMINE - W sE
tax, and other taxes AR M H A T IE 512,056 534,812
Donations B 74,590 62,659
Impairment of investments in an associate M —fE B & A G HIEE
VERED 63,487 48,030
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and H&EWE¥ - HE M &
equipment, other intangible assets and B HEMEREER
right-of-use assets ERAEEEERTHE 52,110 14,423
Net fair value loss on exchangeable bonds Al XX #EH A A EEIE
R 28,190 —
Foreign exchange loss, net bE 5 5 18 % 58 21,369 77,382
Net fair value loss on forward currency REINES A RE
contracts (Note 31) 518 5 &8 (M9 5E31) = 4,641
Net fair value loss on equity investment at AR A {EFTEHEEH)
fair value through profit or loss FTABSRRERE
AR EEEFHE — 22,945
Others Hh, 145,294 207,897
6,453,014 1,296,464
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7

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

7 BiAiRE
@30 T OIS B EFRS -

R IRAINE D

L —

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited PEE4AEER AT

2023
—TEC-=4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% T AREF T
Cost of inventories sold HEFEKA 53,539,391 61,958,116
Cost of consigned processing services Z LN AR AK AR 44,943 25,830
Cost of sales HEK A 53,584,334 61,983,946
Employee benefit expense (including directors’ EERAER (BEME
and chief executive’s remuneration as RN ESREZT
disclosed in Note 9) (Note (a)) B A B %) (fi 3T (a))
— Wages, salaries, housing benefits and —I& %% FFE
other allowances & F & E b =BG 7,005,579 7,625,682
— Retirement benefit contributions — RIRE R 774,503 817,790
— Fair value amortisation and cancellation of — AR ES AR (D
share-based payment component S HIEB D HY
of the convertible bonds DR EHHENTH 322,409 436,448
— Share option scheme expense — BRETEIAX (12,906) 69,067
— Share award scheme expense — REEEFERAX 41,910 121,608
— Reversal of restricted shares expense of — —REFRARRGM
a subsidiary REMLZED - (58,407)
8,131,495 9,012,188
Impairment of trade receivables, net (Note 24) FE U BR FOR (B 58
(M 5E24) 128,751 121,559
Impairment of financial assets included in ST ATER I - Hfth fE U
prepayments, other receivables and HEREMERBEED
other financial assets, net EREEREFE 242,961 188,067
Impairment of financial assets, net CRIEEREFRE 371,712 309,626
Write-down of inventories to net realisable FEMRZE ] #3558
value (Note 23) (P 7E23) 911,092 323,675
Impairment of goodwill (Note 17) BB RE (FFFE17) 1,154,728 =
Impairment of other intangible assets (Note 18) H b fEf & ERE
(Ffi5E18) 3,490,098 =
Impairment of investments in an associate R—HEEE R FRIRE
VERIE] 63,487 48,030
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BB KR EITE
equipment (Note 14) (P 7E14) 2,953,109 2,803,699
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 16) FAREEENE (:16) 335,239 385,609
Depreciation of investment properties "EMERE 1,646 1,646
Amortisation of other intangible assets (Note 18)  E fl £ Ji2 & EE # 5
(Pfi5E18) 116,721 109,788
Research and development costs fEFAEER 512,638 495,507
Outsourcing expense (Note (b)) ShEE A (FiEE (o) 158,232 180,283
Lease payments not included in the T AHESGEFTENHE
measurement of lease liabilities (Note (c)) &R (M 5E(c)) 224,779 260,106
Auditor’s remuneration 1% SR BN
— Audit services — EEREE 10,630 10,358
— Non-audit services — FEFFRD 4,481 4,229




7 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continueq)

Notes:

(@)

The employees of the subsidiaries of the Group established
in the PRC (other than Hong Kong) participate in defined
contribution retirement benefit scheme managed by the local
government authority, whereby these subsidiaries are
required to contribute to the scheme ranging from 16% to
20% of the employees’ basic salaries. Employees of these
subsidiaries are entitled to retirement benefits, calculated
based on a percentage of the average salaries level in the
PRC (other than Hong Kong), from the above mentioned
retirement scheme at their normal retirement age.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and not
previously covered by the defined benefit retirement plan.

The Group has no further obligation for payment of other
retirement benefits beyond the above contributions.

For the purpose of promoting operation efficiency, the Group
outsourced the production of certain products. The amounts
represent the total amount paid by the Group for purchasing
outsourcing services.

The Group recognised rental expenses from short-term leases
of RMB138,871,000 (2023: RMB147,265,000), leases of
low-value assets of RMB21,955,000 (2023: RMB27,922,000)
and variable lease payments not based on index or rates of
RMB63,953,000 (2023: RMB84,919,000) for the year ended
31 December 2024, respectively. Further details are given in
Note 16(c) to the financial statements.
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7 BATAE @

B3

(@)

REEBRFR (TRIEES) KL FAF
B {E B 2 B E B AT HE 32 /) SLE R
RINEFIETE - Bt - ZFFRREKRRE
BEAXFH ©16% E20% Kt E [ %1 &
H o ZETARNEBNFEEERKE
RS AREA LR EIRTE (TR
BES) FHHSKFEAD LT ERRIK
B -

AEBETRIZEEE & M A E S B
B REBBEREENTZRERZ LA
REBIRNFTRIREBEZES - KR
EN e

B Lt R sh -
H A RKAER o

AEBELEEMEES

RTREZERE  AEEINEETER
MAE - ZeBEASERBEINERSE
A H) R -

AEBEE-_Z_WNF+-_A=+—81
FEHDIBEREHAEIHARE
138,871,000 L (ZE =% : AR
147,265,0007T) * EEBEBEEMEES HA
R#21,955000c(CE-=4F: AR¥
27,922,0007t) R I FER B K — g &kt
=) A] & 70 & 5k A R %63,953,0007T
(ZZ==%F : AR¥84,919,0007T) ° i#
— P H BB 2MAM S HREMFE16(C) °
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8 FINANCE COSTS 8 H®ERA

2024 2023
—EUEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBET T AREEF T
Interest on bank loans IRITERF B 724,263 674,988

Interest on other borrowings EEEFRE
(excluding lease liabilities) (TEREHEAaR) 690,693 830,112
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEMNE 52,834 64,181
1,467,790 1,569,281

9 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 9 EEHM
Apart from share-based payments as disclosed in note B T SO 5 AT 55 AR 1 B EERE A ST ASF O
below, directors’ emoluments pursuant to section 383(1) of RIZE B R & 55383(1) 15 + LA KA A
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the (BBREZEEFRER) ROFE2H BENE
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of EFHMEIIR T

210

Directors) Regulation are set out in following tables:

2024 2023

—E-MmE —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARET T

Fees ik 975 957

Other emoluments H i &
— Basic salaries, housing benefits, — EXFHe  FE
other allowances and benefits in kind BA - EfhERL

REY = 12,258 13,140

— Performance related bonuses — HEEFBENES 4,977 6,626

— Retirement benefit contributions — BRIREFE R 182 175

18,392 20,898
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9 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continueq) 9 EEFMw

Basic salaries,

housing

benefits, other
allowances  Performance Retirement

and benefits related benefit
in kind bonuses  contributions
EXxfFe .
EERA
HitRER BREESEN
e LIk #E& BAEAHR amEm
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

M ARBTR  ARMTRT AR®TR  AR®TR  AR¥TR

2024 “E-QNF
Executive directors HITES
— Mr. Gao Fei - BREE(R=Z=RF
(appointed on 26 March 2024) ZAZTBEZME) (@) - 6,198 3,725 40 9,963
— Ms. Wang Yan - IHuL (@) = 1,376 17 68 1,461
— Mr. Lu Minfang — ERRELE (RS =mEF
(resigned on 10 October 2024) +A+HEET) (@)/(b) - 4,011 800 59 4,870
— Mr. Zhang Ping - REFRE(RZS-ME
(resigned on 26 March 2024) ZRAZTRBEHE) (@)/(o) - 673 435 15 1,123
Non-executive directors FHTES
— Mr. Qing Lijun - BUSAAE(R=T-WF
(appointed on 22 May 2024) AA-T-REZHE) (@) - - - - -
— Mr. Meng Fanjie — ANGEE(RZZoIE
(appointed on 28 August 2024) NAZTN\REZE) (@) = = = = =
— Mr. Wang Xi - IFRE(R=F-mF
(resigned on 28 August 2024 NAZ+ BB
and re-appointed on YR=ZF-MEF+A
10 October 2024) +HEHNEZME) (@) - - - - -
— Mr. Simon Dominic Stevens — Simon Dominic Stevens &4 150 O = O 150
— Mr. Chen Lang - BREE(R=Z=RF
(resigned on 22 May 2024) AA-+-BEME) (@) - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors BUERITESR
— Mr. Yih Dieter Lai Tak - ERELE 275 = = = 275
— Mr. Li Michael Hankin - FERLE 275 - - - 275
— Mr. Ge Jun - Bltks 275 - - - 275
975 12,258 4,977 182 18,392
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Rl % ¥R 22 BfJ 5
.
9 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (ontinued) 9 EEFHMw
Basic salaries,
housing
benefits, other
allowances Performance Retirement
and benefits related benefit
Fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
EAHE -
L R HiR RXERR B
ko REMH = ®e  BRINEBAHER B
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ks ARBTT ARBFT ARBTT ARBFT ARBTT
2023 —g-=%
Executive directors #7ESE
— Mr. Lu Minfang - EREA (a)/b) - 8,555 4,950 67 13,572
— Mr. Zhang Ping - RK¥EAE (@/(o) = 2,676 1,605 44 4,325
— Ms. Wang Yan - Tzt (@) = 1,909 71 64 2,044
Non-executive directors FHTES
— Mr. Chen Lang - BRA%AE (@) - - - - -
— Mr. Wang Xi - IHR4E (@) = = = = =
— Mr. Simon Dominic Stevens — Simon Dominic Stevens
bt 150 = = = 150
Independent non-executive directors BUERTES
— Mr. Yih Dieter Lai Tak - ERELE 269 - - - 269
— Mr. Li Michael Hankin - FERLE 269 = = = 269
— Mr. Ge Jun - BlekE 269 = = = 269
957 13,140 6,626 175 20,898
Notes: fEE
(@)  During the year ended 31 December 2024, the eight (2023: @ HEZZE-WNF+-_A=T—HIEFE"

five) directors agreed to waive their entitlements to directors’
fees totally amounted to RMB425,000 (2023: RMB390,000).
Other than the aforementioned, there was no arrangement
under which a director waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year.

Among directors of the Company, Mr. Gao Fei, Mr. Lu Minfang
and Mr. Zhang Ping were entitled to various share-based
payments as grantees/participants of share option scheme
(Note 37), share award scheme (Note 38) and convertible
bonds arrangement (Note 30). For the year ended
31 December 2024, the share-based payments expenses
recognised in the profit or loss as part of emoluments to Mr.
Gao Fei, Mr. Lu Minfang and Mr. Zhang Ping were
approximately RMB18,384,000, RMB17,000,000 and RMBNIl,
respectively (2023: RMBNil, RMB63,853,000 and
RMB10,948,000, respectively).

Except for emoluments disclosed above, Mr. Gao Fei received
emoluments before his appointment as executive director of
the Company amounted to RMB1,695,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

MI(ZE=—=F: Af) BEEREMEHR
B0 26X ARK425,0007T (=
T — =4 : AR¥390,0007T) ° BRATME
SN REEWETMNEREEHEXRE
WE & OB -

KNREEFR  SRLE  EFBEER
R & EERBRER S (ME37) - ’RE
15 EhET 2] (M 5£38) M Al AR (& 5 22 Bk (Kt
80 MERA 2L EEESZHE
U BERNIN BE-_T-_HF
+ZA=+—HBLLEE REZSERAEX
NFEREE ESFMEERKFELEEN
o F M Z AN AEROI A2 RO A
AR #18,384,0007T « A R #17,000,000
TREAREZITL(ZZ=Z=F: 53lAEA
R¥ZT - AR#63,853,0007T & AR
10,948,0007T) °

B EXFEERHIIN - SREERER
—E N+ A=+ —HIEFEEZF
BARRMITE SRR EH B A AR
1,695,000 7T ©
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Rl 1% 3R 22 BfY 51
10 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 10 &EEHFAL
EMOLUMENTS
One (2023: One) of the five highest paid employees was a AfiGEeFHREERE N (ZTE==F: —
director whose emoluments have been shown above, the )ES EBEBESHMESERE RN EXXHE
director’s emoluments before appointed as director was B CHREZERESFSAINMNEeAARE
RMB1,695,000. Details of emoluments, apart from 1,695,0007T ° B& N XMt 5E BT # 52 A RR 19 &
share-based payments disclosed in note below, in relation AW BN (ZTE =4 : Y
to the remaining four (2023: four) non-director, highest paid )FESF EaFEENHSHET :
employees are as follows:
2024 2023
—EoNE —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARETTT

Basic salaries, housing benefits, other EXFHe  FEEF -
allowances and benefits in kind H A2 EE R B = 14,035 14,865
Performance related bonuses HELBEBFNES 14,757 11,046
Retirement scheme contributions R ORAE FIFT 8 51 135 132
28,927 26,043
The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose ReEMESI AN THANNESHIIEESRE
cash emolument fell within the following bands is as BB MT
follows:
2024 2023
—E-mE —F-=
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
EE A EE A
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,001 /& L&
5,500,0007%8 7T = 2
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 5,500,001/& L2
6,000,0007% 7T 2 =
HK$7,000,001 to HK$7,500,000 7,000,001 BT E
7,500,000/ 7T 1 1
HK$10,000,001 to HK$10,500,000 10,000,001/% &
10,500,0007% 7T — —
HK$11,500,001 to HK$12,000,000 11,500,001/& &
12,000,0007% 7T - 1
HK$12,500,001 to HK$13,000,000 12,500,001/& L&
13,000,000/ 7T 1 —
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Rl FR SR = BU 5T

10 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 10 BEaHFALtw
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the total BE_Z-_WMF+HA=1T—BHLFE"
share option benefits relating to the share option scheme BY&asEESES 2 BEREs 2 (F
(Note 37), share award scheme (Note 38) and convertible FE37) - WELENET &) (I 5E38) K& 7] #a Ak
bonds arrangement (Note 30) granted to the non-director, BEHLH (M A30) EEMERERTE
individuals with highest emoluments were approximately HOBARBEZ L ARBEZTRARE
RMBNil, RMBNil and RMB33,618,000, respectively (2023: 33,618,000 (ZE=_=F : DR AARY
RMB26,348,000, RMB593,000 and RMB83,362,000, 26,348,000 + AR #593,0007T & AR ¥
respectively). 83,362,0007T) °

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11 FI8H X H
(@) Taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) FEBEZRAMNFERE

profit or loss represents:

2024 2023
—E-mE =&
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETT AREET T

Current income tax BIERFR 8 B
Current charge for the year FNBNVEAFTIS B 2 1,128,531 1,229,296
Adjustments in relation to prior years TEEERE 1,092 31,575
Deferred income tax (Note 21) IEAE TS5 (BiaE21) (355,051) 164,341

774,572 1,425,212
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11

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continueq) 11 FIEFHIXHw
(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and (b) BEAZHEREABEIENSE
accounting profit at applicable tax rates: BRbELCE
2024 2023
—E-lmE —E-=fF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR® T ARBFIT
Profit before tax ot B A 999,177 6,312,187
At tax rate of 25% 1225% (ZE == :
(2023: 25%) 25%) MEGFE () 249,794 1,578,047
Non-deductible items and A EMHIEE &
others, net Hh OFFE) 45,539 60,633
Tax effect of super deduction  fff 3% & FH ANt 1
on research and BB E
development expenses (i) (94,854) (108,527)
Adjustments in relation to FFEEFARE
prior years 1,092 1,675
Effect of different tax rates TR R 2 (ii)/(iii)/(iv) (29,177) (101,097)
Effect of tax concessions HEEBENTE (V)/(vi) (689,427) (768,598)
Tax effect of share of results  FE{GEES N T ¥4
of associates BHIEHTE 217,932 (22,980)
Reversal of tax losses and BEBATFEEHER
temporary differences BB TR B 1R K
recognised in previous TRy EER
years (vii) (636,172) -
Tax effect of impairment of i 2 K PR AR 4 A
goodwill and trademarks [BIENAEEID L)
with indefinite useful lives FE 1,161,207 —
Tax losses and deductible FERAEFERB
temporary differences [E518 K2 AT H0 R B B 1
utilised from previous years =E (107,251) (67,689)
Tax losses and deductible RIERTIFEE R
temporary differences not RS REER
recognised 395,422 518,665
Effect of withholding tax at BEAEEETHET
5%/10% on the NEICIR =5 DTN
distributable profits of the 5%, 10% =+ &
Group’s certain PRC AR 2
subsidiaries 260,467 300,183
Income tax P55t 774,572 1,425,212
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11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continuca) 11 FiIgFXHw

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and (b) BERZHEZEBERAHEITENS
accounting profit at applicable tax rates: sHREAEER - @
(continued)
Notes: B 5E -

216

U

(i)

(i)

The provision for the income tax is based on the
statutory rate of 25% (2023: 25%) on the estimated
taxable profits determined in accordance with the Law
of the People’s Republic of China on Corporate
Income Tax (“PRC CIT Law”), except for certain
subsidiaries of the Group which enjoy a preferential
tax rate according to related tax policies or certain
subsidiaries in other jurisdictions. Certain subsidiaries
of the Company entitle to the preferential tax rate of
16% (2023: 15%), and certain research and
development expenses of these companies are
qualified for 100% (2023: 100%) additional deduction
for tax purpose.

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of
Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands (“‘BVI”),
the Group is not subject to income tax in Cayman
Islands and the BVI.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated
by applying at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) of the estimated
assessable profits for the year ended 31 December
2024.

U

(i)

(il

RS B MR 2 A RARME G
¥MBHEA(PECEMBR
AL A ET EER A E A25%
(ZB =% :25%)AFH K5t
B MASERBEEREBRE
BEEMEZETTFRARIKMNE
thEEERZE T T ARSI o &
ARAIBETFTFRAIZERIGH(ZF
Z=F15%)BEME - BRER
RAIMAETHEHERAIZX100% (=
T =F :100%) BEEINGIE R 2

REFASHERRBELES (3R
BRELEE )W PTEH G RE
B AEEBABMRSES K
BRZESMEN

HE-_Z-_MF+_A=+—HL
FE - BAENEHBERGE AT
EFBEIA16.5% (=T = =4 :
16.5%) B R 5T & ©

(iv)  The provision for Australia, New Zealand and Indonesia vy #HEZZ-_WF+-—A=+—AH1
Profit Tax is calculated by applying at 30%, 28% and FEBM - AR KRDEREH
25%, respectively, (2023: 30%, 28% and 25%, B 12 (5 A0 AE Al AE 2 Bl A
respectively), of the estimated assessable profits for 30% * 28% K 25% (=& = =4 :
the year ended 31 December 2024, 30% - 28% [ 25%) Fi R+ E o

(v  Certain subsidiaries were granted lower tax rates by v) BTFRAEBEXRHGEBBE+TEH
the state tax bureau in accordance with the PRC CIT ©REMSHE  AETKERAE
law and the corresponding transitional tax concession BR R KB ROR A B He 78 3D A B &
policy and “The notice of tax policies relating to the B A 78 B UK 5K R RE Y R D £
implementation of the western China development TERBEES -
strategy”.

(v  Certain subsidiaries were granted tax exemptions in Vi) BT FRAEREB(EANRBEMHRES
accordance with the policy of “The notice of EMBHRERERARERIM
preferential tax policy for preliminary processing of T&E (HT)RNBA)RNBRAR
agriculture products”. it o

(vii)  This item mainly includes the reversal of deferred tax (vi) ZEEBFZRERBERBEFER

assets relating to tax losses and deductible temporary
differences of Bellamy’s recognised in previous years
and the reversal of deferred tax liabilities relating to fair
value adjustments arising from acquisition of Bellamy’s
amounted to RMB383,581,000 and RMB1,047,029,000,
respectively.

REYEE B RORBEIRE A K TR S
FriE = RAAMEEHEEE - X
REEDRKERRAEENAAE
HEHEEREAE  DHRAR
# 383,581,000 & A R ¥
1,047,029,0007T, °



11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continveq)

(c)

Pillar Two income taxes

In 2021, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development published the Global Anti-Base
Erosion Model Rules (“Pillar Two model rules”) for a
new global minimum tax reform applicable to large
multinational enterprises. The Group operates in
multiple jurisdictions, certain jurisdictions of
Netherlands, Vietnam and Australia in which the
Group operates have implemented Pillar Two income
tax legislation based on this framework, and those
Pillar Two income tax laws became effective from
1 January 2024.

The Group has applied the temporary mandatory
exception to recognising and disclosing information
about deferred tax assets and liabilities related to
Pillar Two income taxes and accounted for the tax as
current tax when incurred. So far the Pillar Two model
didn’t have a significant impact on the consolidated
year financial statements and no Pillar Two income tax
was recognised during the year ended 31 December
2024.

Other jurisdictions in which the Group operates are in
the process of implementing their Pillar Two income
tax legislation. The Group is in the process of making
a continuous assessment of what the impact of Pillar
Two model is expected to be on the income taxes in
those jurisdictions.
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11 FIEHIHw

(c)

BoXHEMES

REZF-—F KEAFERRER
B T ERARNARBREMROH 2R
RERGINENZRRFERMBRE
MRA(THE AR ANEA]) - RNEE
EZERZEBREEERY  A%5HE
RS XTSRRI Y ~ RS SOR AR
DEETRAVAEEREREMLERE
ISR —XIEMBHRE  ZFERE _XE
SR AEE-S-_NFE—A—B4&
R o

AEEERR R NERE —XHME
B EEHAEERBENES
- BERAEREEFIEAISMER - I
ERBELERGHISERRE - 2
SR F-XHEEAYREFEN
BHRERAIBEAZE BE_FT_-MN
FT-A=1t—HLFERTERR
F_XHEMRER

AEBERKLEREMEMBIAEEREIE
EERESE _SXEMEHIE - K&
BERBETEE _XEREAEZEE
BRASHOBREE -
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Rl % ¥ 2E B B
12 DIVIDENDS 12 BB
2024 2023
—F-MF —T-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
P & AR®T T ARBETT

Declared and paid during the year ~ARNEE TR M &

Equity dividends on ordinary Rl )
shares 1,924,358 1,588,015
Proposed for approval at the RENBRRBAFKE
Annual General Meeting ((RBERE])
(the “AGM”) #hfE
Equity dividends on ordinary TR R
shares:
Proposed final — RMB0.509 R AR AR S
(2023: RMB0.489) per — BRE®ER
ordinary share AR®0.5097T
—E =%
AR #0.4897T) (@)/(b) 1,994,247 1,924,358
Notes: B2
(@  The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December @ BREE-ZTE-NEF+_A=+—HILF
2024 is subject to the approval of the Company’s & 2 BAARAR B ZE A AN 5] A% 3R 7E FE g AR 2R
shareholders at the forthcoming AGM. BERSHAE ©
(o)  This dividend was not recognised as a liability in the by ZBEIXTERBE_ZT_WNFE+_A
consolidated financial statements for the year ended =+ HIEFENGEMERRERAEEA
31 December 2024. (EW
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13 EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 13 =
B

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY

(@)

Basic earnings per share
The basic earnings per share for the year is
calculated by dividing the profit for the vyear
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year.

(@)

A reconciliation of the weighted average number of
shares used in calculating the basic earnings per
share amount is as follows:

—_
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AAIEBEREERRELEER

BREXRER
AEFZGRERNBNRIEFARRD
) 5 P e i R A A TRR A FE A
EETEARRNMEFHEEE -

sHE S REAR B T A i T AR
BB FEMT

2024 2023
—E-IF —F-=
Number of Number of
shares shares
R4 & E gnr-4=
’000 ‘000
Sl T B
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January R—A—HEZ%1T
AR 3,935,293 3,955,196
Effect of share options exercised BITEERENTE = 2,247
Effect of shares purchased B iR D E (8,691) (15,204)
Weighted average number of ordinary — #T & &% 2 A Z F| B A
shares for the purpose of the basic B B AR I &
earnings per share calculation 3,926,602 3,942,239

219



L —

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited PEE4AEER AT

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Fil % ¥R €E I 5E

13 EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

(b) Diluted earnings per share (b)
The diluted earnings per share amounts is calculated
by dividing the profit for the year attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding after adjustment for the effects of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

13 ggﬂ%?ﬁﬂi%ﬁﬁﬁiﬂﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁ
m )

=
o

BREEARN
BRESENIREFARRE LB
P e e PR A MBI BR DA B P EL
BENNEBRABRRNEHITER
P ANt F IS BETE

A reconciliation of the weighted average number of 5T E TR HEEE 2 NPT A N S 15 AR
MEEREHNAT :

shares used in calculating the diluted earnings per
share amount is as follows:

220

2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=fF
Number of Number of
shares shares
BE A R B
’000 000
T B& T &
Weighted average number of ordinary &8 &% & A & %I Fr
shares for the purpose of the basic B B AR A &
earnings per share calculation 3,926,602 3,942,239
Effect of dilution — Weighted average #EXZE — TRK
number of ordinary shares: InEFHE
Outstanding share options 8 AR 1T {5 RE AR A = 7,015
Outstanding share awards i AR TT AR R AEE) 2,614 7,221
Weighted average number of ordinary &t & i% 558 2 7| F7 A
shares for the purpose of the B9 3 3 AR 0 #E -39 2
diluted earnings per share
calculation 3,929,216 3,956,475




14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
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14 X - BERRE

Freehold Buildings and Plant and Office Motor
land structures machinery equipment vehicles Total
XAEELY EERBEY BERES BORE EaRE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT AR%TR AR¥Tn AR%Tx AR%Tn AR%Tx
At 1 January 2024 R-B-mE-A—AH
Cost A 122,423 10,256,963 30,665,005 2,821,995 104,887 43,071,273
Accumulated depreciation and ZEFERAE
impairment = (4,101,758)  (16,200,639) (1,858,711) (94,786)  (22,255,894)
Net carrying amount REEE 122,423 6155205 14,464,366 963,284 10,401 21,715,379
At 1 January 2024, net of RZZE-WFE—A—R "
accumulated depreciation and MR 25T E LR E
impairment 122,423 6155205 14,464,366 963,284 10,401 21,715,379
Additions NE 17,019 6,013 495,818 132,261 2,273 653,384
Transfers from construction in BEAEZTE(M315)
progress (Note 15) = 335,801 1,225,324 137,958 138 1,699,221
Disposals HE - (62,658) (8,275) (50,586) (1,661) (123,180)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEFAA = = (6,219) (277) = (6,496)
Depreciation charge for the year FRFTEZH - (461,440)  (2,160,223) (328,119) (3,327)  (2,953,109)
Exchange realignment AR (1,444) (24,083) (51,941) (2,168) (347) (79,983)
At 31 December 2024, net of RIZE-WE+—A=+—AH"
accumulated depreciation and A 27 E LR E
impairment 137,998 5,948,838 13,958,850 852,353 7177 20,905,216
At 31 December 2024 RZZE-mE+-A=+—-H
Cost A 137,998 10,493,379 31,941,799 2,771,868 102,281 45,447,325
Accumulated depreciation and ZEHERRE
impairment = (4,544,541)  (17,982,949) (1,919,515) (95,104)  (24,542,109)
Net carrying amount REFE 137,998 5,948,838 13,958,850 852,353 7,177 20,905,216
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 Y BERZE®

(continued)

Freehold  Buildings and Plant and Office Motor
land structures machinery equipment vehicles Total
KAERLH FEREEY BERESR HNY | BERRE @t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARETT ARBETT ARETR ARETRL ARET:

At 1 January 2023 R-B-=%-HF-H
Cost A 118,987 8,549,166 27,497,696 2,410,814 99,877 38,676,540
Accumulated depreciation and ZHMERRE
impairment — (3455273 (14004924)  (1,476,140) (87,605  (19,023,942)
Net carrying amount REFE 118,987 5,093,893 13,492,772 934,674 12,272 19,652,598
At 1 January 2023, net of RZZ-=%—-A—8"
accumulated depreciation and M REHTE RRlE
impairment 118,987 5,093,893 13,492,772 934,674 12,272 19,652,598
Additions NE 269 242,433 273,918 219,737 2,763 739,120
Transfers from construction in ERATEIR(MEE15)
progress (Note 15) = 1,265,716 2,775,553 142,259 610 4,184,138
Disposals HeE = (7,793) (79,225) (10,036) (488) (97,542)
Depreciation charge for the year FRFEZ L = (448,917)  (2,025,967) (323,653) (5,162)  (2,803,699)
Exchange realignment I 5 % 3,167 9,873 27,315 303 106 40,764
At 31 December 2023, net of RZEZ=F+=-A=+—H"
accumulated depreciation and MR ZFHTE RRE
impairment 122,423 6,155,205 14,464,366 963,284 10,101 21,715,379
At 31 December 2023 RZZ-=%+=-A=t+—H
Cost A 122,423 10,256,963 30,665,005 2,821,995 104,887 43,971,273
Accumulated depreciation and ZHMERRE
impairment — (4,101,758 (16200639  (1,888,711) (04,786)  (22,255,894)
Net carrying amount REFE 122,423 6,155,205 14,464,366 963,284 10,101 21,715,379
(@)  The Group leases certain property, plant and equipment with @ AEERELEHETHERBELE=7H
a net book value of approximately RMB172,746,000 as at 31 EETYE BEREXER-_Z=_NF
December 2024 (2023: RMB214,838,000) to independent TZRA=T—HHNEEFENAREK
third parties under operating lease arrangements, with lease 172,746,000 (ZE = —F : AR
terms ranging from one to twenty years (2023: one to three 214,838,0007T) r HEAP—FE=—+F
years) (Note 16). (Z2==F: —F&5=F)(KzE16) °
(o) As at 31 December 2024, none of property, plant and ) RZZTEZMF+—A=+—8:  EP%E.
equipment was pledged (2023: RMB479,992,000). WMERZEHEEERFR(ZEZ=F ' AR

#479,992,0007T) °
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The Group has lease contracts for various items of
buildings and structures, plant and machinery, office
equipment, motor vehicles and land use rights used in its
operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront to
acquire the leased land from the owners with lease periods
of approximately 50 years, and no ongoing payments will be
made under the terms of these land leases. Leases of
buildings and structures generally have lease terms between
1 and 27 years; plant and machinery and office equipment
generally have lease terms between 1 and 10 years; while
office equipment and motor vehicles generally have lease
terms between 2 and 4 vyears. Generally, the Group is
restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets
outside the Group.

Rl 5% R 2B BY 5X
15 CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS 15 E2IE
2024 2023
—E-mNE —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T AREEF T
At 1 January Kn—H—H 2,348,779 4,111,176
Additions NE 1,656,600 2,418,387
Transfers to property, plant and EBEEYE - HER
equipment (Note 14) = (fEE14) (1,699,221) (4,184,138)
Disposal of subsidiaries g /N (500) =
Impairment BE (21,125) =
Exchange realignment PE 5 8 (6,505) 3,354
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 2,278,028 2,348,779
16 LEASES 16 #HE
The Group as a leasee AEBERAEAEAA

AEERERNEENEENREZED K
FRt=s - MARE  ERRERLTUER
BFZERBENEESN CEEEL—
RUENFARETIWERE L HHAR
#1504 - BERBEZF I HWHEENGR 8
TERBX N EMKIEA - FEREEDH
HBA-—BRNF—E_+LF BERE=R
ERARBOEA—RNF—ZE+F M
MARBREHRENHEA-—RNF ==
PO o —RIME © ANEEAA] RAKE S
ALTEEESHEBEEEE -
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Ril if%5 ¥R 2 By 52
16 LEASES (continued) 16 *H%E. (%)
The Group as a leasee (continued) AEBEAEEA®
(a) __Right-of-use assets (a ([FHELE
The carrying amount of right-of-use assets of the AEEFAEAREENREBERE
Group and the movements during the year are as R
follows:
Buildings
and Plant and Office Motor Land use
structures  machinery  equipment vehicles rights Total
EEREEY RBERKS BORE Bk IuHERE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETr ARETr AR¥Tr ARETr ARETn
As at 1 January 2024 R-B-m&E—F—AH 752,170 462,872 1,501 395 1,516,559 2,733,497
Additions NE 212,283 69,522 = 195 1,887 283,887
Depreciation charge TERS (125,694) (173,503) (20) (212) (35,810 (335,239)
Disposal of subsidiaries HETARA (2,182) = = = = (2,182)
Early termination/disposal RERILE/HE (27,602) (6,755) - (33) (59,906) (94,296)
Exchange realignment R AE (715) (225) (1) ) = (948)
As at 31 December 2024 RIZE-mE+=A=+—H 808,260 351,911 1,480 338 1,422,730 2,584,719
Buildings
and Plant and Office Motor Land use
structures machinery equipment vehicles rights Total
FERESEY BER#ES N BERE TwEmAR @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETE ARETT AR®ETR
As at 1 January 2023 R=ZZ=-=%—-f—A 804,170 506,217 - 58 1,472,732 2,783,177
Additions ANE 87,728 167,972 2,038 674 78,048 336,460
Depreciation charge nERS (140,353) (210,257) (440) (338) (34,221) (385,609)
Early termination RATAIE (179) (1,087) (98) = - (1,364)
Exchange realignment 3Tk 804 27 1 1 = 833
As at 31 December 2023 RZZZ=%+-A=1+—H 752,170 462,872 1,501 395 1,516,559 2,733,497
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Rl 1% 3R 22 BfY 51
16 LEASES (continued) 16 *ﬂg(%)
The Group as a leasee (continued) AEBEAEAEAA@®
(b) Lease liabilities b) HEEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included in AEBEFANEEEE G AT EERT
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings) of the REMEE) NEEERESHAT
Group and the movements during the year are as
follows:
2024 2023
—E-MEF —ET-=%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTIT
Within 1 year L 227841 246,935
After 1 year but within 2 years 1 BE2FNR 140,117 171,246
After 2 years but within 5 years 2FBASFRA 211,001 242,130
After 5 years 5F 1& 516,734 513,107
. 867,852 Sebacs
Carrying amount at 31 December R+=-—A=+—8H
FREE 1,095,393 1,173,418
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1 6 LEASES (continued) 1 6 *ﬂ E )
ZIK £H l 4’? 3‘% 7 *H A

The Group as a leasee (continued)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation
to leases are as follows:

2024 2023
—EomE —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBEF T
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 8) HEa BN L (FFEs) 52,834 64,181
Depreciation charge of right-of-use EREEENE
assets (Note 7) (P 7E7) 335,239 385,609
Expense relating to short-term leases EEE A EH MM
(Note 7(c)) (Mt3E7(c) 138,871 147,265
Expense relating to leases of HEBEEENHESR
low-value assets (Note 7(c)) BRI (7)) 21,955 27,922
Variable lease payments not included & u‘f’)\ﬂ"ﬂ BEED
in the measurement of lease EHEE ?ﬁ’\lﬁ
liabilities (Notes 7(c) and 16(d)) ( Bt 3% 7(c) ®2 16(d)) 63,953 84,919
Total amount recognised in profit or RIBRER K FKIB B 5
loss 612,852 709,896

(d) _ Variable lease payments
The Group leased a number of the warehouses which
contain variable lease payment terms that are based
on the Group’s actual usage area in the warehouses.
There are also minimum annual base rental
arrangements for these leases. The Group has SEEREEHERERERE TER
recognised certain right-of-use assets for the fixed BB E o WAMKFBIE S A =] &
lease payments. The variable lease payments that do TH B SRIE A5 70 B BT SR B S AR 1

(d) o/#EHEZE
AEBHEZERE  ZSHERS
NAEERZERENERFERAERE
AERNIEHEFTIEER - 258
ENE ﬁﬁ“ﬁirﬁ$fﬂﬁézﬁﬁ ZiN

not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as BAENEERAS L -
an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

The Group as a lessor AEBEERAEBEA

The Group leases property, plant and equipment (Note 14) AEBBECEHECHLHAEYE K
under operating lease arrangements. Rental and related BEREEME14) BE_ZT-_MF+=
service income recognised by the Group for the year ended A=+—HLEEEASEERNES LKA
31 December 2024 amounted to RMB39,401,000 (2023: 78 Bk 7% LA B A R %39,401,0007L (= &
RMB63,386,000). — = : AR#¥63,386,0007T) °
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Rl 5% R 2B BY 5X
17 GOODWILL 17 B8
2024 2023
ZE-NF —E=5F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBFIT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—HHEEE 8,952,282 8,887,830
Acquisition of subsidiaries Wi F A &) = 2,539
Disposal of subsidiaries HEFAA (12,566) —
Impairment BB (1,154,728) —
Exchange realignment ME X E (107,152) 61,913
Carrying amount at 31 December R+=—A=+—8H
FREE 7,677,836 8,952,282
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8
Cost DN 14,707,781 14,937,091
Accumulated impairment ZERE (7,029,945) (5,984,809)
Carrying amount at 31 December R+—A=+—H&
BREE 7,677,836 8,952,282

As at 31 December 2024, the goodwill was tested for
impairment (Note 19).

R-ZB-_MFE+_A=+—H BEEHE
TTRE R H (BFFE19)
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Rl FR SR = BU 5T
18 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18 HthBEEE
Movements of other intangible assets are as follows: HMEPEEZHNT
Distribution
Computer channels and
software and customer
Trademarks patents relationships Total
ERBAER PHERER
5L E Vil EFR% @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Cost at 1 January 2024, net of RZFE-WE-—HA—8-
accumulated amortisation BEAE R R T #E 11,974,201 593,265 50,533 12,617,999
Additions NE = 236,096 = 236,096
Disposals HE = (20,376) - (20,376)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEFAF = (10,910) = (10,910)
Amortisation charge for the year FREHEER - (103,588) (13,133) (116,721)
Impairment HE (3,490,098) - - (3,490,098)
Exchange realignment i 5 3% (381,051) (2,685) (3,201) (386,937)
At 31 December 2024 RZZE-_NFE+-A=+—H 8,103,052 691,802 34,199 8,829,053
At 31 December 2024 RZZZPE+=A=1—H
Cost AR 11,966,207 1,369,897 130,681 13,466,785
Accumulated amortisation and impairment B ELRE (3,863,155) (678,095) (96,482) (4,637,732)
Net carrying amount REFE 8,103,052 691,802 34,199 8,829,053
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of R-ZE-_=%f—A—-H"
accumulated amortisation BRRAE MR 11,801,436 507,628 65,304 12,374,368
Additions NE - 194,090 - 194,090
Disposals & = (13,904) (762) (14,666)
Amortisation charge for the year FRRHER = (95,148) (14,640) (109,788)
Exchange realignment 0E 5 = 172,765 599 631 173,995
At 31 December 2023 RZE-_=F+-A=1—H 11,974,201 593,265 50,533 12,617,999
At 31 December 2023 RZF_=%+-A=+-A
Cost A 12,347,258 1,172,240 133,882 13,653,380
Accumulated amortisation and impairment A BERAE (373,057 (578,975) (83,349) (1,035,381)
Net carrying amount HRE 5B 11,974,201 593,265 50,533 12,617,999
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OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continuea) 18

Notes:

(@) As at 31 December 2024, trademarks with indefinite useful
lives with cost of RMB11,966,207,000 were tested for
impairment (Note 19).

(b) The exclusive right of distribution channels and customer
relationships acquired in business combinations were stated
at cost less any impairment losses and were amortised on

the straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives ranging
from 5 to 15 years.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL 19
AND TRADEMARKS WITH INDEFINITE
USEFUL LIVES

Goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives acquired
through business combinations have been allocated to the
following CGUs or CGU Groups for impairment testing:

— liquid milk products CGU Group

= ice cream products CGU Group

—  low temperature products CGU Group

—  Yashili CGU

= Bellamy’s CGU

— AICE CcGU

— ANl CGU

—  Milkground CGU

Annual Report 2024 —Z —[JF £
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Rl 5 ¥R = B X

HWELEEEw

B 5T

(@ HE-_Z-_NF+-_A=+—H K& A
AR #11,966,207,0007T H) 2[R {F F 4F £
B RSB EITRE R R (MTaE19) °

() HEBEHEREBHNIHREZEELEFH
FRIRR AR R EEEY R HEN T

AETAFNEFAEBFRRERREE
e

7B I S PR A F S R AR O Rl (B
il

BB GG E R EREHES
HEOARE THBESEL BN RBLE
t B 7 4B RIVERE RIS

—  RESESESELBRAR

—  KERESBEEEABRAR

— ERELBSELERMAR

— BtRBEELBA

— BRKRBEELBEM

—  ACEB&ELBR

— ANBRE&EAESNM

— YREZREELSM
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19 IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL
AND TRADEMARKS WITH INDEFINITE
USEFUL LIVES (continued)

Goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives included
in other intangible assets allocated to each of the CGUs or

CGU Groups are as follows:

Low temperature
products
E2ER

Yashili
jiad]

224

=
RMB'000

g ARHT T

Liquid milk products
RENER

Ice cream products

KEHER

224
~8-RE

RMB'000
ARRTT

2024
= S

2023
k- Sk
RMB'000
ABETT

2024
ZBIRE

2024
ZRIEE
RMB'000
ARMTR

£
RMB000
ARETR

RMB'000
AR¥TR

RMBI000
ARRTR

RMB'000
ARETT

19

Bellamy's

Ak

2023
k- Sk
RMB'000
ABETT

L —

'ﬁﬁ AJMEﬁimﬁﬁ%%ﬁE

S IEAS
SEEERSELBLNRESELELMA
AW ET AR R H A B8 E &R A %
RFEARRNERAT
AICE ANI Milkground Total
AICE AN PAES it

2024
ZBIRF

RMB'000
ARETR

2023

224
=

2024
ZRIEE
RMB'000
ARMTR

2023
k- Sk
RMB'000
ABETT

2024
ZEoME e

RMB000
AEBTR

RMB'000
AR#FT

RMB'000
ARETR

RMB'000
ARETR BN

Goodwil i3
~ Cost - jX 34649 367215 74398 74308 © 318248 318248 < 5749828 5749803 & 2417,026 20682322 ~ 624733 615546 = 240,682 261316 « 4868228 4868223 14,707,781 14,937,091
- Accumuated - ZitHE
impeiment - = - = - - | (055200) (4552920) | (RATIS) | (1431889 - = - = - — | (028988) [558480)
354649 367215 74,398 74308 © 318248 318248 1,196,903 1,196,903 = 1260433 © 624733 615546 © 240682 261316 ~ 4868223 | 48668223 | 7,617,836 8,952,282
Trademarks BE
= Cost - RE 4099 40,99 = S O - | 1,566,000 1566000 5,101,924 5497250 = 1,013,287 999,003 = — 4244000 4244000 [11,966,07 12,347,258
- Aocumulated - Z&tHE
mpement - - - - - ~ om0 a0 (34%0098) - - - - - - T e
4099 409% = = = - 1192943 1192043 1,611,826 5497250 ~ 1,013.287 999,003 = — 4244000 4244000 = 8,103,052 11,974,201
305645 408211 74398 74308 © 318248 318248 2380846 2389846 1,611,826 6747692 1,638,020 1614549 = 240682 261316 9112208 9,112,223 15,780,888 20,926,483
The recoverable amount of each CGU or CGU Group has EReEAEMNNIFSEESEMMAR T
been determined based on value-in-use calculation or fair WESREE AL R EIE A B &R B IR

value less disposal costs using cash flow projections based
on financial budgets or forecasts approved by senior
management. The Group engaged an independent
professional valuer to assist with the calculation. These
calculations use cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering a five-year
period.

The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to
undertake the impairment testing:

(i) Growth rates — The growth rates used to extrapolate
the cash flows beyond the financial forecast period are
based on the estimated growth rate of each unit,
taking into account the industry growth rate, past
experience and the medium or long-term growth
target of each CGU or CGU Group.

BEREAREE KARSRERAG
#1§ﬁﬁ{%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ1ﬁifith%ﬁk$%M%E 2
AEEZEBYEXGEMBEE - %

%E+§1§ﬁﬁgﬁé5ﬁﬁﬁTtt/ﬁ/@m£¢,ﬁﬂ
WP BEENRESRERA -

E BRI SN 2 18R 1T R E R AT K
BHSEEERIKFMAAT ¢
() WRE — AREENHIERIELE

ﬁ@mi%@%$’ﬂ%%immﬁ

HEREAHE WEBITEER

ERERBRERSEEEMFIIR

fﬁFéE SR ZE R R RHAE & B 125
CR R
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19 IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL 19 BERERFEAFHBHENRE

AND TRADEMARKS WITH INDEFINITE A @0

USEFUL LIVES (ontinueq)

(i)  Gross margin rates — The basis used to determine the iy EME - ARECEEENEER
value assigned to the budgeted gross margin rates is WMEEDEEEEFE = FERN
the average gross margin rates achieved in the three FHEME - WEAEBETMERAR
years immediately before the budget year, adjusted for TERRAE E R AR IE N T AR -

expected efficiency improvements and expected
increase in production costs.

(i)  Discount rates — The discount rates used are before (i)  IIRE — FTAITIR XTI AL & AR
tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant RS ELEENSRSELEENA
CGU or CGU Group. BB % T LB o

The discount rates applied to cash flow projections and the ARReREBANITIR X R HARERTE

growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the AR @RS HEAIEREQNT ¢

period are as follows:

Growth rate Discount rate
BRX wR=E

2024 2023 2024 2023

i sy T —F Eebamuly T —F

GUUEKOOON  RMB’000 L3000 RMB’000

AR% T PR AR T PNSw

Liquid milk products CGU Group TREEYNE IR S EE B AR 2.0% 4.0% 13.41% 11.86%
Ice cream products CGU Group AKENERR S EEER AR 2.0% 3.0% 12.70% 12.02%
Low temperature products CGU Group KB ERREEEEM AR 2.0% 3.0% 13.90% 13.90%
Yashili CGU BrMREEEENL 2.0% 2.0% 14.04% 13.92%
Bellamy’s CGU BRRREESEN 2.0% 2.2% 12.89% 12.64%
AICE CGU AICERR & EEE 3.0% 4.0% 16.04% 15.66%
ANI CGU AN & EE BN 2.0% 2.0% 13.32% 13.48%
Milkground CGU PRESREEESN 2.0% 2.2% 13.56% 13.63%
The values assigned to key assumptions are consistent with FTEBRIZMEEREINBEIRRIFE 2 -

external information sources.
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19

20

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL
AND TRADEMARKS WITH INDEFINITE
USEFUL LIVES (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the fertility rate
remains low and competition in the infant formula market is
intense. Competitors stepped up their marketing efforts and
Bellamy’s faced fierce competition from domestic and
international counterparts, and thus needed to invest a
considerable amount of marketing expenses to increase its
brand influence. The intensified competition in the market
resulted in an unsatisfactory input-output ratio, resulting in
Bellamy’s actual revenues and net profit in 2024
significantly lower than the amount of revenues and net
profit in 2024 forecasted at the end of 2023, and its market
share and profitability in the domestic market also fail to
reach the expected level. The directors of the Company
have consequently revised downward the future profit
forecast of Bellamy’s and determined to recognise
impairment losses of the goodwill and trademarks with
indefinite useful lives directly related to the Bellamy’s CGU
in “other expenses” amounting to RMB1,154,728,000 and
3,490,098,000, respectively (Note 6), based on the valuation
reports issued by the independent professional valuer. As
the Bellamy’s CGU has been reduced to its recoverable
amount, any adverse change in the assumptions used in the
calculation of recoverable amount would result in further
impairment losses.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

19

L —

%ﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ,ﬁﬂ% Z 1R (B
UG )

HE_Z_NMF+-_A=+—HLFE"
EERMARARBFERLM  BHRDHTE
BEER - RFUHFOLMATISHERE S
€ BROKTER KB B AINRATH R 5
FOEAMEERAEENEHERARRES
WEFESN  MMSHRFOMBEIESEA
EMLL W AEE B —F —OF B HK
BERBRARFEFNBEARBER S =G4
EEAN - -—mMFERAFNFEFEEEE
A EAEBRRTSNGDEMEFEE NI E
BEERTAHKT - it ARBEE AT
BRCKE AR R BFTEA - WRERIEIF L
BEEEMEAENGEERS  BEB K
HeEASMNAZMABNRERERGFER
FHEEZARESERREIEMER] -
oAl A AN R E1,154,728,0007T & A R #
3,490,098,0007T (Ki7£6) - FAF B KK
ReEFBEVUERIEEATRESE -
It A A 51 0] Us [B] 4 58 A9 1R 3R 89 fa] 1~ Fl
FE)GERE—DRERSE -

2023
—E-lmE ZTEZ=%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Share of net assets JEIEFEE 7,033,558 7,793,296
Goodwill on acquisition B ES ) EE 2,615,336 2,615,336
9,648,894 10,408,632
Including: BiE
Carrying amount of individually material & 51| & Z Bk & A R Y
associate: FREE :
— China Modern Dairy (Note (a)) — REE R
(B 7E(a)) 7,354,005 8,311,583
Aggregate carrying amount of individually & 5l 3F = Z 5t = A 7 &Y
immaterial associates (Note (b)) 1 AR B (P 5E (o)) 2,294,889 2,097,049

All of the associates are accounted for using the equity
method in the consolidation financial statements.

FEBERAEREMBRRANERE
AFR e
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INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continueq)
(@) China Modern Dairy

Particulars of
Name issued shares held
z18 BREERTROFR

Place of
incorporation

AR 3L it B

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. 7,915,662,048 shares
(“China Modern Dairy”) of HKO.1 each
FREBREEERER QA BREE0IET
(T BEIR AR D) 7,915,662,048 %
A5

China Modern Dairy, which is considered a material
associate of the Group, is a strategic partner of the
Group mainly engaged in the manufacture and
distribution of raw milk and liquid milk products. As at
31 December 2024, the Group held approximately
56.36% (2023: 56.36%) shares in issue of China
Modern Dairy.

On 15 June 2023, the Company issued
HK$650,000,000 exchangeable bonds (the “2023
Exchangeable Bonds”), which will be due in June
2026, at the interest rate of 4.50% per annum and
payable semi-annually. The 2023 Exchangeable Bonds
are exchangeable into 568,181,818 shares of China
Modern Dairy, representing approximately 7.18% of
the issued share capital of China Modern Dairy. In
connection with the issuance of the 2023
Exchangeable Bonds, the Company lent to BOCI
Financial Products Limited (the “Borrower”)
corresponding number of shares of China Modern
Dairy, to which is exchangeable by the 2023
Exchangeable Bonds, in accordance with a securities
lending agreement (the “Securities Lending
Agreement”). Pursuant to the Securities Lending
Agreement, voting rights of relevant shares shall be
passed to the Borrower. At 31 December 2024, the
outstanding 2023 Exchangeable Bonds are
exchangeable into approximately 7.18% of the issued
shares of China Modern Dairy.

Cayman lIslands

ReEHs
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20 REEEDNTINERE w

hEIR R

Percentage of equity

interest attributable to  Principal

the Group (indirect) activity

FEEEGHRETD L

(B#) FTREHK

2024 2023
—E-NE —E=F

56.36% 56.36% Production and
sale of milk

HEREEFD

FRRARMERR AN EEE T &
AE BAEBEERBRDMKLE
MEMEERCHEFNREZLE -
R-ZE-_ME+—_A=+—0 ' K&
BB 456.36% (- — = F :
56.36%) F R IR R B BT o

R-ZZE-_=ZFA+HB  ARQAZE
BEFEINFFRLE0%ETER =
T = ;N4 75 A B HA #9650,000,0005%
TAZRES ([ZE - =Ea T HRE
5])  ZEZ=—FAIRBREFERE
FROE 3R A 4K 3 568,181,818 A% A
m PR RREEBITRALY
718% c BRI T _=Fr i
&% AARRBEBHE H i ([F
HELWE] ARREESmERB
RARl([EXRANDELHATBAB-T
T = F R IREHF IR A BR R
(¥R MHEE - REZEHEL R B
IR R RAIEEEBGERT o 1
—E-MFE+-A=+—H  K{TE
=T = = F A RIR(EFH A E R A
BIIR AR A7 18% K B 1T G -
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20

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continuea)

(a)

China Modern Dalry (continued)

At 31 December 2024, the directors of the Company
considered all facts and circumstances, including but
not limited to the potential voting rights held by the
holders of the exchangeable bonds, voting rights held
by the Borrower, composition of the board and key
management personnel of China Modern Dairy and the
nature of the Group’s relationship with China Modern
Dairy including the extensive continuing connected
transactions between the Group and China Modern
Dairy. The directors of the Company are of the
opinion that the Group has no control over China
Modern Dairy.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of China Modern Dairy extracted from its
financial statements, adjusted for any differences in
accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial statements.

L —

20 REEERNTNERE w

(a)

IR R E )
R-ZE-_MFE+-_A=+—H0 &2
REEEEEMBEEREBER  B1E
BTRAAIRBRESFTEARFENE
ERERE ERHBENREE S
BB ENEESBARETEER
AB A RAEEHE AP BIRAHERER
(BEAEESEPBEERBMERZDN
SEBERG)NME - ARRES
R 7N [E) P B3R AR A A
T o

TRINTHBERRBRAOM B E R
2 (REBEMBHRER  YREFTHK
RZEMERIERE) REEEMH
BRREERHER -

2024 2023
—E-WE —T-=fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREEF T
Gross amounts of the associate’s Bt 28 N Al Ay 4A 1B
Current assets MEEE 8,078,657 6,868,103
Non-current assets IERBEE 25,861,893 24,526,141
Current liabilities mE B E (8,629,720) (8,462,784)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (14,188,034) (11,088,696)
Net assets FEE 11,122,796 11,842,764
Less: Non-controlling interests W SRR AR R A (1,591,784) (641,779)
Attributable to owners of FRERIR R E = R
China Modern Dairy FE1G 9,531,012 11,200,985
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INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continuea)

(a)

China Modern Dalry (continued)

(@)
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20 RBE QNN KREw
PEIR R E

Ny

Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the REBNRBERNTNERBENT
associate:
2024 2023
—EB- & -
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AREF T
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 2N 5 B & #E B4 b 1 56.36% 56.36%
Group’s share of net assets REE D GHE QA
attributable to owners of the HEEAELEE
associate, excluding goodwill FE TEREEE 5,371,678 6,312,875
Group’s share of net assets of an RNEE D HEE QA
unlisted subsidiary of the associate, —M3ELEmFRAIH
excluding goodwill BEFE  TEE
Bl 92,763 118,690
Goodwill on acquisition WIEESHEE 2,121,469 2,121,469
Effect of fair value adjustments on W BB R B A A2 BT
acquisition TE (598,150) (598,150)
Exchange realignment bE 0 A 360,253 359,339
Less: Equity-settled share-based B AEERDHE
payment transactions not VA 25 45 B Y
shared by the Group R AR5 5,992 (2,640)
Carrying amount of the investment KERmE 7,354,005 8,311,583
2024 2023
—E-NEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Tt AREF T
Gross amounts of the associate’s B N AW 4aE
Revenue WA 13,254,341 13,458,223
(Loss)/profit for the year AE (EER),FIH (1,469,435) 185,434
Other comprehensive income FEHEMEE RS
for the year (12,584) (44,048)
Total comprehensive income FE2EHKRSRE
for the year (1,482,019) 141,386
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INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continuea)

(a)

(b)

L —

20 RBEQANKREw

China Modern Dairy (continued) (@ HEIRAHE@=
The Company performed an impairment assessment KRG EHIZEPERAKREETRE
of the investment in China Modern Dairy and the value i PEIRABMENFREERE
in use of China Modern Dairy was determined by Eﬂ?ﬁf BRIRIB S RETEAETE - B
management based on a discounted cash flow —ENE+ZA=+T—H fRX
forecast. As at 31 December 2024, the assumptions FoKk B RES BIRZRA10.40% (=
used for the discount rate and perpetual growth rate T - =ZF :10.60%) M2.0% (= F
were 10.40% (2023: 10.60%) and 2.0% (2023: T=F i 22%) c AARREEZRE
2.2%), respectively. The directors of the Company are RBEERAESENE E/RET EEEEE
of the opinion that, any reasonably possible change in MEEAEEF TS ERAEER
the key assumptions on which the value in use is FER R E MR ERE -
based would not cause the impairment of the Group’s
investment in China Modern Dairy.
Aggregate information of associates that are (b) ERIEEEHENTNELER
not individually material
2024 2023
—E_ME =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AR¥ETIT
Aggregate carrying amount of R BT w3 (A Rl
individually immaterial associates in FEZHERAN
the consolidated financial HARE(A
statements 2,294,889 2,097,049
Aggregate amounts of the Group’s REEShZE
share of those associates Bt &N Alm 42 (E
Loss for the year REFEE (47,319) (12,590)
Total comprehensive income 2 H KRR (47,319) (12,590)
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21 DEFERRED TAX 21 EEBIE
(a) Deferred tax assets (a) EEHBEE
The movements in the deferred tax assets during the FRELEHRIBEEEZLFN T ¢

year are as follows:

Tax losses Provision for
available for Write-down of trade Impairment of Unrealised
offsetting inventories to  receivables property, profit of
Deferred tax assets future taxable net realisable and other plant and Deferred Share award  intragroup Lease
arising from: EEHEEERE profits value receivables  equipment Accruals income scheme transaction liability Others

TEEA% EUHERE
ERBAAN MAFRE AMEKRE 0% BER REZR XEARZ
HEER TRRRE B REEE  RRER  BEMA it ARRAR  HERK At Eh
RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'00
ARBTR  ARRTR ARWTZ ARRTR ARWTZ ARRTR ARWTZ ARRTR ARETZ ARRTR ARETZ

At 1 January 2024 937,816 20,095 34,202 19 437,395 115,609 24,559 45,420 185,887 57,800 1,861,179
(Charged)/credited to (28)/ X%

profit o loss (389,992) 46,884 (15,056) (157)  (136,110) 24,455 (13,243) (8437) 7,180 (11,578 (496,054
Charged to other A2 ERERLE

comprehensive

income (29,217) (503) = = (6,264) = (364) = = (141) (36,549)
At 31 December 2024 R-Z-RE+-A

before offset St-RAAEH 518,547 68,676 19,146 39 205,021 140,064 10,952 36,083 193,067 46,081 1,328,576
Offset amount EHeE (398,406)
At 31 December 2024

930,170
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21 DEFERRED TAX (continued)

(a)

21 EEBIE @

Deferred tax assets (continued) (@) EZEFREEEmw
Tax losses Provision for
avalable for - Write-down of trade  Impairment of Unrealised
offsetting ~ inventories to recelvables property, profit of
Deferred tax assets future taxable  net realisable and other plant and Deferred ~ Share award intragroup Lease
arising from: BRHAEERS profits value  receivables equipment Accruals income scheme  transaction liability Others Total
AERAK LT
ERHNESG  HARRE EREURE 9% HER REER  £EARS
REEE AEREE BE REHE ERER 310N HH AERAA HERE £ft &t
RVB'000 RVB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETR AR%TR ARETR AR%TR ARMTT ARETR ARMTR AR%TR ARMTR AR%TR
At 1 January 2023 R=F==%
-A-H 865,989 12,001 59,478 39 350,472 109,019 54,467 62,286 - 86,851 1,600,692
Credited/(cherged) to BRNEE/ ()
profit or loss 64,327 10,172 (25,350) 157 84,973 6,590 (30,338) (16,866) 185,887 (32,041) 247,511
Credited to other 2 EREATER
comprehensive
income 7,500 32 4 - 1,950 - 430 - - 2,990 12976
At 31 December 2028 RZEZ=F+-f
before offset ST-AREH 937,816 22,29 34,202 196 437,395 115,609 24,559 45,420 185,887 57,800 1,861,179
Offset amount g e (426,982)
At 31 December 2023 i Sy 3
t-A=t-8 1,434,197

Management expects it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which the above tax losses
and deductible temporary differences can be utilised in
the coming years.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised
in respect of the tax losses and deductible
temporary differences of RMB8,569,095,000 (2023:
RMB6,811,964,000) as it is not considered probable
that future taxable profits will be available against which
the above items can be utilised in the relevant tax
jurisdiction and entity.

EEEBRHARFEAAIGELIRER
AR - AT AR AN £ 75 TR &5 18 e
AHREREER -

FEEMREBEEL R HEEASIE
EAHREREEEZEREARE
8,569,095,000 L (ZE=—=4F : AR
#6,811,964,0007T) #E:R © AR A4
PRSI R ERER aL)R A Al it Eatt
BIEE BB R IERTFE o



21 DEFERRED TAX (continueq)

(b)

Deferred tax liabilities
The movements in the deferred tax liabilities during the

year are as follows:

21
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IE FE B T8 )
(b) EEFIEEE

Rl 5 ¥R = B X

FREEHRBREZESHMT

Fair value
adjustments Fair value Accelerated
arising from adjustments of depreciation
Deferred tax liabilities acquisition of financial Withholding for tax Right-of-use
arising from: ETHEEERE subsidiaries  instruments tax  purposes assets Others
U SN
EENARE SRMIAN BHEREZ
pi ARERE BNH MEFEER HRREE Hith @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT AR®Tn ARETn AR%®Tn AR¥Trt AR®Tx
At 1 January 2024 R-Z-mE—f—H 2,754,997 33,169 231,440 940,551 193,356 3,178 4,156,691
Decrease due to payment B SR - - (224,999) - - - (224,999)
(Credited)/charged to profit B ()L
or loss (1,059,439) (15,082) 245,000 (7,646) (10,887) (3,051) (851,105)
(Credited)/charged to other ~ Ef2ERER
comprehensive income (%5)/ i (117,340) (5,507) 763 (3,263) - 8 (125,339)
At 31 December 2024 RZZ-mE
before offset +=ZA=+—-H
R 1,578,218 12,580 252,204 929,642 182,469 135 2,955,248
Offset amount HKHSE (398,406)
At 31 December 2024 RZZE-NF
+=A=+—-H 2,556,842
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21

D E FE R R E D TAX (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

21 EEMIEw
(b) EEZEFHEBEERE @

Fair value
adjustments Fair value Accelerated
arising from  adjustments of depreciation
Deferred tax liabilities acquisition of financial ~ Withholding for tax  Right-of-use
arising from: EEHBRERE - subsidiaries instruments tax  purposes assets Others Total
WiEF AR
EENDLE SRIAMN BRAREL
AR DnEAE EHB MEHEZE ERAREE Hip it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARBTR ARBTRT ARETT ARETT ARETR
At 1 January 2023 RZF==%—A—A 2,720,197 25,083 226,441 951,470 - 3,279 3,926,470
Decrease due to payment R 3R = — (220,000) — — — (220,000)
(Credited)/charged to profit B3R () /L
or loss (2,846) 8,086 224,999 (11,550) 193,356 (193) 411,852
Charged to other Hib2ERRALE
comprehensive income 37,646 - - 631 - 92 38,369
At 31 December 2023 R-IZ-=F
before offset TZA=t—H
R 2,754,997 33,169 231,440 940,551 193,356 3,178 4,156,691
Offset amount HKHEHE (426,982)
At 31 December 2023 N ==
+-A=+—H 8,729,709




21 DEFERRED TAX (continueq)

(b)

Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

Pursuant to the PRC CIT Law, a 10% withholding tax
is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors
from the foreign investment enterprises established
in the Chinese Mainland. The requirement is effective
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after
31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate
may be applied if there is a tax treaty between China
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the
Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group
is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in the
Chinese Mainland whose equity interests are directly
held by overseas parent companies in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

Except for withholding tax amounting to
RMB245,000,000 was provided for the year ended
31 December 2024, no deferred tax liabilities for
temporary differences relating to the remaining retained
profits of the subsidiaries of the Group established
in the PRC (excluding Hong Kong) amounted to
RMB45,087,512,000 (2023: RMB41,326,316,000) as
at 31 December 2024 was provided, as the Company
controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and
it has been determined that it is probable that such
profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.
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21 EZEHIE @

(b)

EEFEEE @

BIERRPEMSTE - NP BIAREE
B HINEERINEREE ST IR
BB ABR10%TBIE - BEBRTEB
—TZTENF-A—BHEAK XEH
R-BEB+E+-A=+—HEMRE
EREF - i B EIINR IR E E B
AR ZEIBREHE - A&
EEFBMBE R - REEREARK
K B5%10% ° A It - AN& B AR
ZERPBRAREXZN T AR (HE
INERAREEREERE) -
NE—F—BREELENEFFFD IR
B B At BTEHR -

BBz T _NE+-A=+—
BILEFEFRBEBNHRARE
245,000,0007C 7 + BB P AN A &) 4% 4l
ZETARMKEER - BEETEA
AIRERA T R SR & R A REFIE -
HWHR—ZE-NE+=—A=+—RHIK
REBAEERTRE (TRERE) K
ST A B O TR B4R R B )R A B 1
=8 AR¥45,087,512,0007T (= &
— =4 : AR #41,326,316,0007T)
FHREERIEAE -
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L —

22 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 22 HittemEE
2023
—E-=F
Notes RMB’000
B 5 ARBEFIT
At fair value through other AR BEFEBEES
comprehensive income: STAEM R
Hong Kong listed equity BALTRERE
investment — YuanShengTai — RAERKERR
Dairy Farm Limited NG 24,887 19,203
Unlisted equity investments JE FTRIERE 117,703 162,858
Other debts investment HAaEBEE 786,596 —
o 929,186 182,061
At fair value through profit or loss: AR EFTE B HEE)
T AER
Hong Kong listed equity 5 ETREE S
securities — Greatview Aseptic — BEREBFRAA
Packaging Company Limited 168,337 —
Listed equity securities outside BEABBEING £ AR
Hong Kong — Better Life BH — SEaEE
Commercial Chain Share HEHBERMDABRA A
Co., Ltd. 3,337 =
Other unlisted equity investments — H 1 JE F AR ER & 359,306 350,700
Short-term investment deposits MEREGFR (@) 1,556,490 1,118,576
e 2,087,470 1,469,276
At amortised cost: R -
Short-term entrusted loans HMHZRTER (o) 5,075 256,455
Long-term entrusted loans RHEIZRTER (b) 215,464 60,199
Long-term entrusted loans due R—FANIBHNREBZE
within one year TER (b) 2,448,322 2,304,151
Short-term other loans HEbEHER (©) 503,798 —
Long-term other loans i REBER ©) 1,053,594 273,594
Long-term other loans due R—F RN E 8
within one year Hibh REERK (©) 202,427 —
Factoring receivables & WAR IR X (d) 2,892,992 4,879,324
Long-term time deposits REIEHIfE K (€)/26 14,006,079 19,253,990
e 21,327,751 27,027,713
Total other financial assets HemEERR 24,344,407 28,679,050
Current portion mENE D 8,138,860 8,531,769
Non-current portion ERENE S 16,205,547 20,147,281
24,344,407 28,679,050
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22 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (ontinued) 22 HE¢REEw

Notes: B 5E -

(@  The Group from time to time purchases various investment @ AEETKAEKEEBNMEERITE
deposits from commercial banks for treasury management AZBEEEFR R_T_MF+=HA
purposes. As at 31 December 2024, the Group held =+t —B " XEBEBFAEARE
investment deposits of RMB1,556,490,000 (2023: 1,5656,490,000c(Z T ==4F: AR¥
RMB1,118,576,000) with principal guaranteed. 1,118,576,00070) :R B A& REBFHN K ETF

Koo

()  The Group granted entrusted loans to associates, certain dairy () AEERBEQAR BTHRERE=ZFK
farms and other third parties. As at 31 December 2024, HEFEER - Ed - RZT-WOF+ =R
included in these entrusted loans, RMB700,000,000 were =+—H ' AR%700,000,0007T i &
lent out via COFCO Trust Company Limited, a connected BEREERETAR (REE—REES
party and also a related party of the Group, while other ERtE —K@EHT)EL  HAHRA
entrusted loans were lent out via banks. Annual interest BITEL HEZT-_WNF+=_A=+—
rates of the above entrusted loans ranged from 2.26% to A ElZEEROFENENF2.26%%E
4.65% as at 31 December 2024 (2023: 2.26% to 6.05%). 4.65% (ZFE_=F : 2.26%%6.05%) °
As at 31 December 2024, entrusted loans amounted to RZZBEZNMF+R ZXERXRARE
RMB2,423,936,000 were on due. Both the Group and the 2,423,936,000 7T 2 Hf o AR B ER{EFRA E
borrowers were in process to negotiate the extension of the BEER-_FT_NF+_A=+—HNE
loans at 31 December 2024. The directors of the Company Ko ARAZEFRABARTER AR A B
are of the opinion that the negotiation in relation to the BEK—BER - ZEIERWERY -
extension will be agreed. ECL assessment was performed on ERANEERRKERTENATITIHES
the entrusted loans, considering the factors of collateral for A HEaERETHEREEBBRT
the loans, the borrowers’ credit risk and viability of HoRZE_NF+ZA=+—HHRER
repayment plan. An impairment loss of RMB308,945,000 TR EE 18 A R #308,945,0007T (=&
was recognised for the loans as at 31 December 2024 — =% : AR#¥150,000,0007T) °
(2023: RMB150,000,000).

()  The Group granted loans to associates, certain dairy farms () AEERAEEAF HETHEREME=

and other third parties. As at 31 December 2024, included
in these loans, RMB1,290,297,000 were lent to associates,
with interest rates ranging from 3.00% to 3.80% per annum.

FRLEER RZTEZNFF+=A=+—
A RZEEXRFT AL REEHNE
= A AR H1,290,297,0007C © F | R Ay
F3.00%%3.80% °
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L —

22 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continueq) 22 Htt€MEEw

Notes: (continued) BT :

(d)  Factoring receivables arise from the factoring arrangements ) ERREBEFRELABAEBEETTFAAAM
entered between the suppliers of certain subsidiaries of the EEEALET AR SR TIERNRE
Group and Shanghai Mengyuan, a subsidiary of the Group, ZH - Bl HEEEAERE T FAA
pursuant to which the suppliers sold the receivables from WEWRIEEET LS WERSFT
certain subsidiaries of the Group to Shanghai Mengyuan with BRBERE R_T-_NF+=A
recourse for cash proceeds. The effective interest rates of =+—H ERRERXNERFENENTF
factoring receivable as at 31 December 2024 varied from 3.30%E3.75% (=T = =4F : 3.10% &
3.30% to 3.75% (2023: 3.10% to 4.80%) per annum, of 4.80%) * Eh A R#5,638,0007T #57A —
which amounted to RMB5,638,000 would mature in one to EMFAEIE -
two years.

(e)  The effective interest rates of long-term time deposits as at € MRZITE-ZMF+=—A=+—0 ' REEH
31 December 2024 varied from 1.77% to 4.00% (2023: EROERFENENF1.77%ZE4.00% (=
3.35% to 5.52%) per annum and would mature in two to T = :335%%E552%) » THEHRME
four years. MEREIE -

As at 31 December 2024, no long-term time deposits were RZZE_NEF+=A=+—H $I&KH
pledged to banking facilities, interest-bearing bank and other TEHTF B IR A BRI TS « BT EER
borrowings (2023: RMBNIil). TREMEE (T _=F: ARBZT) -
23 INVENTORIES 23 FE

2024 2023

—E-MEF —E=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®¥T T AREF T

Raw materials JR 1 % 2,505,786 3,422,555

Finished goods EEPK i 2,430,880 2,665,895

Total inventories at the lower of cost and 12 X, 7N B ] B3R R (B Y
net realisable value REEAENEFE
R 4,936,666 6,088,450

The amount of write-down of inventories recognised as an
expense was RMB911,092,000 for the year ended

31

December 2024 (2023: RMB323,675,000), which was

recognised in other expenses (Note 6).

BHE_Z-_NMF+-_A=+—HLFE"
BERAEAINEEMREEAEARE

911,092,000 (ZE =% : ARK
323,675,0007t) * WA EAMER (Mize) 4
R ©
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Rl 5% ¥R 22 MU 5%
24 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 24 EWERFKREE
2024 2023
—E_Ng —E_=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR¥ET T
Bills receivable KR 81,425 211,682
Trade receivables JE UK BR X 3,218,448 3,558,043
Loss allowance BB R (38,015) (101,121)
3,261,858 3,668,604

The Group normally grants credit limits to its customers
which are adjustable in certain circumstances. The Group
closely monitors overdue balances. In view of the
aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade
receivables relate to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit
risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivables. The trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

The Group sold non-recourse trade receivables to third
parties for cash proceeds. These trade receivables have
been derecognised from the consolidated statement of
financial position, because the Group transfers substantially
all of the risks and rewards, primarily credit risk.

Based on the Group’s accounting policy of financial assets,
the Group measured bills receivable at fair value through
other comprehensive income as at 31 December 2024.

AEBRERTEPREEERE  UA
EETERATHE AKEZUEEAY
REEHEH BN LXK AKERNE
WEFREXETRBNNEFER B
BEXEESETRR AKEYEREE
WERBAERAERRSIEBEERT -
JFE M5 P R I S B 7 RS o

REERFE =77 & BB RERYRFIA
BEREAFHIA - 2 FREERENE
BB KRR REEAKED
BEEAsAREOE  TER/EER

A
i

o o
PR

BEAEENEREESTIER  AEE
R-ZE-_ME+-—A=+—BRNUNARE
SEREEHAEMEEKETERK

ESE
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EWRR KRB w
RO HITR  AT 00 A5 1R 14 0 B M B K
RERRSHEEHORBHITMT

24 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (ontiniess 24
An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date
and net of loss allowance, are as follows:

246

2024 2023
—E-mF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREFIT
Less than 1 year DR—F 3,196,187 3,571,620
1 to 2 years —EMF 51,613 85,675
2 to 3 years e =4 13,650 10,842
Over 3 years =FLAE 408 467
3,261,858 3,668,604
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of FEYERFREBEREER T
trade receivables are as follows:
2024 2023
—E-MF —F=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® Tt ARBFIT
At 1 January R—HA—H 101,121 148,204
Impairment losses recognised (Note 7) BRI ESE

(Mt3E7) 177,729 209,342

Amount written off as uncollectible | & 71 AT U [B] T i £ A9
k-l (191,825) (168,642)
Decrease in disposal of a subsidiary R & F A alE A (32) —
Impairment losses reversed (Note 7) BB EEEE (7)) (48,978) (87,783)
At 31 December R+=A=+—8 38,015 101,121
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24 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (contines 24 FEWERERRZEEw

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date REHREBEH - BRESTEHB B EERE

using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. 17 ETEEHEEEE - BELXRBEAR

The provision rates are based on the Group’s historical SEBTHEEBBELRSEL  KEBA

credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors FEMREMEAZ REERBRIE °

specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk TH 2 BB ERERERE A S B E KRR

exposure on the Group’s trade and bills receivables using REERNEERBRER

the provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2024 R-B-OmOFE+=-A=+—H

Expect credit Gross carrying Expected credit

loss rate amount losses
EHEEERER FRE#AE EHEEER
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥T T
Less than 1 year DR—F 0.46% 3,210,864 14,677
1 to 2 years —EMF 18.23% 63,116 11,503
2 to 3 years ME=F 31.08% 19,805 6,155
Over 3 years =FLE 93.30% 6,088 5,680
3,299,873 38,015

As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+-A=+—H
Expect credit Gross carrying Expected credit
loss rate amount losses
THHEEBEE REAE TEHA{E B &8
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®EF T AR®ET T
Less than 1 year DR—F 0.56% 3,591,710 20,090
1 to 2 years —EWE 34.01% 129,840 44,165
2 to 3 years N =4 62.21% 28,690 17,848
Over 3 years =FLAE 97.60% 19,485 19,018
3,769,725 101,121
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25 PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES 25 FEIR - EEKRREREME
AND OTHER ASSETS =

2024 2023

—E_NF —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T AREEF T

Deposits Ze 114,459 101,800

Other receivables H th & R IE 108,894 362,694

Loss allowance BB R (385) (134)
Financial assets measured at amortised BEBRK AT ENE R

oeost oo EE 222968 464,360 _

Right-of-return assets REREE 16,461 25,926

Prepayments SEENES 925,759 1,572,808

Value-added tax recoverable AT FIIEE 790,489 956,939

Corporate income tax recoverable AR EFTER 23,602 75,521

Long-term prepayments RHEITE(I R 1,165,975 349,713

2,922,286 2,980,907

Total prepayments, other receivables and TEATFR - H Ath FEURIE

other assets NE & E R 3,145,254 3,445,267
Less: Long-term prepayments B REATE AR
— non-current portion — JEBNERER & (1,165,975) (349,713)

Prepayments, other receivables and other TR ER - H A e e
assets — current portion RHEMEE — BNH
zi 5 1,979,279 3,095,554
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26 BERBITEFREMBER

2024 2023
—E_NF —ET=%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®T T ARBET T
Cash at bank and on hand RITRFHERE 6,099,173 6,033,031
Time deposits with original REEBER=TANRA
maturity within three months B %€ B3 3K 100,205 1,168,849
Time deposits with original BEEBHBE A=A UL
maturity more than three #)7E BR1F 5K
months 25,145,858 24,495,910
Pledged deposits RESTFHK (@) 103,383 276,593
31,448,619 31,974,383
Less: Pledged deposits W REEERK (@) (103,383) (276,593)
Less: Long-term time deposits B REIE B 22 (14,006,079) (19,253,990)
Cash and bank in the RERE MBI R B
consolidated statement of e MIRITIER
financial position 17,339,157 12,443,800
Less: Time deposits with original & : REIEIH A =18 3
maturity of more than LA B9 7E BB 77 5K
three months (11,139,779) (5,241,920)
Cash and cash equivalents in RizARERERK
the consolidated cash flow RehBE2EEYD
statement 6,199,378 7,201,880
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26 CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND
OTHER DEPOSITS (continued)

Note:

(@) As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s pledged deposits were
for the following:

L —

26 BERBITEEREMERw

R

(@)

Pledged to secure bills payable (Note 27) K LAESER ZiE

R-OZE-_WNE+-_A=+—H ' A£EHN
REESERRATZEED

2024 2023
—E-mE —TZ=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T

(Pff7E27) 83,275 276,590

Pledged to secure letters of credit IR LAEB SR E 933 3
Pledged to secure derivative instruments IR AESITETR 15,208 =
Others HAft 3,967 —
103,383 276,593

At 31 December 2024, cash and bank balances of the
Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
RMB16,562,246,000 (2023: RMB11,092,510,000). The RMB
is not freely convertible into other currencies. However,
under The Chinese Mainland’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at the prevailing market interest
rates. Time deposits are made for varying periods of
between three month and five years depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group and earn interest
at the respective time deposit rates. The bank balances and
pledged deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with
no recent history of default.

RZZE-_NME+=—A=+—H AEBIX
AREBBNNRS MBTETSEED
AR#16,562,246,0007C (ZZ==4: A
R #11,092,510,0007T) ° A R ¥ 3t 3E 7]
BRLBAHME - Am - BEREK
BoE O N B 5 2R i 1) Rk A B - S (B R A EE
BRE  AEEEESBEREREITINE
XBHWIRTT - BARBEL BHEME o

RO RIRE TR FIRE 8 « EEERTY
BT ARG DR BRI F=18
BERENTRERMEN - URIBEE
WERRRE L - ROIRERRELER
TR RS R 4T B B4 R SRRV 4R
7 e



Annual Report 2024 —Z —[JF £

NOTES TO THE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Rl 5% R 2B BY 5X
27 TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 27 ENRIRRERE
2024 2023
—E-lmE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBFIT
Trade payables JFE1<F BR 3R 6,817,940 7,528,531
Bills payable ENEE7 1,829,286 1,970,910
8,647,226 9,499,441
All trade and bills payables of the Group are expected to be AEEMERNERREEBTN —FN
settled within one year or are payable on demand. HEBRNEEREE -
Ageing analysis BRER 0 AT
An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables of the $Elﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬁmﬁ€&§§‘ H Af /Y BR 2
Group, based on the invoice date, is as follows: DT :
2024 2023
—E-lmE T =4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBFIT
Within 3 months 3@ AR 7,718,407 8,189,298
4 to 6 months 4Z6{A A 889,320 1,144,836
7 to 12 months 721218 A 10,852 104,397
Over 1 year 1A E 28,647 60,910
8,647,226 9,499,441
The Group’s trade and bills payables are unsecured except BRTXFratEsN  AREENENERRE
as noted below, non-interest-bearing and payable on BEREER 2B RARERBERES
demand.
Included in the above balances, bills payable with an FLeBEFR SHRETHARE
aggregate balance of approximately RMB386,589,000 386,589,000 (T —=F: AR
(2023: RMB825,871,000) were secured by the pledge of 825,871,0007_5)E@E§1TJ‘7T<T)§L,{$%I%:F
certain of the Group’s deposits (Note 26). Except for the TR (FI7E26) 1B o Br LB I - BT
above, bills payables were unsecured, non-interest-bearing ERAEBEEALES UK —Z/~EA
and payable when due within 1 to 6 months. A EH o
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28 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 28 HttENRERFERER
2024 2023
—E-ImEF —ET-=%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M7 AR¥T ARBFIT
Refund liabilities BRRAE 26,904 40,065
Salary and welfare payables EfEHe REMNE 917,084 1,430,602
Accrued expenses TEIRER (@) 2,424,393 2,655,700
Payables for construction and BERBEEWE WE
purchase of property, REARIERTIE
plant and equipment and ) FE 1< 3R IB
construction in progress 1,414,444 1,984,767
Deposits received Bz E (o) 851,796 914,822
Cash received relating to EE ER R GRIE
receivables for Assets BEANBE YRS
Based Securities 589,643 881,011
Payables for advertising expenses  JENE S &
and promotion expenses HERAX 640,982 875,969
Other tax payables E b ETRIIR 546,708 539,125
Others E A 990,513 1,283,673
Financial liabilities measured at RESK AT ED
amortised cost THRAR 8,402,467 10,605,734
Contract liabilities EHEE (©) 2,841,621 2,286,432
11,244,088 12,892,166
Notes: BT
(@)  Accrued expenses mainly included accruals for promotion @ HEREAFZFEHEASIRESRAIMN
expenses and advertisement expenses. TEIRERA -
(o)  Deposits were received from distributors and suppliers, and () BoEEkEEREEZES  TADBEH
downstream points of sale for refrigerators deployed. IKFEIRML T sHE B, -
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28 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 28 HMENREREREAw
(continued)
Notes: (continued) Bﬁ%}. B¢
() Movements in contract liabilities () AHAaEED
2024 2023
—E-ME B =4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARBTT
At 1 January Bn—HA—8 2,286,432 3,125,463
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result MR FAEREYIETA
of recognising revenue during the year AR BENRE
that was included in the contract mMEHENEERD
liabilities at the beginning of the period (2,287,836) (8,124,914)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of ~FEERNWEEEIRS BT
receiving sales deposits during the year EHBEENCrEE
(excluding amounts recognised as FREERBBAL
revenue during the year) £ H) 2,841,621 2,286,433
Exchange realignment PE X AR 1,404 (550)
At 31 December R+=ZA=+—8H 2,841,621 2,286,432
Contract liabilities are short-term advances received to deliver EHB EAEXRDRMUERA) R EIRK o
dairy products.
(d)  All of the other payables and accruals are expected to be () FBHMENFIERERERETR—F
settled or recognised as income within one year or payable NEESIERBRASEEREE -

on demand.
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29 INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 29 ESHRITRHMEE
BORROWINGS
2024 2023
“E-mE i et
Floating Floating
Maturity  Fixed rate rate Maturity Fixed rate rate Total
IME  EEA®E  IBA= HEe EEFNER OFPAEX @it
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Long-term bank loans, REFTER  BER

secured o = = o 2028 72,726 - 72,726
Long-term bank loans, REARITER  BEF

unsecured 2026-2031 3,952,826 15,259,790 19,212,616 2025-2029 4,928,167 14,245,623 19,173,790
2021 convertible bonds T -FuskES

(Note 30) (H#£30) = = = - 2026 3,304,280 — 3,304,280
US dollar bonds (Note (d) EfEs (M) 2030 2,151,723 - 2,151,728 20252030 5,641,083 — 5,641,083
Lease liabilties (Note 16(0) ~ FAE A & (M 16(0)) 2026-2052 1,095,393 — 1,095,393 2025-2052 1,173,418 - 1,173,418

7,199,942 15,250,790 22,459,732 15,119,674 14,245,623 29,365,297
Less: Current portion of - REHRITREAM
long-term bank and BENTD
other borrowings #5 (334,522)  (4,149,585)  (4,484,107) (1,636,279) (125,200 (1,761,479)
6,865,420 11,110,205 17,975,625 13,483,395 14,120,423 27,603,818
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
Floating Floating
Maturity  Fixed rate rate Maturity Fixed rate rate Total
BHA B EF= FBF=E il (& E | &= R B = @t
Current liabilities RBAR
Short-term bank loans, BRETER  FER

secured 2025 1,123,866 - 1,123,866 2024 815,041 - 815,041
Short-term bank loans, BRETER  EER

unsecured 2025 2,605,082 4,221,128 6,826,210 2024 3,066,472 70,827 3,137,299
Exchangeable bonds (Note AR EH (FFE20()

20(a)) 2025 627,220 = 627,220 2024 583,700 - 583,700
US dollar bonds (Note (d)) EnfEF (M) 2025 3,600,172 - 3,600,172 2024 3,509,418 — 3,509,418
Current portion of long-term  REETREMEEH

bank and other mEEHH

borrowings 2025 334,522 4,149,585 4,484,107 2024 1,636,279 125,200 1,761,479

8,290,862 8,370,713 16,661,575 9,610,910 196,027 9,806,937
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29 INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 29 FERRITERHEMEEw
BORROWINGS (continued)
The repayment schedule of the interest-bearing bank and FFERITREMEENERBLOT
other borrowings is as follows:

2024 2023

—E-mE —EBC-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARET T

Within 1 year —F R 16,661,575 9,806,937
1 to 2 years —EWF 9,095,808 12,576,862
2 to 5 years MZEREF 6,101,361 12,446,805
Over 5 years RELE 2,778,456 2,580,151

Total interest-bearing bank and other FERITREMEER
borrowings B 34,637,200 37,410,755
Less: Amount due within one year included & : st ARBI B EH
in current liabilities —F N B HIFRIB (16,661,575) (9,806,937)
17,975,625 27,603,818
Notes: B 5 -
(@)  As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s interest-bearing bank @ RIZZTEZOF+ZA=+—8 ' x&EH
and other borrowings were secured as follows: FTERITREMEEEBELOT ¢

2024 2023

—E-mE —TZ=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREBTT AREEFIT

Secured by bills receivable LA L 32 45 45 1,123,866 555,652
Secured by assets of certain subsidiaries AR FF AR &EEERT = 332,115
Unsecured K 33,513,334 36,522,988
34,637,200 37,410,755
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29

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings were denominated in the following
currencies:

29

L —

SFERITREMERE.

)
REB AT EB AN BRITREA
EEMREAENT

(o)

2024 2023

—EmE —T=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ TR ARETT

HK$ BT 10,246,646 9,483,888
uss$ £ 6,627,030 9,994,486
Australia Dollar (“AU$”) JRIT 751,410 756,034
Indonesia Rupiah ENEE 303,953 664,549
RMB AR 16,708,161 16,511,798
34,637,200 37,410,755

The floating annual interest rates of the short-term bank loans
were determined based on the interest rates announced by
the People’s Bank of China, Federal Reserve Bank of New
York, the Hong Kong Association of Banks and Reserve
Bank of Australia.

The fixed annual interest rates of the short-term bank loans
varied from 0.75% to 7.00% for the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: from 1.00% to 7.73%).

These bonds are initially with maturity of five or ten years and
interest rates of 1.875% to 2.50% per annuum. Interests of
these bonds are payable semi-annually in arrears.

BRI R IDEFIF D EARE
7 BOBBREST  BEROTAER
BN BB RAT D R RIS B -

BE-_Z_NE+-_A=+—HBILEE -
RERITEROEEFFHENT0.75% %
7.00% (ZZE =% : 1.00%=7.73%) °
ZEBHNBIHEARFESRTF - FF
K 51.875%E2.50% - ZEEFEHFNFEE
FERE—R o



30 CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 26 November 2021, the Company issued convertible
bonds with a nominal value of HK$4,862,600,000 to Eaglets
International Financial Products Limited (“Eaglets”). The
convertible bonds are convertible and redeemable at
options of holders and the conversion price is HK$34.33
per share (which was subsequently adjusted to HK$32.68
per share as from 19 June 2024). In the case of the
conversion rights having been exercised in full,
141,642,869 new shares will be allotted and issued by the
Company. The convertible bonds would be redeemed at its
nominal value either at options of holders or on expiry. The
convertible bonds carry interests, which are at a fixed rate
of 3.08% per annum and payable semi-annually.

On the same date, Eaglets packaged the convertible bonds
into a financial product and issued the financial products,
directly or indirectly, to selected directors and employees of
the Group (collectively, “Selected Participants”). Subject to
fulfilment of certain non-market performance conditions and
annual performance target, the Selected Participants will be
entitled the power to either convert or redeem 10%, 15%,
20%, 25% and 30% of underlying convertible bonds on
each anniversary date of issuance date up to 26 November
2026. Eaglets will distribute the gain from either conversion
or redemption to the Selected Participants.

Upon issuance, the convertible bonds were accounted for
under IFRS/HKFRS 2 and the proceeds from the issuance
were recorded as liability component and the difference
between the fair value of the convertible bonds on issuance
date and the proceeds will be recorded as share based
payments pro-rataly during the five years’ period ending
26 November 2026.

In November 2023 and November 2022, at options of the
Selected Participants, the Company early redeemed the first
15% and the second 10% of the convertible bonds from
Eaglets.

30
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AR ES
—E-—F+—A=-+X8 AQFA%
EREemERAERAR(H#EDBETH
184,862,600,000/8 L 2 A R EH - 8
AREREER L ED A RRES  ERE
ABER34.3BEBT(ZE_MFAA+ A
16 S B B AR32.687 7T ) o fis & I 4
BHEHOTE AR AR %R EIT
141,642,869 #T A% 1D  AJ AR EH K R 5
BANEEBANEHRIEAERD - alR%
BEBHIEE T FFEK3.08%:T 8 FEFIR
H o

BH #FEBIRRESTEASRHER
WEEXRAZERAASEEZEEENES (5
HEELMEE ) BITZEMER ° TEK
BEFMBEREGKGERFEREBEENE
MT  BEEL2EEBEERBE_ZS N
F+—AZ+NENBEBTEFAER
S EEI10% * 15%  20% * 25% N 30% HY
HE T BRRES - HESREESHEER
e it of IE 0] Y 25 o

1TiR - AAREFIRER M R E LR
FEMBHRELENE2|/AR - BITHAERX
Rk ARERD  JRRESFRETA
HNAREEMSRBAZHANEZRENE
B _RFT+—AZTRBIEAFHEA
BRI PIER BAR D RERE AT

—E=Ft+—AR=ZE-_—_F+—A8 "
RERS2EERE ARAEHERTRE
[Bl%E—#515% M3 — #510% &Y AT A fE 5 o
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30 CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continueq) 30
Prior to the anniversary date of the third 20% batch of 26
November 2024, the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that the non-market performance and/or annual
performance target have not been met for the third 20%

A#ERESw

RE=ZH20%HRMBEFH T —UF+—
A-+AHAl ARARESRAEEZ T
“E+—A - +HRNBBEENE=H20%
XM ARERFEMSRARL KEFEER

258

batch ending on anniversary date of 26 November 2024,
no expense is recognised for this batch, and the expense
recognised in prior years was reversed to reflect the
unfulfillment of related vesting conditions.

In November 2024, at options of the Selected Participants,
the Company redeemed the third 20% and early redeemed
all the remaining 55% of the convertible bonds from Eaglets
at nominal value of HK$3,646,950,000 (approximately
equivalent to RMB3,336,959,000), therefore the expense not
yet recognised for share based payments is accelerated
recognised immediately.

The Group recognised a total share-based payment

expense of RMB322,409,000 during the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: RMB436,448,000).

The movements of the liability component are as follows:

HER Bt ARBZILRERERMA
M 38 1 F 2 FERR MY B S 2 18 0 DA S Bk 4 B8
5B IR RERRIBER ©

R-ZTB-MF+—F - RER2EERE
NN &) $2 T {E.3,646,950,0007%8 7T (& B
# A R #3,336,959,0007T ) B 8 & & [ 5
= #£20% K 17 F & 8] #4 T 55% H) A 2 A% &
% 0 Atk R FERA AR (D A AR S B
HTjJD ﬁﬁwu"

AEFEEZ T _WNWF+-_A=+—HIt
FEBRRBUABROMGIAHEARAIT ARE
322,409,000 (ZE - =4 : ARK
436,448,0007T) °

BEHD

DRV IR

2024 2023

—E-mE —E-=4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARETTT

Liability component at 1 January R—A—HHEERS 3,304,280 3,907,631

Interest accrual FEET I B 92,702 121,138

Interest paid EATFIE (92,036) (120,159)

Redemption fE Bl (3,336,959) (670,951)

Exchange realignment bE N SR 32,013 66,621
Liability component at 31 December »+=A :‘1'— HH

(Note 29) aEE s (M3E29) - 3,304,280
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31 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 31 fTE€mIT A
2024 2023
—E-MEF —E-=
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
EE =L BE afE
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(il A RE Tt AR T BN RN
Interest rate swaps FEEHMELD @) 241,794 - 324,509 —
Foreign currency forward  i= BJSNE & 4]
contracts (b) 8,582 38,276 23,492 4,461
250,376 38,276 348,001 4,461
Portion classified as DR RIERE
non-current: #o
Foreign currency SNEE IR HA G 4
forward swaps A48 - - — 4,461
Interest rate swaps FR G A 4 241,794 — 324,509 —
Current portion mENEL
Foreign currency MBS SR B B A
forward swaps B 8,582 38,276 23,492 —
Notes: B &
(a) Interest rate swaps — cash flow hedge (a) FNREBREHN — BEREHH
As at 31 December 2024, two interest rate swap RZFE_NE+=A=+—H ~&EEH

agreements of the Group were in effective, in order to hedge
the interest rate risk in relation to floating rate bank
borrowings denominated in HK$. These agreements with
notional amounts of HK$3,875,000,000 and
HK$2,300,000,000, respectively, enable the Group to receive
monthly interest of the notional amount at the Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (“Hibor”) and pay interest to counter
parties at fixed rate.

There is an economic relationship between the hedged items
and the hedging instruments as the terms of the interest rate
swaps match the interest payments and the principal
payments of the bank loan agreements. The Group has
established a hedge ratio of 1:1 for the hedging relationships
as the underlying risks of the interest rate swaps are
basically the same as the hedged risk components. To
measure the hedge effectiveness, the Group uses the
hypothetical derivative method and compares the changes in
the fair value of the hedging instruments against the changes
in fair value of the hedged items attributable to the hedged
risks.

MPFIREIRE N ER - BREHRIABTT
FTEMZFESFRBITERNOFERRER © Z
ERHMEE T EH B A3,875,000,000
7 7T }2.2,300,000,00078 7T * © A &
BB B R1TR IS ([Hibor ) Y ER %
ELBEONE - WRETEHNREEFH X
FF B -

EYMIRE BN TAFELBEREZ R
B 7S A R B A 4 R ER A B R R
TERGHOASNFECE - AEEA
EPRRRIET 1 REIRE X - [RERF
RE S K R0 8 L 22 2 0 R B X
AR - BEtEEH AR - AEEK
RBRJITET AL » WHEEPERES
MEPTARAABESHECEIPREE AR
BEEEETLE -
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31 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 31 T2 I AEw

(continued)
Notes: (continued) MI5E
(@) Interest rate swaps — cash flow hedge (continued) (@) FEEREHN — BHEeREH M@
Hedge ineffectiveness can arise from: HREYAI R Y S IEEL ¢
o The counterparties’ credit risk differently impacting the . RGEFHNEERREHFTIAR
fair value movements of the hedging instruments and BEEFIEAEN AR BEEEBEX TR
hedged items -
D Changes to the forecasted amounts of cash flows of . EE¥AHIER REAHATAMNTERR S
hedged items and hedging instruments mEE
The impacts of the hedging instruments on the statement of HATEHVBERARNOZENT

financial position are as follows:

Change in fair
value used for

measuring
Line item in the hedge
Notional Carrying statement of ineffectiveness
amount amount financial position for the year
FRARGE
Eapek g
ZRE HREE BB REE ARERD
RMB’000 RMB’000 HK’000
AR¥TRE AR%¥TR BETT
As at 31 December 2024 R-B-WmE+=A
=t—#
Interest rate swaps FIERBEHREH 3,875,000 160,555 Derivative financial 74,383
instruments assets
fTEEeMIAEE
Interest rate swaps FEREHREH 2,300,000 81,239 Derivative financial 32,114
instruments assets
TESBMIAEE
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31 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 31 T2 I AEw

(continued)
Notes: (continued) B’ﬁ%{ B¢
(@) Interest rate swaps — cash flow hedge (continued) (a) FREBREHN — HEREEHHT @

Change in fair
value used for
Line item in the measuring hedge

Notional Carrying statement of ineffectiveness
amount amount financial position for the year
FHRARE
P E A
H&E FREE BBMRRKRER DREZE
HK’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BETT ARETRT ARBTT
As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=R
=+—H
Interest rate swaps FIEBEBREHD 3,875,000 200,763  Derivative financial 17,054
instruments assets
TESRTABE
Interest rate swaps FEEBREHD 2,300,000 123,746 Derivative financial 25,468

instruments assets

MTESMIAEE

The impacts of the hedged items on the statement of $ORIE B WU R R ENT

financial position are as follows:

Change in

fair value used
for measuring
hedge

As at 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_NE+=-A
=1+—H
FEHBEH

Interest rate swaps

ineffectiveness

for the year
FRAARE
HHPERM
RAEZE
RMB’000
AR%T

(106,497)

Cash flow
hedge reserve

BEnE
b
RMB’000
ARETR

241,794
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31 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 31 T2 I AEw

(continued)
Notes: (continued) )
(@) Interest rate swaps — cash flow hedge (continued) (@) FEEREHN — BHEeREH M@
Change in
fair value used
for measuring
hedge
ineffectiveness Cash flow
for the year hedge reserve
FARRE
$ AR ReEnE
RAES o b 1
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTF T ARBTF T
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZE-—ZF+=A
=+—H
Interest rate swaps FEEBEL (42,522) 324,509
During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the BE_ZT_HNFER_F_=F+_H
effect of the cash flow hedge on the statement of profit or =t ALEFE ReREHHESE
loss and the statement of comprehensive income (including kemlsaR (BEIMNETEEZRE) N8
exchange differences) are as follows: R
Hedge Line item in
ineffectiveness the statement
Gross Tax recognised in of profit
2024 “E-mEF amount effect Total  profit or loss or loss
RERERHN
mE BEXE st HHEH HBEREAR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTT AR¥TR ARBTR
Interest rate swaps MEEBRELN
Total hedging loss recognised in A E % & Y& 106,497 - 106,497 - N/A
other comprehensive income TR B8 TEAR
k]
Amount reclassified from other B H i 2 E s (189,212) —  (189,212) - Finance
comprehensive income to BN EE cost
profit or loss BamE A& R A
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31 fTEE€RM T Hw

(continued)
Notes: (continued) BEEE : o
(@) Interest rate swaps — cash flow hedge (continued) (a) FREBREHN — HEREEHHT @
Hedge  Line item in
ineffectiveness the statement
Gross Tax recognised in of profit
2023 = amount effect Total profit or loss or loss
RIER R
wE BHEEE MmEt HihmB  BEKRIER
RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETT
Interest rate swaps FEEBRER
Total hedging loss recognised in P E A & H Wz 42,522 = 42,522 = N/A
other comprehensive income TE SR B0 3 TEHA
B a4
Amount reclassified from other BHEMEEKE (191,983) — (191,983 —  Finance cost
comprehensive income to BENABE Bl & A
profit or loss Bl e

(b)

Foreign currency swaps — cash flow hedge

As at 31 December 2024, three sets of foreign currency
swap agreements were in effective, in order to hedge the
foreign currency exposure arising from the principal of fixed
rate bond with face value of US$450,000,000,
US$79,029,000 and NZ$12,267,000, respectively. These
agreements enable the Group to swap before mentioned
bond with borrowing amounted to HK$3,491,100,000,
AU$119,459,000 and AU$11,097,000, respectively.

There is an economic relationship between the hedged items
and the hedging instrument as the terms of the foreign
currency swap contracts match the terms of the bonds. The
Group has established a hedge ratio of 1:1 for the hedging
relationships as the underlying risks of the swap contracts
are basically the same as the hedged risk components. To
measure the hedge effectiveness, the Group uses the
hypothetical derivative method and compares the changes in
the fair value of the hedging instruments against the changes
in fair value of the hedged items attributable to the hedged
risks.

(b) NIEEBREHN — BEREYHH
RZZEZWFEF+=ZA=+—H ' =E/&
EfpaES 2 BREFEESR
450,000,000 7T * 79,029,000 7t &
12,267,000¥T EEH TR B EF R EHF A &
FRAs R INE RS - ZEMZE S AEE ]
1 £ (5 % B & 58 5 Bl 43,491,100,000
7 7T~ 119,459,0005% 7T . 11,097,000/
TTHEERR -

B HIER BET TATERLERE R
B R INE B AR A K90 15 3R BB 551 R0 AR
TCiE - AREEBEPRERRTE - 1S
- RRSEHRE N ERERED Y
RS EARER - BEEH P AR
M AREFRARRITETRLE  T&E
HrEBREENE R TARAABZSHEE
HHIRE AR EEPETLER -
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31 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 31 T2 I AEw

(continued)
Notes: (continued) W RO
(b) Foreign currency swaps — cash flow hedge (continued) (b) IEEREN — BEeREH M@
Hedge ineffectiveness can arise from: HREYAI R Y S IEEL ¢
o The counterparties’ credit risks differently impacting the . RGEFHNEERREHFTIAR
fair value movements of the hedging instruments and BEEFIEAEN AR BEEEBEX TR
hedged items -
o The impact of not separately identifying the forward . THEEONERAK OSSR T
elements of forward contracts or foreign exchange BB HINE B E B8 S5 T TF /& 3 R A AR
basis of financial instruments as cost of hedge K&
The impacts of the hedging instruments on the statement of HHRTAHHBRAROZENT

financial position are as follows:

Change in fair

value used for

Line item in the measuring hedge

Notional Notional Carrying statement of ineffectiveness for
amount amount amount financial position the year

FARRE

bkl

£&fE A&E REE BBRREREAE MAERE
NZ$'000 US$'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
HEWRTR Txn ARETR ARBTR

As at 31 December 2024 —ZE-ME+=A

==H
Foreign currency swaps INETHRAEH 12,267 529,029 (38,276)  Derivative financial (14,986)
instruments liabilities
TEERIBEE

Change in fair value
Line item in the  used for measuring

Notional Carrying statement of hedge ineffectiveness
amount amount financial position for the year
ERRARGE
B
%56 REE HBHRRERER RAEEEY
US'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
TET AR¥ETR ARBTFT
As at 31 December 2023 —E-=%+-F=1+—H
Foreign currency swaps SNEFIRAL 942,200 19,031 Derivative financial 131,720
instruments assets
fTEemIAEE
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31 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 31 T4 T AEw
(continued)
Notes: (continued) B’ﬁ%{ B¢
(b) Foreign currency swaps — cash flow hedge (continued) (b) HEEBREHN — HEREEHF @
The impacts of the hedged items on the statement of EERIEE HMBEARAROZENT

financial position are as follows:

Change in fair
value used for
measuring hedge

ineffectiveness Cash flow
for the year hedge reserve
FARARNTE
HHERH REeng
RRAELE HHEE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_ME
+=-—A=+—H
Foreign currency swaps INEEIE X 14,986 (62,409)
Change in fair
value used for
measuring hedge
ineffectiveness Cash flow
for the year hedge reserve
FRANETE
I ERE Beme
RAEE &
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETTT ARBTT
As at 31 December 2023 P ——
+-A=+—8H
Foreign currency swaps HNEE B RS 4 (131,720) (5,101)
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31 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 31 T4 T AEw
(continued)
Notes: (continued) MI5E
(b) Foreign currency swaps — cash flow hedge (continued) (b) IEEREN — BEeREH M@

HE-_ZT_NWEFrR-_ZT-_=F+=-A
=t+—BULEFE BeERSHPHIEBESE
kEEREER (BEINSTE 28 p e

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
effects of the cash flow hedge on the statement of profit or
loss and the statement of comprehensive income (including

266

exchange differences) are as follows:

m -

Hedge Line item
ineffectiveness in the
Gross recognised in statement of
2024 —E-_NF amount Tax effect Total profit or loss profit or loss
mE  LRye st HHEN BRRER
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARMTRT AR%¥TR AR T
Foreign currency swaps SMEFBREH
Total hedging loss R E th 2 W = FERR (14,986) - (14,986) - N/A
recognised in other BB A TEA
comprehensive income
Amount reclassified from BE M2 IR SR (42,321) - (42,321) - Other
other comprehensive PEEEZEN expense
income to profit or loss x| Hith & A
Hedge Line item
ineffectiveness in the
Gross recognised in  statement of
2023 —E-= amount  Tax effect Total profit or loss profit or loss
RIBER TR
wE  BBEE st HhmY BmRER
RMB’'000  RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®TT ARETR ARBTT
Foreign currency swaps SNEF LK
Total hedging loss RE M2 EU TR 131,720 = 131,720 = N/A
recognised in other R EIR AR e A
comprehensive income
Amount reclassified from EEMEENEEN (83,552) = (83,552) = Other
other comprehensive DEEBHEMN expense
income to profit or loss £ HEhE A




31 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(c)

In addition to the above hedging instruments, the Group has
also entered into various foreign currency forward contracts
and interest rate forward contracts to manage its exchange
rate and floating interest rate exposures. These forward
contracts are not designated for hedging purposes and are
measured at fair value through profit or loss. A net fair value
gain on foreign currency forward contracts of RMB8,948,000
was recognised in other income and gains for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB4,641,000 in other
expenses) (Note 5(b)).

32 DEFERRED INCOME
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Rl 5% R 2B BY 5X
31 fTE€MITAw
BsE = =
(c) BRUAESHRTEAIN  NEBNMFILZER

HSNE SN RFIRRBAE NN EBRHER
EE2BFERR - ZERBAEHLIEET
TE¥R A%  WIRA A B ABIEHE -
REBINBEENARBEREFEARE
8,948,000t REE T _MWFE+ A
S+ BILFEBRAEMBA RIS
(ZZ==%F ' HthBH ARM4,641,000
7)) (B 3ES5()) ©

32 ELIA

2024 2023

—EomE —ET-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARET T

At 1 January n—H—H 636,194 572,132
Additions # 0 206,990 185,800
Amortisation during the year (Note 5(b)) FREEE (M15E5(0) (114,910) (121,738)
At 31 December Rt+t=—A=+—H” 728,274 636,194
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L —

33 OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES HihemB s
2024 2023
—E-mEF —E=5F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARET T
Present value of redemption amount for Al BE UL BB ATl & IR R
potential acquisition of puttable non- R BE S
controlling interests RE
— ANI — ANI 44,608 54,661

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company
and Augite Capital Limited (“CAGIF”), Fortune Fund L.P.
(“Fortune”) and lItochu Corporation (“ltochu”) entered into
separate agreements, pursuant to which, put options were
granted to CAGIF, Fortune and ltochu to sell their equity
interests in ANI to the Company. During the year ended
31 December 2022, CAGIF and Fortune have exercised put
option partially to sell their equity interests in ANI to the
Company at the considerations of RMB206,505,000 and
USD23,376,000 (approximately equivalent to
RMB155,697,000), respectively. As at 31 December 2024,
the Group recognised present value of the amounts payable
upon exercise of remaining option of RMB44,608,000 as a
financial liability.

BHE_Z-_—F+-_A=+—RHLFE"
AN A B B Augite Capital Limited
([CAGIF]) ~ Fortune Fund
L.P.([Fortunel) % Itochu Corporation
(Mtochu) AT BB HiE BHE T
CAGIF ~ Fortune & ltochu Rl 28 A & Hi & BT
ANIRZ R R A EARE - BE T _—F =
A =+—HItFE ' CAGIF & Fortune 2 &b
DPITERGEHE D2RHUANARE
206,505,0007T 23,376,000 7t (4 8 &
R AR #155,697,0007T) B (B R AR &
HEMBANIRE R -_WF+ = A
=+— 8 ANEBERERIRITEF AR
FEMH S BB EIRE A R % 44,608,0007T °
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34 SHARE CAPITAL 34 R
(@) Issued share capital (@) BETERAK
2024 2023
—E-NE T
Number of Number of
ordinary ordinary
shares shares
LEREE TRiREE
’000 RMB’000 ‘000 RMB’000
TR AR®Trn T ARETRT
Authorised: ERE
Ordinary shares of BREEO.1
HK$0.1 each 78 7T ) 3 i % 6,000,000 565,022 6,000,000 565,022
Issued and fully paid: EETRAR :
At 31 December ®nt+=-—A=+—H8 3,919,105 356,662 3,935,293 358,143
Number of
ordinary
shares
ZEREE
Note ’000 RMB’000
B 5 T & AR® T
Issued and fully paid: BERTEAR
At 1 January 2024 RZEZMF
—H—H 3,935,293 358,143
Share repurchased and A& 17 B B f2 5t 5H
cancellation (b) (16,188) (1,481)
At 31 December 2024 RZZEZ N4
+=-—A=+—H 3,919,105 356,662
Issued and fully paid: BEITREE
At 1 January 2023 RZTZ=%F
—H—H 3,955,196 359,948
Share repurchased and R A7 B8 B K 5T 6
cancellation (26,869) (2,432)
Shares issued under the equity- R ARRD X&)
settled share option scheme FEIRRERT BB 1T
i 15 6,966 627
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F
+=-—A=+—H 3,935,293 358,143
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34 SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(b)

()

Purchase of own shares as treasury shares

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company repurchased its own ordinary shares on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited as follows, of
which 16,188,000 shares and 1,134,000 shares have
been cancelled before and subsequent to the
reporting date of 31 December 2024, respectively.

Number of
shares
repurchased

BERORE

Month/year %,/ A

(b)

Highest price
paid per share

L —

34 BAERw

BEBERMDIEAEFRD
BHEZ-_NF+_A=+—HILHF
B ARaRBEBMERIMARA
AIERAFEARMOT  H&
16,188,000/% 8% {5 & 1,134,000/% %
BARRBREBR(ZENF+=
A=+—H)A&EH -

Lowest price Aggregate

paid per share price paid
BRZM
RIEE
HK$

BT

BRXM
BEE
HK$
BT

XfRE
HK$’000
BETRT

September 2024 9,001,000 13.60 12.24 113,821
October 2024 —E-mE+A 3,777,000 19.00 15.42 62,445
November 2024 —ZE-mFE+—A 3,410,000 18.32 16.52 59,134
December 2024 —E-WFE+=A 1,134,000 17.46 16.68 19,455

254,855

The total amount paid on the repurchased shares was
HK$254,855,000 (equivalent to RMB233,305,000).

Purchase of shares for share award scheme
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company repurchased its own ordinary shares as
shares held under share award scheme on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited as follows.

Number of
shares
repurchased
W ERGEE
Month/year F/8
April 2024 —TZPENA 3,400,000

()

Highest price
paid per share

MELODRBROINTNREEA
254,855,000/ 7T (FHE R A R &
233,305,0007T) °

ARERBEBERS
BE-_Z_NF+_-_A=+—HItHF
B ARARBBEMERIMAERA
AIHEE B & SRRk ((EAREERE
EIETHBRRMD) - BB -

Lowest price Aggregate price
paid per share paid
BRXM
RIEE

R
BEE

XSHE
HK$’000
BT T

15.32 56,055

The total amount paid on the repurchased shares was
HK$56,055,000 (equivalent to RMB50,855,000).

MELODROINTNREEA
56,055,000 7t (1H&E R AR K
50,855,0007T) °
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36

OTHER RESERVES

The movements of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity of the financial statements.

In accordance with the relevant PRC laws and regulations,
the PRC domestic companies are required to transfer 10%
of their profit after income tax, as determined under the
PRC accounting standards and financial regulations, to the
statutory common reserve. Subject to certain restrictions as
set out in the relevant PRC laws and regulations, the
statutory common reserve may be used to offset against the
accumulated losses, if any.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities of RMB270,616,000 and
RMB270,616,000, respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for plant and equipment (2023:
RMB258,412,000 and RMB258,412,000, respectively).

35

36
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H A fa# 5
REBOGE RS FERBEFENHEE
25 FRUHREANGARBSBHER -

RIEFPEERZEARZELEAROBRE - F
AR BABRAEHENEN10% (RES
Besr £ RPHBARET) BREEAER
e RETPEEREZELERMAEET
RHEWBE EAERBEAIRBIERER
AHEE(A) -

GERETRERMEE

(@ EEFREXRS

BE_Z_WNF+_A=+—HLF
B AEERBEREEHELTH
FIAERMERCFEREEEREE
B &Rl A ARK270,616,0007T &
AR #270,616,000C (ZE =4 :
o Bl A AR 258,412,000 & A R
#258,412,0007T) °
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36 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 36 MEBHERERMTw
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continueq)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) REMETBNEEE
activities

TREFIAEBREBEEZDNEE

HE BRASMIFRSEY -
KERMEEHNEBER/ARMEBIKR
KIBEMEBRNAEELFERERE
RPDERBERDELNESRE
MEE -

The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from
financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
Group’s consolidated cash flow statement as cash
flows from financing activities.

272

2024
=t
Bank Corporate Exchangeable  Convertible Lease
loans bonds Bonds bonds liabilities Total
RITER ARAEF  TRERESF  TRRES HESRE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR  AR%Tn  ARKTR  ARETR AR%TR  AR%Tn
(Notes
(Note 29) (Note 29) (Note 29)  (Notes 29/30) 16(b)/29)
(GEZL) (Hf3t29) (Mi29)  (Hit29/30) (MizE16(b)/29)
At 1 January 2024 ZE-mE-F-R 23,198,856 9,150,501 583,700 3,304,280 1,173,418 37,410,755
Changes from financing cash flows: RERSRED:
Proceeds from interest-bearing bank loans FEBTERMEHE 37,184,004 = = = = 37,184,004
Repayment of interest-bearing bank loans BEMERTER (33,424,242) = = = - (33424242)
Repayment of corporate bonds BRAAES = (3,610,761) = = = (3,610,761)
Redemption of convertible bonds [HERE = = = (3,336,959) - (3,336,959)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ERAEREEATS - - - - (306,315) (306,315)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BRAEREFEHS - - - - (52,834) (52,834)
Interest paid BRFE (582,302) = = = = (582,302)
Total changes from financing cash flows BERLREDRE 3,177,460 (3,610,761) - (3,336,959) (359,149) (4,129,409)
Exchange adjustments ERRE 223,315 136,559 15,330 32,013 (1,146) 406,071
Changes in fair value DRELE - - 28,190 - - 28,190
Other changes: Hitt#8:
Interest expense FISEX 724,263 597,991 = 92,702 52,834 1,467,790
Interest paid in operating activities WEEEE S F0F8 (161,202) (522,395) - (92,036) - (775,633)
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into ~~ ERFI ZHMEE LR
new leases during the year HESREEM - - - - 270,616 270,616
Disposal of subsidiaries HEFAR = = = = (2,446) (2,446)
Early termination RERE - = - - (38,734) (38,734)
Total other changes Ep2Has 563,061 75,596 - 666 282,270 921,593
At 31 December 2024 R-Z-mE+-A=+-A 21,162,692 5,751,895 627,220 o= 1,095,393 34,637,200
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36 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 36 GRERERERWIEw
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continuea)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) REMEEZHNEEZ2B @
activities (continued)
2023
—Z-=fF
Bank Corporate  Exchangeable Convertible Lease
loans bonds Bonds bonds liabilities Total
BITEH ARER  ARBEER  TRkES HESE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETRT ARETR  ARETR  AREBTR  ARETR
(Notes
(Note 29) (Note 29) (Note 29)  (Notes 29/30) 16(0)/29)
(M:t29) (M29) (Frito)  (Wi3t29/30)  (MfzE16(0)/29)
At 1 January 2023 -8-z§-A-8 20811316 12588013 615643 3907631 1185002 39,108,605
Changes from financing cash flows: RERSRET
Proceeds from interest-bearing bank loans TERTEFMENE 49,091,106 = = = = 49,001,106
Repayment of interest-bearing bank loans BB BRTER (46,723,460) = = = - (46,723,460)
Repayment of corporate bonds BEARES = (3,443,702) = = - (3,443,702)
Redemption of convertible bonds BEHRES = = = (670,951) = (670,951)
Redemption of 2020 exchangeable bonds BE-Z-TEARAES = = (617,227) = - (617,227)
Issuance of 2023 exchangeable bonds BI-S=FUR#EH = = 593,535 = = 593,535
Capital element of lease rentals paid BERRERSEASH = = = = (268,711) (268,711)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BREERSNEHS = = = = (64,181) (64,181)
Interest paid BRFE (67,089) = = = - (67,089)
Total changes from financing cash flows BERSREDER 2,300,557 (3,443,702) (23,692) (670,951) (332,892) (2,170,680)
Exchange adjustments ERAE 19,804 (99,794) (6,227) 66,621 775 (18,731)
Changes in fair value DAEES = = (2,024) = = (2,024)
Other changes: Hip#e:
Interest expense FIERZ 742,077 641,885 - 121,138 64,181 1,569,281
Interest paid in operating activities MEEEE S NS (674,988) (535,901) - (120,159) - (1,331,048)
Increase in lease liabilties from entering into ~~ FRFI LHAEEER
new leases during the year HERELEM = = = = 258,412 258,412
Early termination REKIE = = = = (3,060) (3,060)
Total other changes EtEDEE 67,089 105,984 = 979 319,533 493,585
At 31 December 2023 W-B-=f+=-A=1-H 23,198,856 9,150,501 583,700 3,304,280 1,173,418 37,410,755

273



274

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited PEE4AEER AT

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rl 5 ¥R 72 BiJ 51

36 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 36
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continuea)
(c) Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in the
statement of cash flows is as follows:

L —

RERERERMEw

(c) HERSRHAR
FINBEeREXRNHEERS ML E
BT :

2024 2023
—E-MmE —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARMT T
Within operating activities RIEEZETER 224,779 260,106
Within investing activities RIREFEBNA 1,887 78,048
Within financing activities N 359,149 332,892
585,815 671,046
37 SHARE OPTION SCHEME 37 BRESTE

The Company operated share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants of
the Share Option Schemes include the Company’s
directors, including independent non-executive directors,
other employees of the Group, suppliers of goods or
services to the Group, customers and any person or entity
that provides research, development or technological
support to the Group.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
upon payment of a consideration of HK$1 in total by the
grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted is
determinable by the directors, and commences after a
certain vesting period and ends on a date which is not later
than five years from the date of offer of the share options.

ZANUNETIE Sva ol -3 g -3 ¢
) BNARBYHAREEEBKINIEL
BRI SER2EE  YAREELRE -
BREMENSEREZEERREAR
AEF(BREMIFNTES)  AKEHZ
HtES  AEEZERARBGHERS -
BEPUARANEEREHT - FZEREAM
SEHEAALTHER -

ERATUINRES K IBETREARH
BEREEZR REBRENTENHES
CRE - TEHBER-FBHRES RE
TEREHBERERZZAAFE ZAKLE -
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37 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (ontinueq) 37 BRETE W
The exercise price of share options is determinable by the ERETEERESET - EDAERO)A
directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) The NAEAIRORELERERZZ A LR B
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited’s (the “Stock X GARABRRR ([BEEZFT]) Pk ey
Exchange”) closing price of the Company’s shares on the BHARAABRMHREEEZZREBH R
offer date of the share options; (i) the average Stock AEEBEBIFAARMFEHKRTE: &
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five i AERSE °
business days immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii)
the nominal value of the shares.
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to BREREAEEERRESIRBRERE
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings. ERE-
Particulars of outstanding share options: MARITEBARERS
Weighted

average fair
Exercise price value per share

Exercise period of share options per share option at the
Date of grant (both dates inclusive) option date of grant
RFH A
BBERE BOHOBREN
BHEEH BRENTEHD (EEEEWA) HATEEE MEFLHEAAE
(HK$) (HK$)
(A7) (B7T)
1 April 2020 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2025 26.54 6.42
(Note (a))
—E_TFPHA—H T —FNHA—-HZE
—E-RE=A=+—8 (fi:F@)
11 May 2022 11 May 2023 to 10 May 2027 40.58 6.92
(Note (b))
—E--FRAT—H —E=FRA+—RH=E
—T-+FAA+A (MED)
30 December 2022 1 April 2024 to 29 December 2025 35.54 8.14
(Note (c))
—E-—f+-HA=+H —ETNENA—HBZE

ZE-RF+Z A=+ N8 (M)
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37 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Notes:

(@)

627,283 share options will be vested in two batches with 70%
of the share options granted vesting on 1 April 2021, and
the remaining 30% of the share options granted vesting on
1 April 2022. 389,604 share options will be vested in their
entirety on 1 April 2021. In addition, all the share options will
only be vested if and when the pre-set performance targets
of both the Group and the participants are achieved. Unless
all of these targets are met, the share options will lapse. The
share options have a contractual life of five years.

The share options will be vested in four equal batches equally
on the first, second, third and fourth anniversaries of the
date of grant. In addition, all the share options will only be
vested if and when the pre-set performance targets of both
the Group and the participants are achieved. Unless all of
these targets are met, the share options will lapse. The
share options have a contractual life of five years.

The share options will be vested in two batches on 1 April
2024 and 1 April 2025, respectively. In addition, all the share
options will only be vested if and when the pre-set
performance targets of both the Group and the participants
are achieved. Unless all of these targets are met, the share
options will lapse. The share options have a contractual life
of three years.

The exercise price per share options was the average closing
share price for the five business days immediately preceding
the grant date or the closing price of the shares on the
grant date.

L —

37 BRENEw

S

(@)

627,283 IEIREA D AN EE - 70%
EREBERER - - —FNA—HBE
B HBRS0%EEHLBREN T =_=-F
A —HEE - 389,604 BN =
%*—ﬁmﬂ 28 - o - iWE

EIAEERSEENTEEREBRZ A
%ﬁﬁk%ﬁxﬁg fMARBEESR L e
HEZE - AIEBERERAN - BREZ
A AF -

BRESSAOENEE  REH AR
F— — ZROEBFEE - I - i
HiE 'J$E@&/ HEMRERRBR
A BREL EEE - fMRsEER it

2R ER - RIE BB - BERUE
ZERHNBPBETEF o

BREESSMNER DR _F -0
FOA—BAR-_Z_hFENA—BHB -
BEAN - fEE R AR E R 2 EENEER
HBER AFMABRETERR - MR
ER A2 ER - BABERERK
Mo ERAE 2 ROMB =5 -

BOBRENTERENEERL MR
{82 A 8P B Ap i (B X H A HR
Bt W (g e



37 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Movements of outstanding share options:

37

B PR A 0
R TR AR A
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BREHA

As at Granted Exercised Lapsed/ As at  Exercisable at

1 January during during forfeited during 31 December 31 December

Date of grant RHEAH 2024 the year the year the year 2024 2024

R=2=QmF

R=B-MmF TZA=t-8H

-B-8 FREM ERTE ERXN/RK CKif;d

1 April 2020 “Z-TENRA-H 620,211 = = = 620,211 620,211

11 May 2022 “Z--FRA+-A 28,310,858 = = (3,608,369) 24,702,489 10,605,561

30 December 2022 ZZ--f+tZR=1H 13,195,225 = = (5,377,059) 7,818,166 1,319,523

Total @i 42,126,294 = = (8,985,428) 33,140,866 12,545,295

Number of share options
BiREE A

As at Granted Exercised Lapsed/ Asat  Exercisable at

1 January during during  forfeited during 31 December 31 December

Date of grant =) 2023 the year the year the year 2023 2023

RIZZ=F

RZZZ=F RZZZ=F +ZA=1+-H

-A-AH FREL ERTE EAKR/ 8K TZA=1-A CIEgd

7 May 2018 “Z-\FRAtR 2,169,732 = (2,168,108) (1,629) = =
24 December 2018 Z-\%tZA

ZtmA 19,822,909 - (4,797,445) (15,025,464) = =

1 April 2020 ZZ-ZFMA-H 620,211 - - - 620,211 620,211

11 May 2022 ZE--FRA1+-R 28,713,108 - - (402,250) 28,310,858 6,400,979

30 December 2022 “E--F#+-fB=1H 13,195,225 - - - 13,195,225 -

Total @i 64,521,185 - (6,965,548) (15,429,343) 42,126,294 7,021,190
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38 SHARE AWARD SCHEME 38 BRERBEE

278

The share award scheme of the Company was adopted by
the board on 26 March 2013 (the “Adoption Date”). The
purpose of the share award scheme is to provide an
incentive to encourage the participants for the continual
operation and development of the Group.

Subject to the terms of the share award scheme and the
Listing Rules, the board may at any time make an offer to
any eligible person whom it may in its absolute discretion
select to accept the grant of an award over such a number
of shares as it may determine (the “Participants”). Existing
shares of the Company will be purchased by an
independent trustee (the “Trustee”) of the share award
scheme from the market out of cash contributed by the
Group and be held in trust for the relevant Participants until
such shares are vested with the relevant Participants in
accordance with the provisions of the share award scheme.
The shares of the Company granted and held by the
trustee until vesting are referred to as the treasury shares
and each treasury share shall represent one ordinary share
of the Company.

Particulars and movements of the share award
scheme

ARRBERERBAENR-_F—=F=A
“HARB(ERMEHPDEEZTSRN - Ik
SRS ERBSEELEERLEE
MEERBERIELER -

RERZRBFEGIRRETRAY  &F
SREERTAAERALHFELZLN H
BERATRYNBEREEMEFTERTE
RO BRBROEE < BE((28F]) -
RELZBABNBLZFEA(TZFEAD K
AEBHENRER TS LEBEARRAR
Bl - RAGREARBHE2EERS
HEEZEROHRERREZRENIEXE
BRHEBA2EESL EROMAXFEA
FAEEERBHNARRRNBELSEFRD -
mEBEFERNDEEARE —REBR

RERBTEFERED

Number of share award

RERBDEE
Lapsed/
As at Granted Vested forfeited As at
Fair value 1 January during during during 31 December
Date of grant REAH per share 2024 the year the year the year 2024
R-Z-ME
R-B-QmF FRARR/ t=A
BRAME —-A-H FRRE FRER B Er=[E
(HK$)
(&)
11 May 2022 “T--FRART+-A 38.85 2,290,448 = (2,245,789) (44,659) =
31 March 2023 “E-=F=f
=+—H 32.20 3,625,875 = (1,720,147) (218,837) 1,686,891
5,916,323 = (3,965,936) (263,496) 1,686,891
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38 SHARE AWARD SCHEME (ontinuea) 38 RERETE =
Particulars and movements of the share award BRERBEFERER @
scheme (continued)
Number of share award
RERE A
Lapsed/
As at Granted Vested forfeited As at
Fair value 1 January during during during 31 December
Date of grant Fit A8 per share 2023 the year the year the year 2023
i
R-Z=-=fF FREH/ +=A
SRARE —H—H FREN FREE peLid =+—H
(HK$)
(%)
15 April 2021 —T-—FMA+AR 4435 1,782,254 - (1,691,579) (90,675) =
11 May 2022 —“Z--FRA+-H 3885 4,750,798 - (2,369,972) (90,378) 2,290,448
31 March 2023 —E-=%=A
=t+—H 32.20 - 6,626,176 - (3,000,301) 3,625,875
6,533,052 6,626,176 (4,061,551) (3,181,354) 5,916,323
Note: B &
The fair value of the shares granted was calculated based on the EREBRODHARBTIERRRBIRORSED
market prices of the Company’s shares at the respective grant HEMMEE BRI RRE -
dates. No dividend was be considered.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, 3,965,936 (2023: HE-_Z_WMF+-_A=1+—HILEE  BEA
4,061,551) shares with a total amount of RMB84,906,000 (2023: K #¥84,906,000t (ZZE=_=F: AR¥
RMB122,698,000) were vested and exercised under the share 122,698,0007T) #93,965,936/% (=& = = 4 :
award scheme, resulting in the transfer out of RMB123,279,000 4,061,551 %) i& 7 B R IERR R 2B T 255 8 R 1T
(2023: RMB138,314,000) from the share award reserve, with the F By EBEHREEE ARE
difference of RMB38,373,000 (2023: RMB15,616,000) credited to 123,279,000t (ZE - =F : AR ¥
the share premium account. 138,314,0007T) * Z=% A R #38,373,0007T (=
T=-=F: AR¥15,616,00070) B 5t AR5 &
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39 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 39 HEFAH

280

On 8 April 2024, Synaura Biotechnology (Shanghai) Co.,
Ltd. (“Synaura”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Group, entered into an agreement with its shareholders and
new investors. Pursuant to the agreement, new investors
has subscribed for an aggregate of 9,955,555 new shares
which accounts for about 13.68% of the total shares at the
subscription price of RMB80,000,000. Upon completion, the
Group lose control of Synaura, which was subsequently
accounted for as an associate and resulted a gain of
RMB269,367,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024.

In 2024, Tianxianpei (Shanghai) Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Tianxianpei”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group,
entered into an agreement with its shareholders and new
investors. Pursuant to the agreement, new investors has
subscribed for an aggregate of 6,000,000 new shares
which accounts for about 60% of the total shares at the
subscription price of RMB6,000,000. Upon completion, the
Group lose control of Tianxianpei, which was subsequently
accounted for as an associate and resulted a loss of
RMB2,171,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024.

On 8 March 2024, the Group disposed 100% equity
interest in Beijing Huairou High tech Dairy Co., Ltd. at a
consideration of RMB20,000, which resulted a gain of
RMB20,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024. During
the year ended 31 December 2024, the consideration has
been fully settled and the net inflow in respect of the
disposal of a subsidiary is RMB20,000.

R-ZZE-_WEMANE AEBWIIEERE
FARMMEEYRIF (L8 BRAR (M4
EEEBRRERFEEET L —HiE -
BEWZ FTREEURBEEARE
80,000,0007T R & & 9,955,555 % ¥ A%
1% AEB D BE#I13.68% > Rk % » &
SEXETERNTEGE  TEERERE
ENAAR REZE-_Z_WNFE+=HA
Tt BLEEEHBUIARE
269,367,0007T °

RZEZWNE AEENE2E TFRRIKRE
B (EB)RIEAERAR ([ REER ) BER
HERHIEEER Y — D - RIBEHRE
1% & E AR IEE A R %6,000,0007T R
4 #£6,000,0000% 37 A% 1 © (h BX 5 A2 &4
60% ° IRTEAk I + NS BIR KR EF AL A 12 )
T REREEERERBENRIAR  RNEZE
CECME+ - A=F+—HILFEHEEE
BAR¥2171,0007T °

RZZEZME=ZANE  ZEBUREA
R#20,000HEt R EZ SR AEEGR
NEI100% M REBEE-_FT_NF+= A
=+ —HILEFEHEKE A K ®20,000
T -RBE_ZE_NF+_A=+—HI:
FE REEEHLE  HETARZFR
A& AR #20,0007T °
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40 ACQUISITION OF NON-CONTROLLING 40 WEBFFIER B R ERR

INTERESTS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group have BE_Z-_MF+HA=1+T—RHLFE"
acquired several immaterial non-controlling interests of AEFECKBETFARIZETIHEERIE
several subsidiaries. The total considerations for these ERERER ZEWECARERES
acquisitions were in the form of cash of RMB9,721,000, AR¥9,721,0007T ' ERBEE=_T —UF
which have been fully paid during the year ended +-A=+—HLFEHE BENREH
31 December 2024. The differences of RMB16,136,000 PRI IE IR IR R s 2 BREIE Y = A
between the considerations paid and the carrying amount of R#16,136,0007T5T AR R B REERE ©

non-controlling interests acquired are recorded in the equity
transaction reserve account.

41 COMMITMENTS 41 EiE
The Group had the following outstanding capital RBERR ASEEHEBEE REZEYE -
commitments in respect of the purchase and construction BEMREEHOREEEREAEDT

of property, plant and equipment as at the end of the
reporting period:

2024 2023
—E-MmE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREET T

Contracted, but not provided for EEEEE ST 748,478 1,980,487
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42 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 42 BBALIRS
(@) In addition to the transactions and balances which are (@ BRZEUBMERHEMGEERENR
disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the 5 REERRIN - NEBEEBE QA R
Group had the following significant transactions with HEEEATETTIERRZS °
its associates and other related parties.

282

2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®B TR ARMT T
Sales of liquid milk products, ML R RIEER
other products and services to REONEmM - B
associates E o M R 7% 0) 21,507 19,119
Sales of other dairy products to MBS A AIEHE
associates H b 2L & m 0) 46 21
Sales of products to subsidiaries  [E ¥ ANA & H & A
and associates of a TEHIN—AR
shareholder with significant RE)F A F) R
influence over the Company ZNE S E M 0] 4,182 3,126
Purchases of raw materials from A% ARRA & H EA
subsidiaries and associates of TENN—AK
a shareholder with significant HE TR KB
influence over the Company BREIBEERM
= (i) 538,566 715,300
Lease of right-of-use assets from  [FI¥ AR FHE KX
subsidiaries of a shareholder TENN—BK
with significant influence over RHFAaHEE
the Company EREEE (i) 540 1,143
Purchase of services from M A RRBEK
subsidiaries of a shareholder FENK— B
with significant influence over RHNFRAIEE
the Company Pk 75 (i) 34,233 12,705
Purchases of raw materials and  [AEt& QA FIEE R
products from associates MR R E @ 0] 12,556,962 12,762,615
Purchase other services from mEEERREBEE
associates AR 75 (i) 105,622 =
Purchases of investment BHEARRRBEEKR
deposits from a subsidiary of a TE N — B
shareholder with significant RHFRAEBE
influence over the Company WEFK (ii) 75,000 150,000
Redemption of investment M A RRBEK
deposits from a subsidiary of a FE N —BR
shareholder with significant BT ARED
influence over the Company WEFRK (ii) 75,000 158,750



42 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continueq)

(a)

(continued)

Interest income of investment
deposits and entrusted loans
from a subsidiary of a
shareholder with significant
influence over the Company

Payment for receivables for
factoring from subsidiaries and
associates of a shareholder
with significant influence over
the Company (Note 42(c))

Interest income of receivables for
factoring from subsidiaries and
associates of a shareholder
with significant influence over
the Company

Proceeds of receivables for
factoring from subsidiaries and
associates of a shareholder
with significant influence over
the Company

Payment for receivables for
factoring and other loans from
associates

Interest income of receivables for
factoring and other loans from
associates

Proceeds from receivables for
factoring and other loans from
associates

REHARRABHE
AFENN—F
R A F R A
BERRETE
KA F) B U A

REHARRABHE
AXENN—%F
EEREAF AR K&
Bt N ) B IR
I 3 A R (B
£42(c))

REHARRABHE

TFENIN—%
EEREAF AR K&
Bt N ) B IR
I F ) FI B I

REHARRRHFE
AFENN—H
RERTRA K
Bt & A ) R IR
B TS 3E

IR B B N B E Uk
RIEBZ K H A
BERA R

D ER NG
REFRERHEMBE
KA F B UL A

IR B B N B E Uk
REFREME
KA TS 3B
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42 BEBALTIRIw

Rl 5% ¥R 22 MU 5%

2024 2023
—EZmEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® Tt ARET T
4,094 45,465
1,056,980 444,769
1,003 2,723
1,171,095 331,848
5,781,855 4,066,199
67,871 89,869

4,939,237 906,279
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42 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continueq)

(a)

(continued)

42 EBBALIRFw

(@ @
2024
—E_NF
Notes RMB’000
B 5 ARET T

N

U

(i)

Entrusted loans to associates
(Note 42(c))

Interest income of entrusted
loans to associates

Proceeds from entrusted loans to
associates

Loans to entities controlled by
members of key management
personnel (Note 42(c))

Proceeds from loans to entities
controlled by key management
personnel (Note 42(c))

Interest income of loans to
entities controlled by members

of key management personnel

Guarantee charges from
an associate

otes:

EGid /NG Lo
EXEXK
(Ff3E42(0))

REBERNRET
B FE WA

REBE QAR
B T8 5KIE

ERTHRREREA
BRI BIEH A
EE (sE42(c)

REHBEHREREA
BIEGINEE 2
B AT B5KIE
(MfsE42(c))

REBHBREEA
B /K B 1E§I 89
ERZERH
FLEWA

RE—EEHE QR
B PR U A

The considerations were determined with reference to
the prevailing market prices/rates and the prices

charged to third parties.

Annual interest rate of the investment deposits is

5.00% (31 December 2023: 5.00%).

313,830

6,526

258,982

60,000

20,000

12,579

3,381

fi i -

L —

2023
—E-=F
RMB’000
AREEFTT

313,800

5,670

4,271

128,230

15,364

938

) RELSEEEMHER BEXRK
WEE =TT ERETE °

(ii) RERFS

REFFRE5.00% (=

F+=-A=+—H :5.00%) °



42 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continueq)

(b)

Compensation of key management personnel
Key management personnel are Group’s directors and
senior executives. Remuneration paid or payable to
the directors was disclosed in Note 9, and was
determined by the Remuneration Committee according
to individual performance. Cash remuneration paid or
payable to senior executives is as follows:
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42 BEBALTIRIw
(b) EEREIE AE KRN
FREBABAAEEESRSAIT
BAE - B ENESNHIEE
R DHEMEZESREBAR
RET - B EMNSRITERABN
REFWOT -

2024 2023
—EZmF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREEF T

Salaries and other benefits e REAmER 33,354 30,352
Performance related incentive payment {E AR B B ROR 26,764 20,695
Retirement benefits scheme contribution RIRAE FFT B R 499 426
60,617 51,473

Note: B E -

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the total share
option benefits relating to the share options scheme (Note
37), share award scheme (Note 38) and convertible bond
arrangement (Note 30) granted to senior executives were
approximately RMBNil, RMB197,000, and RMB71,379,000,
respectively (2023: RMB50,882,000, RMB1,555,000, and
RMB120,678,000, respectively).

HE-_T_NF+-_A=+—HILFE
BTRMITHAE R EERETS (K E
37) - REHENET & (MI3E38) R AT RARE
H Bk (MT5E380) BB IRIERI A8 EE 2 R4
BAREZIT - AR¥197,0007T X AR
#71,379,000 (ZZE==F : HFl A A
R #50,882,0007C * A K #¥1,555,0007C
& AR #120,678,0007T) °
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42 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS coniness 42 BABEA LR Z w0

(c) Year-end balances arising from related party (c) BEBATIRZELEMERGEHT
transactions are as follows: T =
Trade and bills receivables from: FEUER R R =
2024 2023
—E-_ME —EB-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Associates = W/NS| 3,902 1,866
Subsidiaries and associates of a HARBBEKN
shareholder with significant influence TENN—%
over the Company BEHNTFRRKR
/N 5,024 4,477
8,926 6,343
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets AR - Hftt AR EMEE :
from:

2024 2023
—E-UE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREEFTT

Associates /N 1,190 734
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42 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS contnesy 42 BBEATRXR I @
(c) Year-end balances arising from related party (c) BBMALIRZELENFEREHRN

transactions are as follows: (continued) T @

Other financial assets from:

HSmEE

2024 2023
—E-mE —EBC-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% T AREBFTT
Associates (Note (i) i Al/N N MTE()) 4,380,079 3,564,988
Subsidiaries and associates of shareholder ¥R QA FH B A
with significant influence over the Z2HHRESF
Company (Note (ii)) NAINHBERT
(Bt 3 Gii) 877,977 993,798
An entity controlled by key management FREE ALY
personnel (Note (iii) 7= B (Bt (i) 326,173 273,594
5,584,229 4,832,380
Trade and bills payables to: ERERERREE
2024 2023
—E-NF —TE==F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% T ARKETT
Associates kBN 1,817,951 1,120,292
Subsidiaries and associates of shareholder ~¥{ANA&]H &KX
with significant influence over the T2 MR EH
Company SN
NG| 36,732 96,562
1,854,683 1,216,854
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42 EBBALIRFw

AT RSELENERERN
T @

HEMNRARBIRER

42 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continueq)
(c) Year-end balances arising from related party (c)
transactions are as follows: (continued)
Other payables and accruals to:

288

2024 2023
—E-ME —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBF T
Associates ik lNE 6,279 400
Subsidiaries and associates of shareholder ¥t 7RA RH B A
with significant influence over ZNHRRA T
the Company UNCIDSE /NG| 3,038 —
9,317 400
Guarantees provided to: REFER :
2024 2023
—E-@OmF ZE=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETFIT
Guarantees provided to Eaglet (Note (iv)) M) 86 & 42 (/Y #E 1R
(Mt 3EGv)) - 2,250,000
An associate (Note (iv)) —[EHE AR
(B 7E(iv)) 332,662 85,744
Notes: B 5E -
0] As at 31 December 2024, entrusted loans of (i) BHE-_ZT-_MF+=-_A=+—H "

RMB368,648,000 (2023: RMB313,800,000) was lent to
associates, with interest rates ranging from 2.00% to
4.00% per annum.

As at 31 December 2024, amounts of receivables for
factoring of RMB2,726,291,000 (2023:
RMBS3,173,970,000) were paid to the associates,
which was unsecured with a fixed interest rate ranging
from 3.00% to 3.80% per annum.

As at 31 December 2024, amounts of other loans of
RMB1,290,297,000 (2023: RMBNIl) were paid to the
associates, which was unsecured with a fixed interest
rate ranging from 3.00% to 3.80% per annum.

BMmEEARBHEXERAR
# 368,648,000 (T =4 : A
R #313,800,0007T) ° ZZ L EH K
B R = A F2.00% E 4.00% °

HEz—_Z-_mWFqF+-_A=+—8"
A A B A IR IE KA
R #2,726,291,000L (=& = =
4 AR #3,173,970,0007T) * 3%
REEER BEFMNER/NT
3.00%%3.80% °

HE-_ZT-_MF+=-_A=+—H "
BMAEE AR FEMERAR
#4,290,297,000C (ZFE = =4 :
ARBETIT)  ZFOEERR @ Bx
FF R BN T3.00%%3.80% °



42 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Year-end balances arising from related party
transactions are as follows: (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(c)

(i)

(il

(iv)

As at 31 December 2024, entrusted loans of
RMB700,000,000 (2023: RMB700,000,000) was lent
out through COFCO Trust Company Limited, a
subsidiary of a shareholder with significant influence
over the Company of the Group which was on due.
Annual interest rate of the entrusted loans is 6.05%
(20283: 6.05%).

As at 31 December 2024, short-term investment
deposits of RMB75,000,000 (2023: RMB75,000,000)
was purchased from COFCO Trust Company Limited,
a subsidiary of a shareholder with significant influence
over the Company of the Group. Annual interest rate
of the investment deposits is 5.00% (2023: 5.00%).

As at 31 December 2024, amounts of receivables for
factoring of RMBNIl (2023: RMB114,115,000) were
paid to subsidiaries and associates of a shareholder
with significant influence over the Company.

As at 31 December 2024, RMB170,000,000 (2023:
RMB130,000,000) were lent out to Tianjin Wanhong
Enterprise  Management Consulting Co., Ltd., a
company established in relation to issue of the
Convertible Bonds for the benefits of certain
employees of the Company (including some key
management personnel) under an employee incentive
scheme, which was unsecured with a fixed interest
rate of 4.65% per annum.

As at 31 December 2024, RMB131,035,000 (2023:
RMB128,230,000) were lent out to Young Ability
Limited, a company established in relation to issue of
the Convertible Bonds for the benefits of certain
employees of the Company (including some key
management personnel) under an employee incentive
scheme, which was unsecured with a fixed interest
rate of 3.00% per annum.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group provides
guarantee to an associate regarding loans of
RMB332,662,000 (2023: RMB85,744,000).
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(i)

(i)

(iv)

HE-T-_NMF+=-_A=+—8H"
BMBAREE —ZHUARARBE
FENRENTFARTRELE
BREAARBLHELERARKE
700,000,000TC (ZE =% : AR
#700,000,0007T) * Z B E 5|
H o ZEEE R FEFE AE6.05%
(ZE=Z=%F :6.05%) °

HE-T-_MFE+-_A=+—0H"
BMRAEE —ZHARARARBEKR
FENNRENTARTIRERE
BRETARBEERHREERAAR
#75,000,000 0 (ZE==F: AR
#75,000,0007T) ° &% & 17 3k F 7
RAE5.00% (ZZE==4%:5.00%) °

BE-_Z-_NE+-_A=+—8 -
BMR—Z2HARRARBEATESN
R B F 2 &) R B & R R A FE
WREFRAREZ L (ZZ==F:
AR®114,115,0007¢) °

HE-ZT-_NMFE+-_A=+—0H"
B MR — R ARIEES REEIH
ARRETEE (REBIBERE
BAB)WANZEBETARRES M
R B RABIREELDEEEZN
AR A A& H A K #170,000,000
T(ZZT =6 : AR E
130,000,0007T) ' #Z & SR EHK A -
& 7 F F & 54.65% °

HE-ZT-_NMFE+=-_A=+—0H"
B —RARIEES REEIH
ARRETERE (REBIBERE
BAB)MF ST RRESRT
FXSZEYA Bl Young Ability Limited f&
HAR#131,035,0007t (=2 ==
& AR #128,230,0007T) @ % &
B IR - [E E F F K AB3.00% °

HE-T-_NMFE+=-_A=+—8H"
7N 5 E 5t B A K #332,662,000
T (ZZE==%F: AR¥85,744,000
TC) A — FE Bt 4 A Bl IR AR o

289



290

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited PEE4AEER AT

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rl 5 ¥R 72 BiJ 51

43 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS
Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks
arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. The
Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising from its
equity investments in other entities and movements in its
own equity share price. The board of directors and senior
management meet periodically to analyse and formulate
measures to manage the Group’s exposure to these risks
and they are summarised below. Generally, the Group
adopts prudent strategies on its risk management.

(a)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is
primarily attributable to trade receivables. The Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents, bills receivable and derivative financial
assets is limited because the counterparties are banks
and financial institutions for which the Group
considers to have low credit risk. The Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from refundable rental
deposits is considered to be low, taking into account
() the landlords’ credit rating and (i) the remaining
lease term and the period covered by the rental
deposits.

Except for the financial guarantees given by the
Group as set out in Note 42(c), the Group provide
guarantees to the Group’s suppliers for bank loans
which would expose the Group to credit risk. The
maximum expose to credit risk in respect of these
financial guarantees as at 31 December 2024 is
RMB700,080,000 (2023: RMB3,099,075,000). The
directors do not consider that a claim will be made
against the Group under the guarantee.

43

L —

gﬁ@@%&&&@IEWQﬁ

AKELFXEBBRELEEE  RIPE-
MEREEERR AKETAZARER
HMBEENRERENE SRAREE
MELANKRAERER EF@RSRE
BABEHETER  »MAKEMAR
MR - 30 HIE AIAE R E R A - Bt
REX > REEE—RERAFEOREE R
[\ o

(@ FEREkR
EERRERXSTERANEEEHR
AEBEBXVBBRRNOEAR - AEH
MEERRERRAEBEERR - A%
BRERERACEEY  BURERE
RiTEeRmEENEERRER - T3
MR ZH R/AERERREERRR
ERRTT R RS - ZEI(NEE
MEEFRLFGHEBLEERS
FIRENHR  AEERSRE AR
EHERSNEERRBRE -

B BT 5E 42(c) P&t 2 S B HR 4R A B S 42
RO - 2N 6 B [m) 2N 5% (3] ) 2 PR 4
RITERER  MEAEERHEE
Ag - BHE_ZE-_MFE+_A=1+—
A BEZEUBERNEANEER
b &5 B & A R ¥ 700,080,0007T (==
— =4 : AR¥3,099,075,0007T) °
EEZRAETEREBEERANEER DY
AR e



43 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(@)

Credit risk (continued)

The majority of the Group’s sales are conducted on a
cash basis. The Group has implemented policies to
ensure that sales of products are made to
distributors, who wish to trade on credit terms, with
an appropriate credit history which is subject to
periodic reviews. In addition, receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s
exposure to bad debts is not significant.

Trade receivables

The Group has established a credit risk management
policy under which individual credit evaluations are
performed on all customers requiring credit over a
certain amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments when due
and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Trade receivables are due within
90 to 180 days from the date of billing. Debtors with
balances that are more than 12 months past due are
requested to settle all outstanding balances before
any further credit is granted. Normally, the Group
does not obtain collateral from customers.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables
are disclosed in Note 24 to the financial statements.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets,
which comprise time deposits, entrusted loans and
other receivables, arises from default of the
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the
carrying amounts of these assets.

43
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43 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Liquidity risk

The Group closely monitors its liquidity risk by
performing periodic reviews and evaluations of its
liquidity with regard to the industry characteristics,
market conditions, business strategies and changes in
the Group’s state of affairs and adjusting the current
and non-current portions of the Group’s debt portfolio
on a proper and timely basis. In addition, the Group
aims to ensure a continuity of funds and flexibility
through the use of various means of financing and by
keeping committed credit lines available.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities and derivative
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based
on rates current at the end of the reporting period)
and the earliest date the Group can be required to

pay:

43

L —

BEEREEREBMIAENDR

E(#.E)

(b)

B AL
AEEEHRRETESH MHR
B RGBS R AR B AR &
£ HAKEHRBEETRE IE
B EEIRRARAEER GRS
BN N FERVE o - AR B 1
R\ o gESN - AEEITE R B AR
MBS A RRT —ENEAEEER
BARERE S HEE MR EEME -

TRINFAEERTESRABERT
EeRBERREHROFIRSLI
HE  DERGARERBE SR (B
BREANE(MAZENE - BIE
RBEBRNRITAIER)GFENFE
HIE) RAIZERKAEEXZMH&FER
H

2024
-g-mE
Within Carrying
1 year or on 1to More than amount at
demand 5 years 5 years Total 31 December
Bt+=A
—E0AE =t-Af
REXK —ERE AENE by REE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR  ARBTR ARBTR AR%TR  ARETR
Lease liabilities HEERE 250,074 402,938 587,527 1,240,539 1,095,393
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 3 BT REAMEE
(excluding lease liabilties) (TRERERE) 17,220,374 15,470,151 2,291,326 34,981,851 33,541,807
Trade and bills payables ENERRER 8,647,226 - - 8,647,226 8,647,226
Financial liabilities measured at amortised B A E5 AL
cost included in other payables and ENFERERERN
accruals SHER 8,402,467 - - 8,402,467 8,402,467
Total by 34,520,141 15,873,089 2,878,853 53,272,083 51,686,893




43 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 43
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continueq)
(b) LIQUIdIty risk (continued)
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(%)

(b) REEREE @

2028
“E-=F
Carrying
Within 1 year or 1to More than amount at
on demand 5 years 5 years Total 31 December
W+=A
—ENAR =t—B#
RERE —E0F AFNE o RmfE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR ARBTRT ARBTR  ARBTR
Lease liabilities HEAE 275,578 531,102 467,474 1,274,154 1,173,418
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings BT REMEE
(excluding lease liabiltes) (TefRsaRE) 10,500,059 26,215,906 2195364  38911,320 36,237,337
Trade and bills payables EREFRER 9,499,441 = = 9,499,441 9,499,441
Financial liabilities measured at amortised RBRK ARG EF AL
cost included in other payables and R FERBRERR
accruals tREE 10,605,734 - - 10,605,734 10,605,734
Total it 30,880,812 26,747,008 2,662,838 60,290,658 57,615,930

As disclosed in Note 43(a), the maximum exposure in
respect of this financial guarantee provided by the
Group at 31 December 2024 is RMB700,080,000
(2023: RMBS3,099,075,000). The directors of the
Group are of the opinion that the likelihood that a
claim is to be made against the Group is remote at
31 December 2024.

B 43 EHE - BHE T _UF
+-—A=+—8 BAREEIRHEMNH
BEREENSARREEASARE
700,080,000TT (ZE-=4F : ARM
3,099,075,0007T) - AN & @ E £ R
B EBE_ZE_NF+_A=1+—
B AEEWIRHEBROATREER
/J\o
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43 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in
market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s
borrowings with floating interest rates. The Group
closely monitors its interest rate risk by performing
periodic reviews and evaluations of its debt portfolio
and gearing ratio. The interest rates and terms of
repayment of the bank loans and other borrowings of
the Group are disclosed in Note 29. The Group
enters into interest rate swaps, in which the Group
agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the
difference between fixed and variable rate interest
amounts calculated by reference to an agreed-upon
notional principal amount. In the opinion of the
directors, the Group has no significant interest rate
risk.

At 31 December 2024, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 50 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would have
decrease/increase the Group’s profit after tax and
retained profits for the year by approximately
RMB60,764,000 (2023: RMB27,694,000). Other
components of consolidated equity would not be
affected by the general increase/decrease in interest
rates.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group’s profit after tax
(and retained profits) that would arise assuming that
the change in interest rates had occurred at the end
of the reporting period and had been applied to
re-measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk at the end of the reporting period. In respect
of the exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising
from floating rate non-derivative instruments held by
the Group at the end of the reporting period, the
impact on the Group’s profit after tax (and retained
profits) is estimated as an annualized impact on
interest expense or income of such a change in
interest rates. The analysis is performed on the same
basis as 2023.
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43 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

43
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(d) Foreign currency risk (d) SR
(i) Exposure to currency risk (i) spB5)E e E /E
As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s BHE_Z-_MF+=-A=1+—

businesses are principally located in the Chinese
Mainland and substantially all transactions are
conducted in RMB. The following table details
the Group’s significant exposure at the end of
the reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of
the entity to which they relate. For presentation
purposes, the amounts of the exposure are
shown in RMB, translated using the spot rate at
the year end date. Differences resulting from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign

B AEENEBERUNF
BARKE  BREORZXFHUA
RESAUEH - TRFLAX
SERBESHREAAERIE
EEINMERSENHERD
BREEXREBEMEENEX
EERR - SETE2 ER
SHEAAREIR  ERFE
HHMAHERBE - ZHEK
BRBINEBHM B RIINE
REAEEZ25EE -

operations into the Group’s presentation
currency.
Exposure to foreign currencies
(expressed in RMB)
SRR (AARESIR)
Philippine
2024 —EmF RMB uUs$ peso Euro
AR¥E En FEEHER BT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTRT AR®BTR AR®BTR AR®TR
Cash and cash ReKReEEY
equivalents 41,581 119,367 17,503 323
Interest-bearing bank and & B RIT R EAM
other borrowings e - (787,288) - -
Exposure arising from ERRAEERER
recognised assets EENER
and liabilities 41,581 (667,921) 17,503 323
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43 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 43 BIEREEREMIEMNAA

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL B w
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(d) Foreign currency risk (continued) (d) HPEER R @

(i) ___Exposure to currency risk (continued) (i) P #EjE f I om)

Exposure to foreign currencies
(expressed in RMB)
SN RLB (VA AR EETIIR)

Philippine
2023 —TE=F RMB Us$ peso Euro
ARE En FRERERER BT

RMB'000  RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT AREBTL ARBTLT AREBTRI

Cash and cash Re hREEEY

equivalents 47,931 43,551 26,123 1,295
Interest-bearing bank and T ERITREAM

other borrowings BE = (772,723) = =
Exposure arising from ERREERAR

recognised assets EE N ER

and liabilities 47,931 (729,172) 26,123 1,295
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43 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

(d)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s profit after tax (and
retained profits) and other components of
consolidated equity that would arise if foreign
exchange rates to which the Group has
significant exposure at the end of the reporting
period had changed at that date, assuming all
other risk variables remained constant. In this
respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate
between the Hong Kong dollar and the United
States dollar would be materially unaffected by
any changes in movement in value of the United
States dollar against other currencies.

43

(%)

Annual Report 2024 —Z —[JF £

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(d) HPEEEER
(i) SR T I
TRINREREAA E AR e &
HHEFTENERAT  A&E
IR E BRE ¥ E AR BRI
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SEBEFNE(RRBFE) &
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(Decrease)/
Increase/ increase in (Decrease)/
(decrease) in profit increase in
RMB rate before tax equity
ARBER BaiFlE Rz OED)
EHCFE)  GE) &0 #hn
% RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%®TR AR%T T
2024 —E-MEF 5 (30,426) (22,793)
(5) 30,426 22,793

(Decrease)/
Increase/ increase in (Decrease)/
(decrease) in profit increase in
RMB rate before tax equity
ARHEE X BATFE  EwmORd),/
EACREE)  CRd),2Em #hn
% RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT
2023 —E-= 8 (32,691) (26,320)
5) 32,691 26,320
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43 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

()

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of
equity securities decrease as a result of changes in
the levels of equity indices and the value of individual
securities. The Group is mainly exposed to equity
price risk arising from individual listed equity
investments classified as equity investments at fair
value through other comprehensive income and
several listed equity investments classified as equity
investments at fair value through profit or loss (Note
22) as at 31 December 2024.

The Group’s ungquoted investments are held for
strategic purposes. Their performance is assessed at
least bi-annually against performance of similar listed
entities, based on the limited information available to
the Group, together with an assessment of their
relevance to the Group’s strategic plans.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to
every 5% change in the fair values of the listed equity
investments, with all other variables held constant and
before any impact on tax and the fair value reserve of
financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income, based on their carrying
amounts at the end of the reporting period. For the
purpose of this analysis, for the listed equity
investments, the impact is deemed to be on the fair
value reserve of financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income and no account is given
for factors such as impairment which might impact the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. The analysis
is performed on the same basis for 2023.

43

L —

BEEREEREBMIAENDR

E(#E)

()

PR A E 5 EL B2

P S (B A6 L B s B SR 4 BOK S K (i )
EFEEEPHEIRAZTSFIAET
fERER R-_T_MFE+_HA
=t—H AEEFEEmHHORKE
BRBERESERARABEFERR
SHF AR MEERENRARED
R EHRARE LR D ER/ARR
EFfEAEZEH T ARSHBEAKRE
BE T ETmRARE (HE22) -

AEEHARRERETIBERE B HPT
RA REAKEASHERER
BEEEAREE R BRSO AE
G 20X F2RAULD
BERNRBAFEERR -

TRETERMHAAEANZEZERT
g RRFAEARBRARAEFE
BEEFHFAHEMEARENSHE
ENAEFHEZENBRT  &LEH
BAKRENHERROREETE -
EHBRARE QDA ETEESREH
BRE - SLADME - R EWK
RRE - BRENAAEFEERE
B AREMEERENEHEEAR
ERBEKRTE  UETRATRETE
reEBmRMER - FIARE - %D
MR —_F _=FHRNEEET -



43 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(e) Equity price risk (continued)

Annual Report 2024 — & — [IF F 3§

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Fil 5% ¥R 2E BY B

43 B EAREEREMIAENAR

{E(%E)

() MAEHER @

Effect on fair
value reserve of
financial assets at

Carrying fair value

amount of through other

equity Effect on comprehensive

2024 “E-ME investments profit before tax income
HUAARETE

BHZBHTAHM

ZHEENESREE

BRAERENEREE HHANENTE LQAERBRXE

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET R ARET R ARET R

Listed equity investments FHRAEE 196,561 8,584 1,244
Effect on fair

value reserve of

financial assets at

Carrying fair value

amount of through other

equity Effect on comprehensive

2023 iy investments profit before tax income
HURAENE

BHEFFAHAM

PENGHEREE

RARENEEE  HBATENYE LLERENTE

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT ARETT

Listed equity investments EilRARE 19,203 - 960
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43 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 43 BIEREEREMIEMNAA

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL B w

INSTRUMENTS (continued)

() Fair value measurement H BREFE

(i) __ Financial assets and liabilities measured at () UAREFEHTHEERE

fair value &
Fair value hierarchy DNAEER
The following table presents the fair value of the TRET A E B R RS BHRIE
Group’s financial instruments measured at the KEEEEFENERITAR
end of the reporting period on a recurring basis, B - MR PR BB B S R 2%
categorised into the three-level fair value A /BB HREERFE135%
hierarchy as defined in IFRS/HKFRS 13, Fair AAREAENEREDER=M
value measurement. The level into which a fair BH -AREFENERSE
value measurement is classified is determined T2 Z T HhE T X FE B S8
with reference to the observability and MABERREEREEMME :

significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technique as follows:

e |level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date

E—RIEME EEAE-—ABABEGIHEREEXBERFEREEETSHARLA
BRE)GFENRAE

e Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail
to meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data are not available

F_ARIHE - EAE_RBAREBIREREE —RIBENABENEARE - BX
RASATAIBEGARBR) FTENAAE TABERBARBRAEMS
BB B A\ BUE
e |Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs
F=ARMHE - ERERTAIBREGABIBITENAAE
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43 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 43
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value measurement (continued) (f)
Financial assets and liabilities measured at

(f)

(i)

fair value (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
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(&)

DNAEER @

Fair value measurements as at

31 December 2024 categorised into

BE-Z-_WE+-A=t—-AH

AREHESE
Fair value at
31 December
2024 Level 1 Level 2
R=-Z-mF
+=A=+—-H
HARE E—& E=& E=R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR¥TR AR%¥Tr AR%Txn
Recurring fair value REMEARETE
measurement
Financial assets: EREE:
Listed equity investments ETRERE 196,561 196,561 - -
Unlisted equity investments FEMRERE 477,009 - - 477,009
Short-term investment deposits 5B EIR BT 1,556,490 - - 1,556,490
Other debt investments HMEBEE 786,596 - 422,876 363,720
Derivative financial instruments TEEMI A 250,376 - 250,376 -
Bills receivable JEU R 1% 81,425 = 81,425 —
3,348,457 196,561 754,677 2,397,219
Financial liabilities: TRAE:
Derivative financial instruments MTESHMIA 38,276 - 38,276 -
Exchangeable bonds ARMESH 627,220 - 627,220 -
Put liability of non-controlling FEIERRR R R 2
interest — ANI ROHEE —ANI 44,608 - - 44,608
710,104 = 665,496 44,608
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43 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 43 ¢
Ew

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

()  Fair value measurement (continued) H =

(i) __ Financial assets and liabilities measured at 17( /A‘f‘b FENEHEERE
fair value (continued) E ()
Fair value hierarchy (continued) R EER &

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2023 categorised into
BE-Z-_=F+-A=+—HH

AREFENE
Fair value at
31 December
2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
RZTZ=
+=RA=+—H
NARE B E E=
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREBTT ARETT ARETR
Recurring fair value BEEDAERNE
measurement
Financial assets: SRAE
Listed equity investments EmRiERE 19,203 19,203 — —
Unlisted equity investments I EMRERE 513,558 = = 513,558
Short-term investment deposits HERE TR 1,118,576 = = 1,118,576
Derivative financial instruments TESRMTA 348,001 = 348,001 =
Bills receivable S 211,682 = 211,682 =
2,211,020 19,203 550,683 1,632,134
Financial liabilities: PHAE:
Derivative financial instruments MTEEBMIA 4,461 — 4,461 —
Exchangeable bonds ARBES 583,700 = 583,700 —
Put liability of non-controlling FEE AR R R 2
interest — ANI REEE —ANI 54,661 — — 54,661
642,822 — 588,161 54,661

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and BHE_Z-_="FR-T-_NF
2024, there were no transfers between Level 1 +ZA=+—HLEEE 2%
and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. BFfEMERE —REF R
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers ZHER . JREE AL =R
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the BE=ZHREL  AKEREEK
end of the reporting period in which they occur. ARBREHRERAABSE

Rz ENER -
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43 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 43 B EREEREMIAENAAR

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL Hw

INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

(f)  Fair value measurement (continued) f 2AREFEw

(i) ___ Financial assets and liabilities measured at () UAREFEHTHEERE

fair value (continued) @
Information about Level 2 fair value BHE=—RI A EFFE09EF
measurements
The Group enters into derivative financial REEBRSZZEHFHIINITE
instruments with various counterparties, TRTHE FEAEKAMZE
principally established commodity trading EETRRTNEMmEIRS
exchanges or financial institutions with good FiskemiE -FEEgHmE
credit ratings. Derivative financial instruments, A BmAIINEE K R A R iR H
including interest rate swaps, forward currency EHNETEERT A ER
contracts and interest rate forward contracts, BHATZBBMERREH
are measured using quoted prices from financial REINE S X RFERIE L
institutions with which the interest rate swaps, MERMEBEORE=E o X
forward currency contracts and interest rate BEREH - BREINEE D KT
forward contracts are entered into. The carrying KRPEHNERELEARE
amounts of interest rate swaps, forward A e

currency contracts and interest rate forward
contracts are the same as their fair values.

The fair value of bills receivable approximates to AR EREEREEA R -
their carrying amounts due to the short-term Bt E AR EEEEERE
maturities.

The fair value of other debt investment is HEMWEBTENAREBELER
measured by reference to quoted prices. BETE

The fair value of exchangeable bonds is AIRBMEFNARBENFERAZ
measured using binomial lattice model and by HAZEFERERAL R ERE
reference to quoted prices. FTE

Information about Level 3 fair value BEE=R LB EHER
measurements

The valuation model of the fair value of unlisted FELEMBREREQARBENGE
equity securities is based on market multiples B DBRESTEB BERES
derived from quoted prices of companies AL A RIRENTISEE (B 5
comparable to the investee, adjusted for the REFEFRZTi5mE R
effect of the non-marketability of the equity SHELHEAR)BHE -

securities.

The valuation model of other debt investment is HMEBRENBHEEX TR
based on discounted cash flow model. BITRBSREEST -
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43 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 43 BMIKEKREERESBMIANAR
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL B wo
I NSTR U M ENTS (continued)
(f)  Fair value measurement (continued) f 2AREFEw
(i) __ Financial assets and liabilities measured at ) HURAREITENEHEERE
fair value (continued) E (&)
Information about Level 3 fair value BEEE =R B EREH
measurements (continued) (#8)
The following table shows the valuation TR EETECHEEFTR
techniques used in the determination of fair HEBRERAEMEHEE
values of short-term investment deposits, other AREMANGEERN (BRA
debt investments and other financial liabilities REBRINE =) MEEA
which fall within level 3 of the fair value B E R B R A BUR -
hierarchy, as well as the significant
unobservable inputs used in the valuation.
Significant
Valuation unobservable
techniques inputs Range Sensitivity of fair value to the input
ERTARE
B BAHE Ll BAMBHARENYE
Short-term investment Discounted cash flow Expected yield 2.0% to 10% increase/decrease in expected yield would
deposits method 2.5% result in increase/decrease in fair value by
RMB1,627,000 for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: RMB1,127,000)
REREFR FREEREE el enES 20%%E25% AE-E-ME+-A=t— AL EEEHKEE
B/ RA10%BERA R EEN/HDARE
1,627,0007T (Z2Z =% : AR¥1,127,0007T)
Discount rate 2.0% to 10% increase/decrease in discount rate would
2.5% result in decrease/increase in fair value by
RMB1,379,000 and RMB1,381,000,
respectively (2023: RMB354,000 and
RMB459,000, respectively)
EES 20%%25%  MRREIM/FS10%EERD A EAFIRHD,
MARH1,379,0007T & A K #1,381,0007 (=
T-=%: HHAARK354000T R AR
459,0007T)

Other debt Discounted cash flow Expected yield 3.2% to 10% increase/decrease in expected yield would

investments method 3.3% result in increase/decrease in fair value by
RMB582,000 for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: RMBNil)
HEthEBRE NRESREE Bk ER 3.2%%3.3% %‘z%:%:@$+:)ﬁ =t AIEFERBRGX
B/ HD10% B EB AR BRI, D ARK
5682,0007L (ZE==%F : ARBZ L)
Discount rate 3.2% to 10% increase/decrease in discount rate would
3.3% result in decrease/increase in fair value by
RMB522,000 and RMB523,000, respectively
(2023: RMBNlI)
RS 32%FE33%  FHREREM/HO0BBERAREDBIRD /%
MAR522,00070 & AR#523,0007 (ZF
Z=F: AR%ZT)

Put liability of Discounted cash flow Discount rate 10.00% 10% increase/decrease in discount rate would
non-controlling method result in decrease/increase in fair value by
interests — ANI RMB10,084,000 and RMB13,023,000,

respectively (2023: RMB11,974,000 and
RMB15,477,000, respectively)
HERRRERZRE  MRRALREE g RS 10.00% FRERI/ RO 10%GERARER B,/

& —ANI

JJUAE#HO 084 0007z} A & #13,023,000 7T
(ZZ==% : A7 BARETN,974,0007 & A
E%15,477,0007u)



43 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 43

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

(f) Fair value measurement (continued)
Financial assets and liabilities measured at

(i)

fair value (continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements (continued)

The movement during the year in the balance of
Level 3 fair value measurements is as follows:

Annual Report 2024 —Z —[JF £

NOTES TO THE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(#)

Rl 5 ¥R = B X

%ﬁ@@%ﬁ&ﬁ@lﬂmﬁﬁ
(&)

2023
—E=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREBFTT
Unlisted equity investments: JELETIRERE :
At 1 January n—A—H 513,558 500,503
Disposal & (45,154) =
Investment "E - 36,000
Changes in fair value recognised in AR IBZERER
profit or loss during the year KA R EED 8,605 (22,945)
At 31 December R+=—RA=+—H 477,009 513,558
Investment deposits: TEFN
At 1 January Hn—H—H 1,118,576 5,390,522
Purchases BE 64,028,907 7,947,942
Changes in fair value recognised in ~ FRRERERER
profit or loss during the year KA EE 304,738 65,692
Redemption f& o (63,581,425) (12,255,088)
Exchange realignment ME S8 - 16
Interest received L ER A 2 (314,306) (30,508)
At 31 December R+=ZA=+—8H 1,556,490 1,118,576
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43 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

()  Fair value measurement (continued)
(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at

306

fair value (continued) ()
Information about Level 3 fair value BEHE=R AN EGEHER

measurements (continued)

2023
—E-mE —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARKETTT
Other debt investments: HmEB LA
At 1 January mn—H—H - =
Investments "E 363,222 —
Interest income recognised in FRARBHERZ
profit or loss during the year B WA 498 =
At 31 December R+=-—A=+—H 363,720 =
Put liability of non-controlling interest — 3F1ZE PG A% R #5 2
— AN RomEE —ANI:
At 1 January n—H—H 54,661 61,301
Changes in fair value recognised in Hﬁlﬁﬁ’\ﬁfmﬁﬁﬁﬁ@
other reserves during the period YRR EEE) (10,053) (6,640)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8H 44,608 54,661
Financial liability arising from the i EEEER
Compensation Right: ERAE:
At 1 January n—HA—H - 23,658
Changes in fair value recognised in AR B R
profit or loss during the year RN EZE = (23,658)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H - -
Total gains for the period included in R FERF AR
profit or loss for assets and EHFIFEER
liabilities held at the end of the BEBRAKES
reporting year ) 313,841 66,405




43 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

(f) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i) __Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
carried at other than fair value
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost
were not materially different from their fair values
as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December
2024.

(g9) Capital management
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the
underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December
2023.
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(f)

(9)

NREFTEw@

(i) BRI EKI BT TR %
BEEREEHAL
755 B DARK AN 3k 8RR AN 51 BR
MEMTARAEBE BER-
E-_=F+-_A=+—8Bk=
E-NF+=—A=+—HHA
ARETEERAER -

> |

EXREE
AEEEAEENERNBREHEFTA
SERBEENE N MRFRENE
AR AXFHEERBRIERRR(E
B

AEEEREEARERE  WHEABLH
REMSCREBEENRBREETE
HEE - BERAEEARERE &K
EEAE AR FREMNRS
FRER A E AR E 3Rk BITHR - HE—
E_NFE+-_A=+—HER-_T_=
F+-_A=+t—HLFE BEER
EEMNEE BRSKBEFITEST -
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43 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 43 BIEREEREMIEMNAA

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL B w

INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(9) Capital management (continued) (9 BEXEEmw
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, AREBUEARGBHRETER &
which is net debt divided by the capital plus net debt. AEELXREFABRAEARN EF
Net debt includes interest-bearing bank and other BEZM - FEEBREGFERITRE
borrowings (other than convertible bonds), trade and HEE T eERkESs) - BAE
bills payables, other payables and accruals, and other HKREE EMEMNKERERE
financial liabilities, less cash and bank balances and A UEREMmSFTEE  BIRE KR
long-term time deposits, and excludes disposal THEFERATEHER Y TEEE
groups. Capital represents convertible bonds and Bl - BRI ES RAR B
equity attributable to owners of the Company. The R RELED RBREHRNER
gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods BREEELT :

were as follows:

2024 2023
—E-NE —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥BT ARETT
Interest-bearing bank and FTRRITREMEER

other borrowings (TEREARRKRES)

(other than convertible bonds) 34,637,200 34,106,475
Trade and bills payables B ERERERE 8,647,226 9,499,441
Other payables and accruals Hib S 3IE R IERE A 11,244,088 12,892,166
Other financial liabilities — current HEHMEema® — id 44,608 54,661
Less: Cash and bank balances B Re RIRITET (17,339,157) (12,443,800)
Less: Long-term time deposits B REAE BN (14,006,079) (19,253,990)

Netdebt #afE 23,227,886 24,854,953
Equity attributable to owners of NN A R AR R A R

the Company 41,562,287 44,319,959

Convertible bonds AR ES = 3,304,280
Wﬁqjusted capirtgl 777777777777 fegEEx 41,562,287 47,624,239
Capital and net debt BAREFEEE 64,790,173 72,479,192
Gearing ratio BEARAMELE 35.85% 34.29%
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44 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 44 R QT HMBEMRREK
OF THE COMPANY
2024 2023
—E-NEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREEF T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BEMEE 63 56
Investments in subsidiaries RFRFHKRE 18,653,200 18,505,201
Investments in associates REEE RN A IR E 2,775,974 2,713,705
Derivative financial instruments TESBIA 241,794 324,509
Other financial assets HEthemEE 155,921 147,433
Loans to subsidiaries BERTFAA 8,994,443 5,784,907
_Total non-current assets RIRBAE 30,821,395 27,475,811
Current assets REBEE
Derivative financial instruments PTESRITA - 9,752
Prepayments, other receivables and TR - HAth B YRR
other assets R E A E EE 1,064,472 1,135,745
Loans to subsidiaries 1=/ Gk al/NE 3,278,406 4,951,425
Cash and bank balances BWe MRTTERF 83,540 1,016,615
_Total current assets ARBRE 4,426,418 7,118,587
Current liabilities nEEE
Loans from subsidiaries KEFRARINER 72,948 71,221
Other payables and accruals H b & FRIE M TE IR
L= 3= 140,404 79,928
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &t B R1T R H MG E 8,842,972 5,144,068
Derivative financial instruments TESMITA 4,047 4,876
_Total current liabilites ArBRE 9,060,371 5,300,098
_Net current (liabilities)/assets hE(Rf) HEFH  (4633953) 1813444
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBES 26,187,442 29,289,255
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44 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

44 KD BRI KR @

L —

2024 2023
—E-mEF —E-=fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings T BIRIT R EMEE 13,576,535 18,428,321
Deferred tax liabilities RERIEEE 245,763 12,211
Derivative financial instruments PTESBMTA - 4,461
_Total non-current liabilites RIRBREE 13,822,298 18,444,993
Net assets FEE 12,365,144 10,844,262
Equity =
Share capital fi% < 356,662 358,143
Shares held under share award scheme B 1D BB AT 8138 T P
B 1 (114,293) (148,344)
Treasury shares JE= 17 A& 10 (17,981) —
Reserves & 12,140,756 10,634,463
Total equity 48 R 25 12,365,144 10,844,262

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors

on 26 March 2025. R RETE -
Qing Lijun Gao Fei
BiE =R
Director Director
E2 EZE

BEEEeR S -_RFE=A -+ HitE
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44 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 44 EKRQFFERRAR®
OF THE COMPANY (continued)
Note: M EE -

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RRBMEEB AT ¢

Fair value
reserve of
financial assets
Foreign at fair value
currency  through other Share option
Share  Contributed translation comprehensive Retained reserve/share Hedging
premium surplus  differences income earning award reserve reserve
RALERFA
Ap2EUEN
SRREL BRERE/
RAEE RAES MMAEER  LAERRK RENE ROKBERE &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETR ARETR ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T ARETR
Note (a)
K a)

At 1 January 2024 6,936,283 387,574 233,305 (350,193) 2,174,175 974,532 278,187 10,634,463

Profit for the year REFE = = = = 3,444,987 = - 3,444,987
Changes in fair value of equity investments BROREHEREZETA
designated at fair value through other Kt 2ERENRERE
comprehensive income, net of tax HARERE  NBRKE = - - 5,364 - - - 5,364
Exchange differences on translation NEFEER - - 13,818 - - - - 13,818
Cash flow hedges, net of tax REREHH  MBHE - - (5,833) - - - (80,349) (86,182)
Total comprehensive income for the year ER2AABLE = = 7,985 5,364 3,444,987 = (80,349) 3,377,987
Fair value amortisation and cancelation of naRkER AR AR
share-based payment component HBIHDLERER
of the convertible bonds R - - - - - 322,400 - 322,409
Transfer upon lapse of share-based payment TaRESARDAERE
component of the convertiole bonds IS PREAMER - - - - 1,026,647 (1,026,647) - -
Fair value amortisation of equity-Settled share IR Z I OEREZ B
option arangements DrERE = - - - - (12,906) - (12,906)
Fair value amortisation of share award scheme RERBEA L ERY = = = - - 41,910 - 41,910
Shares vested under share award scheme BERZRETHSBNHRG 38,373 - - - - (123,219 - (84,906)
Share cancellation ZHERA (213,843) = = = = = = (213,843)
Dividends paid to owners of the Company BAARAREREREARE = - - - (1,024,358) - - (1,924,358)
(175,470) = = = (897,711) (798,513) = (1,871,694)
At 31 December 2024 RZZ-WME+=A=1-R 6,760,813 387,574 241,290 (344,829) 4,722,051 176,019 197,838 12,140,756
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OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: (continued)

44 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

44 KD BRI KR @

B ©

Fair value

reserve of

financial assets

Foreign at fair value

curency  through other  (Accumulated  Share option
Share Contributed translation ~ comprehensive losses)/retained  reserve/share Hedging
premium surplus differences income eaming  award reserve reserve Total
RAREAR
tEARENE
REEZMAE (RHBR)/R BRERE/R
RiPEE EHARS IWAEER FfE BNE  HRBER HibGE &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETTR ARETT
Note (a)
K
At 1 January 2023 9,030,035 387,574 293,519 (334,771) (2,749,719) 751,905 404,759 7,783,302

Profit for the year REFE = = = = 4,702,617 = - 4,702,617
Changes in fair value of equity investments BAREHERRBHHA
designated at fair value through other Et2ERENRARE
comprehensive income, net of tax HRAERE  NBHE = - - (15,422) - - - (15,422)
Exchange differences on translation NEREZE = = 66,877) = = = - (66,877)
Effective portion of changes in fair value of REAFHRIEAREED
hedging instruments arising during the year HERSH = = 6,663 = = = (126,572) (119,909)
Total comprehensive income for the year EE2AKELE = = (60,214) (15,42) 4,702,617 = (126,572) 4,500,409
Fair value amortisation of share-based payment TRREFARRAERNT
component of the convertible bonds DEREWNEE 3 = = = = = 435,998 = 435,998
Transfer upon lapse of share-based payment TAREFARBAERNR
component of the convertible bonds DERIEES it = = = = 221877 (201,877) - -
Fair value amortisation of equity-settled share IRAXANBREZENA
option arrangements HERE = = = = = 69,067 - 69,067
Shares issued and transfer of share option BEARG X ANERER S
reserve under equity-settled share option BIRDRELERER
arrangements & 198,865 = = = (43,855) - 155,010
Fair value amortisation of share award scheme P E VNN = = = = = 121,608 = 121,608
Shares vested under share award scheme RERZRE:T HEBORG 15,616 = = = (138,314) - (122,69)
Share cancellation E#ERA (720,218) = = = = = = (720,218)
Dividends paid to owners of the Company ERARARERRRARSE (1,588,015) = = = = = (1,588,015)
(2,093,752 - - - 221,877 222,627 - (1,649,248
At 31 December 2023 RZB==F+-A=1-HR 6,936,283 387,574 233,305 (350,193) 2,174,775 974,632 278,187 10,634,463
Note: FfzE -

(a) The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
difference between the then combined net asset value of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group reorganisation
and the nominal value of the shares of the Company issued

in exchange therefor.
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NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ril % 8 2E DY 5
45 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, 45 HEZE—-Z-_N&+=-A=+—H
NEW STANDARDS AND Ltiraﬁﬁﬁ‘ﬁ@ el R 4 WAV IS
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT Rl C EARZRENEERE
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2024
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HEZESUBRERAEHE  BHReHE
IASB has issued a number of new or amended standard, A= BMEZIETE HSEET LR
which are not yet effective for the year ended BREE-FE-_NF+_A=1+—HIF
31 December 2024 and which have not been adopted in ERAREXNBEAEBEWENZETBHRE
these financial statements. These developments include the R BAZRAIEEEARNEEBEREN
following which may be relevant to the Group. ATN&IE !
Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
AT B Hisk 2 & A
Bt AR A Rk
Amendments to IAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates — Lack 1 January 2025
of exchangeab///ty
Rt ERE2SERIESE] - BXREE M7 E = A LR —E-RF—HA—H
Amendments to IFRS 9, Financial instruments and |IFRS 7, Financial instruments: 1 January 2026
disclosures — Amendments to the classification and measurement of financial
instruments

BERMBEHRELRNFORHER > 2@ T ARBRMBHRELANE7THRNEST 28 —FT_R"F—HA—H
TA -HEe@MTAZERFEMNETHKE

Annual improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards— Volume 11 1 January 2026
BRI e st EAFENE — F115 —EZRF—H—H
IFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements 1 January 2027
BRSO 75 s 5 22 A 185 - A B LA ZE 5! R 1% —E-tEF—H—H
IFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public accountability: disclosures 1 January 2027

BUBRBf F5 s 52 BIB9S - AR MEAINTE -~ 7] - 1755 —E-+F—H—H
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45

46

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2024 (continuea)

The equivalent new and revised HKFRSs, consequently
issued by the HKICPA as a result of these developments,
have the same effective date as those issued by the IASB
and are in all material aspects identical to the
pronouncements issued by the IASB.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments is expected to be in
the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that
the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact
on the consolidated financial statements.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 26 March 2025.

45

46
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

T Al TSIER S

The following is a summary of the published audited financial
statements of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited

“Company”) and its subsidiaries for the respective years.

RESULTS

Revenue LON

Profit before tax WA B

Income tax expense FERE

Profit for the year KERE

Attributable to: AT &L
Owners of the Company ARAEERR
Non-controlling interests FERIRRER

Proposed dividend BRRE

Earnings per share attributable to RAREBRERRR
ordinary equity holders of the ELERAT
Company (RMB) (Note (i) (AR (FizE()

For profit for the year KERE
— Basic - &R
— Diluted - 8%

2024
—g-mg

RMB’000
ARBT T

88,674,774
999,177
(774,572)
224,605

104,507
120,098
1,994,247

0.027
0.027

(the

THRFEASFAEARAA ([ARF]) REF
RANTINEFEEEMOEERZIFRERME -

T e
E

Year ended

BZILLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020
=& —EoC-F —E-—F —E-TE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTL AREFT AREFT ARETT
98,624,041 92,593,322 88,141,475 76,034,844
6,312,187 6,502,353 5,868,168 4,154,786
(1,425,212) (1,317,549) (904,510) (653,193)
4,886,975 5,184,804 4,963,658 3,501,593
4,809,197 5,302,972 5,025,537 3,525,044
77,778 (118,168) (61,879) (23,451)
1,924,358 1,589,989 1,506,161 1,058,093
1.220 1.342 1.274 0.897
1.216 1.336 1.267 0.892
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

B ERTH RS
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY EE-BERER
At 31 December
Rt=A=+-H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-QNE —E-=F —E--F =% —ZE-ZfF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT
Total assets BEE 106,292,792 115,219,951 117,813,205 98,101,344 80,146,240
Total liabilities wafE 58,267,301 64,568,240 67,761,407 56,101,912 42,898,681
Equity attributable to owners AR ARG RRE R
of the Company 41,562,287 44,319,959 40,098,540 36,825,784 32,982,642
Non-controlling interests FerER R R = 6,463,204 6,331,752 9,953,258 5,173,648 4,264 917
Note: P EE
0] The calculation basis for the earnings per share attributable to (i) ARAEERESRREETRABFNFTEREE
ordinary equity holders of the Company is set out in Note 13 to the BRNERE SRR MIEES

consolidated financial statements.
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